

Characterization of the mechanisms of action of the transcription factor ZEB1 in melanoma

Yaqi Tang

▶ To cite this version:

Yaqi Tang. Characterization of the mechanisms of action of the transcription factor ZEB1 in melanoma. Cancer. Université de Lyon, 2021. English. NNT: 2021LYSE1265. tel-04825386

HAL Id: tel-04825386 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04825386v1

Submitted on 8 Dec 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



N°d'ordre

NNT: 2021LYSE1265

THESE de DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITE DE LYON

opérée au sein de l'Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1

Ecole Doctorale ED 340 BIOLOGIE MOLÉCULAIRE INTÉGRATIVE ET CELLULAIRE

Spécialité de doctorat : Cancérologie

Soutenue publiquement le 07/12/2021, par :

Yaqi TANG

Caractérisation des mécanismes d'action du

facteur de transcription ZEB1 dans le mélanome

Devant le jury composé de:

M DAVIDSON Irwin, DR CNRS, IGBMC, Université de Strasbourg Rapporteur

M LARUE Lionel, DR INSERM, Institut Curie, Univeristé Paris 11 Rapporteur

Mme MOYRET-LALLE Caroline, PU, CRCL, UCBL Examinatrice M REYNOIRD Nicolas, CR CNRS, Grenoble Alpes University Examinateur

Mme CARAMEL Julie, CR INSERM, Centre de Recherche en cancérologie de Lyon Directrice de thèse







Thesis completed under the direction of Dr Julie CARAMEL

Cancer Research Center of Lyon

INSERM1052 – CNRS 5286

Cancer cell plasticity in melanoma

Centre Léon Bérard - 28 Rue Laennec, 69008 Lyon

Thesis financed by the association La Ligue Contre Le Cancer



Acknowlegment

First of all, I would like to thank all the members of the jury for the evaluation of my thesis work. I especially thank my rapporteurs, Dr. Davidson Irwin and Dr. Larue Lionel for proofreading my manuscript. I am aware of the time this represents and I thank you for it. Finally, I want to expression my appreciation to Dr. Moyret-lalle Caroline and Dr. Reynoird Nicolas for also taking their precious time to evaluate my work during my defense. I am honored to have the opportunity to present my work to you and I am sure that the resulting discussion will be very enriching, so let me thank you in advance.

I would also like to give special thanks to the members of my thesis committee, Dr. Andrieu-Abadie Nathalie and Dr. Gibert Benjamin. Your listening and kind advice have always been of great help to me. Thank you for the extremely interesting proposals, which allowed me to mature and appropriate many problems related to my project.

Of course, thank you Julie for your accompaniment during this beautiful adventure as thesis director. Thank you for your kindness, for your daily support; your patient instruction and constructive suggestions are beneficial to me a lot. I realize how lucky I was to do my thesis in your team. Thank you for your rigor and your scientific excellence. I hope to have been able to acquire a little bit of it by working with you these last years. Thank you also for giving me the opportunity to discover a wide range of techniques and for giving me the time and means to train. Thank you for having put the human, technical and financial means in my project that make it what it is today. I am sincerely grateful to you.

Also, a huge thank you to the Melanoma Team. I am proud to have been part of this beautiful team. A special thanks to Simon for your daily support, for helping me read my article, my thesis and explain me how to do a better graph and gave me other ideas in my project. Also, a huge thanks

to Maxime who showed me a lot of experiements when I first came here, and also who established the majority of ChIPseq protocole for me which facilitate a lot my thesis life. I would like to thank Maud who gave me many helps during my first two years as well as mental supporting sometimes. Congradulate for your professional and personal achievements. The hardest bio-information analysis part was down Roxane, so thank you a lot for helping me understand what all the data means and gave me a quick response when I was blocked. As well as Valentin, with Maxime you successfully complished the analysis of patient samples IF, thanks a lot. And Noémie, I will not forget the moments we did ChIP together, eat lunch together and go to the INMG to do the sonication togrther. And also to Laetitia who was caple to find a solution every time I had a problem of my order and a technical question. Félix who helped me to do some experiments during my thesis writing periode. Finally to Ingrid who gave me many suggestions during my thesis and Stéphane, for the welcome within your team and the attention you have always given to the project.

Beyond the Melanoma Team, thank you to everyone on the 2nd floor. Thank you to Alain, for having welcomed me in his laboratory for my master's internship and supported me so that I could do my thesis with Julie. Thank to Caroline, thank you for having trusted me and opened the doors of the master and also for introducing me to Julie, without which I might never have entered the laboratory; thank you also for introducing me to other teachers form Jiaotong University. Thanks to Freddy, Christelle, Anne-Pierre, Agnès, Amélien for your support, your listening and your advice, as well as Virginie for your help. Thanks to Rhama and Lauriane, we passed many happy moments together and I hope you have a great future.

Finally, beyond the floors and even the Cheney's, a huge thank you to everyone I've annoyed more or less often and who has supported me. I am thinking in particular of Cheney B 5th floor, such as Olivier, Thomas and Yan, for your expertise in Incucyte. I appreciate also to all administration teams, Claire, Céline, for helping me during my 3 years. Thanks also to all the platforms, cytometry and bioinfo which were essential to the good realization of my project. Also thanks to my thesis buddies, Trang, Ha, Kawtar. We kind of grew up together and I wish you the best for the future! Also

thank to Yakun, Yajie and Zhichong, you are more expertise than me and help me many times professionally and personally during my PhD. I also would like to appreciate to Chang, Qing as well as Yi and Yao who teached me many things, especially Qing's team who helped me a lot for my sequencing experiemnts.

My sincere thanks also go to La Ligue contre le Cancer, who gave me the chance and supported me financially during these 3 years so that I can advance my work.

Finally, I would like to sincerely thank my family, my relatives and friends for their daily support during this adventure. Thank you to my parents, but also grandparents for supporting and encouraging me throughout my studies. It has been a tough time these two years with the Covid, but I think it is something worthful and I will back to see you soon. I want to thank my boyfriend, Sicheng, thank you for being with me every day and giving me encouragement.

These pages are too short to let me expression my appreciation to all the peoples, but still, thank you a lot and I hope the pandemia will end soon. Everything will be fine.

Table of contents

ACKNOWLE	EGMENT	
TABLE OF C	CONTENTS	6
TABLE OF II	ILLUSTRATIONS	8
INTRODUC	CTION	10
CHAPTER1	1. Cutaneous melanoma	11
А.	Melanocytes	
1)	Skin structure	11
2)	Origin of melanocytes	12
3)	Melanocyte function: pigmentation and regeneration	16
4)	MITF expression, function and signalisation; pathology	19
В.	Melanoma	
1)	Melanoma classification	23
2)	Melanoma treatments and resistance	25
3)	Melanoma formation	33
4)	Melanoma models	36
CHAPTER2	2. EMT-TFS FUNCTION IN CARCINOMA	40
А.	Physiological EMT	
1)	EMT definition	41
2)	EMT in embryonic development (Type I EMT)	43
3)	EMT in tissue repair and fibrosis (Type II EMT)	45
4)	EMT regulation and extracellular signals	46
5)	EMT-TFs	49
В.	EMT in carcinoma development	
1)	EMT in metastasis and MET in colonization	56
2)	Transcriptional targets of ZEB1/2 in carcinoma	67

3)	EMT in treatment resistance	70
Chapter3	PHENOTYPE SWITCHING IN MELANOMA	73
А.	Phenotype switching	73
1)	Discovery and definition	73
2)	MITF rheostat model	75
3)	Novel phenotype switching model: intermediate phenotypes	77
В.	EMT-TFs expression switching in melanoma	83
1)	Expression and function of EMT-TFs in the melanocytic lineage	83
2)	EMT-TFs expression switch during melanoma development	84
3)	Control of the EMT-TFs differential expression in melanoma	86
4)	Antagonistic functions of ZEB1 and ZEB2 in melanoma cells	87
5)	EMT-TFs regulate phenotype switching of melanoma cells	88
6)	Melanoma cell plasticity and treatment resistance	90
OBJECTIVE	DF THESIS	92
		02
RESULIS		95
DISCUSSION	I AND PERSPECTIVES	144
CHAPTER1	. MODELING PHENOTYPE SWITCHING IN PATIENT DERIVED SHORT-TERM CULTURES	145
Chapter2	. Cell-type specific transcriptional activity of ZEB1 in melanoma compared to carcinoma models	148
Chapter3	ZEB1 CO-FACTORS IN TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION	150
Chapter4	ANALYSES OF ZEB2 DIRECT TRANSCRIPTIONAL TARGET GENES BY CHIP	152
Chapter5	. INTRA-TUMOR HETEROGENEITY IN VITRO AND IN HUMAN SAMPLES	154
Chapter6	. New candidates with therapeutic perspectives	157
CHAPTER7	. STRATEGIES TO REPRESS ZEB1 EXPRESSION AND RE-SENSITIZE CELLS TO TREATMENT	161
APPENDIX .		166
Λ	Poviou	100
А.	Review	166
в.	תבובוונב	184

Table of illustrations

Figure 1: General structure of human skin12
Figure 2: Neural crest cell migration in embryonic development and melanocyte development
Figure 3: Signal transduction and transcription in the melanocyte lineage
Figure 4: Melanosome biogenesis
Figure 5: Structure of MITF isoforms
Figure 6: Clinical histological melanoma subtypes
Figure 7: MAPK signaling pathway and the resistance to MAPK inhibitors
Figure 8: Percentage of patients responding to nivolumab +/- ipilimumab
Figure 9: Different steps of melanoma formation
Figure 10. Pros and cons of current melanoma models
Figure 11. Examples of genetically engineered mouse models of cutaneous melanoma
Figure 12. Schematic presentation of EMT
Figure 13. Different types of EMT
Figure 14: Different types of EMT during embryonic development
Figure 15: Signaling pathways control the EMTs at gastrulation and neural crest delamination in the
amniote embryo
Figure 16: Common growth factor signals initiate and regulate essential EMT and wound-healing
processes
Figure 17: Schematic representation of the protein structures of the core EMT-TFs
Figure 18: Zeb family mutually exclusive expression in embryo
Figure 19. Examples of epigenetic regulators and EMT-TFs interaction and regulation
Figure 20. EMT-MET model for the metastasis
Figure 21. Transition between different states during the EMT process
Figure 22. EMT-TFs allow the inhibition of failsafe programs and promote cell transformation
Figure 23. Pleiotropic roles of ZEB1
Figure 24. Recent published ChIP-seq of ZEB1 and ZEB2 in carcinoma

Figure 25. Phenotype switching model74
Figure 26. A rheostat model for MITF function76
Figure 27. Likely relationships between the phenotypic states of melanoma cells identified in different
studies. (Rambow et al 2019)
Figure 28. Potential hierarchical arrangement of the six different melanoma phenotypic states and their
relative expression of MITF and SOX10. (Rambow et al 2019)
Figure 29. Potential master regulators of each melanoma cell state identified by single-cell regulatory
network inference and clustering (SCENIC)
Figure 30. Expression of EMT-TFs during melanocyte lineage formation from embryonic neural crest
cells
Figure 31.EMT-TFs switching during melanoma development
Figure 32. Proposed model of ZEB1-mediated transcitional regulation of melanoma states markers 144
Figure 33. Western Blot analysis of C-09.10 cell line
Figure 34. Reversible phenotype switching in GLO and Phenotypic difference between GLO and C-09.10
cell lines
Figure 35. Comparison of ZEB1 ChIPseq peaks between melanoma and carcinoma
Figure 36. Top 5 enriched binding motifs discovered by HOMER (Hypergeometric Optimization of Motif
EnRichment) analysis in ChIPseq ΖΕΒ1 in GLO ΤΝFα D14
Figure 37. ChIP-qPCR analysis of ChIP ZEB2 in 501Mel ATCC melanoma cell line, in C-09.10 and GLO
patient-derived short-term cultures. Anti-ZEB2 (ZEB2) (2μg, HPA003456, Sigma) or control IgG were
used for the IP. Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs (%). CDH4 in
501Mel, n=2. Others n=1
Figure 38. ZEB1 and ZEB2 expression in two published scRNAseq analysis
Figure 39. Some epigenetic regulators present ZEB1 binding sites in ChIPseq ZEB1 in GLO cell lines 159
Figure 40. GLO-R is more sensitive to HDACis than GLO cell line
Figure 41. ZEB1/2 regulate melanoma phenotype switching and resistance to treatments

Introduction

The function of EMT-inducing transcription factors (EMT-TFs) of the ZEB family in melanoma has been the main focus of my PhD. Their function has been mainly studied in the context of epithelial cells and carcinoma. The introductive part will start with a general presentation of melanoma, cell of origin, development, classification and treatment. Then a second part will synthetize the extensive bibliography dealing with EMT and EMT-TFs function in the context of epithelial cells and carcinoma. The third part will finally focus on EMT-like processes in melanoma, so-called "phenotype switching", and previous data on the expression and the role of EMT-TFs in this specific context.

Chapter1. Cutaneous melanoma

A. Melanocytes

The cell of origin of melanoma is the melanocyte, which colors skin, hairs or feathers in vertebra. Melanocytes derive from neural-crest cells during embryogenesis. They have various locations including epidermis, hair follicles, as well as eyes, inner ear, nervous system, heart, digestive epithelium (Brito and Kos, 2008; Tachibana, 1999). Melanocyte produces pigmented granules called melanosomes which are rich in melanin, this pigment is capable to protect our skin from UV. Before we enter into more details in melanocyte biology, we need first to understand skin structure.

1) Skin structure

The skin is the largest organ of the body; it protects us from microbes, helps regulate body temperature and permits the sensations of touch, heat and cold. The skin has three layers: epidermis, dermis and hypodermis [*Figure 1*]. The epidermis, the outmost layer of skin, provides a waterproof barrier, resists mechanical and chemical injury and protects against bacteria, viruses and parasites infection. There are three main groups of cells in the epidermis: keratinocytes, the main cells in epidermis, develop from the basal layer and then migrate upwards to the outer surface where they are shed; Langerhans cells are specialized immune cells that participate into body's immune response; melanocytes, melanin-producing cells that we mentioned before. Between epidermis and dermis, there is a junction called the dermo-epidermal junction, which contains the basement membrane. The dermis, beneath the epidermis, contains connective tissue, hair follicles and glands. It is composed of a dense network of collagen and elastin organized into fibers. The hypodermis, the deeper subcutaneous tissue, is made of a network of collagen fibers and adipocytes; it protects the body from external trauma and insulates from cold. There are many blood and lymphatic vessels and nerves passing through this layer.

11



Figure 1: General structure of human skin.

The skin is composed of three main layers: the epidermis, made of closely packed epithelial cells, and the dermis, made of dense, irregular connective tissue that houses blood vessels, hair follicles, sweat glands, and other structures. Beneath the dermis lies the hypodermis, which is composed mainly of loose connective and fatty tissues. (Issued in Human Anatomy, by Matthew Hoffman)

Melanocytes of the epidermis and hair follicles possess some common features, but biologically they represent different populations, which live in unique niches of the skin. The epidermal melanocytes are located among the basal layer of a stratified squamous keratinized epithelium; the hair melanocytes are between cells covering the hair papilla in the hair bulb. Stem cells of the latter are located in the region called hair bulge.

2) Origin of melanocytes

Melanocyte lineage is derived from the neural crest. The neural crest is a multipotent embryonic cell population that is highly migratory; these cells are pinched off during the neural tube (precursor of the spin cord) formation, in another word, they originate in the ectoderm at the margins of the neural tube. The neural crest was initially identified by the Swiss embryologist Wilhelm His in 1868, as a group of cell localized between the neural tube and the epidermis. Neural Crest Cells (NCCs) delaminate from the dorsal-most aspect of the neural tube through a process called EMT (epithelial to mesenchymal transition), by which epithelial cells lose polarity and cell-cell adhesion then gain migratory and invasive properties in order to become mesenchymal cells (see part 2). Thereafter, instead of remaining as a part of the central nervous system, NCCs migrate to numerous locations in the body and contribute to the formation of diverse structures by proliferation and differentiation, mostly associated with the nervous system (Mayor and Theveneau, 2013). Before leaving the crest, according to the anterio-posterior position, at which neural crest cells delaminate, their fate can be widely defined [Figure 2]. Indeed, the neural crest can be divided into five groups based on their positioning (Mull et al., 2015): the cranial neural crest gives rise to the majority of the head connective and skeletal structures, nerves and pigment cells following a dorsolateral migration; the cardiac neural crest mainly participates into heart development; vagal and sacral neural crest cells contribute to the formation of the enteric nervous system ganglia and also the parasympathetic ganglia; trunk neural crest cells migrate through two major pathways and the melanocyte, our cell of interest, is a derivative of this group. Trunk cells who leave early the crest migrating ventrally through the anterior sclerotome and become neurons and glia, while late departing cells, melanocyte precursors termed melanoblasts, migrate through a dorsolateral pathway between the ectoderm and the somites (Erickson and Goins, 1995). Melanoblasts migrate through the dermis and then into the epidermis; after that, they migrate within the epidermis and become incorporated into developing hair follicles. They continue to populate the epidermis and hair follicles, eventually becoming melanocytes that produce pigment, as well as melanocyte stem cells. As development progress, melanoblasts simultaneously differentiate, proliferate and migrate extensive distances throughout the embryo until finally populating the entire organism, together with the increase of epidermis surface; but the proliferation of epidermal melanocytes has not yet been fully terminated.



Figure 2: Neural crest cell migration in embryonic development and melanocyte development. Up: Overview of neural crest subpopulations along the anteroposterior axis. (a) Diagram of neural crest subpopulations in an HH16 chick embryo. (b) Differences in migratory patterns among neural crest subpopulations. (C) Major derivatives of neural crest subpopulations. (Rothstein et al., 2018).

Down: A schematic illustration of the neural crest cells migratory paths and melanocyte development. The melanoblast progenitor cells typically migrate along the dorsolateral path between the epidermis and dermomyotome.

NT: neural tube, N: notochord, DM: dermomyotome, SC: sclerotome (Mull et al., 2015).

From the neural crest cells to melanoblasts, the most important regulating elements are Wnt protein, Stem Cell Factors (SCF, c-KIT ligand), endothelins, ephrins and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) [Figure 3] (Cooper et al., 2009; Hari et al., 2012; Hirobe, 2011; Sommer, 2011). Early melanoblasts development requires the presence of SCF and its receptor c-Kit, which activates the MAPK signaling pathway through the cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain. During melanoblasts migration from the region of neural tube through the dermis into epidermis, SCF is secreted by dermal and epidermal cells. Besides, SCF is also required for melanoblasts survival (Hari et al., 2012;

Hirobe, 2011). The Notch receptor is also essential for melanoblasts development; it demands contact with another cell expressing ligand molecules (Delta1, Delta3, Delta4, Jagged1 and Jagged2) on its surface. The Notch receptor then is cleaved and move to nucleus where it regulates transcription activity via for example Hes1 transcription factor (Cornell and Eisen, 2005; Moriyama et al., 2006). Wnt pathway is associated with the induction of melanocyte fate (Raible and Ragland, 2005). The ephrin and endothelin receptors allow melanoblasts to migrate along extracellular matrix containing ephrins and endothelins secreted by cells of embryo (Saldana-Caboverde and Kos, 2010). Moreover, fibrillar proteins present in the extracellular matrix, such as collagens and fibronectin, also participate in the melanocyte development, because cells adhere to one another or extracellular matrix using adhesion molecules as cadherins and integrins that act as sensors and transducers of the mechanical state of the tissue, thus regulating the migration, adhesion and proliferation of melanocytes (Lin and Fisher, 2007; Pinon and Wehrle-Haller, 2011). Finally, almost all the elements we mentioned above induce the expression of MITF (microphthalmia-associated transcription factor), a master regulator of melanocyte lineage proliferation, differentiation and survival, which activates many genes such as tyrosinase for melanin production.



Figure 3: Signal transduction and transcription in the melanocyte lineage.

Those signaling molecules or transcription factors that have been implicated genetically in melanocyte development are shown in red, while molecules implicated in melanoma are indicated in blue. (Goding, 2000).

Melanocytes in the epidermis and hair melanocytes are located in different niches. In general, melanocytes are highly differentiated cells so they lose the ability to proliferate during the maturation process. The only renewing melanocytes in adult skin are the hair melanocytes (Nishimura, 2011). Another important thing to note is the difference between mouse and human skin. Human skin contains large inter-follicle areas where exists epidermal melanocytes at the basal layer of the epidermis, while mouse cutaneous melanocytes are almost exclusively located in hair follicles and dermis, but not in epidermis, except for tail and paw skin. Mouse tail skin maintains a stable melanocyte population, including a low percentage of amelanotic melanocytes (Glover et al., 2015), this may open new insight in discovering other mechanisms sustaining inter-follicle epidermal melanocytes other than hair follicle melanocyte stem cells.

3) Melanocyte function: pigmentation and regeneration

The main role of melanocytes is to synthesize melanin. Melanin is not only responsible for skin, hair and eye pigmentation, but also UV absorption, reactive oxygen species (ROS) neutralization and ions storage (Bush and Simon, 2007; Costin and Hearing, 2007; Pathak et al., 1962; Slominski et al., 2004). Melanosomes are membrane-bound organelles within which melanin is synthesized (Simon et al., 2009). This process is named melanogenesis. In response to MSH (melanocyte-stimulating hormone) secreted by pituitary gland, melanocytes produce and store melanin in melanosomes. There are four stages of melanosomes biogenesis (Costin and Hearing, 2007; Hearing, 2005; Slominski et al., 2004); Watabe et al., 2008), determined by the quality, quantity, structure and arrangement of melanin produced [*Figure 4*]: I, spherical form without any internal structural components; II, ellipsoidal form containing organized, structured fibrillar matrix; III, beginning of melanin production; IV, full of melanin. Specific enzymes for melanin synthesis, such as tyrosinase,

TRP1 (tyrosinase-related protein 1), TRP2 (tyrosinase-related protein 2 or DOPAchrome tautomerase DCT), as well as structural proteins for melanosomes fibrillar stroma, Pmel17 (gp100), MART1 (melanoma-associated antigen recognized by T cells), are required in melanogenesis (Hearing and Tsukamoto, 1991; Hoashi et al., 2005; Simon et al., 2009; Yamaguchi et al., 2007). As for the intracellular regulation of melanin synthesis, some transcription factors and molecules play major roles, such as MITF and cAMP (Goding, 2000; Park et al., 2009). There are several inhibitors of melanogenesis, such as sphingolipids, BMP4 and tetrahydrobiopterin (Park et al., 2009). Melanogenesis is also a process which generates many cytotoxic agents, as quinones and hydrogen peroxide for example; melanosomes are maybe a perfect place of this process in order to avoid the interaction between these agents and other cytosolic components.



Plasma membrane

Figure 4: Melanosome biogenesis.

Melanogenesis takes place in special organelles named melanosomes. As first develops a vesicle (Stage I) which builds inside a fibrillar matrix formed by glycoproteins (Pmel17, MART-1) and gets tyrosinase and other enzymes of melanogenesis (Stage II). The melanosome produces melanin, which polymerizes and settles on the internal fibrils (Stage III). In the last Stage IV melanosome fulfills melanin. Each type of melanin is synthesized in separated melanosomes (Bissig et al., 2016).

In the epidermis, melanocytes located in the basal layer cooperate with thirty to forty keratinocytes to form the epidermal melanin unit (Haass et al., 2005; Slominski et al., 2004). All the melanin produced is transferred away from melanocytes into keratinocytes; melanin granules are

then accumulated above the nucleus of keratinocytes (Costin and Hearing, 2007; Plonka et al., 2009; Slominski et al., 2004). Melanocytes also cooperate with dermis fibroblasts. These three cell types communicate with each other via secreted factors (Haass et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2013; Tabone -Eglinger et al., 2012; Yamaguchi et al., 2007). Hormones secreted by keratinocytes regulate melanocytes proliferation and melanogenesis (Costin and Hearing, 2007; Slominski et al., 2004); this cross-talk between melanocytes and keratinocytes is also important for the maintenance of skin homeostasis (Hirobe, 2011). All the paracrine and autocrine factors secreted by these three cells can also influence the shape, dendricity, mobility and adhesion properties of melanocytes. Melanocytes are also an essential component of the skin immune system; they are capable to target keratinocytes and other epidermal cells by secreting cytokines, growth factors and hormones (Costin and Hearing, 2007; Slominski et al., 2004). Inflammatory molecules can affect directly melanocytes and may cause hypo or hyperpigmentation of the skin (Taylor et al., 2011). Melanocytes are also responsible for hair pigmentation. Hair color is a result of communication between follicular melanocytes, matrix keratinocytes and dermal papilla fibroblasts. Here, melanocytes are located in the proximal bulb of each hair follicle (Commo and Bernard, 2000; Slominski et al., 2005). Hair melanocytes are larger and more dendritic than epidermal melanocytes, but the regulation, synthesis and transfer of melanin to keratinocytes is similar.

Epidermal melanocytes proliferate extremely rarely in physiological conditions, they are very stable (Bennett, 2003; Nishimura, 2011). One molecule is essential for this longevity, BCL-2. BCL-2 is maintained at a high constitutive level so that melanocytes are strongly resistant to apoptosis (McGill et al., 2002). Moreover, the increased level of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors and decreased level of cyclin D1 also inhibit the cell cycle (Bennett, 2003). Different from rarely proliferative epidermal melanocytes, hair melanocytes proliferate repeatedly, migrate and undergo maturation in every hair cycle (Nishimura, 2011). Thanks to the existence of melanocyte stem cells in the hair follicle bulge, together with hair follicle stem cells (precursors for keratinocytes), hair is regenerated in each cycle. Although epidermal melanocytes number seems to be constant, from the fourth or fifth decade of life, the number of epidermal melanocytes and also hair melanocytes

decreases progressively (Costin and Hearing, 2007). This may be due to the apoptosis of terminally differentiated melanocytes. Melanocyte stem cells also die, which results in the process of hair greying (Nishimura, 2011).

4) MITF expression, function and signalisation; pathology

MITF is the master regulator of melanocyte lineage, activated by various extracellular signals during embryonic development. This transcription factor regulates melanocytes differentiation and development and also plays essential roles in cell cycle progression, motility and survival. It is also responsible for pigment production, induced by the binding of alpha-MSH to MCR1, so that melanin synthesis is activated (Goding 2000; Goding and Arnheiter, 2019).

a) MITF structure and expression

MITF is a bHLH-Zip (basic-loop-helix-loop leucine zipper) transcription factor encoded by the *MITF* gene, which belongs to the MYC superfamily. Together with TFEB, TFEC and TFE3, MITF constitutes the MiT (microphthalmia) family (Hemesath et al., 1994). All of these transcription factors share a common bHLH-Zip dimerization motif containing a positively charged fragment involved in DNA binding, and a TAD transactivation domain. During transcription, a single *MITF* gene can produce several isoforms by using differentially alternative promoters, including MITF-A, MITF-B, MITF-C, MITF-D, MITF-E, MITF-H, MITF-J, MITF-Mc and MITF-M [*Figure 5*]. These isoforms demonstrate tissue-specific patterns of expression (Hartman and Czyz, 2015). The shortest isoform MITF-M is exclusively expressed in melanocytes and melanoma cells (Tassabehjil et al., 1994), but it does not form heterodimer with other bHLH-Zip proteins. The binding motif in DNA sequence of target genes involves E-box and M-box (Goding, 2000; Goding and Arnheiter, 2019; Pogenberg et al., 2012).



Figure 5: Structure of MITF isoforms.

Spliced mRNAs (messenger RNA) of human MITF (microphthalmia-associated transcription factor) isoforms. Each isoform has a unique promoter and a partially unique first exon. The rest parts are common to all isoforms and encode the transactivation domain (TAD) and the basic helix-loop-helix leucine zipper domain (bHLH-Zip). The M-isoform is specifically expressed in melanocyte lineages. Other isoforms expression patterns range from widely expressed to tissue specific. Expression of Mitf-Mc has not been confirmed in human cells (Levy et al., 2006).

b) MITF regulation

MITF transcriptional control is governed by a number of regulators. SOX10 (sex-determining region Y-box 10) is the main activator of MITF (Verastegui et al., 2000). SOX proteins are one group of transcription factors characterized by a common DNA-binding domain, the Sry-box, which was first identified in Sry, a protein encoded on the mammalian Y chromosome and responsible for male sex determination(Bowles et al., 2000). SOX10 is required for survival, proliferation, and the maintenance of pluripotent NCSCs, thereby controlling the size of stem cell population and indirectly influencing the number of generated melanocyte. Melanocyte specification is also directly affected by SOX10. In *MITF* promoter, a SOX10 responsive element was found (Seberg et al., 2009). SOX10 also cooperate with CREB (cAMP response element-binding protein) in the responsiveness of *MITF* to alpha-MSH-cAMP signalling (Huber et al., 2003). Moreover, MITF expression can be

activated by two key effectors in Wnt signalling pathway: LEF1 (lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1) and β -catenin (Eichhoff et al., 2011; Saito et al., 2002). MITF can also cooperate with LEF1 as a non-DNA-binding co-activator to enhance its own expression. Mediators from the alpha-MSH-cAMP signalling can also redirect β -catenin to CREB specific promoters including *MITF* (Bellei et al., 2011). Transcription factors involved in EMT (epithelial to mesenchymal transition), ZEB2 (zinc finger E-box binding protein 2) and SNAIL2 can also activate MITF expression and we will discuss this in the third part of the introduction. At the epigenetic level, the remodelling complex SWI/SNF also promotes MITF expression and a knock-down of members of this complex down-regulate MITF expression with a concomitant decreased expression of MITF targets and a reduced cell proliferation (Vachtenheim et al., 2010).

MITF also processes transcriptional repressors. Coming from TGFβ signalling, GLI2 is a Kruppel-like transcription factor that can bind to MITF *promoter* and inhibit MITF expression (Javelaud et al., 2011). The roles of PAX3 (paired box 3) is context-dependant: in melanocytes, PAX3 regulates positively MITF (Yang et al., 2008); Intriguingly, in melanoma, PAX3 functions independently of MITF or even repress MITF expression. MITF repression is also mediated by DEC1 (differentially expressed in chondrocytes protein 1) which is regulated by HIF1 (hypoxia-inducible factor 1) (Feige et al., 2011).

MITF transcript is also under the control of several non-coding RNAs, microRNAs (miRs), which mediate MITF mRNA degradation and protein synthesis suppression (Bell and Levy, 2011). It has been shown that miR137, miR148, miR101 and miR218 negatively regulate MITF (Luo et al., 2013a). MITF mRNA is also targeted by miR-148, miR-101 and miR-218, in melanocytes (Guo et al., 2014; Haflidadóttir et al., 2010; Luo et al., 2013b). MITF transcriptional activity is also determined by post-translation al modifications and availability of cooperating partners. Generally, MITF activity is enhanced by phosphorylation; ERK1/2 phosphorylates MITF at Ser⁷³ in order to promote the interaction between MITF and its co-factor p300/CBP (Wu et al., 2000). Proteasome mediated MITF degradation is observed after double phosphorylation at Ser⁷³ and Ser⁴⁰⁹ by p90^{RSK} (Xu et al., 2000).

MITF activity is also regulated by SUMOylation at two lysine residues (Murakami and Arnheiter, 2005). Notaly, non-SUMOylable MITF mutants demonstrate increased transcriptional activity on certain target genes (Bertolotto et al., 2011).

c) MITF signaling and function

In mature melanocytes, upon activation via the MSH and MC1R pathway, MITF is directly activated; it then transcribes a set of genes involving in melanin synthesis and pigmentation (Levy et al., 2006). Alternatively, MITF expression can also be induced via Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (Anastas and Moon, 2013). MITF also directly controls the transcription of fundamental genes maintaining cell homeostasis, such as Bcl2 involved in apoptosis and CDK2 in cell cycle (Du et al., 2004). Melanogenesis is stimulated by MITF with the activation of *TYR* and other pigmentation genes including *TYRP1*, *DCT*, *PMEL* and *MLANA* (Bertolotto et al., 1998; Du et al., 2003; Yasumoto et al., 1994). However, not all MITF targets are involved in pigmentation, several MITF target genes also participate in DNA replication and repair, as well as mitosis (Strub et al., 2011). Moreover, MITF affects metabolism by activating expression of a key transcriptional regulator, PGC1 α , and promotes lysosomes biogenesis through activating lysosomal genes (Haq et al., 2013; Ploper et al., 2015).

Genetic defects associated with MITF in human such as Waardenburg IIA syndrome and Tietz-Albinism-Deafness syndrome are also known. Waardenburg syndrome is a group of genetic conditions that can cause hearing loss and changes in pigmentation of hair, skin and eyes. Mutations in the *EDN3*, *EDNRB*, *MITF*, *PAX3*, *SNAI2* and *SOX10* genes, which are involved in the formation and development of several cells including melanocytes, can cause this syndrome. There are four recognized types of Waardenburg syndrome, mutations in the *MITF* or *SNAI2* gene cause type II (Pardono et al., 2003; Tassabehjil et al., 1994). Missense mutation or inframe deletion of one amino acid in the basic domain of the MITF gene can cause Tietz-Albinism-Deafness syndrome (Amiel et al., 1998); these patients have a pale skin, blue eyes and light blond to white hair with white eyebrows and eyeshades. Hearing loss is always bilateral, congenital, sensorineural and

22

profound. They can gradually gain some pigmentation on sun-exposed areas.

B. Melanoma

Melanoma is a cancer originating from melanocytes, and the study of normal melanogenesis has shed light on some aspects of its biology. Nonetheless, this tumour is heterogeneous in terms of clinical presentation and outcome with a complex biology.

1) Melanoma classification

a) Morphological and histological classification

The primary histologic subtypes of melanoma depend on six main parameters: superficial spreading, lentigo maligna, nodular, acral lentiginous, desmoplastic and amelanotic (Markovic et al., 2007) [Figure 6]. The most frequent is superficial spreading taking place in around 70% of melanoma cases, which tumor arises from the existing nevus or 30% of them without pre-existing nevus; superficial spreading is also the model that we work on in my thesis. Nodular melanoma means absence of a radical growth phase with variable presentation and robust invasion, this presents in 5% of melanoma cases. About 4% to 15% cases show lentigo maligna, which demonstrates slow progression and frequently appears in sun-exposed areas, including face, head, etc. In patients with darker skin pigmentation, acral lentiginous melanoma has high incidence and frequently occurs on the palms, soles and subungual spaces. A rare portion of melanoma shows an absence of pigmentation called amelanotic; it is also the most challenging subtype in terms of diagnosis (Kauffmann and Chen, 2014). Desmoplastic melanoma is a rare melanoma less than 4% and seen in older adults; it is characterized by scant spindle cells and minimal cellular atypia.

Subtype	Frequency	Characteristic
Superficial spreading	70%	Arises from existing nevus.
Nodular	5%	Absence of a radial growth phase, variable presentation, and robust vertical invasion.
Lentigo Maligna	4-15%	Typically demonstrates slow progression, and frequently appears in sun-exposed areas (i.e., face, head, etc.)
Acral lentiginous	5%	Has higher incidence in patients with darker skin pigmentation and frequently occur on the palms, soles, and subungual spaces.
Amelanotic	4%	Characteristic absence of pigmentation and are considered rare.
Desmoplastic	Less than 4%	Rare melanoma seen in older adults that is characterized by scant spindle cells and minimal cellular atypia.

Figure 6: Clinical histological melanoma subtypes.

Ref: Cutaneous melanoma: Etiology and therapy. Chapter 6 Clinical presentation and staging of melanoma.

Nowadays, the American joint committee on Cancer TNM system is used with clinical and pathological staging assignments (Amin et al., 2017). Once the lesion has been histologically considered as melanoma, other characteristics about the T (tumour) will be assessed, including tumour thickness, presence of ulceration and mitosis in lesions (Balch et al., 2009; Kauffmann and Chen, 2014). Stage 0 melanoma is *in situ* and occurs when melanoma cells are identified but with no penetration outside epidermis. N (nodal) is a parameter determined by the number of involved lymph nodes. The presence or absence of metastatic disease termed M (metastatic); if present, it will be classified by its location. In general, Stage I and II include melanoma without nodal or distant metastases; depending on the depth of vertical invasion, there are several sub-classifications in each stage. When gross or microscopic lymph node metastasis is present, this melanoma will be classified as stage III; stage IV will then be patients with distant metastasis (Balch et al., 2009; Coit et al., 2013; Kauffmann and Chen, 2014).

b) Genetic classification

Apart from the histo-pathologic classifications, based on the occurrence of driver mutations, melanomas have been further classified into four genomic subtypes: *BRAF*-mutant, *NRAS*-mutant, *NF1*-loss and TWT (Triple wild-type) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network, 2015; de Snoo and Hayward, 2005). Driver alterations of *BRAF, NRAS and NF1* activate the MAPK

pathway and occur generally at the earlier stages of tumour development (Shain et al., 2018). Around 45% to 50% cases are BRAF-mutant, principally at the V600 codon; RAS-mutant takes place in approximately 30% melanoma, either NRAS^{Q61}, KRAS or HRAS; 10% to 15% are NF1-mutant and about 5% to 10% are TWT. In cutaneous melanoma, other subsequent mutations in TERT promoter as well as in other regulators of cell cycle, such as CDKN2A, which precede mutations in chromatin remodelers, the SWI/SNF complex for instance, and in TP53 which are associated with later advanced stages of primary tumour progression (Shain et al., 2018). Every genomic subtype may process different clinical presentation and characteristics. BRAF mutations are more probably present in melanomas arising on skin with intermittent sun exposure, compared to these on chronically sun-exposed skin (Kim et al., 2016a); BRAF mutations are also common in younger patients, also in superficial spreading histo-pathologic subtype (Bauer et al., 2011; Long et al., 2011). In contrast, NRAS mutations are found in melanomas on chronic UV-damaged skin, in older patients and in nodular histo-pathologic subtype (Carlino et al., 2014; Devitt et al., 2011). Subsequent mutations also show some links with driver alterations; for instance, BRAF^{V600E}-mutant melanoma tends to process fewer somatic mutations than tumours bearing other alterations, such as activating mutations in NRAS, KIT and BRAF non-V600E (Shain and Bastian, 2016).

2) Melanoma treatments and resistance

The incidence of melanoma has been increasing over the last 30 years. Treatments development has also been a great topic of research. Nowadays, different types of treatments are available for patients with melanoma.

There are five types of standard treatments: surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy and targeted therapy. When melanoma is still in situ, surgery is the most efficient choice; it is also the primary treatment of all stages of melanoma. To remove the tumour, a wide local excision is needed as well as some of the normal tissue around. It is also important to know

that, if cancer cells have spread into the lymph nodes, every lymph node containing melanoma cells will be removed surgically. In several cases after the surgery, chemotherapies and/or radiotherapies will be given to lower the risk of relapse. Before 2010, surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy were three practicable treatments for melanoma patients but were largely inefficient; from then, the therapy has been revolutionized with the advent of targeted therapy and immunotherapy which induce better responses against metastatic melanomas (Finn et al., 2012).

a) Targeted therapies

In the treatment of melanoma, with the discovery of the BRAFV600 mutation in 50% of cases, targeted therapies specifically targeting this mutation have been developed. These are inhibitors blocking signals transduction in cancer cells, in order to treat some patients with advanced melanoma or tumours which cannot be removed by surgery; for instance, BRAF inhibitors dabrafenib (Medina et al., 2013), vemurafenib (Scholtens et al., 2015), encorafenib (Koelblinger et al., 2018) for mutant BRAF, and MEK inhibitors trametinib (Chopra and Nathan, 2015), cobimetinib (Eagles and Jimeno, 2016), binimetinib (Specenier, 2020) are used in combination such as dabrafenib plus trametinib (Robert et al., 2019), vemurafenib plus cobimetinib (Keating, 2016), encorafenib plus binimetinib (Holbrook et al., 2020).

The FDA approved the use of dacarbazine as chemotherapy for metastatic melanoma treatment in 1975, however, the results were unsatisfying; for example, 10% to 15% of patients do not respond positively to dacarbazine. Other therapeutic drugs such as high dose of IL-2 presented high toxicity and IFNα-2b did not process a significant efficiency. The launch of BRAF inhibitors in clinic use, first vemurafenib in 2011 and then dabrafenib in 2013 successfully improved the responses. Within clinical trial, the complete response to vermurafenib showed a decrease in all BRAF^{V600E} lesions and a partial response showed a decrease of at least 30% of diameter (Bollag et al., 2012) The response rate to vemurafenib is around 50% in two weeks after treatment, which is two times higher than dacarbazine (Flaherty et al., 2010). Despite its satisfying response, vemurafenib

also processes some side effects: around 25% of patients develop squamous cell carcinoma in around eight weeks; patients treated with vemurafenib may develop secondary melanoma in primary site from BRAF wild-type cells (Dalle et al., 2011; Zimmer et al., 2012). As a competitor to ATP fixation site in mutant BRAF, dabrafenib also blocks the BRAF signal transmission; around 65% of patients respond to dabrafenib which is better than vemurafenib. Even though this molecule showed similar side effects as vemurafenib, it does not induce the development of secondary melanoma in primary site. As mentioned before, BRAF inhibitors showed certain improve in metastatic melanoma treatment, although this is only a short-term effect; almost all patients treated with BRAF inhibitors relapsed within six months and acquired resistance (Fedorenko et al., 2011; Sullivan and Flaherty, 2013). The BRAF resistance can be classified into two types: the intrinsic resistance which means initial tumor cells are intrinsically resistant to BRAF inhibitors; the acquired resistance is developed under treatment, within which initial sensitive tumors cells become resistant through new cellular mechanisms. The intrinsic resistance is mainly due to mutations in other genes, such as CDK2, CDK4, MITF or AKT3, which can promise the cell cycle progression even under the BRAF inhibitors challenge; the loss of onco-suppressor such as PTEN in the regulation of PI3K-AKT pathway was also shown to be a reason of intrinsic resistance (Fedorenko et al., 2011; Paraiso et al., 2011). Mutation in cell cycle genes, for instance cyclin D1 overexpression, can also guaranty cell proliferation. These mutations above can also be found in some acquired resistance mechanisms.

In more detail, the mechanisms of intrinsic or acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors can be divided into MAPK pathway-dependent and MAPK pathway-independent [Figure 7]. In about 79% of resistant melanoma, there is a reactivation of the MAPK pathway. One example is the BRAF^{V600E} splicing variant p61 (Lito et al., 2013; Rizos et al., 2014). This variant does not possess the interaction domain with RAS, which is normally necessary in physiological context. In BRAF^{V600E} melanoma, vemurafenib can bind to BRAF monomer so that BRAF cannot form heterodimer with RAS; instead of interacting with RAS, p61 can form homodimer to escape vemurafenib action and reactivate MAPK pathway. The amplification of *BRAF^{V600E}* oncogene is another reason of MAPK

27

activation (Shi et al., 2012). Other upstream or downstream genes in MAPK pathway can also be involved in its reactivation. Notably, NRAS mutations can activate MAPK pathway through other RAF proteins, CRAF or ARAF, instead of BRAF (Nazarian et al., 2010). Furthermore, mutations in downstream MEK1/2 also present in some BRAF inhibitors resistant patients, which can activate ERK continuously without upstream actors (Nikolaev et al., 2011). Another protein kinase COT can also activate ERK independently of RAS and RAF (Johannessen et al., 2010). Interestingly, in an heterogeneous tumor population with BRAF mutated and BRAF wild-type cells, the wild-type BRAF melanoma cells can obtain a better fitness under BRAF inhibitor treatment; these cells have no mutation so they are intrinsically resistant to vemurafenib and can proliferate better (Dalle et al., 2011; Poulikakos et al., 2010). MAPK pathway independent mechanisms use other cellular pathways to overcome the BRAF inhibitors selection. Overexpression of several tyrosine kinase receptors such as IGFR or PDGFR β were found in melanoma cells (Nazarian et al., 2010; Villanueva et al., 2010). These receptors could then activate the PI3K-AKT pathways and cell proliferation. In other words, with an alteration of their transcriptome, melanoma cells can install other cell mechanisms to guaranty their survival under treatments. In clinic, knowing the variety of resistance, combination of BRAF inhibitors and MEK inhibitors is used in order to kill melanoma cells and to avoid or slow down the establishment of resistance.



Figure 7: MAPK signaling pathway and the resistance to MAPK inhibitors.

a: MAPK–PI3K–Akt pathway and BRAFV600 mutation in melanoma. MAPK pathway in normal cells (left), where growth factors bound to RTK and further activates downstream kinases and regulates the cell growth, survival, and proliferation. BRAFV600 mutations in melanoma lead to constitutive activation of the MAPK pathway thus induce uncontrolled cell survival, growth, and proliferation in malignant melanoma (right) that might be reversed by treatment with BRAF

inhibitors.

b: Mechanisms supporting BRAF inhibitor resistance in melanoma. Genetic changes including NRAS mutation, BRAF amplification, MEK mutations, NF1 mutations, Akt amplification (genetic or epigenetic), and loss of PTEN (genetic or epigenetic), while epigenetic changes include Akt amplification, loss of PTEN, overexpression of HGF, RTK, PDGFRB, and IGF1R. (Kakadia et al., 2018).

b) Immunotherapies

Immunotherapy is also a treatment option, which shows an upward tendency whatever the oncogenic mutation of the tumor (BRAF/NRAS/NF1/triple WT). The main idea is to boost directly the immune system against cancer. In melanoma, there are several types of immune therapies, including immune checkpoint inhibitors, interferon, IL-2 (Interleukin-2) and TNF (Tumor Necrosis Factor) therapy.

Interferon therapy has been used as adjuvant therapy in melanoma to affect cancer cell proliferation and tumour growth, additionally, IFN- α (Tarhini et al., 2012). IL-2 (Dillman et al., 2012) is also a molecule to treat advanced melanoma, which can boost the activity and growth of many immune cells. However it has now been widely replaced by checkpoint inhibitors because of its substantial toxicity and low efficacy. TNF- α has been used for locally advanced melanoma; however, the controversial role of TNF has also been demonstrated not only as a cancer cell cytotoxic molecule, but also a tumor-promoting factor (Donia et al., 2016), so several TNF- α inhibitors were used or tested in clinical trials, such as infliximab (Nardone et al., 2014).

Checkpoint proteins are present in immune cells such as T cell, in order to keep immune responses in check; but with a large amount of these proteins, T cells are not capable to attack cancer cells. Thus why checkpoint inhibitors can block these proteins and increase the ability of T cells to efficiently kill cancer cells. Two types of checkpoint inhibitors exist nowadays: CTLA-4 blocking antibody, which attaches to CTLA-4 in T cell surface and interrupts its binding to B7 on cancer cells. PD-1 blocking antibody attaches to PD-1 in T cell surface and blocks the interaction with PDL-1 on cancer cells.

In 2011, anti-CTLA-4 molecule ipilimumab gave hope for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. This therapy has a long-term effect although only 20% of patients respond to it; the global survival is 10 months and may be longer in better responding patients, up to several years (Hodi et al., 2010; Jilaveanu et al., 2009; Lebbé et al., 2014). PD-1 blocking antibodies (nivolumab or pembrolizumab) are efficient in about 30% to 40% patients; similar to ipilimumab, PD-1 antibodies showed a durable effect. Anti-CTLA-4 and PD-1 antibodies have been used in the clinic and demonstrated excellent results without many side effects and increased patients overall survival (Postow et al., 2015). It is also an opportunity for BRAF or MEK inhibitors resistant melanoma. As targeted therapy, immunotherapy is also challenged by subsequent resistance of melanoma tumors. A proportion of 40% to 60% of patients do not achieve any response and some responders relapse within two years (Callahan et al., 2018; Larkin et al., 2015a, 2019) [Figure 8]. There are also two types of resistance according to the timing of occurrence: primary/intrinsic resistance and acquired resistance. Resistance can also be classified as intrinsic or extrinsic to tumor cells: when cancer cells alter intrinsically immune recognition processes, including cell signaling, gene expression and DNA damage response, or when external immune cells fail to recognize tumor cells because of non-tumor cell factors. Primary resistance to immune checkpoint blockade occurs in approximately 40% to 65% of patients treated with anti-PD1 and in more than 70% of those with anti-CTLA-4 therapy (Larkin et al., 2015b; Robert et al., 2011). Clinical pathological factors associated with primary resistance are: elevated level of baseline serum LDH (Diem et al., 2016), increased baseline tumor burden (Nishino et al., 2017), lack of PD-L1 in melanoma tissues (Taube et al., 2014), lack of T-cell infiltration (Tumeh et al., 2014), and absence of PD-1 T cells and PD-L1 macrophages in early melanoma samples (Vilain et al., 2017), low mutational burden and insufficient neoantigens (Snyder et al., 2014), absence of an interferon signature (Ayers et al., 2017). Acquired resistance develops after the immunotherapy selection of subpopulations with genetic or epigenetic traits, which allow them to escape immune system control (Restifo et al., 2016). For instance, beta-2-microglobulin, component of MHC class I molecule, can be lost in metastatic melanoma patients treated with immunotherapy (del Campo et al., 2014). PD-L1 can also be upregulated by tumor cells in order to

limit T cell function (Pardoll, 2012). To overcome this resistance, combinatorial therapies are used (anti-PD1 + anti-CTLA4) or under investigation (anti-PD1 + anti-Lag3). It is also important to note that, because of the existence of inter-patient heterogeneity, the challenge remains to determine which combination is suitable and efficient for each patient.

Table 1. Response to Treatment. ^o						
Variable	Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab (N = 314)	Nivolumab (N=316)	Ipilimumab (N=315)			
Best overall response — no. (%)†						
Complete response	69 (22)	60 (19)	18 (6)			
Partial response	114 (36)	81 (26)	42 (13)			
Stable disease	38 (12)	30 (9)	69 (22)			
Progressive disease	74 (24)	121 (38)	159 (50)			
Unable to determine	19 (6)	24 (8)	27 (9)			

Figure 8: Percentage of patients responding to nivolumab +/- ipilimumab. Ref: Five-Year Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma

c) Other combination treatments

Besides all these treatments above, other treatments are also being studied or tested in clinical trials, such as HDACs (Histone deacetylases) inhibitors and vaccine therapy, in order to overcome the resistance to targeted therapy and immunotherapy. HDACs participate in epigenetic remodeling process; they deacetylate histone after the action of HAT (histone acetyl transferase). In uveal melanoma, HDAC inhibitor could up-regulate melanocyte differentiation markers (Landreville et al., 2012). One type of HDAC inhibitors, vorinostat, was demonstrated to be efficient to kill selectively BRAF inhibitor or MEK inhibitor-resistant melanoma cells (Wang et al., 2018). The combination of HDAC inhibitor with immunotherapy is also an idea to overcome cancer cell resistance; for example, HDAC6 inhibitor improves anti-PD1 therapy by down-regulating anti-immune protein in tumor cells and by inhibiting immune-suppressive macrophages activities (Knox et al., 2019). Another idea is about the vaccination, which means that after the analysis of tumor samples, a personalized vaccine will be generated according to melanoma cell protein fragments, which are capable to spur an immune response (Vasquez et al., 2017). Many clinical trials in melanoma treatments are ongoing or

completed in order to determinate new treatments in different contexts.

3) Melanoma formation

Originated from melanocytes, different steps are required to become melanoma. This process called melanomagenesis. Here, the SSM (Superfical spreading melanoma) model will be used to present this process [*Figure 9*]. Approximately 70% of cutaneous malignant melanomas are SSM, they may be found on any body surface. This is also the type of melanoma that my thesis is based on.



Figure 9: Different steps of melanoma formation. From left to right side: activation of an oncogene; nevus to RGP (radical growth phase); RGP to VGP (Vertical growth phase); dissemination and metastasis (Zaidi et al., 2008).

The very first step is the aberrant activation of an oncogene. This will induce melanocyte hyper-proliferation and then cell senescence; a benign nevus will be formed. The most common mutation is BRAF^{V600E}, which presents in about 80% of nevi and 60% of SSM (Poynter et al., 2006). Mutational activation of the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathway is a critical step in the development of nevi. The oncogenic role of BRAF was approved in 2004 by its capacity to induce melanocyte transformation (Garnett and Marais, 2004; Wellbrock et al., 2004). The mutation V600E makes the BRAF constantly activated independently of the extracellular stimulus, the activated MAPK pathway

makes cells proliferate and survive, in order to initiate tumor transformation (Cantwell-Dorris et al., 2011). Without doubt, melanocytes possess a security control system, which is the senescence. High expression of p16, a cell cycle inhibitor, is a characteristic in nevi (Michaloglou et al., 2005). Other senescence markers such as lysine 9 methylation and DEC1 expression were demonstrated later on (Zhang and Herlyn, 2012).

Then, the passage from nevi to malignant tumor needs more oncogenic elements, such as the loss of a tumor suppressor which makes melanocyte stride over senescence. One important thing to note is that, a significant part of SSM does not arise from a nevus, but from direct senescence escape upon transformation of a melanocyte. Two important pathways controlling senescence need to be inhibited: the p53 pathway and the p16/RB pathway. The promoter of CDKN2A (p16 coding gene) may be mutated, deleted or hyper-methylated in melanoma, which results in p16 repression (Bennett, 2007; Dahl and Guldberg, 2007). Although less frequent, mutations in CDK4 may also present; this will inhibit the CDK4-p16 interaction so that RB cannot be phosphorylated and E2F will become unrestricted to facilitate G1/S transition and S-phase (Meyle and Guldberg, 2009). As for p53 pathway, only 5% of melanomas present p53 gene mutation; in contrast, the mutation in CDKN2A leads to the inhibition of p14/ARF expression, so that the repression of p53 will be maintained. Another protein p21 in this pathway may also be repressed by TBX2 and TBX3 which are frequently overexpressed in melanoma (Lu et al., 2010). Besides the p16/RB and p53 pathway, several studies demonstrated also essential role of PI3K-PTEN-AKT pathway; this signaling pathway participates mainly in cell survival and cell cycle progression. One example is that AKT can inhibit GSK3 in order to release cyclin D1, which will then phosphorylate RB and guaranty cell cycle progression. AKT can also phosphorylate MDM2 in order to degrade p53 by proteasome through ubiquitinylation (Hemmings and Restuccia, 2012). Activation of PI3K-PTEN-AKT signaling has two possibilities: PTEN alteration or aberrant activation of AKT. PTEN is a negative modulator in this pathway; in 10% to 40% of melanoma, inactivation mutations in PTEN gene are present and it process more important role in advanced melanoma (Aguissa-Touré and Li, 2012; Conde-Perez and Larue, 2012). In 40% to 60% of melanomas, one isoform of AKT, AKT3, is over-expressed due to gene amplification (Stahl et al., 2004).

Once the oncogene-induced senescence is inhibited, tumor will become malignant and hyper-proliferative. Cells enter a radical growth phase without the physiological cell cycle control system. At this time, cells are highly proliferative but do not acquire an invasive capacity yet, so cell growth is restricted in a single plane of skin layer within the epidermis, without any penetration through the basement membrane. Surgery is sufficient to remove this *in situ* melanoma (Crowson et al., 2006). After that, some malignant melanoma cells can become invasive and grow vertically deeper in tissues. Even though melanocytes are not epithelial cells, they can pass through an EMT-like transition, and lose specific epithelial markers while acquiring mesenchymal markers, including loss of E-cadherin and gain of N-cadherin and some metalloproteases; anti-apoptotic and motility cell programs are also established. They become rarely proliferative but highly invasive to degrade basement membrane into dermis. Next, blood vessels or lymph nodes may be in contact with these cells (Mobley et al., 2012; Scatolini et al., 2010).

The last step is the dissemination. Melanoma cells enter into blood vessels or lymph circulation. Local metastasis can be generated close to the primary tumor within 2cm of the surgical scar; it can result either from the extension of the primary melanoma or from spreading via the lymphatic vessels. In-transit metastasis is melanoma deposits within the lymphatic vessels more than 2cm from the site of the primary melanoma. Nodal metastasis is metastatic melanoma involving the lymph nodes. The lymph nodes first involved are the regional lymph nodes. Usually, the involved lymph nodes become enlarged and may be able to be felt. When melanoma cells are in the bloodstream, they can travel to distant sites and seed. Melanoma cells can proliferate in any tissue but most often grows in the lungs, the liver and the brain. Many patients also develop metastases in bone, gastrointestinal tract, heart, pancreas, adrenal glands, kidneys, spleen and thyroid. At molecular level, metastatic melanoma cells express a large amount of VEGF and chemokines which are involve in cell motility (Braeuer et al., 2011; Leiter et al., 2004). In MAPK pathway, BRAF participates also in actin cytoskeleton organization to facilitate cell motility; BRAF can also influence
cellular contraction by release Ca+ in cytoplasm, via the inhibition of PDE5A kinase, which fuel cell invasion (Arozarena et al., 2011).

4) Melanoma models

Various melanoma models have been developed, that exhibit pros and cons depending upon the question to address [Figure 10]. *In vitro* models are suitable for mechanistic analyses, while *in vivo* models help capture the complex microenvironment and immune response that lead to the outcome of melanoma. Animal model is as similar as possible to its human counterpart, but it is also continuously improved through genetic engineering, and/or technology advances. A key developmental aspect of all animal models is that the "omics" data generated from their research can now be directly compared with comparable human data sets, providing strong correlation verification. The establishment of *in vitro* cultures generated from models and directly from patients (such as organoids) provides additional experimental possibilities. However, the most important and physiological as well as the final way is still clinical study, which is why patients cohorts are always needed to give definitive proof.



Figure 10. Pros and cons of current melanoma models

2D, two-dimensional; GEM, genetically engineered mouse; GDA, GEM-derived allograft; NSG, NOD/SCID/IL-2rγ^{null} immunodeficient mouse; PDX, patient-derived xenograft; TME, tumor microenvironment; WT, wild-type. Melanoma models for the next generation of therapies.(Patton et al Cancer Cell 2021).

a) Melanoma short-term culture

The use of appropriate models with which to study a specific biological question is a major challenge in cancer research. Cell lines have long been used to study cellular processes and the effects of individual molecules because they are easy to use, grow rapidly, produce reproducible results and have a strong track record in research. In order to understand melanoma biology in vitro, melanoma cell lines are needed. Besides standard ATCC (American Type Culture Collection) melanoma cells lines such as A375, SKMEL24, which are limited in homogeneity and in genetic or phenotypic drift, other cell lines generated from patients are also important, they are closer to physiological conditions and more representatives of phenotypes in vivo. But these cultures are heterogeneous, require constant monitoring, are sensitive to passaging and often have slow proliferation rates. This is most likely due to the spontaneous selection for the fittest subpopulation in the in vitro environment, resulting in clonal expansion and eventually in an immortalized cell line (Aubert et al., 1993; Sanlorenzo et al., 2015; Thurber et al., 2011). Many melanoma short-term cultures have been generated, such as Ma-Mel-123 used in single-cell RNA-seq (Gerber et al., 2017), 11 primary melanoma cultures derived from patient biopsies were used to study melanoma progression and therapeutic target (Gembarska et al., 2012; Verfaillie et al., 2015), or GLO generated in our group to understand melanoma resistance (Richard et al., 2016a). Even though 2D cultures are now less popular than 3D cultures, they are still useful in many aspects; not all molecular analyses are possible in 3D, for example, ChIP-sequencing, which needs a large amount of 2D cultured cells and takes a large place of my thesis to investigate melanoma cells mechanisms.

b) Melanoma 3D culture

Nowadays, motivated by the need to work with cellular models that mimic the function of living tissues, monolayer cell culture is improved into 3D culture in order to understand disease

biology and therapeutic efficacy. Tumor spheroids are perhaps one of the simpler and more cost-effective 3D systems talked in the literature (Fennema et al., 2013; Vinci et al., 2012). Spheroids can be generated either from a single-cell type or as multicellular spheroids representative of in vivo cells found in tumor of interest. Multicellular spheroids seem like avascular tumor nodules. With increasing size of spheroids, oxygen and nutrition gradients affect not only cellular RNA and protein expression but also the penetration and bioactivity of therapeutic drugs of interest (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2010). Some cells require also the addition of extracellular matrix compounds, methylcellulose or agarose. A 3D organotypic melanoma spheroid skin model was generated, melanoma cells are embedded with primary skin cell; this model portrays the *in vivo* architecture of malignant melanoma, and could facilitate drug screenings in the future (Müller and Kulms, 2018).

c) Human skin reconstructs

To go further to mimic natural skin biology and to study melanoma in a physiological environment, human skin reconstructs may be a better choice. These are 3D *in vitro* models consisting of epidermal keratinocytes plated onto fibroblast-contracted collagen gels. Cells in skin reconstructs more closely recapitulate the *in situ* phenotype than cells in 2D culture. Normal melanocytes remains singly distributed at the basement membrane which separates the epidermis from the dermis, interspersed with basal layer keratinocytes. This model enables the investigation of cell-matrix and cell-cell interaction between different cell types. This model has already been used to analyze the growth pattern of melanoma cells representing different stages of tumor progression, by using normal melanocytes, radical and vertical growth phase, primary and metastatic melanoma cells, which were all incorporated into the epidermis (Meier et al., 2000). This model may allow us to investigate melanoma cell functions such as invasiveness in our study.

d) Melanoma mouse models

Despite the difference between mouse and human melanocyte biology, mouse model is still a powerful strategy to understand melanoma progression and therapeutic responses, because murine model owe their ubiquity to their ease of manipulation and availability as well as existing knowledge base regarding their genetics. Many mouse models are used, including xenograft, syngeneic, and genetically engineered models. Xenograft models involve the culturing and engraftment of human melanoma cells into immune-deficient mice. Key pathways responsible for malignancy can be quickly identified because of their easy establishment and manipulation. Depending on different origins, there are cell line xenografts, patient-derived tumor xenografts. Syngenetic xenograft transplantation involves the induction and transplantation of melanoma cells into same species and genetic background (Bobek et al., 2010); because of the presence of immune system, this model is frequently used to evaluate immunotherapies and interactions between tumor and immune cells (Klarguist and Janssen, 2012). Genetically engineered models use transgenic mice with modified gene expression and are often used to determine the mechanisms of melanomagenesis; in such model, metastasizing melanoma either arises spontaneously or requires additional physical or chemical induction (Larue and Beermann, 2007; Pérez-Guijarro et al., 2017) [Figure 11]. Based on the identification of oncogenic mutations in melanoma, different models processing melanoma initiating mutations were generated, such as BRAF^{V600E}, NRAS^{Q61R}, etc., to elucidate gene function and to identify key targets for therapeutics (Combest et al., 2012; Dankort et al., 2009); RXR-mutant mice were also generated to study the UV induced melanoma progression (Coleman et al., 2014). Mouse model can allow us to investigate xenograft melanoma cells properties, such as tumor growth and metastasis in different contexts.

Promoter	Genetic Modification	Carcinogen	Latency	Penetrance
Tyr	SV40 transgenic	UVB	57 wk	80%
Tyr	HRas ^{G12V} , Ink4a/Arf ^{-/-}	None	5.5 mo	61%
Tyr	HRas ^{G12V}	DMBA	45 wk	100%
Tyr	HRas ^{G12V}	UVB	45 wk	20%
Tyr	$HRas^{G12V}$, $p53^{+/-}$	None	65 wk	12%
Tyr	HRas ^{G12V} , p53 ^{-/-}	None	17 wk	26%
Tyr	HRas ^{G12V} , p16 ^{lnk4a-/-}	None	~75 wk	40%
Tyr	HRas ^{G12V} , p19 ^{Arf-/-}	None	~60 wk	~60%
Tyr	NRas ^{Q61K}	None	>1 yr	29%
Tyr	NRasQ61K, Ink4a/Art ^{4/-}	None	1 yr	83%
Tyr	NRas ^{Q61K} , Ink4a/Arf ^{-/-}	None	6 mo	94%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Nras ^{61R/61R} ; p16Ink4a ^{kox/lox}	None	26 wk	70%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Nras ^{61R/61R} ; p16Ink4a ^{kox/lox} ; Lkb1 ^{kox/lox}	None	22 wk	85%
Tyr-rtTA	TRE-Nras ^{Q61K} ; Cdkn2a ^{-/-}	None	15 wk	50%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Kras ^{G12D} ; p53 ^{kx/kx}	None	39 wk	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Kras ^{G12D} ; Lkb1 ^{laxAox}	None	39 wk	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Kras ^{G12D} ; p53 ^{lox/lox} ; Lkb1 ^{lox/lox}	None	11 wk	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Kras ^{12D/WT} ; p16Ink4a ^{lox/lox}	None	36 wk	76%
Tyr	Braf ^{V600E} , Ink4a/Arf ^{-/-}	None	$\sim 14 \text{ wk}$	~95%
Tyr	Braf ^{V600E} , p53 ^{-/-}	None	~21 wk	~80%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	BratCA, p16Ink4a-/-	None	7 mo	80%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Brat ^{CA} , Cdkn2a ^{lox/lox}	None	14 wk	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Brat ^{CA} , Cdkn2a ^{lox/lox}	None	9 wk	100%
Lkb1 ^{kx/} lox	Tyr::CreER ^{T2;} Pten ^{flox/flox} Cdkn2a ^{lax/lox}	None	9 mo	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	BrafCA	UVB	5.3 mo	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	Brat ^{CA} , Trp53 ^{R172H}	None	3.5 mo	100%
Tyr::CreER ^{T2}	BratCA; Ptenflox/flox	None	5 wk	100%

Genetically engineered mouse models of cutaneous melanoma

Figure 11. Examples of genetically engineered mouse models of cutaneous melanoma. Tyr, Tyrosinase; CreER^{T2}, tamoxifen-dependent Cre recombinase 2; MT1 (Mt1), metallothionein 1; Dct, dopachrome tautomerase; rtTA, reverse tetracycline-controlled trans activator; TVA, avian leukosis virus receptor; SV40, simian vacuolating virus 40 T antigen; HRas (Hras), Harvey rat sarcoma virus oncogene; NRas (Nras), neuroblastoma ras oncogene; Ink4a/Arf (Cdkn2a), cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A; p16^{Ink4}, Cdkn2a isoform p16; p19^{Arf}, Cdkn2a isoform p19; BRAF (Braf), Braf transforming gene; Braf^{CA}, Cre-activated Braf^{V600E} allele. Ref: Genetically Engineered Mouse Models of Melanoma.

Chapter2. EMT-TFs function in carcinoma

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a physiological cell plasticity process, tightly

regulated in response to microenvironmental signals, which is driven by a network of EMT-inducing transcription factors (EMT-TFs), mainly represented by the SNAIL, TWIST and ZEB protein families, which interact with epigenetic regulators.

A. Physiological EMT

1) EMT definition

EMT, the epithelial to mesenchymal transition, is a cell plasticity process in which cells lose their epithelial features and gain mesenchymal characteristics [Figure 12]. Epithelial cells exhibit cell-cell junction as well as apical-basal polarity, while mesenchymal cells lack apical-basal polarity showing a spindle-like morphology, which exhibits a heightened motility and invasiveness (Polyak and Weinberg, 2009). This transition is tightly regulated by several micro-environmental signals, which will be detailed in the "EMT activated extracellular signals" part. The EMT paradigm was initially originated from classic experiment by Elizabeth Hay, in which mature epithelial cells were explanted into collagen I gels and they lost their polarity and migrated into the matrix as single cells with a strong morphological resemblance to embryonic fibroblasts, a mesenchymal cell type (Greenburg and Hay, 1982; Hay and Zuk, 1995). This transition is also combined with a loss of epithelium-specific gene expression such as E-cadherin, and gain of mesenchymal gene expression including vimentin and N-cadherin (Thiery, 2002). Known to have essential roles in multiple steps of embryonic morphogenesis, EMT program also plays essential role in various pathological processes, including wound healing, tissue fibrosis and cancer (Lim and Thiery, 2012; Nieto et al., 2016; Shibue and Weinberg, 2017) [Figure 13]. EMT is reversible, and the reversed process is termed MET (Mesenchymal to epithelial transition). This reversibility underscores the plasticity of certain embryonic cells and the plasticity of adult cells that are involved in disease pathogenesis (Yang and Weinberg, 2008).



Figure 12. Schematic presentation of EMT.

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a physiological cell plasticity process, tightly regulated in response to microenvironmental signals, which is driven by a network of EMT-inducing transcription factors (EMT-TFs), mainly represented by the SNAIL, TWIST and ZEB protein families.



Figure 13. Different types of EMT.

Type 1 EMT is associated with gastrulation and generation of mesoderm, endoderm, and neural crest. The primitive epithelium gives rise to primary mesenchyme through an EMT. Type 2

EMT begins as part of tissue repair to generate fibroblasts. Type 2 EMT can contribute to organ destruction if it is persistent if inflammation insult is not attenuated. Type 3 EMT occurs in epithelial cancer cells and affects oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes which conspire with the EMT proteome to result in increased invasiveness and migration. (Lee & Nelson 2012)

2) EMT in embryonic development (Type I EMT)

The first EMT function is observed during implantation, embryogenesis and organ development, in order to generate diverse cell types which may undergo an MET to form secondary epithelial tissue.

The gastrulation, in which three definitive germ layers called ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm are established from the initial epithelial embryonic cells, in order to form the trilaminar embryonic disk. This process situates the ectoderm in the outer layer, the mesoderm in the middle layer and the endoderm in the inner layer of the embryo. The mesoderm and the endoderm achieve their location through a process called ingression, which is an EMT process whereby outer epithelial cells detach and are internalized through the primitive steak (Shook and Keller, 2003). Neural crest cell formation is essential to form the skeletal and connective. During this process, sequential rounds of EMT and MET are needed for the cell tissue components of the vertebrate head and the ganglia of the peripheral nervous system differentiation and the 3D structure of the organs; these sequential rounds are referred as primary, secondary and tertiary EMT (Thiery et al., 2009) [Figure 14]. After implantation, the earliest primary EMT occurs in order to form mesoderm from the primitive ectoderm via gastrulation, as well as in neural crest development; this process also enables these cells to maintain multi-potentiality and to differentiate further into various cell types. A primary EMT is directed by the epithelial morphogenesis whereby the epithelial layer undergoes de-epithelialization and the epithelial cells undergo ingression, followed by the adoption of basic mesenchymal characteristics such as motility and migration. The post gastrulation is considered as the secondary EMT, which leads to the formation of neural crest within ectodermal zones, thus giving rise to various cells types. The migratory neural crest cells travel through different

43

routes to their final destination and differentiate into neurons, bone and connective tissues. The tertiary type of EMT can be well explained through a successive cycle of embryonic heart formation, which involves three successive cycles of an EMT and MET.



Figure 14: Different types of EMT during embryonic development.

(A) Primary EMT occurs early during embryonic development, even before implantation such as during the formation of the parietal endoderm in mice. (B) Early mesodermal cells are subdivided into axial, paraxial, intermediate, and lateral plate mesodermal cells that will condense into transient epithelial structure. These transient structures will undergo secondary EMT, leading to the generation of mesenchymal cells that differentiate into specific cell types. (C) An example of tertiary EMT arises during the formation of the cushion mesenchyme in the heart from the atrioventricular canal (AV) or the outflow tract (OT). The cushion mesenchyme is the precursor of the cardiac valves. (Thiery et al 2009)

3) EMT in tissue repair and fibrosis (Type II EMT)

Type II EMT involves transition of secondary epithelial cells to resident tissue fibroblasts; it occurs during wound healing, tissue regeneration and organ fibrosis. In contrast to type I, type II EMT is induced in response to inflammation, but stops once inflammation is attenuated, especially during wound healing and tissue regeneration. Type II EMT continues to respond to inflammation during fibrosis which results in tissue destruction (López-Novoa and Nieto, 2009; Wynn, 2008).

Wound healing consists of several overlapping phases which involve an injury-induced inflammatory response which is associated with cellular proliferation, migration and ECM remodeling (Eming et al., 2014). During wound healing and tissue regeneration, the EMT process begins as a repair-associated event that normally generates fibroblasts and other related cells in order to reconstruct tissues after injury (Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009). At the wound edge, keratinocytes lose their intercellular adhesion and migrate across the wound (Coulombe, 2003). Specifically, these keratinocytes undergo changes in junction complexes including reduction in desmosomes and adherent junctions, disruption of intermediate filaments and cytoskeletal reorganization which results in the creation of intercellular gaps (Baum and Arpey, 2005; Santoro and Gaudino, 2005). These modifications enable keratinocytes to shift from cuboidal and stationary to flattened and migratory. During physiological repair, tissue integrity must be restored not only through re-epithelialization, but also through formation of a stress-resistance scar. Myofibroblasts derived from resident fibroblasts or trans-differentiated of epitheilial cells through EMT are the key players in the remodeling and maturation phase of wound healing; these cells synthesize ECM components and contract the wound bed, in order to aid in the mechanical closure of the wound (Barnes and Gorin, 2011; Wynn and Ramalingam, 2012). Then, many myofibroblasts undergo apoptosis and disappear. This important process is ensured by the transcription factor Snail2, which will be better detailed in EMT transcription factors part. EMT also occurs during repair of organs other than the skin; in vitro healing of a mammary epithelial cell line showed that EMT-associated

vimentin was expressed in a migration-dependent way, such as vimentin was exclusively induced in actively migrating cells at the leading wound edge, then vimentin expression subsequently disappeared when wound closure was achieved (Gilles et al., 1999).

In normal wound healing, many myofibroblasts disappear at the end; however, pathologically prolonged myofibroblasts activity can result in fibrogenesis. Indeed, persistent myofibroblast activation is a shared feature of fibrotic diseases, where the deregulation of injury-triggered EMT is believed to contribute to fibrosis of multiple organs. TGF β 1, a critical regulator of EMT signalling as well as physiological wound healing, is also the major driver of fibrosis (details in next part). Tissue fibrosis is basically an un-abated type of wound-healing caused by persistent inflammation. A pathological EMT process resembles a physiological process in that they are both governed by similar signalling pathways. Organ fibrosis occurs in a number of glandular epithelial tissues whereby inflammatory cells and fibroblasts release various inflammatory signals and several ECM components, such as collagen, laminin, elastin and tenascin. During fibrosis, endothelial cells associated with the microvasculature contribute to the formation of mesenchymal cells via pathological EMT process called an EndMT (endothelial-mesenchymal transition) (Potenta et al., 2008).

4) EMT regulation and extracellular signals

Activated in the posterior region of the embryo, the canonical Wnt signaling pathway plays an essential role in vertebrate gastrulation, especially for mesodermal and endodermal cells to ingress at the primitive steak [Figure 15]. Besides, this signaling can also render ingressing cells to respond to extracellular signals initiating EMT (Skromne and Stern, 2001). Two downstream factors of Wnt, Nodal and Vg1, are both TGFβ superfamily members and play key roles in the initiation of the gastrulation process (Chea et al., 2005). Nodal and Vg1 cooperate to induce the primitive steak formation and cell ingression, in order to render the epiblast competent to gastrulate (Acloque et al., 2009). At the same time, FGF (Fibroblast growth factor) signaling interacts with them and maintains

their expression to ensure the gastrulation to proceed (Mathieu et al., 2004).

After the gastrulation, neural crest cells undergo an EMT process, delaminate from the neural folds and then migrate from the neural tube. They migrate into distinct regions of the embryo then undergo MET and give rise to different cell derivatives. Similar signals are shared in gastrulation initiation and during neural crest cell formation, delamination and migration. The canonical Wnt pathway participates in the induction, stabilization and delamination of neural crest cells precursors, while the non-canonical Wnt pathway is important in contact inhibition of locomotion and directional movements of neural crest cells (Carmona-Fontaine et al., 2008; De Calisto et al., 2005). The TGFβ superfamily also involve in neural crest formation, especially BMPs (Bone morphogenetic protein). For example, expression of BMP4 in neural folds can guide the epithelial cells into migratory neural crest cells via the activation of Msx1 (msh homeobox 1) and Snail2 (Karafiat et al., 2005). Neural crest cell migration timing may also be controlled by BMPs, while a BMP inhibitor, Noggin, can prevent this migration process (Burstyn-Cohen et al., 2004). Other factors involving in the neural crest formation, including SOX8, SOX9, SOX10, FOXD3, RHOB and Snail2, are also important in this process but may not be sufficient to induce a complete EMT (Acloque et al., 2009; Cheung and Briscoe, 2003; Cheung et al., 2005). Altogether, a complex and tightly regulated combination of various transcription factors is essential for the neural crest cells EMT and migration.



Figure 15: Signaling pathways control the EMTs at gastrulation and neural crest delamination in the amniote embryo.

TFG-8 superfamily (Nodal, Vg1, and BMPs), together with Wnt and FGF, initiate the formation

of the primitive streak and operate at the neural folds to drive the ingression of the mesendoderm and the delamination of the neural crest, respectively. Some downstream targets are also conserved, such as the Snail genes. While Snail factors are key regulators of the EMT program during gastrulation, the coordinated induction of several transcription factors is required to control the robust program of neural crest delamination. EPB4L5, FERM and actin-binding domain–containing band 4.1 superfamily member; p38IP, p38-interacting protein; Rho, members of the Rho family of small GTPases. (Acloque et al 2009)

As for wound healing and tissue regeneration, the EMT process is activated by many extracellular signals. Notably, the EGF (epidermal growth factor) family represents the best characterized growth factor family in wound healing, which includes a wide variety of ligands, such as EGF, HB-EGF, TGFα, etc (Barrientos et al., 2008). EGF leads to the activation of several signaling pathways promoting keratinocyte migration and proliferation (Omenetti et al., 2008). EGF also aids to accomplish EMT by internalizing E-cadherin and up-regulating SNAIL1 and TWIST, and increasing cell motility through MMP-directed ECM degradation (Ahmed et al., 2006; Lo et al., 2007). EGF (epidermal growth factor) induces wound healing in ovarian surface epithelium by activating metalloproteases, ILK kinase and ERK kinase (Ahmed et al., 2006). EGF is also able to regulate the expression of transcription factors that regulate EMT. Indeed, EGF is a master regulator of EMT/Slug mediated effects; it stimulates the expression of Slug mediated by Erk5 (Kusewitt et al., 2009). Snail2 (slug) is important in wound healing, since it can regulate the metastable state of keratinocytes at the migratory front to compromise or accelerate wound healing process (Arnoux et al., 2008). Moreover, healing of excisional wounds is impaired in Slug knockout mice almost twofold in comparison to wild-type mice (Kusewitt et al., 2009). At the mechanistic level, Slug regulates keratinocyte motility during re-epithelialization by repressing E-cadherin, leading to decreased cell-cell interaction (Savagner, 2001); Slug also drives intercellular dermosomal disruption at the wound edge (Savagner et al., 2005). FGF (Fibroblast Growth Factor) family also plays a preponderant role in embryonic development and in wound healing processes. For instance, FGF2 can increase keratinocyte and fibroblast motility and stimulate fibroblasts to produce collagenase (Di Vita et al., 2006). The HGF (Hepatocyte Growth Factor) signaling is also a key regulator of wound healing processes. HGF is mainly produced by fibroblasts and binds to its tyrosine kinase receptor c-Met on the surface of keratinocytes (Toyoda et al., 2001). HGF can regulate EMT-TF SNAIL1 and Slug which helps to break intercellular adhesion. The c-Met-PI3K/AKT pathway also influences cell cycle, proliferation and quiescence (King et al., 2015). TGF β is well studied not only in wound healing but also in all types of EMT. In Wound healing, TGF β 1 plays important roles in inflammation, angiogenesis, re-epithelialization and connective tissue regeneration (Ramirez et al., 2014). TGF β /SMAD induces SNAIL1 expression in order to promote EMT process (Vincent et al., 2009). TGF β is also a major driver of fibrosis, through its role in sustaining myofibroblast activation(Hong et al., 2007). In fibrosis, FSP1 (fibroblast specific protein 1), α -SMA and collagen I are markers of an EMT induced mesenchymal cell phenotypes, especially in chronic inflammation (Zeisberg et al., 2003). TGF β participates in renal fibrosis via Smad3 activation to induce FSP1 expression (Okada et al., 2000). In kidney, liver and intestines with inflammation, DDR2, vimentin and desmin are also markers to identify EMT (Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009)). In total, a similar set of growth factors are indispensable for wound healing and type II EMT, including FGF, EGF, HGF and TGF β [Figure 16]. Then ERK, p38 and JNK are activated among the induced pathways that up-regulate EMT-TFs such as SNAIL, TWIST and ZEB (Tsai and Yang, 2013).



Figure 16: Common growth factor signals initiate and regulate essential EMT and wound-healing processes.

FGF, fibroblast growth factor; EGF, epidermal growth factor; TGFB, transforming growth factor beta; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor. (Stone et al 2017)

5) EMT-TFs

As final effectors activated by a variety of extracellular signals, the EMT-TFs, are responsible for

EMT accomplishment. A core set of EMT-TFs, including Snail (SNAI1), Slug (SNAI2), TWIST1, ZEB1 and ZEB2 [Figure 17], mediate the EMT process as well as additional traits, such as stemness (Puisieux et al., 2014), survival and changes in cell metabolism (Huang and Zong, 2017; Sciacovelli and Frezza, 2017). Each of them can also activate specifically several traits, so they are not redundant (Stemmler et al., 2019).



Figure 17: Schematic representation of the protein structures of the core EMT-TFs.

DNA-binding domains are represented in blue. ZEB proteins have two separate zinc-finger (ZnF) clusters, whereas the Snail proteins and TWIST1 only have one DNA-binding unit. TWIST proteins dimerize through the Twist WR domain to recognize a double E-box motif and to affect transcription. The homology is also shown (percentages). aa, amino acids; bHLH, basic helix–loop–helix; CID, CtBP interaction domain; NES, nuclear export sequence; ; CID, CtBP interaction domain; NES, nuclear export sequence; SID, Smad interaction domain; SNAG, Snail corepressor binding domain. (Stemmler et al 2019)

a) SNAIL family

The SNAIL is the best-studied EMT-TF family. SNAI1 was first discovered as snail in Drosophilia

in 1984, SNAI1 mutant embryos display drastic alteration of segmentation, thus demonstrating its essential roles in embryogenesis (Grau et al., 1984). SNAI2 was first described ten years later than SNAI1 by Nieto et al.,; SNAI2 was named as slug and was shown to be important in chick embryo mesoderm formation and neural crest migration during gastrulation (Nieto et al., 1994). SNAI1 and SNAI2 belong to the zinc finger transcription factor family; they can both recruit several co-regulators. Sharing a conserved organization, both of them are composed of four to five C2H2 type zinc fingers at C-terminal and a SNAG domain at N-terminal (Manzanares et al., 2001). A central Slug domain is present only in SNAI2. The N-terminal SNAG domain of SNAI1 has been shown to bind co-repressor, such as HDAC1/2 (Peinado et al., 2004); in SNAI2, co-repressor NCoR and CtBP interact with SNAG and SLUG domain (Molina-Ortiz et al., 2012). The EMT-TF SNAIL can bind to three E-boxes present in the humain E-cadherin promoter and repress transcription of E-cadherin (Batlle et al., 2000). SNAIL family is involved in processes that imply pronounced cell movements, during both embryonic developments as well as upon acquisition of invasive and migratory properties in tumor migration. Even though similar at structural level, SNAI1 and SNAI2 have been demonstrated to display context-dependent functional roles. They are differentially expressed in normal mammary glands in which distinctly induce EMT process. SNAI1 occupies more promoters than SNAI2 (Ye et al., 2015). SNAI1 induced EMT contributes to the formation of many tissues during embryonic development. Snai1 deficient mice die at embryonic day E8.5 with defects in left-right asymmetry. As detailed in the melanoma part, SNAI2 also displays roles in early development, Snai2 is notably expressed in migratory neural crest cells and is necessary for melanoblast migration and survival, but not for neural crest formation (Jiang et al., 1998). Snai2 deficient mice are viable and have a white forehead blaze, with depigmentation of the central body; it displays important roles in melanocyte stem cells, hematopoietic stem cells and germ cells (Pérez-Losada et al., 2002). Snail genes also have additional functions independently of the induction of EMT (Barrallo-Gimeno and Nieto, 2005). For instance, they protect cells from death induced by the loss of survival factors or by direct apoptotic stimuli.

b)TWIST family

After its discovery in Drosophila, TWIST1 has been intensively studied in field of embryonic development and subsequently in tumor development. TWIST1 belongs to the conserved bHLH family. Twist family bHLH proteins bind as dimers and recognize cis-regulatory elements called E-box. An E-box-independent mechanism of TWIST1 has also been demonstrated in the interaction between TWIST1 and p53 (Piccinin et al., 2012). Twist family form functional homodimers or heterodimers with other protein in bHLH family (Castanon et al., 2001). Twist proteins play essential roles in multiple stages of embryonic development. Mice lacking TWIST1 exhibit failure of neural tube closure and die at E11.5. TWIST1 mutation may also generate some syndrome such as Saethre-Chotzen syndrome. TWIST1 can promote EMT not only by affecting the downstream signals, such as E-cadherin repression, but also by inducing several cell changes, such as invadopodia formation and vasculogenic mimicry formation (Eckert et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2010). At the transcriptional level, different from SNAI1 and ZEB1, TWIST1 acts without direct binding to the *CDH1* (E-cadherin gene) promoter.

c) ZEB family

ZEB family transcription factors are composed by two members, ZEB1 and ZEB2. ZEB1/2 are homeobox zinc finger transcription factors encoded by two distinct genes, called *ZEB1* (also *TCF8* or *DeltaEF1*) and *ZEB2* (also *SIP1*). These two proteins are similar at the structural level. The high degree of sequence identity between the two zinc finger clusters shows that the capacities of DNA binding are similar between these two proteins. Their Smad binding domain (SBD) can interact with activated R-Smad from TGF β pathway, although the binding efficiency is different between these two proteins. The homeodomain does not bind to DNA and may participate in protein-protein interactions. They can repress the transcription of target genes through the interaction with the CtBP co-repressor. For example, ZEB1 and ZEB2 down-regulate one essential adhesion molecule in EMT, E-cadherin, via binding to E2-boxes in its promoter, so that epithelial cells lose their strong intercellular interactions and distinct polarity, which facilitate the capacity to migrate (Vandewalle et al., 2009). Although initially described as transcriptional repressors, ZEB1 and ZEB2 can also activate the transcription of genes, for example ZEB1 turns out to be a transcriptional activator via interaction with YAP (Lehmann et al., 2016). Knock-out of *Zeb1/2* in mouse demonstrated that they are essential in embryogenesis. The knock-out of Zeb2 gene in mouse is lethal at E8.5, in which the murine *Zeb1* knockout did not induce embryonic lethality but caused major defects in skeletal factors and thymocytes, resulting in perinatal death. Interestingly, the expression of ZEB1 and ZEB2 is primarily complementary in mouse embryos, with overlap only in a limited number of tissues (Miyoshi et al., 2006) [Figure 18]. ZEB2 is also required for the development of neural crest cells with failure of neural tube closure involved in arrest of early migration of cranial nerve crest cells (Van de Putte et al., 2003). Zeb2-specific tissue inactivation early in neural crest cell development also results in embryonic death, associated with developmental abnormalities of the cranial, cardiac, and peripheral nervous systems (Van de Putte et al., 2007). Indeed, the expression of ZEB2 around E8.5 is found in the neural plate/crest and the paraxial mesoderm, while ZEB1 is absent in the neural crest and is expressed in the paraxial and limb skeletal elements up to at E12, this observation highlights the specific spatial conditioning of two ZEB family members [Figure 30].

Mutations of ZEB1 and ZEB2 may cause some syndromic malformations (Vandewalle et al., 2009). Some patients with Mowat-Wilson syndrome were found to have a mutated ZEB2 allele. Frame-shift and nonsense mutations in the ZEB1 gene were also examined in many PPCD (Posterior polymorphous corneal dystrophy) patients. Expression of ZEB1/2 is absent in epithelial adult tissues but is found in fibroblasts, in some stem cells, and differentiated cell types (some types of neurons and immune cells...). Indeed, besides displaying essential roles in development, ZEB1 and ZEB2 are also expressed in mammary stem cells (Morel et al 2018), fibroblasts, some neurons as well as immune cells including T CD8 and NK cells (Guan et al., 2018; van Helden et al., 2015).

53



Figure 18: Zeb family mutually exclusive expression in embryo.

q, Schematic representation of the expression of Zeb family members at embryonic day 8.5 (E8.5). The expression domains of Zeb1 and Zeb2 are largely mutually exclusive and include the ventral forebrain, rhombomeres 3 and 5 (r3 and r5, respectively), node, notochord and endoderm (Zeb1) and dorsal forebrain, neural tube (excluding rhombomeres 3 and 5) and the paraxial mesoderm (Zeb2). b, During brain development at E14.5, Zeb1 is restricted to the ventricular and subventricular zones of the forebrain (ven), Zeb2 is expressed in the superficial (sup) and intermediate (int) stratum. (Stemmler et al., 2019)

d)Interaction with epigenetic regulators and regulation

EMT-TFs may interact with epigenetic regulators during cell reprogramming and differentiation (Skrypek et al., 2017). One of the well-known EMT inducers, TGFβ1, can lead to the phosphorylation of histones or epigenetic enzymes, through the activation of SMADs, PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathway. For instance, via interaction with SNAIs through their SNAG domain, or via ZEBs through their SMAD-binding domain, DNMT1 (DNA methyltransferase 1) is recruited to *CDH1* gene and hyper-methylate the CpG islands in the *CDH1* promoter which induce the repression of E-cadherin.. EMT-TFs not only regulate gene methylation via their interaction with epigenetic regulators, their expression itself is also controlled by DNA methylation. For instance, in colorectal cancer, *TWIST* promoter methylation level is inversely correlated with TWIST expression; same thing for ZEB2 in pancreatic cancers and hepatocellular carcinomas. Besides, histone modification also influences the gene transcription during EMT (Acun et al., 2011; Galván et al., 2015). SNAI and ZEB interact with LSD1 (Lysine-Specific Demethylase 1) and recruit it to their target genes. Other epigenetic regulators, such as HDAC1/2 containing complex, can also interact with SNAI2 and ZEB1, or control negatively SNAI1 and ZEB expression [Figure 19]. Pre-treat cancer cells with TSA (Trichostatin A), one of the HDAC1/2 inhibitors, could reverse almost the SNAI1 induced EMT program (Xiao et al., 2014).

Another HDAC1 inhibitor, mocetinostat, was capable to re-sensitize tumor cells to chemotherapy, by impacting ZEB1 expression and functions (Meidhof et al., 2015). More evidence was proved clinically in 2018 that HDAC inhibitor vorinostat could selectively ablate BRAF+MEK inhibitor resistant melanoma cells, which highlighted again the importance of HDAC in cancer therapy resistance (Wang et al., 2018).

Enzyme	Activity	Marks	Regulated EMT-TFs	Regulatory effect	Cell type			
Histone methy tr	Histone methy trabsferases (HTMs) and histone demethylases (HDMs)							
KDM6B/JMJD3	HDM	H3K27m2/3	SNAI1, SNAI2, TWIST1	positive	Breast, MDCK			
			SNAI1, ZEB1	negative	Colorectal			
					cancer			
UTX	HDM	H3K27m2/3	ZEB1, ZEB2, SNAI1	negative	Breast cancer			
EZH2	HMT	H3K27	ZEB1, ZEB2, SNAI1	negative	Ovarian cancer			
PHF8	HDM	НЗК9	ZEB1, SNAI1	positive	Breast cancer			
KDM48	HDM	H3K9me3	ZEB1	positive	Pancreatic			
					cancer			
MLL4	HMT	H3K4me2	ZEB1, ZEB2, SNAI1	positive	Breast cancer			
PRMT1	HMT	H4R3me2as	ZEB1	positive				
Histone acetyl transferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs)								
SIRT1	HDAC	НЗК9Ас	ZEB1, ZEB2, SNAI1, SNAI2	positive	Prostate cancer			
P300	HAT	НЗК	ZEB1, ZEB2, SNAI1	negative	Breast cancer			
HDAC1	HDAC							
HDAC type I	HDAC		ZEB, SNAI1, SNAI2	posiive				

Table 1

Table 2

Enzyme	Interactor	Domain of	Marks	Gene targeted	Cell type
		interaction			
Histone methy trabsferases (HTMs) and histone demethylases (HDMs)					
LSD1	ZEB1		H3K4me2	Gh-repression	Pituitary development
	ZEB2			CD11b-repression	T-ALL
	SNAI1	SNAG		CDH1-repression	HEK293, Breast and
		domain			Colon cancer
	SNAI2			CDH1, desmoplakin,	HEK293, K562, HCT116
				occludin -repression	
SET8	ZEB1		H4K20me1	Vimentin-activation	Breast cancer
				CDH1-repression	
Histone acetyl transferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs)					

SIRT1	ZEB1	Stabilized by MPP8	Н4К16Ас/Н3К9Ас	CDH1-repression	Prostate cancer
P300		N terminal	H3/H4	TGFβ dependent genes- activation	Xenopus embryos
HDAC1/2		Through CtBP?	НЗК	CDH1-repression	Pancreatic cancer
Other					
BRG1	ZEB1	N terminal		CDH1-repression	Colon cancer

Figure 19. Examples of epigenetic regulators and EMT-TFs interaction and regulation. Table 1: Epigenetic regulation of EMT-TFs and the impact on EMT. Table 2: Interaction between epigenetic remodeling enzymes and EMT-TFs. (Modified based on Skrypek et al., 2017)

B. EMT in carcinoma development

We have seen the physiological roles of EMT in growth and tissue repair in previous chapters, but EMT is also involved in oncogenesis and participate to tumour progression and metastasis (Peinado et al., 2007), as well as in cell transformation and tumour initiation (Peinado et al., 2007). Similar cell signalling pathways are activated by diversiform signals in physiological and pathological EMT, but lead to different results. The abnormal expression of EMT-TFs is frequently found in many cancer types, especially in carcinoma. At invasive state, cells loss their polarity and cell-cell contacts so that EMT is activated. However, it was recently shown that MET, the reverse process (mesenchymal to epithelial transition), is required for metastasis colonization.

1) EMT in metastasis and MET in colonization

The very first article who described the role of EMT in cancer was based on the EMT-TF SNAIL1 (Cano et al., 2000). They demonstrated that the over-expression of SNAIL1 repressed the E-cadherin expression, induced the EMT and cells gained an invasive property. One year after, Thomas Brabletz found cells with a dedifferentiated phenotype at the invasive front of colorectal carcinomas (Brabletz et al., 2001). The cells isolated themselves in clusters and even ended up individualizing themselves by adopting a fibroblastic morphology. Interestingly they observed that the cells in the

center of the primary tumour as well as cells present in the metastasis center had common characteristics, such as the expression of E-cadherin and an epithelial phenotype. Likewise, a similarity was observed between the invasive fronts of these same tumours and the metastases they generated; these cells lose the expression of E-cadherin, accumulated nuclear beta-catenin and this was correlated with the loss of their epithelial phenotype, and the acquisition of a more fibroblastic phenotype. Thus we found at the level of the invasive fronts, primary tumours and metastases with features of EMT.

Before 2001, according to the clonal evolution of tumour cell populations, the mesenchymal capacities were necessary for metastasis, such as cell dissociation, migration, dissemination and invasion, which were the results of a succession of secondary genetic alterations during the late stages of carcinogenesis (Nowell, 1976). The observations in colorectal carcinomas proved that the transition to a mesenchymal phenotype is reversible and transient. Thus, it would be the consequence of a major modification of the regulation of expressions of different genes and not of random and definitive genetic events. Since then, these various observations have been highlighted in many tumour models, especially in breast cancer.

Another EMT-TF, TWIST1, was then proved to participate in tumour metastasis formation by Robert Weinberg's lab (Yang et al., 2004). In a mouse model of highly metastatic mammary carcinoma, the depletion of Twist1 by interference RNA prevented the formation of metastasis to the lung. Conversely, the ectopic expression of Twist1 induces loss of E-cadherin, activation of mesenchymal markers and metastatic dissemination.

However, the involvement of EMT *in vivo* as an oncogenic process has been debated for a long time because it is a transient process and therefore difficult to observe. In addition, the tumour area is also rich in stromal cells, so it is difficult to distinguish tumour cells with mesenchymal morphology. In 2008, the use of transgenic mouse models made it possible to confirm *in vivo* the relevance of the EMT in breast cancer (Trimboli et al., 2008). In this study, transgenic mice

expressed specifically and inducibly in epithelial cells the c-MYC oncogene as well as the lacZ operon (serving as a cell tracer). This tool allowed highlighting, after activation of the oncogene, the existence of lacZ positive mesenchymal cells, thus validating their epithelial origin and the process of *in vivo* EMT.

Besides the invasive carcinoma stage, a dissemination of isolated cells at earlier stages was detected by analysing patient carcinomas with the presence of cancer cells disseminated in the spinal cord. These cells which expressed the TWIST factor contained very few genetic alterations indicating that this dissemination had occurred at an early stage of carcinogenesis (Hüsemann and Klein, 2009). From then, the role of EMT at early stage was also observed in other type of tumours, such as in pancreatic cancer (Rhim et al., 2012). The use of a mouse model showed that an inflammatory response was established directly after activation of the oncogene KRAS in epithelial cells of the pancreas. This inflammatory response promoted EMT and the intravasation of tumour cells and therefore their dissemination from the early stages.

Since these EMT-TFs have important roles, cells also developed inhibiting systems, such as microRNAs, to repress their mRNA. The role of the ZEB / miR-200 feedback loop on the control of metastatic spread was investigated in a mouse model of *Kras^{G12D}p53^{R172HAG}* lung adenocarcinoma. Differential expression analysis between metastases and non-metastases tumours identified members of the miR-200 family. Ectopic expression of miR-200b in tumours, which were initially capable to metastases, could negate their ability to enter into EMT, invasion and metastasis (Gibbons et al., 2009). miR-205 family also restrain the translation of ZEB1 and ZEB2 mRNAs (Vandewalle et al., 2009). In a murine model of *Kras / p53* mutated pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (KPC), deletion of the *Zeb1* transcription factor suppressed invasion and metastasis capabilities (Krebs et al., 2017). In the same model, the depletion of the EMT-TFs Snai1 and Twist1 was found to be ineffective on the alteration of the invasive and metastatic capacities of primary tumours, suggesting a specific role of Zeb1 in this model (Zheng et al., 2015). Other regulations at the protein level, such as the degradation leaded by the phosphorylation of TWIST1, also govern the

EMT states (Hong et al., 2011).

Finally, it appears that the last step in the generation of metastases is a reversion of EMT, a mesenchymal-epithelial transition or MET, which is essential for the colonization. Analysis of TWIST expression on metastatic carcinomas showed decreased expression of TWIST1 in lymph node metastases compared to the primary tumour. The impact of EMT-TF has been precisely studied in a skin carcinoma model, in which expression of Twist1 could be induced by the TetOP-Twist1 transgene under the control of the keratin 5 promoter K5. Thus, under doxycycline treatment, the cells of the basal epidermal layer expressed Twist1. As the expression of Twist1 was not sufficient for tumour formation, the induction of carcinomas was induced by DMBA / TPA treatments. Once the tumours have formed, Twist1 was either induced in the K5 cells of the primary tumour by topical application of doxycycline, or in all tumour cells including cells which have disseminated by treatment with doxycycline in drinking water. Maintaining the expression of Twist1 in the second group drastically reduced the formation of metastases, demonstrating the importance of the reversible nature of EMT in the formation of metastases (Tsai et al., 2012). In another mouse model, loss of the EMT inducer Prrx1 was shown to be necessary for metastasis after injection into the tail of immunosuppressed mice with cancer cells (Ocaña et al., 2012). Ultimately, it is the reversible succession of EMT and MET cycles but not the mere induction of a mesenchymal phenotype that allows invasion and metastasis formation, emphasizing again the importance of cell plasticity [Figure 20].



Figure 20. EMT-MET model for the metastasis.

Epithelial cancer cells undergo EMT, lose their cell-cell junctions and gain the ability to invade the surrounding tissue parenchyma (Step 1). These EMT-induced cells may intravasate into the systemic circulation (Step 2) and must survive in the circulation (Step 3) before reaching the target organ site. The cells must then extravasate into the tissue parenchyma (Step 4), following which they may either enter a state of dormancy or form micro metastases. Subsequent development into clinically detectable macro metastases requires MET activation (Step 5). (Datta et al., 2021)

All of these works illustrate the role of the reversible transition between epithelial and mesenchymal states orchestrated by EMT-TFs in invasion and metastasis formation. However, the expression of EMT-TFs has also been reported in non-invasive human and murine tumors, suggesting their involvement in other processes. In humans, for example, high levels of ZEB1 expression were observed in *in situ* pancreatic adenocarcinomas (Liu et al., 2014). At the same time, in mice, Zeb1 was found in non-invasive pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma lesions (Zheng et al., 2015). Further experiments, including the work of Alain Puisieux's lab, demonstrated the early roles of EMT-TFs and particularly of ZEB1 in cell transformation and tumor initiation.

Finally, EMT is not a simple shift from a fully epithelial to a fully mesenchymal state, but encompasses a spectrum of intermediate states, driven by reversible transition underlying cell plasticity (Nieto et al., 2016). In order to emphasize the dynamic nature of the EMT process and the flexibility of cells in partial EMT state, the intermediate states have been described as metastable (Tam and Weinberg, 2013). The notion of metastability comes from the field of thermodynamics, for which a metastable state corresponds to a delicate state of equilibrium outside a minimum energy. While a minimum of energy guarantees stability, requiring a large input of energy in order to change state, any other level of energy suggests a phase of transition to a state of lower energy. On this thermodynamic model, the EMT process was modelled by three stable states, the epithelial state, the intermediate state of maturation and the mesenchymal state and two metastable states [Figure 21]. Thus, the EMT process is schematized as a continuum between more or less stable states, with the progressive loss of epithelial properties and the progressive gain of mesenchymal properties. The state of stable partial EMT has been observed during embryonic development, tissue repair, or pathologies such as fibrosis or tumour progression. Depending on the tissue context or extracellular signals, epithelial cells may go through a partial EMT and display a combination of epithelial and mesenchymal traits; these cells also display a high degree of plasticity which plays a critical role in cancer metastasis (Chaffer and Weinberg, 2011; Valastyan and Weinberg, 2011). A study of a panel of surface EMT markers on primary mammary and skin tumours made it possible to identify multiple tumour populations more or less advanced in the EMT process, from pure epithelial cells to mesenchymal cells, passing through various so-called hybrid intermediate states (Pastushenko et al., 2018). The establishment of transcriptional and epigenetic mappings has revealed regulatory networks of genes, transcription factors and signalling pathways leading to different hybrid states.



Figure 21. Transition between different states during the EMT process.

EMT is viewed as a continuum in which cells can exhibit epithelial (E), intermediate (EM), and mesenchymal (M) phenotypes. On the x-axis, the transition pattern of EMT (left to right) or MET

(right to left). The thermodynamic energy associated with each state is plotted on the y axis with stable low energy states and metastable higher energy states. The intervention of EMT regulators during the transition is represented on the Z axis. Among these regulators, we find the transcription factors linked to EMT (SNAI1 / 2, ZEB, TWIST1, GRHL2 and PRRX1). (Nieto et al 2016)

a) Escape from oncogene-induced senescence

In 1997, Serrano et al demonstrated that the expression of the H-RAS oncogene in human fibroblasts lead to an engagement of cells in the process of senescence, due to an accumulation of p53 and p16, which are two major inhibitors of the cell cycles (Serrano et al., 1997). The two main onco-suppressive routes following to oncogenic activation are the p16-RB pathway (retinoblastoma) and the p14ARF-p53 pathway, which will lead to OIS (oncogene induced senescence). The work of Alain Puisieux's team, in particular, has shown that the involvement of EMT-TFs in carcinogenesis is in fact very early by promoting escape from failsafe programs, including the Rb and p53 pathways (Puisieux et al., 2014) [Figure 22]. In an HMEC immortalized mammary epithelial cell model, overexpression of TWIST1 inhibited senescence induced by the oncogene ERBB2 by inhibiting p16 and p21 (Ansieau et al., 2008). The ability of ZEB1 to inhibit EGFR-induced senescence has also been demonstrated *in vitro* in a human model of immortalized EPC2-hTERT esophageal epithelial cells. In this model, ZEB1 inhibited p16^{INK4A} and p15^{INK4B} (Ohashi et al., 2010). In addition, this ability is conserved in mice and has been observed in a different context, an embryonic fibroblast model. Zeb1 knockout deletion induces early cell cycle arrest in G1 / S phase following expression of p21 and p15 (Liu et al., 2008).



Figure 22. EMT-TFs allow the inhibition of failsafe programs and promote cell transformation. Senescence and apoptosis represent the first anti-tumour barriers responding to oncogenic stress or DNA damage. Activation of p53 and RB pathways allows cell cycle arrest. The inducers of EMT, particularly TWIST1 and ZEB1, will prevent the implementation of p53 or RB dependent onco-suppressive programs, by inhibiting the activation of p19 and p16 proteins or by promoting the degradation of p53. (Puisieux et al., 2014)

By inhibiting the OIS, EMT-TFs promote cell malignant transformation. In the previously described HMEC immortalized breast epithelial line model, ectopic expression of ZEB1 or TWIST1 accelerated the transformation induced by the oncogene RAS through reducing the number of genetic events required. The transformation potential of these cells was proven by *in vitro* soft agar colony formation test. As for *in vivo* part, the cooperation of TWIST1 with RAS has been shown in a transgenic murine model. The Twist1 and / or K-rasG12D transgenes were mainly expressed in the mammary gland but also in the skin epithelium thanks to the MMTV promoter. While no Twist1 mice develop a malignant lesion, KrasG12D mice developed oral and anal papillomas, and mice expressing both transgenes developed papillomas which progress to carcinomas (Morel et al., 2012). Other EMT-TFs (SNAIL or ZEB2) have also been shown to be able to cooperate with oncogenic alterations to promote tumour initiation (De Craene et al., 2014; Goossens et al., 2015).

After these works showing a synergy between oncogene induction and EMT-TFs reactivation, Cédric Blanpain's team studied the role of Twist1 in the initiation stages of skin carcinomas emerging after activation of Ras (Beck et al., 2015). In this article, experiments using a conditional knockout of TWIST1, made it possible to study the involvement of this factor in the different stages of skin carcinogenesis. Application of DMBA / TPA (potent carcinogens) induced expression of TWIST1 in epithelial cells, suggesting its early involvement in tumour development. Indeed, the activation of TWIST1 in these epidermal cells (K14^{Cre}: Twist1^{fl/fl}) drastically reduced the formation of papillomas following treatment with DMBA / TPA. Moreover, in a context with p53 mutation, the invalidation of two alleles of TWIST1 was able to inhibit the formation of carcinomas, while the elimination of a single allele allowed the formation of papillomas but not the transition to a malignant tumour. These results therefore indicated that a low level of TWIST1 allows the formation of benign tumours but a higher level is needed for a complete malignant progression.

In another similar study, it demonstrated the involvement of ZEB1 in the tumour initiation, and a similar dose-effect in tumour progression in a model of KRAS-induced lung cancer (Liu et al., 2014). The heterozygous deletion of ZEB1 did not compromise animal survival and no major developmental defects were observed. Even *Zeb1* +/- mice still developed adenomas following activation of KRAS, these would not progress to the malignant stage of adenocarcinoma thus showing that a haplo-insufficiency in ZEB1 expression was sufficient to inhibit tumour initiation. In addition, ZEB1 was necessary for the survival of these carcinoma cells, and a stronger level of ZEB1 was needed to stimulate metastasis. At the mechanistic level, activation of KRAS leaded to the activation of the transcription factor ZEB1, which in this context could directly suppress the expression of PTEN, the tumour suppresser the most expressed in these lung adenocarcinomas. Finally, in the KPC model of pancreatic ductal Kras / p53 adenocarcinoma, the major and specific role of EMT-TF Zeb1 on tumour initiation was demonstrated. Homozygous Zeb1 depletion drastically reduces the number of metaplasia and precancerous lesions while Snail1 or Twist1 depletion has no effect (Krebs et al., 2017).

b) CSCs generation and cell plasticity

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are characterized by their dual capacity of self-renewal by generating phenotypic heterogeneity compared to the original tumour (Badve and Nakshatri, 2012). Initially, the hierarchical model placed CSC at the top of the tumour differentiation pyramid. CSC alone was then able to initiate a heterogeneous tumour. CSCs therefore represent a small percentage of the tumour; they are at the origin of the progression and maintenance of the tumor, supporting the tumour growth by maintaining the pool of CSCs on the one hand and generating a differentiated non-tumorigenic population on the other hand. The way of isolation and characterization of human CSCs is the limit dilution serial transplant test in immuno-deficient mice. The low number of cells injected makes it possible to assess the frequency of CSCs based on the number of tumors formed relative to the number of cells implanted. The repetition of serial transplants makes it possible to demonstrate the maintenance of tumorigenic capacities over time, excluding the presence of highly proliferating cancer cells but not CSCs. Mammosphere assays were developed to isolate and cultivate CSCs in vitro. As in mice, the ability to form multiple generations of mammospheres is associated with CSCs. Analysis of organoid formation efficiency, as well as expression of CD44 cluster of differentiation and the enzyme ALDH are also commonly used biomarkers for the isolation of CSCs in solid tumors (Al-Hajj and Clarke, 2004). By applying mammosphere assay, Anne-Pierre et al. demonstrated that EMT could confer properties of CSCs, more precisely through the cooperation of EMT-TFs TWIST1, ZEB1 and ZEB2 with the RAS oncogene in the acquisition of stem properties by the mammary epithelial line HMEC. The acquisition of CD44 and the loss of the CD24 differentiation cluster under combined expression of HRAS^{G12V} with EMT-TFs validated the reprogramming of HMEC cells into cancer stem cells. Interestingly, while the expression of RAS, TWIST1 or ZEB2 was not sufficient on its own for the induction of a stem phenotype, the ectopic expression of ZEB1 alone allowed the conversion of the majority of the epithelial HMEC cells into CSC CD44 + / CD24cells (Morel et al., 2012).

The transcriptional activity of EMT-TFs is involved in this acquisition of stem properties at different levels. For instance, the factor TWIST1 is capable to activate the expression of BMI1, a

protein belonging to the Polycomb group, which allows repression of the INK4A locus, thus maintaining the self-renewal capacity of the cell. ZEB1, for its part, represses members of the miR-200 family which control the expression of genes associated with stem cells such as BMI1, KLF4 or SOX2 (Puisieux et al., 2014; Wellner et al., 2009). SNAIL2 can also cooperate with SOX9, an important factor for the conservation of stem cell status in adults, to induce cell dedifferentiation of breast epithelial cells and endow them with stem cell capabilities such as the ability to generate mammospheres (Guo et al., 2012).

In total, all of these data obtained mainly in cancers from epithelial origin, indicate that the aberrant re-activation of the EMT-TFs, even before allowing the cells to engage in an EMT process, can ensure tumor initiation by preventing the implementation of backup systems of cells and inducing the generation of cancer stem cells.

Overall, EMT-TFs are involved at each stage of carcinogenesis including resistance to treatment and escape from the immune system of carcinomas (Caramel et al., 2018) [Figure 23].



Figure 23. Pleiotropic roles of ZEB1.

Like the EMT-TFs of the SNAIL and TWIST families, ZEB1 plays a central role determining cellular fate by regulating the transcription of factors involved in the control of differentiation, proliferation, survival and mobility. Its expression supports tumor transformation and progression and contributes to treatment resistance and immune system evasion. In addition, while a large number of functions are kept from one EMT-TF to another, some functions are specific and not redundant. Finally, certain direct targets have been demonstrated by numerous ChIP-seqs produced from breast cancer lines. (Caramel et al, 2018)

2) Transcriptional targets of ZEB1/2 in carcinoma

EMT-TFs plays pleotropic roles along carcinoma formation, from the tumour initiation to treatment resistance and immune escape [Figure 23], so in addition to expected epithelial and mesenchymal genes, they can regulate a large spectrum of genes.

As previously mentioned, the transcription of E-cadherin, is down-regulated by both ZEB1 and

ZEB2 in mesenchymal cells via binding to the E2-boxes in the E-cadherin promoter, so that epithelial cells lose their strong intercellular interactions and polarity. At the same time, ZEB1 and ZEB2 also modulate the expression of other cell junction genes, mesenchymal genes and matrix metalloprotease. Furthermore, ZEB1 also induces local and temporary loss of basement membrane (BM) by modulating the gene expression of BM components. The ZEB1 transcription factor directly regulates the sulfoxide / methionine reductase MSRB3, which plays a major role in the prevention of DNA damage induced by an oncogene. Thus, ZEB1 prevents the activation of p53 and allows the maintenance of genomic stability during transformation (Morel et al., 2017).

ChIP-sequencing analyses in carcinoma cells allowed to get a genome-wide, comprehensive view of ZEB1/ZEB2 target genes [Figure 24]. ChIP-seq of ZEB1 was performed in basal (MDA-231-D and Hs578T) and luminal (MCF-7) breast cancer lines. Known binding sites on the promoters of E-cadherin and ESRP2 validated the correct progress of the experiment. The signature enrichment analysis highlighted the regulation of inflammation response genes as a major target of the transcription factor ZEB1. Among the direct targets of ZEB1, there were attractants of MDSC suppressor-derived myeloid cells such as interleukins -6, -8 and -1β but also chemokines CXCL1 and CXCL5. The *in vivo* implementation of the gain-of-function approach of Zeb1 in a 4T1 murine mammary model made it possible to confirm the role of Zeb1 in the attraction of MDSCs to the center of the tumor, via an increased production of IL6 and IL8 by the tumor cells overexpressing Zeb1 (Katsura et al., 2017).

One year after, still in breast cancer cell line Hs578T, a ChIP-seq of ZEB1 showed that ZEB1 was associated with organ development, signal transduction, and cell communication, besides the EMT-related genes, via Gene Ontology analysis (Maturi et al., 2018). In triple-negative breast cancer cells, another genome wide study via ZEB1 ChIP-seq was also performed (Feldker et al., 2020). They first found that ZEB1 binding sites overlapped with the AP-1 factor JUN. *De novo* motif analysis highlighted the higher frequency of low affinity ZEB1 motif than canonical ZEB1 motif. They identified ZEB1 as a novel interactor of the AP-1 factors FOSL1 and JUN and showed that, together

68

with YAP, they form a transactivation complex, predominantly activating tumour-promoting genes. By comparing the ZEB1 only peaks and ZEB1/YAP/JUN peaks, the canonical ZEB1 motif was not indispensable to form this ZEB1 activator complex. This article proposed a model that, in addition to the well determined ZEB1 repressive function via direct binding to its E-box motif, ZEB1 is recruited by AP-1 and YAP factors and activate the tumor promoting genes transcription.

As for ZEB2, due to their structural similarity, its direct target genes are supposed to be largely the same as ZEB1 target genes, at least in mesenchymal cells. One ChIP-seq was performed in SNU398 hepatocellular carcinoma cells exhibiting high endogenous ZEB2 expression (Balcik-Ercin et al., 2018). In both SNU398 and colorectal carcinoma DLD1 cells, ZEB2 negatively regulated a GalNAc-transferase (GALNT3) which is involved in O-glycosylation. This study added another layer of complexity to the role of ZEB2 in cancer progression and metastasis. ZEB2 could negatively regulate the expression of hTERT, thus controlling partly the replicative senescence (Ozturk et al., 2006).

	Article and	Cell line	Ref antibody	Pathway
	Data ID			
ChIP-seq	Katsura et al.,	basal-type breast	Novus Biologicals,	Inflammatory response
ZEB1	2017	cancer cell lines	Minneapolis, NBP1-059	
	GSE89206	MDA-231-D and	87	
		Hs578T		
		luminal-type breast		
		cancer cells MCF7		
	Maturi et al.,	triple-negative	Novus Biological,	Enzyme regulation activity,
	2018	breast cancer cell	Littleton, CO	Cell polarity regulation
	E-MTAB-5241	line Hs578T		
	Feldker et	triple-negative	Santa Cruz, sc-25388x	(cobinding with YAP/JUN)
	al.,2020	breast cancer cell		Regulation of fibroblast migration
	E-MTAB-8258	line MDA-MB-231		Regulation of local adhesion
		cells		assembly
ChIP-seq	Balcik-Ercin et	hepatocellular	home-made	Catalytic activity (e.g.protein
ZEB2	al., 2018	carcnoma cells	monoclonal antbody,	O-glycosylation)
	GSE103048	SNU398	clone 6E5	

Figure 24. Recent published ChIP-seq of ZEB1 and ZEB2 in carcinoma.

3) EMT in treatment resistance

Induction of the EMT process in cancer cells is associated with the acquisition of stem cell properties, and has been as well associated to treatment resistance(Shibue and Weinberg, 2017). There are two types of resistance, a so-called "de novo" resistance that can be described as innate, which means the patient does not respond to therapy. Conversely, patients who respond to treatments and then relapse represent the second type of resistance, acquired resistance. Unlike the innate resistance which normally is very specific to one drug used, acquired resistance is a more generalized resistance; in fact the cells do not respond to a whole set of drug classes, we then speak of multi-drug resistance (MDR). This process is also at the origin of the recurrence of cancers, generating new tumors that are more aggressive than the original ones. Many mechanisms can be at the origin of drug resistance, for example the activation of the signaling leading to DNA repair or alteration of drug targets; among these mechanisms there is a major one, it is the increased activation of efflux pumps which eliminate the drug ingested by cell. These pumps called ABC transporters are expressed ubiquitously and can eliminate physiologically different toxins ingested. Unfortunately, their activity is also useful in a pathological context, in which they are known to excrete a large number of chemotherapies. This increased expression of ABC transporters is associated with drug resistance in cancer (Robey et al., 2018).

In order to study the implication of EMT and its transcription factors in drug resistance, an interesting approach by analyzing the gene expression profile of different tumor lineages and comparing their sensitivity to normally used anti-tumour drugs was performed. Interestingly, it turned out that the most resistant lineages were often correlated with a gene expression profile associated with EMT (Haslehurst et al., 2012; Işeri et al., 2011). Breast cancer cell line (MCF-7), initially sensitive, was made to be resistant to drugs used to treat them (doxorubicin, paclitaxel, docetaxel); then a transcriptome analysis was performed on both sensitive lines and on resistant lines. This made it possible to show that the resistant cells presented markers of EMT, such as loss of E-cadherin and gain in expression of vimentin. In addition, these results showed that cells having

acquired this resistance expressed EMT inducers, such as the SNAI2.

A similar study found that NSCLC lung cancer cells with mesenchymal phenotype makers were more resistant to the PI3K / AKT pathway or EGFR target tratments, than cancer cells with epithelial phenotype (Byers et al., 2013). A ZEB1-dependent phenotype promoted the acquisition of erlotinib resistance targeting the EGFR tyrosine kinase receptor in non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC) due to activation of the AXL receptor (Zhang et al., 2012). The EMT-TFs of the TWIST and SNAIL families directly control the expression of the ABCB5 transporter, promoting resistance to chemotherapy (Saxena et al., 2011). Activation of the ZEB1-induced DNA damage response program, previously described as a feature of CSC (Morel et al., 2017), promoted resistance of breast cancer cells to radiation therapy. It is interesting to note that the mechanism identified involved ZEB1 independently of its transcriptional activity. Via interacting with the ubiquitin-specific peptidase USP7, ZEB1 increased the ability of USP7 to de-ubiquitinate and therefore stabilize the CHK1 kinase. By orchestrating faithful DNA repair by homologous recombination, CHK1 against the effects of radiotherapy (Zhang et al., 2014). In addition, the ZEB1 target microRNAs miR-203, miR-429 and miR-200c were also widely implicated in resistance to chemotherapy. For instance, epithelial ovarian cancers were found to be more resistant to cisplatin compared to those with mesenchymal characteristics. In the same cancer, resistance to cisplatin was associated with high levels of ZEB1 expression which regulated miR-429 (Miow et al., 2015; Zou et al., 2017). These two incompatible observations suggested that the resistance mechanism dependent on the ZEB1 / miR-429 feedback loop is independent from the EMT process. The expression of miR-203 was also associated with the sensitivity of mammary and pancreatic cancer cells to paclitaxel and gemcitabine (Meidhof et al., 2015). Here, Thomas Brabletz's team proposed to inhibit ZEB1 in order to restore sufficient level of miR-203 by using an HDAC inhibitor called mocetinostat. This work supports the use of epigenetic drugs to promote the epithelial phenotype, differentially sensitive to current treatments.

Although the direct link of EMT-TFs in resistance to immunotherapies has so far not been demonstrated, the EMT phenotype has been associated with resistance to immunotherapies in
breast cancer models. In addition, the well-described role of EMT-TFs in the immune system escape from carcinomas strongly suggests that they may have an impact on the response to immunotherapies (Dongre et al., 2017). Several studies demonstrated the induction of the EMT program with resistance to lysis by cytotoxic T cells. Interestingly, various independent mechanisms promoting this resistance have been demonstrated, suggesting that a multitude of mechanisms associated with different tumor variants in EMT were able to induce resistance to the immune system attack. A study on the human mammary carcinoma cell line MCF-7 demonstrated the role of EMT in resistance to lysis by cytotoxic T cells (Akalay et al., 2013). MCF-7 cells were induced in EMT either by ectopic expression of SNAIL1 or by chronic exposure to TNF- α . In both cases, induction of EMT protected the mesenchymal MCF-7 from lysis by cytotoxic T cells. This protection against T lysis seemed to be linked to the activation of autophagy in mesenchymal cells. Another level of escape to the immune system is through the expression of immune system checkpoint ligands. Robust correlations between the EMT score, miR-200 and PD-L1 expression levels were observed clinically in non-small cell lung carcinomas. By repressing miR-200, ZEB1 overcome the repression of PD-L1 promoting immunosuppression of CD8 T cells (Chen et al., 2014). Finally, tumor cells are capable to recruit an immune microenvironment favorable to tumor development via the production and release of inflammatory cytokines. In a hepatic carcinoma model, under hypoxic conditions, tumour cells in EMT promoted the recruitment of monocyte-derived macrophages by producing CCL20 in a HIF- α -dependent manner, in order to establish an immunosuppressive microenvironment (Ye et al., 2016).

Altogether, EMT is a tightly regulated process involving various external signals, signaling pathways and EMT-TFs, its is a fundamental process necessary for normal development and tissue repair, however cancer cells display the ability to reuse this process and "hijack" EMT which can fuel oncogenesis.

Chapter 3. Phenotype switching in melanoma

A. Phenotype switching

1) Discovery and definition

EMT is a critical step for embryonic morphogenesis and a similar process is particularly important for melanocyte lineage differentiation. It involves restructuring of the cytoskeleton, cell membrane, and cell–cell junctions. This developmental plasticity allows melanocytes to emerge from the pluripotent neural crest cells (Baker et al., 1997). Phenotype switching with similarities to the EMT program operates during development and has a recognized role in acquisition of metastatic properties in the vertical growth phase of melanoma (Bennett, 2007). A comparison of the features of primary cutaneous melanomas from the patients who develop metastasis to those who do not, revealed differences in the expression of the epithelial and mesenchymal phenotype markers. By gene expression profiling, loss of E-cadherin with increased N-cadherin and osteonectin (SPARC) was significantly associated with the development of metastases (Alonso et al., 2007).

Note that the term EMT is inappropriate for melanoma because melanocytes are not epithelial cells; instead, the term phenotype switching, which was first introduced by Hoek and colleagues in 2008, is becoming increasingly used to describe transitions between melanoma phenotypic states (Hoek et al., 2008). They proposed a model describing two phenotypic states of melanoma cell, proliferative and invasive, and the signaling pathways sustaining these transitions. They successfully tested the capacity for melanoma cells to switch between these states in an *in vivo* model, as well as the existence of both proliferative and invasive cells within heterogeneous metastatic tumors. From a previous genome-wide transcription study, they selected proliferative and invasive signature melanoma cell lines and proved their proliferation and motility *in vitro*. They then injected cell lines into immunocompromised mice to see their capacity to initiate tumors, and they found that proliferative cell lines initiated consistently tumors while invasive cell lines may be dependent on microenvironment variation. Furthermore, they found that tumors seeded with proliferative or

invasive cell lines became indistinguishable, which means the signatures of melanoma cells could change bi-directionally. This model sustains intra-tumor heterogeneity of tumors and the transition between these two phenotypes is dominated by micro-environmental conditions and is reversible. It offers a possible explanation for why mono-therapies and combinatorial therapies fail to control melanoma (for example, chemotherapy targets fast dividing cells, which represent only half of the above model) [Figure 25].



Hoek et al., 2008 - Cancer Res 68, 650-656 (Figure 6)

Figure 25. Phenotype switching model.

Early phase melanoma cells expressing the "proliferative signature" gene set proliferate to form the primary lesion. Following this an unknown signal switch gives rise to cells with a significantly different "invasive signature" gene set. Invasive signature cells escape and when reach to a suitable distal site, revert to the proliferative state in order to form a new metastasis where the cycle is repeated. (Hoek et al 2008)

As I described before, CSCs are rare according to the cancer stem cell theory, early experiments appeared to confirm that, like normal stem cells, melanoma stem cells would represent a very minor population within the tumor. But this idea has been challenged by the observation that at least 25% of single, unselected melanoma cells derived from xenografts or directly from patient embedded in matrigel and injected into immuno-compromised mice, are able to initiate tumorigenesis (Quintana et al., 2008). In fact, different from the cancer stem cell theory, melanoma

initiating cells present a large part of melanoma cells; they have a high plasticity and generate tumors through the phenotype switching process. Melanomas have the particularity of having an exacerbated phenotypic plasticity, allowing the simultaneous presence of multiple phenotypic subpopulations within the same tumour. Unlike irreversible genetic variation, phenotypic plasticity allows tumour cells to reversibly adapt to the pressure imposed by the ever-changing tumour microenvironment. Thus, at any given time, a melanoma cell may have a differentiated, proliferative or even invasive phenotype, allowing it to be highly adaptive to the changing microenvironment. This exacerbated plasticity implies that the majority of melanoma cells have the potential to adopt stem cell capacities (Hoek and Goding, 2010).

2) MITF rheostat model

As described in previous chapter, MITF plays a critical role in melanoblast survival and melanocyte lineage differentiation. MITF induced the expression of genes which lead melanoblasts to differentiate and to synthetize melanin (Hearing, 2011). MITF is involved not only in melanocytes development and pigmentation, but also in tumorigenesis. In melanoma, MITF expression level regulates the state of melanoma cells according to the phenotype switching model: decreased expression of MITF can lead to a transition from a differentiated to a stem-like and invasive state (Hoek and Goding, 2010). In fact, the level of MITF activity is a determinant of phenotype switching in melanoma tumor cells; in order to explain the fact that MITF can both promote and inhibit the proliferation of melanoma cells, Goding et al. has proposed a model [Figure 26]. This MITF rheostat model mentioned that, a high level of MITF activity promotes differentiation, mid-level activity promotes proliferation, low-level activity promotes an invasive, stem cell-like phenotype, and the absence of MITF activity causes senescence or cell death (Carreira et al., 2006; Goding, 2011; Hoek and Goding, 2010). More precisely, low MITF levels are associated with an arrested or slow G1 state, which is characterized by high levels of p27 kinase inhibitor and invasiveness. These invasive cells are predicted to have stem-like properties, and longer-term depletion of Mitf lead to DNA-damage and mitotic catastrophe-induced senescence.



Figure 26. A rheostat model for MITF function.

Schematic representation of the relationship between MITF expression and melanoma cell fate. In melanoma, low levels of Mitf generate cell cycle arrested, invasive, stem-like cells. Cells expressing Mitf either proliferate or differentiate depending on the level of Mitf expression or its post-translational modification. (Goding, 2011)

Moreover, a key study revealed that cell lines in culture reflected specific phenotypic states that could be defined by their gene expression profile (Hoek et al., 2006), in which three cohorts with low, intermediate and high level of MITF were described and could switch phenotypes in vivo (Hoek et al., 2008). As I mentioned before about the indistinguishable phenotypes of seeded proliferative and invasive melanoma cell lines after tumours removal, xenografts of either proliferative or invasive cells resulted in tumours displaying a similar level of intra-tumour heterogeneity with coexisting MITFhigh and MITFlow cells (Hoek et al., 2008). However, the roles of MITF in melanoma seem to be a paradox: In about 10% of primary melanoma, MITF amplification is present with a higher incidence reported among metastatic melanomas (Garraway et al., 2005). Several studies showed that cutaneous melanoma with high MITF levels were well-differentiated and proliferative, as well as a favourable prognosis (Jönsson et al., 2010); those presenting a low level of MITF demonstrated an invasive phenotype, and they were intrinsically resistant to MAPK pathway inhibition (Müller et al., 2014). These observations are in line with the MITF rheostat model. After that, Harbst et al. used microarray-based gene expression profiling to classify tumours into four groups, i.e., high-immune, MITF-low proliferative, MITF-high pigmentation, and normal-like. They revealed that 50% (four out of eight) of examined tumours exhibited intra-tumour heterogeneity when considering genes determining classification into molecular groups. Moreover, the levels of mRNA of MITF and its target genes, i.e., MLANA and TYR, also displayed intra-tumour heterogeneity (Grzywa et al., 2017).

Over the years, other specific molecular signatures and epigenetic marks discriminating the proliferative and invasive states have progressively been deciphered. Aside from MITF and AXL, other master transcriptional regulators have been identified, including SOX10 (expressed in embryonic bipotent melanoblast/glial progenitor) for the proliferative phenotype and AP1/TEAD for the invasive phenotype. The recent advent of the single-cell RNAseq technology enables the scientific community to reconcile these divergent observations and to refine the MITF rheostat phenotype switching model.

3) Novel phenotype switching model: intermediate phenotypes

After the initial description of phenotype switching in melanoma, between a proliferative/differentiated and an invasive/stem-like state (Hoek et al., 2008), there is increasing evidence from single-cell gene expression analyses that additional melanoma cell states exist and the current model to account for melanoma phenotypic heterogeneity has been refined.

First, the original from Hoek et al. gene expression profiling of a large number of melanoma cell lines established that in addition to the proliferative and invasive groups A and C, a few, called group B, do not belong to the proliferation group or invasion (Hoek et al., 2006). This led to the further investigation of this unknown heterogeneous group.

The development of single-cell-scale assays is in this context a key tool for the study of intra-tumoral heterogeneity. By analysing the expression levels of 114 genes that discriminate between proliferative and invasive states, Irwin Davidson's team demonstrated the coexistence of the different states *in vitro*, in 2D culture. They characterized gene expression in two melanoma cell lines, 501Mel and 1205LU (Ennen et al., 2015). The first cell line is MITF^{high}, which proliferates rapidly *in vitro* but has poor invasiveness, migration and tumorigenesis in nude mice. In contrast, the second was MITF-negative, which proliferated slowly *in vitro* but was invasive, motile and

tumorigenic in nude mice. First, these cell lines were examined in vitro. Although the 501Mel cell line was classified as MITF^{high} cells, low MITF expression was detected by high-throughput single-cell immune-staining and qPCR in monolayer culture. This heterogeneity was even greater in cells cultured as melanospheres. In addition, they injected 501Mel and 1205LU cells subcutaneously into nude mice. In 501Mel tumours, three groups of cells were distinguished, namely high MITF, medium MITF and low MITF, as well as its gene expression signature. In addition, a small number of cells expressed markers of invasion, for example, ZEB1, GLI2, MYOF or resistance, such as ABCB5. Immunohistochemistry revealed tumours with heterogeneous expression of MITF, CEACAM1 and POU5F1. A small population overexpressing BIRC3 was also observed. Thus, the tumours resulting from the 501Mel cell line were very heterogeneous. In 1205LU derived tumours, cells were differentiated based on high ZEB1 or low ZEB1 expression. In addition, small populations with differential expression of several genes have been observed. Unlike 501Mel tumours, POU5F1 expression was robust and uniform across all 1205LU derived tumours. In addition, they determined that there was a cluster of genes that were differentially expressed in vitro, in monolayers or spheres, as well as in tumours in vivo. Interestingly, this work has shown that heterogeneity was increased when cells were cultured in 3D or *in vivo* in tumour xenografts.

Another single-cell gene expression profiling also pointed toward an intermediate or poised state in which proliferative and invasive gene expression signatures were present, also realized by Irwin Davidson's team. RT-qPCR profiling of single cells from a series of melanoma biopsies revealed the existence of cells simultaneously expressing genes that belong to both the MITF^{High} and MITF^{Low} gene-expression signatures (Ennen et al., 2015, 2017).

One year after that, the work of Tirosh et al. was a major breakthrough in the study of melanoma heterogeneity and proved the coexistence of different states in patient samples. 4,645 cells isolated from fresh tumours of 19 melanoma patients were sequenced at the single-cell scale of their RNA, allowing for the analysis of intra-tumoral heterogeneity of fresh human melanoma for the first time (Tirosh et al., 2016). In this elegant study, single-cell profiling of both malignant and

stromal cells confirmed that MITF was a key biomarker for distinct phenotypic states. MITF was correlated with a differentiation gene-expression program and anti-correlated with AXL, a tyrosine kinase receptor, associated with the invasive, dedifferentiated drug-resistance phenotype. Notably, treatment-naive tumours classified as MITF^{High} contained some cells with the AXL^{High}/MITF^{Low} expression program, and treatment with BRAFi or BRAFi+MEKi led to an increased proportion of the AXL^{High}/MITF^{Low} population.

To continue the discovery, three recent studies at the single cell scale showed that melanoma cells were capable of transitioning between not two but a multitude of states during tumour progression, in response to signals from the microenvironment and under exposure to therapeutic agents (Rambow et al., 2018, 2019; Tsoi et al., 2018; Wouters et al., 2020).

First of all, Tsoi and colleagues refined the classification of Hoek et al. into four melanoma cell states (C1–C4) with a comprehensive study of 54 human melanoma cell lines by bulk RNA-seq. There data obtained resulted in a split of Hoek's cohort C into two subtypes distinguished by expression of the transcription factors SOX10 (C2) and SOX9 (C1), based on a comparison of the expression profiles of the C1-C4 classes and genes expressed as the cell progresses through an in vitro differentiation model of embryonic stem cells to melanocytes differentiated by nerve apex and melanocyte mediators (Tsoi et al., 2018) [Figure 27]. This study also validated the existence of Hoek's cohorts A (C4) and B (C3), but it was not possible to determine from bulk RNA-sequencing analysis whether the intermediate phenotype of C3 was due to a mixed population of C4 and C1/2 cells or if it represented a distinct, stable cell state. Class C4 was the most well-differentiated, expressing MITF and a variety of MITF targets related to differentiation and was related to Hoek's group A. Class C3 was related to Hoek's group B, expresses MITF, but also has features of neural crest-like cells. Importantly, the melanoma phenotype subpopulation identified in cell lines by Tsoi et al. (2018) and Hoek et al. (2006) reflected the cellular states detected by RNAseq analysis of human tumours. The presence of cells with an intermediate phenotype between differentiation and invasion (cohort B/class C3) could arise either because each individual cell within the population

79

examined expressed a gene expression profile that was truly intermediate between proliferative and invasive, or because the cell lines contained mixed but stable subpopulations each reflecting the two different phenotypic states, or because cells were unstably flipping between one state and another with a specific frequency. To conclude, this work gave a clearer molecular signature, with the presence of NGFR in the neural-crest stem cell state, and a decreased expression of SOX10 and increased expression of SOX9 to distinguish an undifferentiated state.

Next, more recent single-cell analysis was performed on human melanoma cells isolated from patient-derived xenograft (PDX) mouse models exposed to MAPK therapeutics (Rambow et al., 2018, 2019). This study revealed an even greater complexity of melanoma state heterogeneity concerning MITF expression (RNA and protein) in BRAF^{V600E} treatment-naive tumours. Importantly, this phenotypic heterogeneity was exacerbated upon BRAF and MEK inhibition indicating that drug treatment can either impose phenotypic transitions or select for specific pre-existing phenotypic states. Significantly, different drug-tolerant cell states coexisting within the same lesion exhibited distinct transcriptional MITF-(rheostat) activities. scRNA-seq profiling of the PDX (patient-derived xenograft) tumours before, during, and after BRAFi/MEKi combination therapy identified four distinct melanoma cell states associated with MRD (minimal residual disease), and the presence of these various melanoma subpopulations in clinical specimens was confirmed by in situ multiplexed immunohistochemistry. One of the 4 cell states present at the MRD stage exhibited a dramatic down-regulation of an overall cancer cell metabolic signature (ccmGDB) (Kim et al., 2016b) and shared transcriptomic features of nutrient-deprived cells including an elevated expression of the fatty acid translocase CD36. Termed the starved melanoma cell (SMC), bioinformatics analysis indicated that SMCs exhibited hallmarks of an MITF intermediate state characterized by features associated with both proliferation and invasion. To conclude, they defined a SMC intermediate state, with CD36 as marker. They also proposed AQP1 and RXRG as makers of NCSC sub-state via immunostaining [Figure 28].



Figure 27. Likely relationships between the phenotypic states of melanoma cells identified in different studies. (Rambow et al 2019)



Figure 28. Potential hierarchical arrangement of the six different melanoma phenotypic states and their relative expression of MITF and SOX10. (Rambow et al 2019)

Furthermore, in this issue of Nature Cell Biology, Wouters et al. set out to distinguish between these two potential models of intermediate cellular states and to identify the gene regulatory networks that maintain phenotypic diversity in melanoma (Wouters et al., 2020). In this study, Wouters et al. used single-cell mRNA sequencing to confirm three distinct melanoma cell states in cultures obtained from patients. By combining extensive profiling of single-cell gene expression and chromatin accessibility applied to more than 39,000 cells from a cohort of patient-derived melanoma cultures, Wouters et al. identified shared gene regulatory networks that underlie the extreme melanocytic and mesenchymal cell states as well as one stable intermediate state. The intermediate state was corroborated by a distinct open chromatin landscape and governed by the transcription factors EGR3, NFATC2, and RXRG, and exhibited intermediate MITF activity. Corresponded to the molecular signature of Tsoi et al. in 2018, melanoma cultures exhibiting high levels of SOX10 expressed additional melanocyte-specific markers such as the pigmentation genes MITF and TYR, whereas SOX9 cultures expressed genes related to EMT markers like TGFBI and SERPINE1. The authors then applied single-cell regulatory network inference and clustering (SCENIC) to identify potential master regulators of each melanoma cell state [Figure 29]. Collectively, this study confirms that the intermediate state of melanocytes is distinct and stable, rather than a mixture of melanocytes and mesenchymal cells or an elapsed transition state. The authors discovered the gene regulatory network underlying each of the three states, suggesting that the intermediate cells express both melanoma and melanocyte gene expression tissues in addition to single regulatory mechanisms in the cell-mediated state. Overall, Wouters et al. have provided a detailed picture of the gene regulatory networks underlying melanoma cell states, which can be used in the future to design novel targeted treatments and guide phenotype switching to disarm melanomas in the clinic.

Melanocytic	Intermediate (unique)	Mesenchymal
SOX10	SOX6	SOX9
TFAP2A	NFATC2	JUN
MITF	EGR3	IRF1
IRF4	RXRG	FOSL2
SOX4	ELF1	ATF5
	ETV4	NFIB

Figure 29. Potential master regulators of each melanoma cell state identified by single-cell regulatory network inference and clustering (SCENIC).

The melanocytic state was characterised by regulons of classic melanocyte TFs SOX10, TFAP2A and MITF, as well as IRF4 and SOX4. The mesenchymal state showed high activity of SOX9, JUN, IRF1, FOSL2, ATF5 and NFIB, consistent with previous reports (Fane et al., 2017; Reinhardt et al., 2017; Verfaillie et al., 2015). The intermediate state shared many regulons with both the melanocytic state and the mesenchymal state but also exhibited unique regulons, including SOX6, NFATC2, EGR3, ELF1 and ETV4. (Wouters et al., 2020).

B. EMT-TFs expression switching in melanoma

In the EMT and carcinoma part, I have already introduced physiological expression and functions of EMT-TFs, as well as their participation in carcinoma progression. In this part, I would like to talk about their roles in melanoma, with a particular attention to the two EMT-TFs I focused on during my PhD, ZEB1 and ZEB2.

1) Expression and function of EMT-TFs in the melanocytic lineage

EMT-TFs play a major role in the establishment of the melanocytic lineage and the function of adult melanocytes. Dorsolateral migration of melanoblasts through the embryo requires the participation of the EMT-TFs SNAIL2 and ZEB2. *Snail2*-deficient mice exhibit melanoblast migration defects that induced major pigmentation defects including a white forehead (Pérez-Losada et al., 2002). ZEB2 is also expressed in migrating melanoblasts in the mouse embryo and their precursor, neural crest cells, as described before in part "EMT-TFs". The specific deletion of *Zeb2* in the melanocytic lineage (Tyr: Cre *Zeb2* knock-out) induces a loss of pigmentation of the mouse, which is due both to poor migration of melanoblasts but also to a defect in differentiation of the melanocytes (Denecker et al., 2014). Indeed, the invalidation of *Zeb2* in primary melanocytes induces a decrease in MITF expression and differentiation defects. In addition to being expressed by melanoblasts, SNAIL2 and ZEB2 remain expressed by adult melanocytes in both humans and mice. Analysis of the expression of EMT-TFs in healthy human skin samples has demonstrated the presence of SNAIL2 and ZEB2 in differentiated melanocytes (Caramel et al., 2013). All these works highlight the key role of SNAIL2 and ZEB2 in maintaining homeostasis of the melanocytic lineage, from embryonic development through adulthood.

Conversely, ZEB1 and TWIST1 are not expressed by differentiated melanocytes in human skin (Caramel et al., 2013). However, ZEB1 expression has been observed in melanocytes stem cells (MSCs) from murine skin, suggesting its potential involvement in the generation of mature melanocytes from the stem cell pool (Denecker et al., 2014). In addition, unlike ZEB2, which

83

activates *MITF* transcription, ZEB1 was shown to repress MITF expression and alter the pigmentation of retinal pigment epithelial cells (Liu et al., 2009). A balance of ZEB2 to ZEB1 expression is thus associated with melanocyte dedifferentiation [Figure 30] even if more functional studies are required to characterize their roles.



Figure 30. Expression of EMT-TFs during melanocyte lineage formation from embryonic neural crest cells.

Left : Schematic representation of ZEB1 and ZEB2 opposite expression patterns in the mouse embryo at embryonic day E8.5 .Right : The transcription factor SOX10 is expressed by the bipotent progenitor of glial and melanocytic cells. SNAIL2 and ZEB2 are required for neural crest cell delamination, melanoblast specification and dorsolateral migration. (Tang et al 2020)

2) EMT-TFs expression switch during melanoma development

These observations of differentially expressed EMT-TFs relating to normal melanocytes raise the question of the possible and differential involvement of EMT-TFs in melanoma. The work of our team helped to better understand the role of each EMT-TFs in melanomagenesis, from the early stages of transformation (Caramel et al., 2013). Unlike carcinomas, all EMT-TFs do not exhibit the same expression profile or similar functions in melanoma. The analysis of the expressions of EMT-TFs SNAIL1, SNAIL2, TWIST1, ZEB1 and ZEB2 in a series of representative human tissues of melanoma evolutions, including normal epidermis, nevi, primary melanomas and metastases, demonstrated EMT-TFs patterns specific to the development of melanomas. As already mentioned, normal differentiated melanocytes express SNAIL2 and ZEB2 EMT-TFs and are negative for ZEB1 and TWIST1. While ZEB2 / SNAIL2 expression is progressively lost, ZEB1 / TWIST1 expression is activated during melanomagenesis. Within melanoma lesions, there is a gradient of EMT-TFs expression. ZEB2 and SNAIL2 are strongly expressed at the surface of the epidermis and lost in the deeper part of primary melanoma lesions while ZEB1 and TWIST1 are expressed in an inverse gradient, with stronger expressions in deeper parts, at the invasive front of melanoma [Figure 31].

The differential analysis of metastasis-free survival confirms the poor prognosis associated with the switch from ZEB2 / SNAIL2 to ZEB1 / TWIST1 expressions. Our lab demonstrated that this switch constituted a major risk factor for poor outcomes in malignant melanoma when controlling for other clinico-pathological variables. Remarkably, patients with melanoma with high ZEB2 expression and low ZEB1 / TWIST1 levels showed longer progression-free survival while almost all weak ZEB2, strong ZEB1 / TWIST1 tumors progressed rapidly (Caramel et al., 2013). Another study involving a large number of patients confirmed that high levels of ZEB2 expression improve the prognosis of patients with melanoma (Denecker et al., 2014). Furthermore, strong nuclear ZEB2 expression in human primary melanoma was associated with a lower Breslow index and increased metastasis-free survival (Vandamme et al., 2020).

Interestingly, the ZEB2 "differentiation pattern" is replicated in cortical areas of lymph node metastasis in a similar manner to that described in primary tumors, suggesting that melanoma cells can re-differentiate at the site of metastasis, reminiscent of mesenchymal epithelial processes (MET) in carcinomas (Ocaña et al., 2012; Tsai et al., 2012). Reversible switch to the proliferative phenotype may be necessary for metastasis to develop. ZEB2 may thus also contribute to the high metastatic propensity of melanoma as previously suggested for SNAIL2 (Gupta et al., 2005), in which suppression of SNAIL2 inhibited metastasis *in vivo*.



Figure 31.EMT-TFs switching during melanoma development.

Schematic representation of the expression balance of EMT-TFs during the development of melanoma. ZEB2 and SNAIL2 are expressed by differentiated melanocytes within the healthy epidermis of human skin. Their expression is maintained in senescent nevi. During transformation to primary melanoma, expression of SNAIL2 and ZEB2 is gradually lost in favor of expression of TWIST1 and ZEB1. In addition, intra-tumor heterogeneity is also observed in melanoma lesions, the balance of expression of EMT-TFs being generally observed in gradient from the surface to the invasive front of the melanoma. The gain in invasive capacities through the activation of ZEB1 promotes the spread of melanoma cells. Finally, the inverse differential expression profile of EMT-TF is found at the secondary site, potentially contributing to the growth of metastasis. (Tang et al 2020)

3) Control of the EMT-TFs differential expression in melanoma

The switch in EMT-TFs expression is at least partly dependent of the MAPK pathway. Indeed ectopic expression of an activated form of BRAF in human or mouse melanocytes induces the conversion of ZEB2 / SNAIL2 to ZEB1 / TWIST1 expression profile. Indeed, the maintenance of ZEB1 / TWIST1 expression is dependent on the activation of the MAPK pathway, since the inhibition of the MAPK pathway in the A375 melanoma line induces the reverse transition, which means the loss of expression of ZEB1 and TWIST1 and the gain in expression of ZEB2. The transcription factor FRA1 (Fos-related antigen 1), member of the AP1 family, is a major actor of the gene regulatory network of the invasive phenotype in melanoma cells (Verfaillie et al., 2015). ChIP experiments showed that FRA1 controls the expression of EMT-TFs by directly binding to a region of transcriptional repression of ZEB2 and ahead of the transcription initiation sites (TSS) of ZEB1 and TWIST1.

A double negative feedback loop involving members of the miR200 family and ZEB transcription factors is known to regulate cancer cell plasticity in carcinoma models (Brabletz and Brabletz, 2010). However, the expression level of miR200 is low in melanoma and up-regulation of ZEB1/2 has been demonstrated to be independent of miR200. In addition to FRA-1-driven oncogenic signalling, TGFβ was shown to promote the ZEB2/ZEB1 switch in melanoma cells (Vandamme et al., 2020). The transcription factor GLI2, activated by the TGFβ signalling pathway, has been shown to cooperate with ZEB1 to promote CDH1 inhibition, thereby participating in mesenchymal transition (Perrot et al., 2013). Finally, ChIP-seq targeting MITF in 501Mel melanoma line identified the ZEB1 locus as a potential target of MITF (Strub et al., 2011).

4) Antagonistic functions of ZEB1 and ZEB2 in melanoma cells

Functional assays *in vitro* and in mouse models have allowed to further characterize the oncogenic roles of EMT-TFs in melanoma. The acquisition of *Zeb1* and / or *Twist1* EMT-TFs expression is necessary for the transformation induced by the BRAF oncogene *in vitro* in melan-a murine immortalized cells, while the ectopic expression of *Zeb2* and *Snail2* drastically reduces the number of colonies formed (Caramel et al., 2013). Alteration of the switch (through inhibition of ZEB1 or ectopic expression of ZEB2) was sufficient to impair BRAF-dependent melan-a cells tumor growth *in vivo* in xenograft experiments. In addition, the ectopic expression of ZEB2 and / or SNAIL2 in established melanoma lines such as A375 also reduces the transforming potential and their tumorigenicity *in vivo*. Moreover, ectopic expression of ZEB1 increases tumorigenic characteristics of melanoma cell lines (A375, SKMEL5), while its knockdown induces significantly reduced growth of melanoma tumours *in vivo* on xenografts in nude mice (Caramel et al., 2013; Richard et al., 2016a). The deletion of *Zeb1* also reduced the transformative capacities, invasion capacities and migration capacities of B16F10 CD44 + CD133 + supposed cancer stem cells (Zhao et al., 2015). Thus, the roles of EMT-TFs appear to be completely uncoupled during melanomagenesis, where ZEB1 and TWIST1 exhibit oncogenic properties while ZEB2 and SNAIL2 rather act as tumor suppressors (Caramel et al.)

al., 2013).

These results support the notion that ZEB1 not only promotes invasive features but also exhibits intrinsic oncogenic functions as described in carcinoma. A tumour suppressive role for ZEB2 in melanoma was not expected, although such an activity was suggested for Zeb2 mRNA through the activation of PTEN expression (Karreth et al., 2011). Recent data in transgenic mouse models from Geert Berx lab have shown that knock-down of *Zeb2* was not sufficient to promote melanoma formation in mice and even alter NRASQ61-dependent melanoma formation (Vandamme et al., 2020). The enhanced expression of ZEB2 in this mouse model also promotes the growth of primary and metastatic tumours by promoting the proliferation of melanoma cells. Silencing ZEB2 in mouse NRASQ61 melanoma cells increases ZEB1, and induces proliferation defects (Vandamme et al., 2020).

Overall, despite a high degree of structural similarity, the zinc-finger homeodomain transcription factors ZEB1 and ZEB2 exhibit antagonistic expression patterns and functions in melanoma cells.

5) EMT-TFs regulate phenotype switching of melanoma cells

Reciprocal regulations between ZEB and MITF TFs, suggested a coupling between the MITF-dependent phenotype switch and the EMT-TFs expression switch. ZEB1 is indeed one of the top-ranking genes whose expression is inversely correlated with MITF in TCGA tumors (Richard et al., 2016a; Verfaillie et al., 2015). Braf-induced transformation of melan-a cells induces decreased expression of *Mitf* and its target genes (Wellbrock and Marais, 2005). Induced expression of *Snail2* and *Zeb2* in this model restored *Mitf* expression and induced the melanocyte differentiation program described by Hoek and Goding (Hoek and Goding, 2010). Conversely, the ectopic expression of *Zeb1* and *Twist1* accentuated the *Mitf*low invasive phenotype. In established melanoma lines, deletion of SNAIL2 and ZEB2 by interfering RNA reduced MITF expression level, in a similar way as ectopic expression of ZEB1 or TWIST1. The switch of ZEB2 / SNAIL2 to ZEB1 / TWIST1

would therefore allow the acquisition of an invasive phenotype with low level of MITF expression (Caramel et al., 2013).

Further experiments indeed demonstrated that overexpression of ZEB1 in melanoma short-term cultures was sufficient to drive switching towards a MITFlow undifferentiated phenotype bearing stem cell properties, characterized by increased expression of the neural crest stem cell (NCSC) marker NGFR, a major regulator of phenotype switching (Richard et al., 2016a). In contrast, ZEB1 knock-down induces a switch towards a MITFhigh differentiated phenotype. More importantly, ZEB2 knock-down in melanoma cells not only alters the expression of MITF, but also leads to induction of ZEB1. Thus, EMT-TF dependent reprogramming of melanoma cells, namely ZEB2/ZEB1 switch, is able to induce the phenotypic switch and the reversible transition between proliferative and invasive state.

ZEB2 ectopic expression activated MITF while ZEB2 knockdown resulted in a down-regulation of MITF (Caramel et al., 2013; Denecker et al., 2014). These results suggest that ZEB2 expression could mimic the rheostat pattern of MITF: ectopic expression of ZEB2 / MITF in melanoma cells would lead to differentiation and cell cycle arrest while invalidation of ZEB2 / MITF would also result in a proliferation defect. On the other hand, intermediate levels of ZEB2 / MITF would be favourable to the proliferation of melanoma cells. In this model, the aberrant expression of ZEB2 by melanoma cells would promote terminal differentiation and reduce tumorigenic capacities by xenograft in nude mice, while intermediate levels of ZEB2 in transgenic mouse models would be compatible with tumour proliferation. However, the link between the expression of EMT-TFs and proliferation remains unclear, as no effect on proliferation is observed under modulation of ZEB1 expression.

Overall, while different studies used ZEB2 and ZEB1 as additional markers to define the proliferative (MITF^{high}/AXL^{low}) or invasive (MITF^{low}/AXL^{high}) phenotypes, respectively (Müller et al., 2014), our data further demonstrated that EMT-TFs are major regulators of melanoma cell plasticity that fuel intra-tumor heterogeneity.

6) Melanoma cell plasticity and treatment resistance

At the melanoma part, I already talked about the mechanisms of resistance to targeted therapies, immunotherapies and other combination treatments. Non-genetic mechanisms play a major role in the acquisition of drug resistance, since approximately 40% of BRAFi/MEKi resistant melanoma cases do not present a known genetic alteration (Hugo et al., 2015). Resistance has been attributed to drug-induced phenotypic adaptations, including the emergence of invasive traits or NCSCs, which rely on epigenetic, transcriptional, or translational reprogramming (Arozarena and Wellbrock, 2019; Shaffer et al., 2017).

Namely, the MITF^{low}/AXL^{high} phenotype, either innate or acquired upon treatment, has been associated with resistance to multiple targeted drugs in melanoma (Müller et al., 2014). Our lab demonstrated that ZEB1-mediated phenotype switching is associated with resistance to MAPK inhibitors (Richard et al., 2016a). More specifically, a high ZEB1 expression with low MITF expression is intrinsically resistant to MAPKi. Besides, an up-regulation of ZEB1 was observed in cell lines with acquired MAPKi resistance and in biopsies from patients suffering relapse while under treatment. Gain- or loss-of-function of ZEB1 showed that it is sufficient to promote a transition towards a NCSC/invasive state resistant to BRAFi. Single-cell RNAseq data from JC Marine lab, during BRAFi and MEKi treatment of melanoma PDXs, also highlighted the heterogeneous expression of EMT-TFs and identified an enrichment of cells in a mesenchymal-like phenotype (Rambow et al., 2018). Finally, recent data suggest that the MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} phenotypes may be both associated with resistance to targeted therapies (Arozarena and Wellbrock, 2019; Rambow et al., 2019). Correspondingly, we observed that high expression of ZEB1 in BRAFi-resistant tumours could be found in MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} context, and that knockdown of ZEB1 reduced the viability of the resistant melanoma cells in the MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} contexts, suggesting that ZEB1 acts partly by MITF- independent mechanisms (Richard et al., 2016b).

To conclude, genetic and epigenetic, transcriptional, or translational reprogramming events contribute to melanoma cell plasticity as well as resistance to multi-drugs.

Objective of thesis

While the role of EMT (epithelial to mesenchymal transition) in carcinoma tumorigenesis has been extensively characterized, its role in melanoma, which originates from a non-epithelial cell, the melanocyte, has been poorly deciphered. However a "pseudo EMT" process occurs. Unlike cancer stem cell model in carcinoma, there is a specific switch in melanoma, termed "phenotype switching", in which melanoma cells switch their phenotype from a proliferative/differentiated towards an invasive/stem-like phenotype, along intermediate phenotypes. The loss of MITF (major transcription factor in melanocytic lineage) induces the transition towards an invasive state (Goding and Arnheiter 2019; Rambow et al 2019). Interestingly, previous work from our team showed that EMT-TFs (EMT transcription factors) display essential functions in melanoma tumorigenesis and treatment resistance by regulating phenotype switching. Our team indeed demonstrated that ZEB2 was expressed in normal melanocytes and decreased progressively along the conversion to melanoma, while ZEB1 increased (Caramel et al 2013). ZEB2 supports the proliferation and differentiation of melanoma cells via the activation of MITF; in contrary, ZEB1 inhibits MITF expression and induces the transition towards an invasive phenotype with neural-crest stem cell (NCSC) properties, associated with NGFR activation (Richard et al 2016; Tang et al 2020). While ZEB1-dependent regulation of phenotype switching is partly mediated by the regulation of MITF expression, part of ZEB1 function was independent from this key player. Therefore, identification of additional mechanisms was required. While ZEB1 ChIP-Seq had been performed in carcinoma models, the direct target genes of ZEB1 in melanoma models had never been investigated.

The main objective of my PhD project was thus to define the direct target genes of endogenous ZEB1 during phenotype switching in a genome-wide scale. I first had to establish an *in vitro* model of phenotype switching in melanoma short-term cultures. Then, to set-up the ChIP-Seq protocol, before integrating data with RNA-seq. Finally, relevant targets were further validated upon ZEB1 gain/loss of function and in human melanoma samples through multi-immunofluorescence.

Results

ZEB1-dependent transcriptional control of cell states transitions in melanoma cells

Yaqi Tang¹, Simon Durand¹, Roxane Pommier², Valentin Benboubker¹, Maxime Grimont¹, Maud Plaschka¹, Stéphane Dalle^{1,3}, Julie Caramel^{1,*}.

¹ Cancer Research Center of Lyon, Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, INSERM
1052, CNRS 5286, Centre Léon Bérard, "Cancer cell Plasticity in Melanoma" team.

² Fondation Synergie Lyon Cancer, Plateforme de bio-informatique Gilles Thomas, Centre Léon Bérard, Lyon, France.

³ Dermatology Unit, Hospices Civils de Lyon, CH Lyon Sud, 165 chemin du Grand Revoyet, 69495 Pierre Bénite Cedex, France.

*Correspondence: julie.caramel@lyon.unicancer.fr

Running title: ZEB1 transcriptional function in melanoma

Keywords: melanoma; plasticity; transcription factor; ChIP-Seq

Abstract

Cell plasticity processes sustain tumor adaptation and treatment resistance. Intra-tumor heterogeneity in melanoma relies on reversible phenotypic transitions between a proliferative/differentiated and invasive/stem-like state. A better understanding of the transcriptomic and epigenetic mechanisms underlying these phenotypic adaptations is still required. We previously identified the ZEB1 transcription factor as a major driver of phenotype switching towards an invasive/stem-like phenotype, fostering adaptive resistance to targeted therapies. Herein, in order to precisely characterize ZEB1 function and get a comprehensive view of its direct target genes, we performed a ChIP-Sequencing combined with RNA-seq, upon phenotype switching in melanoma cells. We identified and validated ZEB1 binding peaks in the promoter of a large set of genes related to melanoma cell identity. Gain or of function of ZEB1 further demonstrated negatively regulated loss that ZEB1 proliferative-melanocytic genes and up-regulates invasive/undifferentiated genes. We further analyzed spatial intra-tumor heterogeneity of melanoma states markers according to ZEB1 expression in human samples, and validated ZEB1 expression not only in invasive cells but also in stem-like cells. Overall, our results provide a better understanding of cell state transitions and intra-tumor heterogeneity in melanoma.

Introduction

Cutaneous malignant melanoma is an aggressive form of skin cancer arising from melanocytes. Despite recent advances in targeted therapies and immunotherapies for the treatment of metastatic melanoma, nearly 60% of patients still develop resistance, necessitating the development of combination therapy strategies. A major mechanism of resistance to treatments relies on the ability of cancer cells to adapt. One of these plasticity mechanisms, the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), is a reversible trans-differentiation process finely regulated by a network of transcription factors (EMT-TFs) belonging to the SNAIL, TWIST and ZEB families. EMT-TFs are aberrantly reactivated in many cancers, particularly in carcinomas, where they play an oncogenic role (Caramel et al., 2018; Puisieux et al., 2014). Importantly, beyond their functions as pro-metastatic factors, the activation of ZEB1/ZEB2 plays an active role in tumor initiation by alleviating key oncosuppressive mechanisms and by endowing cancer cells with stem cell-like properties.

Although EMT cannot be formally defined in non-epithelial cancers, a related process of cellular plasticity contributes to intra-tumor heterogeneity (ITH) in melanoma and relies on reversible phenotypic transitions between a proliferative/differentiated and invasive/stem-like state (Hoek et al., 2008). Loss of MIcrophthalmia-associated Transcription Factor (MITF), the master regulator of melanocyte differentiation, induces a reprogramming towards an invasive and stem-like phenotype in melanoma cells (Goding and Arnheiter, 2019; Rambow et al., 2019). Gene expression analyses of tumors at the single cell level enabled to refine this phenotype-switching model, including the description of intermediate states and major molecular regulators (Jerby-arnon et al., 2018; Rambow et al.

al., 2018; Tirosh et al., 2016). Reprogramming towards a Neural Crest Stem Cell-like (NCSC) phenotype was proposed as an adaptive response to targeted therapy, accounting for therapy resilience. A complete understanding of cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying phenotypic adaptations and thus, the exceptional capacity of melanoma cells to develop resistance to current therapeutic strategies, is still required.

We previously showed that ZEB2 is expressed in normal melanocytes and that its expression progressively decreases during conversion to melanoma, while ZEB1 expression increases (Caramel et al., 2013; Tang et al., 2020). ZEB2 supports melanoma cell proliferation and differentiation by activating MITF expression. ZEB1 on the contrary, inhibits MITF expression, promotes transition to an invasive phenotype with neural crest stem cell (NCSC) properties, and resistant to targeted therapies.

Herein, in order to further characterize ZEB1 function and get a comprehensive view of its direct target genes, we performed a ChIP-Sequencing approach upon phenotype switching in melanoma cells. Combined with RNA-Seq data, we define ZEB1 as a major transcriptional regulator of genes associated with phenotypic transitions in melanoma. Specific markers were validated as ZEB1 direct target genes, upon ZEB1 gain or loss of function, and their relevance *in vivo* was further addressed through spatial analyses in human samples. Intra-tumor heterogeneity of melanoma states markers according to ZEB1 expression in human samples demonstrated co-expression of ZEB1 with both stem-like and invasive markers.

Results:

Modelling phenotype switching towards ZEB1^{high}/MITF^{low} invasive state in vitro

In order to study phenotypic transitions in melanoma cells, we used two patient-derived short-term cultures, established with a low number of passages after culture (GLO and C-09.10). These two short-term cultures display a ZEB1^{low}/MITF^{high} proliferative phenotype. C-09.10 cells are highly melanocytic, while GLO cells tend towards a transitory state, with MITF intermediate expression (Richard et al., 2016). In order to induce phenotype switching, cells were treated every 3 days, for 21 days, with the inflammatory cytokine TNF α , a known inducer of dedifferentiation in melanoma cells (Riesenberg et al., 2015). As expected, TNF α treatment (100ng/mL) decreased proliferation, but no significant cell death was observed.

RNA-Seq analyses were performed at day 7 and day 14 after TNF α treatment. Pathways analyses of the 4531 differentially expressed (DE) genes at day 14 compared to untreated cells (p<0.001 & |IFC| > 1) (2490 up and 2041 down), confirmed a decrease in proliferation hallmarks, as well as an enrichment in TNF α signaling, inflammatory response, and EMT hallmarks (Fig. 1A & Supp. Fig.1A). We next analyzed previously described proliferative and invasive melanoma signatures from (Hoek et al., 2006) and (Verfaillie et al., 2015), as well as signatures from the four states melanoma nomenclature proposed by (Tsoi et al., 2018) (melanocytic, transitory, NCL and undifferentiated). This confirmed a switch from a proliferative/melanocytic (untreated), towards a more invasive state upon TNF α treatment (Fig. 1A-B & Supp. Fig.1B). Both the NCSC (NCL) and the undifferentiated state signatures from Tsoi were activated, starting from day 7 and even more at day14. The transitory state signature from Tsoi was also decreased in this model.

As regards to molecular markers, treatment with TNFα was shown to induce a progressive switch towards a ZEB1^{high}/MITF^{low} state. ZEB1 expression progressively increased at the protein and RNA levels, while ZEB2 protein expression progressively decreased upon treatment (Fig. 1C and D). ZEB2 mRNA expression was not modified, consistent with previous reports (Vandamme et al., 2020). Drastic down-regulation of MITF expression was observed as early as 7 days after treatment. Interestingly, the expression of the Neural Crest Stem Cell like (NCSC) marker NGFR (Nerve Growth Factor Receptor) was transiently induced (day 7 and day 14), before decreasing at day 21. The receptor tyrosine kinase AXL (Müller et al., 2014) followed a similar expression pattern than NGFR. Analysis of SOX10 and SOX9 protein and RNA expression (Fig.1C and 1D) confirmed a progressive switch, around day 14 and more strikingly at day 21, towards a putative undifferentiated state, losing NGFR and SOX10, in favor of SOX9 (Tsoi et al., 2018).

In order to more precisely monitor intra-tumor heterogeneity during phenotype transitions over time, a stable cell line was established with a *MITF* promoter-GFP reporter construct and combined with a *NGFR* membrane staining by flow cytometry. As previously mentioned, GLO cells exhibit a transitory phenotype, around half of the population present in MITF^{high} and the other in MITF^{low} state. TNF α treatment decreased the proportion of the MITF^{high} population and also led to a transient emergence of a MITF^{low}/NGFR^{high} phenotype at day7 (representing about 70 %), before transition towards a MITF^{low}/NGFR^{low} population (Fig. 2A).

Finally, we performed functional assays in order to validate the transition towards a more invasive state. Transwell migration assays and scratch assays validated that TNF α treatment progressively increased the migratory capacity of GLO cells after 14 days (Fig. 2B and 2C). Consistent with their increased migratory capacities, the sensitivity of TNF α -treated GLO cells to BRAF inhibitor was also decreased compared to control cells, as assessed by ATP assay and Incucyte device assay (Fig. 2D). These data confirmed the transition towards a more invasive and targeted-therapy resistant state.

Importantly, a similar phenotype switching towards a ZEB1^{high}/MITF^{low} state could be modeled in a second melanoma short-term culture, C-09.10 cells (Supp. Fig. 2). In this model, TNF α (100ng/mL) was combined with TGF β (20ng/mL) in order to ensure an efficient switching. Indeed, RNA-Seq analyses confirmed that C-09.10 cells display a more melanocytic phenotype than GLO cells (Supp. Fig. 2A). 3769 differentially expressed genes were found at day 14, upon combined TNF α + TGF β treatment (2181 up and 1588 down) (that is to say still 20-25% less than in GLO cells treated with TNF α alone) (Supp. Fig. 2B). NCL, invasive and undifferentiated signatures were enriched at D7 and D14 (Supp. Fig. 2C-D). More specifically, ZEB1 was drastically induced, in association with MITF rapid down-regulation (Supp. Fig. 3A-B), however, the SOX10/SOX9 switch was not observed in this model. FACS analyses of NGFR in a MITF-GFP reporter line, showed as in GLO cells, a decrease in the MITF^{high} population and a transient increase in MITF^{low}/NGFR^{int/high} cell population (Supp. Fig. 3C). Functional analyses validated that C-09.10 treated cells exhibited increased resistance to BRAFi (Supp. Fig. 3D-E). Overall, we developed two suitable *in vitro* models to study endogenous ZEB1 transcription factor direct transcriptional targets during phenotypic transitions of melanoma cells, towards NCSC-like and invasive states.

Determination of ZEB1 direct target genes during phenotype switching

In order to perform Chromatin immunoprecipitation coupled to deep sequencing (ChIP-seq) analyses, we first validated a ZEB1 ChIP-grade antibody (from Genetex, since previously described antibody from Santa Cruz was unavailable (Feldker et al., 2020)). To do so, *ZEB1* was first knocked-out in the ZEB1^{high} A375 melanoma cell line (Supp. Fig. 4A). ZEB1 control and knocked-out clones were then used for ChIP-QPCR experiments. A significant enrichment of ZEB1 binding was found on *MITF* promoter, which was abolished in *ZEB1* knocked-out cells, thus validating the specificity of the antibody (Supp. Fig. 4B). A first ChIP-Seq was performed in A375 cells, allowing to validate the process (Supp. Fig. 4C).

We then performed ZEB1 ChIP-Seq in untreated and TNF α -treated GLO cells at day 14 (Fig. 3). Consistent with ZEB1 increased expression, almost 2-times more ZEB1 peaks were found in TNF α -treated cells than in untreated cells (Fig. 3A). 34% of ZEB1 peaks were conserved between untreated and TNF α -treated cells while 59.5% were specifically induced upon TNF α treatment (Fig. 3B). Around 70% of peaks were found in promoter regions (-1000, +500bp), the large majority overlapping with the Transcription Start Site (Fig. 3C-D).

Next, integration with RNA-seq (TNF α differentially expressed genes, p = 0,001 and IFC>1 or <-1), allowed to correlate binding of ZEB1, with up or down-regulation of the genes upon TNF α

treatment (Fig. 3E). 42% of TNF α deregulated genes exhibited a ZEB1 peak at day 14. 47% among down-regulated genes, and 38% among up-regulated genes. Pathway analyses on differentially expressed genes displaying a ZEB1 peak, demonstrated that ZEB1 directly binds to TNF α -down-regulated genes involved in Proliferation, Pigmentation hallmarks and to TNF α -up-regulated genes involved in TNF signaling, invasion/EMT hallmarks (Fig. 3F). ZEB1 was more frequently already bound in untreated cells, to genes that are down-regulated, while it was more frequently recruited *de novo* upon TNF α to genes that are activated.

Specific analyses of melanoma phenotype signatures from Hoek (Hoek et al., 2006) next demonstrated that ZEB1 binding peaks were present in 46,7% of proliferative signature genes, which are down-regulated upon TNF α at day 14 (among which MITF, PMEL, CDH1, RAB38, ASAH1, TNFRSF14) (Fig. 4A). 40,4% of invasive signature genes (which are activated upon TNF α) also displayed a ZEB1 binding peak at day 14 (including ZEB1 itself, AXL, THBS1, BIRC3, ITGA2, ITGA3 and EGFR) (Fig. 4A). With respect to (Tsoi et al., 2018) signatures, ZEB1 binding peaks were found in 40% of melanocytic signature genes (including CEACAM1 and TSPAN10 which are down-regulated upon TNF α , and CDH3 which is up-regulated). ZEB1 binding peaks were also found in 34.8% of NCSC signature genes (among which TGFA, GLI2, NES, ANGPTL4) and in the promoter of 33% of undifferentiated signature genes (including EGFR again, SOX9, CITED2, KRT7, KRT18, KRT80, AJUBA, IL4R, TNFAIP2, ZIC2, SECTM1) (Fig. 4B). Only 17% of transitory signatures genes displayed ZEB1 binding peaks. 32% and 41% respectively of (Verfaillie et al., 2015) proliferative and invasive signatures also displayed ZEB1 peaks (Supp. Fig. 5). Overall, these analyses led to the identification of novel ZEB1 direct target genes, specific of the melanocytic lineage, including down-regulation of melanocytic genes and up-regulation of NCSC & undifferentiated genes.

ZEB1 directly regulates the expression of major melanoma state markers

We next focused on major melanoma state markers: ZEB2, MITF, NGFR, AXL, SOX10 and SOX9 (Fig. 5A). ZEB1 was already bound, in untreated GLO cells, on the promoters of *ZEB2*, *MITF* and *SOX10*, genes the expression of which is down-regulated upon TNF α treatment. In contrast, a ZEB1 peak was acquired *de novo* upon TNF α treatment at day14 in genes, the expression of which was activated by TNF α , such as *ZEB1* itself, *NGFR*, *AXL* and *SOX9*. Moreover, the peaks were largely conserved in A375 cells, although not exactly at the same location (Fig. 5A). Binding of ZEB1 to the sites defined by ChIP-seq was then validated by ChIP-QPCR in both GLO and C-09.10 models, upon TNF α +/- TGF β treatment (Fig. 5B-C). Consistent with ZEB1 increased expression, enrichment in the binding of this TF on the promoters of *ZEB2*, *MITF*, *NGFR*, and *SOX10* was found upon TNF α +/- TGF β . Even if a peak was found in the promoter of *SOX9*, ZEB1 binding could not yet be validated by ChIP-QPCR. Binding of ZEB1 to the *AXL* promoter has to be further validated in C-09.10.

In order to reinforce the driving role of ZEB1 in the regulation of these genes, their expression was analysed upon ZEB1 over-expression in C-09.10 and upon ZEB1 knock-out in A375 cells (Fig. 6A-B). *MITF* and *NGFR* expression upon ZEB1 deregulated expression has been previously described (Richard et al., 2016). Here, we show that AXL is activated by ZEB1, following the same expression profile than NGFR. We further demonstrate that SOX10 expression decreased upon ZEB1

over-expression in C-09.10, although it was not modified upon ZEB1 knock-out in A375 cells. In mirror, SOX9 expression increased upon ZEB1 over-expression in C-09.10, while it decreased upon ZEB1 knock-out in A375 cells. Overall, our data sustain a model in which ZEB1 directly represses *MITF*, *SOX10*, and *ZEB2* and induces itself, *NGFR*, *AXL* and *SOX9*, although SOX9 direct regulation remain to be demonstrated.

RNA-Seq analyses upon ZEB1 over-expression in C-09.10 further demonstrated the increase in EMT/invasion pathways (Fig. 6C and Supp. Fig. 6). Only few genes were down-regulated in this model, but still associated with a decreased proliferative signature. Interestingly, the most significantly enriched melanoma signature was the NCSC one, which was almost as activated by ZEB1 than by TNF α . This further supports the conclusion than a major part of TNF α -mediated transition towards a more invasive/NCSC-like state is regulated by ZEB1.

Interestingly, beyond well-described phenotypic markers from Fig.5, ZEB1 binding peaks were found in other markers of melanoma identity: RAB38, TGFA, TSPAN13, which are down-regulated upon TNF α treatment; BIRC3, ITGA2, EGFR, F2RL1, TNFAIP2 which are rather up-regulated upon TNF α (Fig. 7A-C). ZEB1 binding on the promoters of these genes could be confirmed by ChIP-QPCR (Fig. 7B), further validating the pleiotropic roles of ZEB1.

Spatial analyses of melanoma cell intra-tumor heterogeneity in patient samples

In order to further investigate ZEB1 co-expression or antagonistic expression with some of its identified targets, we analyzed their expression *in situ* in patient samples. To achieve this goal we performed multi-immunofluorescence analyses (7 colors, OPAL, Perkin-Elmer) starting with ZEB1,

ZEB2, MITF, NGFR, SOX10 and SOX9 to more precisely define the frequency and location of the different phenotypes, and address co-localization of ZEB1 with these melanoma states markers. A cohort of n=20 cutaneous melanoma was analyzed. Antagonistic expression of ZEB1 and ZEB2, as well as SOX10 and SOX9, validated the specificity of the stainings. Spatial reconstitution (with R) of the whole tumors for each marker revealed differential patterns of expression. Low-grade primary melanoma exhibits a ZEB2⁺ MITF⁺ SOX10⁺ phenotype (and no ZEB1, SOX9 and NGFR expression). High-grade primitive melanoma or cutaneous metastases, with a high ZEB1 expression, display low ZEB2 expression, as previously described. Importantly, ZEB1 is not only expressed in the invasive front but also in the bulk. Decreased SOX10 expression could be evidenced in ZEB1^{high} clones (Fig. 9A). NGFR expression was gained in some sub-populations of cells, and more specifically in ZEB1^{high} cases. SOX9 expression was strongly expressed only in a few cases, and co-expression of SOX9 with ZEB1 could be evidenced. This allowed demonstrating *in situ* the presence of ZEB1⁺NGFR⁺ cells and ZEB1⁺SOX9⁺ cells (Fig. 9B).

Discussion

Our study reports the first comprehensive characterization of ZEB1 transcriptional function in melanoma, providing a better understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying phenotype plasticity and intra-tumor heterogeneity in melanoma. We identified and validated ZEB1 transcription factor direct binding to the promoter of genes specific to the melanocytic lineage or driving melanoma cell identity. Gain or loss of function of ZEB1 further demonstrated that ZEB1 negatively regulates proliferative-melanocytic genes and up-regulates invasive/undifferentiated genes. Overall, this study

further defined ZEB1 as a major regulator of melanoma cell identity and phenotype switching, beyond its well-established role in metastasis. Although initially described as a transcriptional repressor, our data confirm previous ChIP-Seq analyses in carcinoma models (Feldker et al., 2020) showing ZEB1 capacity to mediate both transcriptional activation and repression in similar proportions. Importantly, even if some ZEB1 target genes may be shared between melanoma and breast cancer cell lines (Feldker et al., 2020), such as CDH1 and other EMT genes, our study reveals cell type specific effects of ZEB1, through the regulation of melanocytic lineage specific genes. ZEB1 notably binds to the promoter of ZEB2 and represses its expression in melanoma cells, while these two factors are co-expressed in mesenchymal cells.

Overall, we propose a model in which ZEB1 may directly repress *MITF*, *SOX10*, and *ZEB2*, and in the meantime induce itself, *NGFR* and *AXL*. At this stage, ZEB1-mediated activation of *SOX9* could be indirect, through the repression of SOX10, since SOX10 and SOX9 have been shown to repress each other (Shakhova et al., 2015). However, the SOX10/SOX9 switch was not observed in C-09.10, maybe because of co-factors or epigenetic marks that remain to be defined.

Spatial analyses in human samples of these melanoma state markers provided further validation at the cellular level, of the co-expression of ZEB1 with NGFR and SOX9. Importantly, ZEB1 is not only expressed in the invasive front but also in the bulk, where it may sustain stem-like features and tumor-initiating properties. Although NGFR and SOX9 are not sufficient to define the NCSC and undifferentiated states respectively, ZEB1 expression may be found in these two sub-populations of cells. However, our study revealed a strong inter-patient variability among the 20 samples analysed, with only few samples displaying a significant expression of NGFR or SOX9.

Additional melanoma samples (n=10) will be analysed in order to provide a more comprehensive view of intra-tumor heterogeneity. Quantitative analyses will enable to further define the percentage of ZEB1^{high} cells displaying lower level of SOX10, or co-expressing NGFR and/or SOX9.

While our spatial analyses in human samples clearly demonstrated the co-expression of ZEB1 with NGFR and/or SOX9, ZEB1 may not regulate these markers in the same cells, nor at the same time. Consistent with our *in vitro* analyses, an hypothesis would be that ZEB1 would activate NGFR transiently, before activating SOX9, therefore favoring the transition from a NCSC towards an undifferentiated state. Longitudinal analyses at the single cell level would be required in order to prove whether this is the same trajectory or two different routes in parallel.

As regards to MITF, ZEB1 represses MITF expression and subsequent MITF-transcriptional program. But ZEB1 also directly regulates MITF targets (PMEL, etc...). Previous MITF ChIP-Seq analyses demonstrated that MITF directly and positively regulates genes involved in DNA replication, repair and mitosis, while repressing genes involved in melanoma invasion (Laurette et al., 2015). ZEB1 and MITF may thus bind to the same genes but with different consequences.

Moreover, intermediate states, with coexistence of proliferative and invasive features, including ZEB1^{high} / MITF^{high} state have been described. Our previous results suggested that ZEB1 would perform some of its functions independently of MITF. Both MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} phenotypes may be associated to resistance to targeted therapies, suggesting a more complex model of intra-tumor heterogeneity and cell state reprogramming.
While ZEB2 rather co-expressed with SOX10 and MITF in our *in situ* analyses, ZEB2 ChIP-sequenging analyses should reveal in the future its melanocytic lineage specific targets and cross-regulation with ZEB1.

Moreover, if we focused on markers of melanocyte cell identity, this ChIP-seq approach also revealed additional targets related with inflammatory or interferon response, consistent with the pleiotropic roles of ZEB1, that extend beyond invasion, including immune escape.

Overall, this study provides clues as to how ZEB1-driven phenotype plasticity can foster the acquisition of resistance to targeted therapies in melanoma, beyond MITF regulation. Although ZEB1 targeting is still challenging, this work should lead to evaluate the benefit of targeting cancer cell plasticity as a strategy to overcome treatments' resistance, which will, in turn, provide a strong rationale to the development of new combination therapies in the treatment of malignant melanoma.

Figures legends

Figure 1: Molecular characterization of TNFa-induced phenotype switching in vitro.

A. RNA-seq analyses of GLO cells after 7 (D7) or 14 days (D14) of TNF α (100ng/ml) treatment. Heatmap of differentially expressed genes. The most significant Hallmarks enriched within down- and up-regulated in D14 versus untreated cells are indicated on the right. **B.** Heatmap of ssGSEA scores of the most relevant hallmarks and of melanoma states signatures from Hoek, Tsoi and Verfaillie. **C-D.** Western blot (**C**) and RT-qPCR (**D**) analyses of ZEB1, ZEB2, MITF, NGFR, AXL, SOX10 and SOX9 expression after 7, 14 and 21 days of TNF α (100ng/ml) treatment in GLO cell line. GAPDH was used as loading control. Histograms represent quantitative analyzes (mean ± SEM, n=3).

Figure 2. Intra-tumoral heterogeneity and functional characterization of $TNF\alpha$ -induced phenotype switching in GLO cells.

A. Longitudinal intra-tumor heterogeneity characterization of MITF and NGFR expression by flow cytometry in GLO pMITF-GFP cell line, upon TNFα (100ng/ml) treatment after 7 (D7), 14 (D14) and 21 days (D21). NGFR was marked by antibody anti-NGFR coupled with APC.

B. Transwell migration assays in GLO upon TNF α (100ng/ml) treatment after 7 (D7) or 14 (D14) days. Cells were fixed after 24h. Representative pictures of the membranes. The number of migrating cells is plotted. **C.** Scratch assay in cell culture of GLO cells, upon TNF α (100ng/ml) treatment after 21 days (D21). Migration distance in μ m was mesured after 24 hours. Histograms represent quantitative analyzes (mean ± SEM, n=3). **D.** BRAFi Survival assays. ATP assay upon BRAF inhibitor PLX4032 treatment for 7 days. (mean ± SD, n=3)

E. Incucyte assay showing the relative increase in cell death upon PLX4032 (588nM) treatment overtime.

Figure 3. ZEB1 ChIP-sequencing analyses in GLO cells upon TNFa treatment.

A. ZEB1 ChIP sequencing was performed in GLO cells, untreated or after 14 days (D14) of TNFα (100ng/ml) treatment. The number and size of peaks is indicated.

B. Venn diagram showing the overlapp between peaks found in untreated (green) or after 14 days of TNFα treatment (D14) (Red).

C-D. Localization of the peaks and distance to the transcription start site (D).

E-F. Integration of ChIP-Seq with RNA-seq data. **E.** Heatmap of DE genes in TNF α -treated cells at day14 compared to untreated cells. Presence of a ZEB1 peak in the gene is indicated by a green line (untreated) or a red line (TNF D14) on the right.

F. Heatmap of DE genes presenting a ZEB1 peak. The most significant Hallmarks enriched within down- and up-regulated genes in D14 versus untreated cells are indicated on the right.

Figure 4. Specific analyses of ZEB1 binding on genes from melanoma states signatures

Heatmap of genes from the melanoma signatures from Hoek et al (**A**), Tsoi et al. (**B**) in untreated or TNF α -treated GLO cells at day14. Presence of a ZEB1 peak is indicated by a green (untreated) or red (TNF D14) square. Differential expression of the gene upon TNF α (red: p < 0.001 ; purple: p < 0.05).

Figure 5. Validation of ZEB1 binding on melanoma phenotype markers by ChIP-qPCR.

A. Geneviewer captures showing ZEB1 binding peaks in *ZEB2*, *MITF*, *NGFR*, *AXL*, *SOX10* and *SOX9* promoters in A375 cells and untreated or TNFα-treated GLO cells at day 14 (D14).

B-C. ZEB1 ChIP-QPCR on ZEB2, *MITF*, *NGFR*, *AXL*, *SOX10* and *SOX9* promoters in GLO (**B**) and C-09.10 cells (**C**) upon TNF α or TNF α + TGF β treatment at day 14 (D14). Anti-ZEB1 (Z1) or control IgG were used for the IP. Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs. N=3 except for SOX9 in GLO, and AXL in C-09.10.

Figure 6: ZEB1-dependent regulation of melanoma markers in melanoma models.

A. Western-blot and RT-qPCR analyses of phenotype markers (ZEB1, NGFR, AXL, SOX10, SOX9) in C-09.10 cell line with ZEB1 over-expression (Z1) (n=3).

B. Western-blot and RT-qPCR analyses of phenotype markers (ZEB1, NGFR, AXL, SOX10, SOX9) in A375 control (AS3) or ZEB1 knocked-out (AZ1) clones.

C. RNA-seq analyses of C-09.10 cell line upon ZEB1 over-expression (ZEB1_OE). ssGSEA scores of Hoek and Tsoi melanoma signatures are plotted in C-09.10 cell line upon ZEB1 over-expression or upon TNF α + TGF β treatment at day14.

Figure 7. Additional ZEB1 direct targets related to melanoma phenotype transitions.

A. Geneviewer captures showing ZEB1 binding peaks in *RAB38*, *TGFA*, *TSPAN13*, *BIRC3*, *ITGA2*, *EGFR*, *F2RL1*, *TNFAIP2* promoters in A375 cells and untreated or TNFα-treated GLO cells at day 14.

B. ZEB1 ChIP-QPCR on the indicated promoters in GLO cells upon TNF α treatment at day 14. Anti-ZEB1 (Z1) or control IgG were used for the IP. Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs.

C. RT-QPCR analyses showing relative expression of the genes in GLO cells upon TNF α treatment at 7, 14 and 21 days.

Figure 8. Intra-tumoral analyses of melanoma states markers according to ZEB1 status in patient samples.

7-color multi-immunofluorescence analyses of human melanoma samples with ZEB1 (red), ZEB2 (white), SOX10 (blue), SOX9 (yellow), NGFR (orange), MITF (green) and DAPI.

A. Representative pictures of a ZEB1^{low} and a ZEB1^{high} cutaneous primary melanoma.

B. Reconstruction of three whole tumors for each marker. Each dot represents one cell.

Figure 9. ZEB1 antagonistic expression with SOX10 and co-expression with NGFR and SOX9 within melanoma lesions.

A. Representative images showing antagonistic expression of ZEB1 and S0X10. **B.** Reconstruction of a whole tumor for ZEB1 (red) and SOX10 intensity (SOX10 high in blue, SOX10 low in yellow). The circle points a ZEB1high clone with lower SOX10 expression.

C-D. Representative images showing co-expression of ZEB1 with SOX9 and/or NGFR.

Supplementary Figures :

Supplementary Figure 1: RNA-seq analyses during TNFα-induced phenotype transition of GLO cells

A. Volcano plot of differentially expressed genes in TNF α -treated GLO cells for 14 days, compared to untreated cells.

B. ssGSEA pathways analyses of collections Hallmark and C5 from Molecular Signatures Database (MSigDB) V6.2. and of melanoma signatures.

Supplementary Figure 2: A second model of TNF α -induced phenotype switching in C-09.10 cells A. ssGSEA scores of melanoma states signatures in GLO and C-09.10 cells. B. RNA-seq analyses of C-09.10 cells upon 7 or 14 days of TNF α (100ng/ml) + TGF β (20ng/mL) treatment. Volcano plot of differentially expressed genes in TNF α -treated cells for 14 days, compared to untreated cells. C. Heatmap of differentially expressed genes. The most significant Hallmarks enriched within down- and up-regulated in D14 versus untreated cells are indicated on the right. D. Heatmap of ssGSEA scores of the most relevant hallmarks and of melanoma states signatures from Hoek, Tsoi and Verfaillie

Supplementary Figure 3: Intra-tumoral heterogeneity and functional asssays of TNFα-induced phenotype switching in C-09.10 cells

Western blot (**A**) and RT-qPCR (**B**) analyses of ZEB1, ZEB2, MITF, NGFR, AXL, SOX10 and SOX9 after 7 and 14 days of TNF α + TGF β treatment in C-09.10 cell line. GAPDH was used as loading control. Histograms represent quantitative analyzes (mean ± SEM, n=3).

C. Longitudinal intra-tumor heterogeneity characterization of MITF and NGFR expression by Flow Cytometry in C-09.10 pMITF-GFP cell line, upon $TNF\alpha + TGF\beta$ treatment after 7 and 14 days. NGFR was marked by antibody anti-NGFR coupled with APC.

D. BRAFi Survival assays. ATP assay upon BRAF inhibitor PLX4032 treatment for 7 days. (n=3).

E. Incucyte assay showing the relative increase in cell death upon PLX4032 (100nM) treatment overtime.

Supplementary Figure 4: ChIP and ChIP-sequencing validation in A375 control and ZEB1 knock-out cells

A. ZEB1 knock-out clones were established in the A375 cell line. Western-blot validation of ZEB1 loss of expression in one control (AS3) and one ZEB1 knocked-out (AZ1) clone. Actin was used as a loading control. **B.** ZEB1 ChIP-QPCR on the promoter of *MITF* in AS3 and AZ1 clone. Anti-ZEB1 (Z1) or control IgG were used for the IP. Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs (%). N=3 **C.** ZEB1 ChIP-seq was performed in one control (AS3) and one ZEB1 knocked-out (AZ1) clone. Geneviewer capture of ZEB1 binding peak in the *MITF* promoter. **D.** ZEB1 ChIP-QPCR on ZEB2, MITF, NGFR, AXL, SOX10, SOX9 and PMEL promoters in A375 cells. Anti-ZEB1 (Z1) or control IgG were used for the IP. Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs (%). N=3 except for SOX9.

Supplementary Figure 5: Integration of ChIP-seq and RNA-seq data in GLO

Heatmap of genes from the melanoma signatures from Verfaillie et al, in untreated or TNF α -treated GLO cells at day14. Presence of a ZEB1 peak is indicated by a green (untreated) or red (TNF D14) square. Differential expression of the gene upon TNF α (red: p < 0.001 ; purple: p < 0.05).

Supplementary Figure 6: RNA-seq analyses of C-09.10 cell line with ZEB1 overexpression (Z1).

A.Volcano plot of differentially expressed genes in ZEB1 overexpressed C-09.10 cells, compared to control cells. **B.** The most significant Hallmarks enriched with ZEB1 overexpression.

Material and methods

Cell culture and treatments

A375 human melanoma cell line was purchased from ATCC and cultured in DMEM complemented with 10% FBS (Cambrex) and 100 U/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Invitrogen). In order to authenticate the cell lines, the expected major genetic alterations were verified by NGS sequencing. The absence of Mycoplasma contamination was checked every 3 weeks with the MycoAlert detection kit (Lonza). Previously described patient-derived short term cultures (<10), GLO and C-09.10, established from $BRAF^{V600}$ metastatic melanomas (Richard et al., 2016), were grown in RPMI complemented with 10% FBS and 100 U/ml penicillin-streptomycin. TNF α (100ng/mL) and TGF β (10ng/mL) were replaced in the culture medium every 3 days. PLX4032/vemurafenib was purchased from Selleck Chemicals (Houston, TX, USA) and reconstituted in DMSO.

Viral infections

Generation of ZEB1-overexpressing C-09.10 cells using retroviral infection, and HA-Zeb1 in a pBabe-puro vector was previously described (Richard et al., 2016). For *Zeb1* knock-out in A375 cells, human embryonic kidney 293T cells (4×10^6) were transfected with lentiviral expression constructs (10 µg) in combination with GAG-POL (5 µg) and ENV expression vectors (10 µg). The constructs allowed the insertion in a all in one manner of the Cas9 nuclease and the guide RNA scramble or targeting ZEB1 in a pLenti-Puro vector (pLenti-All-in-one-U6-sgRNA human Zeb1 (target1) or scramble -SFFV-Cas9 nuclease-2A-Puro) (Applied Biological Materials Inc., Richmond, Canada).

The sequence of sgRNA targeting ZEB1 following: the the human are 5'-CACCTGAAGAGGACCAG-3' (F = forward), 5'-TCCTCTTCAGGTGCCTC-3' (R = reverse). The MITF promoter-GFP construct was purchased from GeneCopoeia (with a Hygromycin selection). Viral supernatants were collected 48 hours post-transfection, filtered (0.45 µm membrane) and placed in contact with 2 x 10^6 melanoma cells for 8 h in the presence of 8 μ g/mL polybrene. Forty-eight hours post-infection, cells were selected in the presence of puromycin (1 µg/mL) or Hygromycin (500µg/mL for GLO and 400µg/mL for C-09.10) (Invitrogen).

Immunoblot analyses

Cells were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing CaCl₂ and then lysed in a 100 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 0.1% SDS, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0 RIPA buffer supplemented with a complete protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) and phosphatase inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich). Loading was controlled using anti-GAPDH. Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit polyclonal antibodies (Glostrup) was used as secondary antibodies. Western blot detections were conducted using the Luminol reagent (Santa Cruz). Western Blot Digital Imaging was performed with ChemiDoc[™] MP Imager (Bio-Rad).

	Reference	Dilution	Species
Anti-ZEB1	Sigma-Aldrich, HPA027524	1/500	Rabbit
Anti-ZEB2	Sigma-Aldrich, HPA003456	1/500	Rabbit
Anti-MITF	Millipore, MAB3747		Mouse
Anti-NGFR	Cell signaling, 8238S	1/1000	Rabbit
Anti-AXL	R&D Systems Bio-Techne, AF154	1/200	Goat
Anti-SOX10	Santa cruz, sc-365692	1/500	Mouse
Anti-SOX9	Genetex, GTX109661	1/500	Rabbit
Anti-GAPDH	Sigma-Aldrich, Cat# ABS16	1/20000	Rabbit

RT-Q-PCR

Total RNA was isolated using RNeasy Kit (QIAGEN) and reverse transcribed using a high cDNA capacity reverse transcription kit following the manufacturer's instructions (Fisher Scientific). Real-time PCR intron-spanning assays were designed using the ProbeFinder software (Roche). All reactions, including no-template controls and RT controls were performed in triplicate on a CFX96 (Bio-Rad) and were analyzed with the Bio-Rad CFX manager software. Human *GAPDH* was used for

Gene		Sequence				
GAPDH		AGCCACATCGCTCAGACAC		GCCCAATACGACCAAATCC		
ZEB1		AACTGCTGGGAGGATGACAC		TCCTGCTTCATCTGCCTGA		
ZEB2		AAGCCAGGGACAGATCAGC		GCCACACTCTGTGCATTTGA		
MITF-M		CATTGTTATGCTGGAAATGCTAGA		TGCTAAAGTGGTAGAAAGGTACTGC		
NGFR		ACAAGACCTCATAGCCAGCAC		TGCAGCTGTTCCACCTCTTGA		
AXL		GGTGGCTGTGAAGACGATGA		CTCAGATACTCCATGCCACT		
SOX10		GGC-TCC-CCC-ATG-TCA-GAT		CTG-TCT-TCG-GGG-TGG-TTG		
SOX9	E	GTACCCGCACTTGCACAAC	Б	TCTCGCTCTCGTTCAGAAGTC		
RAB38	Г	AGGCATCTGGAGGCTTCATC	п	GCACGGTTTCGTAGGATGGT		
TGFA		ACATGTGTGCTGATACACTGCT		CAGCAAGCGGTTCTTCCCTT		
TSPAN13		GTTCCAAGATGGTTTGCGGG		AGCAGCAGACTAACCAAGGTG		
BIRC3		TCTGGGCAGCAGGTTTACAA		CCCGAGATTAGACTAAGTCCCTT		
ITGA2		AGACGTGCTCTTGGTAGGTG		GCTGACCCAAAATGCCCTCT		
EGFR		AGCAGTCACTGGGGGGACTT		GGAGAGGAGAACTGCCAGAA		
F2RL1		CGGCGGCGGATTCCC		AGAGGATCTACTGGTTCCTTGG		
TNFAIP2		TACCCTGACTTCAGCAAAGGC		CTGACGTCCAAGATGCTCCG		

normalization.

RNA-seq analyses

RNA extractions were sequenced on the CLB genomic platform, on an Illumina NovaSeq machine with a paired-end protocol (2x75bp, 32Mp reads). Libraries were prepared with the TrueSeq poly-A+ kit from Illumina. Raw sequencing reads were aligned on the human genome (GRCh38) with STAR

(v2.7.8a), with the annotation of known genes from gencode v37. Gene expression was quantified using Salmon (1.4.0) and the annotation of protein coding genes from gencode v37. RNA-seq quality controls and analyses were performed on the Gilles Thomas Bioinformatics platform.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation and ChIP-sequencing

The ChIP assay was carried out according to the protocol from the iDeal ChIP-Seq Kit for Transcription Factors (Diagenode, Denville, NJ, USA). Briefly, cells from one 15-cm dish were cross-linked with 1% formaldehyde at RT for 10 min and quenched in 125 mM glycine for 5 min. The cross-linked chromatin was isolated and sonicated to generate DNA fragments averaging 200–500 bp in length by Bioruptor plus sonication device (Diagenode). Chromatin fragments were immunoprecipitated with antibodies directed against Zeb1 (1µg, Genetex, GTX105278), or IgG (1µg, Bio-Rad, PRABP01) as negative control. Immunoprecipitated DNA was purified and dissolved into 25 µl of H2O. To build the Illumina library, 5ng of input and 30pg of IP were used. Sequencing was performed on the CLB genomic platform, on an Illumina NextSeq machine with a paired-end protocol (2x75bp, 64Mp reads).

To assess the efficiency of the ChIP before sequencing, MITF (positive control) and IL1B (negative control) promoters were analyzed by qPCR. Primers were specified to amplify genomic DNA using the sequence from the peak (ChIPSeq data from MDAMB231, A375 or GLO cells). Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs.

Peak								
sequence	Gene		Sequence					
from								
MDA-MB-231	ZEB2	F	GAAAACAGCCTTCTCGGTGG		R	AGACCTACAAATTCGGGGGC		

	MITF	GTCAAGATCCCAGCGGGTTG	GAGGTGACTCCAAGCGAACT		
NGFR		AGCGTACCATACTTTCCCCG	TGCATGGAGGGACCAGGTTA		
PMEL		TTGGGAAGAGTGTTCAGCCG	CCCCAGGCAAGTTTGGTTCT		
	SOX9	GCAAAAGCTGTCCCTTGTGG	CAAGTCACCCCTCTGGCATT		
	ZEB2	AATAGAGCAGGACCTCTCCCC	AGGTGTCCTTTGCTATCCAGC		
	MITF	GGATTTCGAAGTCGGGGAGG	CTGCTCTTCAGCGGTTGACT		
A375	NGFR	TACGTCTCGGGGTGCAGA	TGCGTAGCCAGAGCTGC		
	AXL	CCGGGACTGTACTGTTTCTCC	CCGTTCCCAGACAAGGTCAG		
	SOX10	AGACTCTAGGTGGGTGCGTC	CCCACACCAAGAGACGGTTG		
	RAB38	CCGGTAGTGCGAAGAGAAGTT	AGTTGCTGGTGATTGGCGA		
GLO	TGFA	TCGGGGCATATCGAACGAAC	GCCAATTCTTGCCCCTTGTG		
	TSPAN13	TCCGCCGGAGTCGAATTTAC	ACTGGGGATACTCACGGTGT		
	BIRC3	GGGGATTTGGGTGACGCATT	ACAAGCCCAGTCTTTTCAAGC		
	ITGA2	CCCTTTCTCCACCCACTTAGG	GGGCACTAGCCCTAAACCAC		
	EGFR	GACAGGCCACCTCGTCG	CCGGCTCTCCCGATCAATAC		
	F2RL1	GTACGCTGCTCCTTCGGTT	CTCTCACCTGCCCCGAATC		
	TNFAIP2	ACTATTTCAGGCCTTGCGGA	TGGAAGCGGAGGTCACTTAC		

ChIP-Seq analyses

Two biological replicates from two independent experiments were performed for each ChIP-seq. Peaks calling and integration of ChIP-seq and gene expression data is detailed in supplementary information.

Flow cytometry

To analyze the expression of the NGFR/CD271 cell surface marker, cells 1.10⁶ cells per condition were incubated with an AlexaFluor647-conjugated anti-CD271 antibody (BD Pharmingen) for 1 h in the dark before being counted on a BD LSRFortessa[™] Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences-IN). Data were analyzed using the FlowJo V10 software.

Migration assays

Scratch Wound Assay / Collective migration test:

70,000 GLO cells were seeded into 96-well transparent tissue culture plates and cultured to 90% confluence in RPMI supplemented with 20% FBS, with or without TNF α treatment. After 24h, using a 96-well wound marker (Essen Bioscience), a straight, uniform scratch was made through adherent cells. Each well was then rinsed with cell medium in order to remove all scratched cells and the plate was replaced into incubator for 24h. Photos were taken and analyzes by ZEISSZEN Microscope software. The distance was measured and shown in μ m. Each condition was conducted at least three times.

Transwell migration assay / Individual migration test:

Falcon® Cell Culture Inserts for 24-well plates were placed into a 24-well plate, and 20% FBS RPMI was added into the well and 0.5% FBS RPMI was added into inserts. The plate was then incubated for one hour for an initial equilibrium period. 200,000 GLO cells were trypsinated and rinsed with 0.5% FBS RPMI medium. 100µl 0.5% FBS RPMI containing 200,000 GLO cells was seeded into the insert, then 600µl 20% FBS RPMI was added into well. After 24h incubation, cells inside the insert were removed carefully and the migrated cells on the membrane were fixed and colored using 4% PFA and Brilliant Blue, then rinsed with PBS solution. When inserts were completely dry, cells were viewed using phase contrast microscopy. Photos were taken and analyzes by ZEISSZEN Microscope software. Migrated cells were counted in 3 different fields.

BRAF inhibitor survival assays

ATP assay:

For short term viability assays, the CellTiter-Glo Luminescent Cell Viability Assay (ATP assay) (Promega) was used, based on quantitation of the ATP present, which signals the presence of metabolically active cells. 1000 cells in 96-well plates were treated with the indicated drugs for 72 h in a final volume of 100 μ L. Three by 3-fold PLX4032 dilutions resulted in concentrations ranging from 1 nM to 10 μ M. After 72 h, the CellTiter-Glo reaction solution (Promega) was added and luminescence was measured (Tekan). Control wells with DMSO were used for normalization.

Incucyte® Live Cell mortality measurement:

30,000 cells were seeded into a 24-well plate and treated with $TNF\alpha+/-TGF\beta$. 24h after, cell medium was renewed with corresponded treatments, as well as PLX4032 and Propidium iodide (Sigma-Aldrich®, 1/3000). EssenBioScience IncuCyte Zoom Live-Cell Analysis System was used to measure and analyze cell real-time mortality every 2h. Died cells were marked with Propidium iodide. Data was then converted into Excel in order to draw graphs.

Human tumor samples

Melanoma tumor samples were obtained through the Biological Resource Center of the Lyon Sud Hospital (Hospices Civils de Lyon) and were used with the patient's written informed consent. This study was approved by a regional review board (Comité de Protection des Personnes Ile de France XI, Saint-Germain-en-Laye, France, number 12027) and is registered in ClinicalTrial.gov (MelBase, NCT02828202). n = 18 cutaneous melanoma patients (from a cohort previously described in Plaschka et al, *in revision*) were used for multi-immunofluorescence analyses. All melanoma biopsies were cutaneous, either primary melanoma (n = 7) or cutaneous metastases (n = 11).

7-color immunofluorescence multiplex analyses

3-µm tissue sections were cut from formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded human melanoma specimens. The sections underwent immunofluorescence staining using the OPAL[™] technology (Akoya Biosciences) on a Leica Bond RX. A 7-color panel was designed. DAPI was used for nuclei detection.

Antibody	Reference	Dilution	Staining localization
ZEB1	HPA02752 Sigma	1/100	Nuclear
SOX10	sc-365692 Santa Cruz	1/1000	Nuclear
SOX9	HPA001758 Sigma	1/300	Nuclear
NGFR	CS 8238 Cell-signaling	1/500	Membrane
ZEB2	HPA003456 Sigma	1/300	Nuclear
MITF	284M-96 Sigma	1/200	Nuclear cytoplasmic

Sections were digitalized with a Vectra Polaris scanner (Perkin Elmer, USA). Using the Inform software (Perkin Elmer), an autofluorescence treatment of images was carried out and tissue segmentation was performed to identify epidermis, stroma and tumor. Cells segmentation was then applied to analyze expression of each marker in each cell. The matrix of phenotype containing the X-and Y- positions of each cell as well as the mean nuclear-, cytoplasmic- and membrane- intensities of

each fluorescence staining was then further analyzed using the R software. Tumors were spatially reconstructed using the R plot() function.

For quantitative analyses, melanoma cells were classified following their expression level of each marker. The following cut-off values were defined.

Opal	Marker	Low	Intermediate	High
480	SOX10	2		5,6
520	ZEB1	3,5	7,2	11
570	MITF	0,435	0,725	1,45
620	NGFR	2		
690	SOX9	1,18	2,54	4,4
780	ZEB2	0,3	0,63	1,1

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 8 software (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, USA) or R software (version 3.6.1). All experiments were performed at least in triplicate. Data are presented as mean \pm s.d. or \pm s.e.m as specified in the figure legends. To assess significant correlation between signatures, a Pearson's correlation coefficient was performed. To determine significant differences between two groups, parametric data were analyzed using a t- or Mann Whitney- test. All statistical tests were two-tailed. The p-values obtained were considered significant <<0.05.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Brigitte Manship for critical reading. This work was funded by the Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer), the Lyon Integrated Research Institute in Cancer (SIRIC LYriCAN INCa-DGOS-Inserm_12563). The work was additionally supported by the Institut National contre le Cancer (INCA-DGOS PRTK Melpredict), the Société Française de Dermatologie (SFD), the association Melarnaud and Vaincre le Mélanome. MelBase is sponsored by the French National Cancer Institute (INCa). YT was supported by a fellowship from Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer and SD by a fellowship from the Association pour la Recherche contre le Cancer (ARC).

Author contributions

YT performed and analyzed experiments with the help of SDu and MG. RP performed ChIP-Seq and RNA-Seq bioinformatics analyses. MG, VB and MP contributed to multi-IF analyses. SDa provided human samples and clinical data from the human sample experiments. JC conceived and supervised the whole project and wrote the manuscript.

Competing interests. The authors declare that no conflict of interest exists.

References

- Caramel, J., Papadogeorgakis, E., Hill, L., Browne, G.J., Richard, G., Wierinckx, A., Saldanha, G.,
- Sborne, J., Hutchinson, P., Tse, G., et al. (2013). A Switch in the Expression of Embryonic
- EMT-Inducers Drives the Development of Malignant Melanoma. Cancer Cell 24, 466–480.
- Caramel, J., Ligier, M., and Puisieux, A. (2018). Pleiotropic roles for ZEB1 in cancer. Cancer Res. 78, 30–35.
- Feldker, N., Ferrazzi, F., Schuhwerk, H., Widholz, S.A., Guenther, K., Frisch, I., Jakob, K., Kleemann,
- J., Riegel, D., Bönisch, U., et al. (2020). Genome-wide cooperation of EMT transcription factor ZEB
- 1 with YAP and AP -1 in breast cancer . EMBO J. 39, 1–21.
- Goding, C.R., and Arnheiter, H. (2019). MITF the first 25 years. 1–25.
- Hoek, K.S., Schlegel, N.C., Sucker, A., Ugurel, S., Weber, B.L., Katherine, L., Phillips, D.J., and Schadendorf, D. (2006). Metastatic potential of melanomas defined by specific gene expression profiles with no BRAF signature. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *19*, 290–302.
- Hoek, K.S., Eichhoff, O.M., Schlegel, N.C., Döbbeling, U., Kobert, N., Schaerer, L., Hemmi, S., and Dummer, R. (2008). In vivo switching of human melanoma cells between proliferative and invasive states. Cancer Res. *68*, 650–656.
- Jerby-arnon, L., Shah, P., Cuoco, M.S., Rodman, C., Su, M., Melms, J.C., Leeson, R., Kanodia, A., Mei, S., Lin, J., et al. (2018). A Cancer Cell Program Promotes T Cell Exclusion and Resistance to Checkpoint Blockade. Cell *175*, 984–997.
- Laurette, P., Strub, T., Koludrovic, D., Keime, C., Le Gras, S., Seberg, H., Van Otterloo, E., Imrichova, H., Siddaway, R., Aerts, S., et al. (2015). Transcription factor MITF and remodeller BRG1 define

chromatin organisation at regulatory elements in melanoma cells. Elife 2015, 1-40.

- Müller, J., Krijgsman, O., Tsoi, J., Robert, L., Hugo, W., Song, C., Kong, X., Possik, P.A., Cornelissen-Steijger, P.D.M., Foppen, M.H.G., et al. (2014). Low MITF/AXL ratio predicts early resistance to multiple targeted drugs in melanoma. Nat. Commun. *5*, 1–15.
- Puisieux, A., Brabletz, T., and Caramel, J. (2014). Oncogenic roles of EMT-inducing transcription factors. Nat. Cell Biol. *16*, 488–494.
- Rambow, F., Rogiers, A., Marin-bejar, O., Aibar, S., Femel, J., and Dewaele, M. (2018). Toward Minimal Residual Disease-Directed Therapy in Melanoma Toward Minimal Residual Disease-Directed Therapy in Melanoma. Cell 1–13.
- Rambow, F., Marine, J.C., and Goding, C.R. (2019). Melanoma plasticity and phenotypic diversity: Therapeutic barriers and opportunities. Genes Dev. *33*, 1295–1318.
- A., Perier-Muzet, M., Depaepe, L., Barnault, R., et al. (2016). ZEB1-mediated melanoma cell plasticity enhances resistance to MAPK inhibitors. EMBO Mol. Med. 8, 1143–1161.

Richard, G., Dalle, S., Monet, M.-A., Ligier, M., Boespflug, A., Pommier, R.M., de la Fouchardière,

- Riesenberg, S., Groetchen, A., Siddaway, R., Bald, T., Reinhardt, J., Smorra, D., Kohlmeyer, J., Renn, M., Phung, B., Aymans, P., et al. (2015). MITF and c-Jun antagonism interconnects melanoma dedifferentiation with pro-inflammatory cytokine responsiveness and myeloid cell recruitment. Nat. Commun. *6*, 8755.
- Shakhova, O., Cheng, P., Mishra, P.J., Zingg, D., Schaefer, S.M., Debbache, J., Häusel, J., Matter, C., Guo, T., Davis, S., et al. (2015). Antagonistic Cross-Regulation between Sox9 and Sox10 Controls an Anti-tumorigenic Program in Melanoma. PLoS Genet. *11*, 1–21.

Tang, Y., Durand, S., Dalle, S., and Caramel, J. (2020). EMT-Inducing Transcription Factors, Drivers of Melanoma Phenotype Switching , and Resistance to Treatment. Cancers (Basel). *12*, 2154.

Tirosh, I., Izar, B., Prakadan, S.M., Wadsworth, M.H., Treacy, D., Trombetta, J.J., Rotem, A., Rodman,

C., Lian, C., Murphy, G., et al. (2016). Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. Science (80-.). *352*, 189–196.

Tsoi, J., Robert, L., Paraiso, K., Galvan, C., Sheu, K.M., Lay, J., Wong, D.J.L., Atefi, M., Shirazi, R., Wang, X., et al. (2018). Multi-stage Differentiation Defines Melanoma Subtypes with Differential Vulnerability to Drug-Induced Iron-Dependent Oxidative Stress. Cancer Cell *33*, 890-904.e5.

Vandamme, N., Denecker, G., Bruneel, K., Blancke, G., Akay, Ö., Taminau, J., De Coninck, J., De Smedt, E., Skrypek, N., Van Loocke, W., et al. (2020). The EMT transcription factor ZEB2 promotes proliferation of primary and metastatic melanoma while suppressing an invasive, mesenchymal-like phenotype.

Verfaillie, A., Imrichova, H., Atak, Z.K., Dewaele, M., Rambow, F., Hulselmans, G., Christiaens, V., Svetlichnyy, D., Luciani, F., Van den Mooter, L., et al. (2015). Decoding the regulatory landscape of melanoma reveals TEADS as regulators of the invasive cell state. Nat. Commun. *6*, 1–16.

Figure 1

30



Treatment zscores_ssgsee untreated TNF_D7 TNF_D14 -4 -2 0 2 4



Α.

Β.

129









Figure 6 C.09.10 CT Α. Β. 4S3 427 NG F R n.s. 0.140 ZEB1m 0.0098 ZEB1 ZEB1 000 ∛ √2 1000 2^-WCt ZE B1 NGFR NGFR 1.5-1.5 NGFR 50 ^{1.0} ₹ 0.5 2^ AAC c09.1921 C.B.P.CT 609.19 CT AXL 689.92¹ AXL SOX10 AXL SOX9 SOX10 29 1 AXL SOX9 n.s. 0.3504 n.s. 0.1413 1.5 1.5-SOX9 20--5 -2^-ACC SOX9 15-VVCt 5v-V2 5 1.0 W - 5 5000 ×000 ×000 GAPDH GAPDH c.09.1921 6.00,021 یر ^{نک هر} وی 609.10 CT ŗ. 1 C. **Hoek Proliferative Hoek Invasive** ssGSEA scores ssGSEA 2300 15 CTR ZEB1_OE untreated TNF-TGF_D7 TNF-TGF_D14 CTR ZEB1_OE TNF-TGF_D7 TNF-TGF_D14 Tsoi Melanocytic Tsoi NCL 20 scores cores ssGSEA s ssGSEA s 17000 16 cts ZEB1 OF TNF-TGF D7 TNE-TOP D14 ctr ZEB1_OE TNF-TGF_D7 TNF-TGF_D14 Tsoi Transitory Tsoi Undifferentiated 130 Selos 1200 ssGSEA scores ssGSEA s 14000 CTR ZEB1_OE TNF-TGF_D7 TNF-TGF_D14 CTR ZEB1_OE TNF-TGF_D7 TNF-TGF_D14 untreated untreated



Figure 8

Α.



Primitive









Figure 9

Supplementary Figure 1

A.



В.

Pathway	Gene ranks	NES	pval	padj
HALLMARK_TNFA_SIGNALING_VIA_NFKB	Management of the second secon	2.69	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_INFLAMMATORY_RESPONSE	Management of the state state states of the state	2.49	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_INTERFERON_GAMMA_RESPONSE	Management of the second secon	2.44	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_IL6_JAK_STAT3_SIGNALING	homoson on a second or and	2.44	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_ALLOGRAFT_REJECTION	Management and a second of an exception of the second seco	2.38	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_KRAS_SIGNALING_UP	pression and the second s	2.20	3.0e-09	1.7e-08
HALLMARK_INTERFERON_ALPHA_RESPONSE	Income a second of second a	2.14	1.0e-05	4.0e-05
HALLMARK_EPITHELIAL_MESENCHYMAL_TRANSITION	harmonic of the second statements and the second statements	2.07	8.2e-08	3.7e-07
HALLMARK_COMPLEMENT	here and the second sec	1.98	2.7e-06	1.1e-05
HALLMARK_ANGIOGENESIS	Remain in the second se	1.89	2.1e-03	5.5e-03
HALLMARK_ADIPOGENESIS	The second states of the second secon	-1.43	1.1e-02	2.3e-02
HALLMARK_MITOTIC_SPINDLE	1	-1.80	2.3e-05	8.1e-05
HALLMARK_MYC_TARGETS_V2	the second se	-2.05	7.9e-05	2.6e-04
HALLMARK_OXIDATIVE_PHOSPHORYLATION	The second s	-2.05	1.6e-08	8.0e-08
HALLMARK_MYC_TARGETS_V1	THE REAL CONTRACTORS AND A	-2.24	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_G2M_CHECKPOINT	THE REPORT OF A STREET OF A STREET	-2.35	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
HALLMARK_E2F_TARGETS	U CARL CONCERNMENT	-2.67	1.0e-10	6.3e-10
	0 10000 20000 3000	0		

Pathway	Gene ranks	NES	pval	padj
Ver_Invasive		2.94	1.0e-10	2.2e-10
HOEK_INVASIVE	Beneric access of the second second	2.39	1.4e-07	2.1e-07
WIDMER_invasive	In many services of the servic	2.39	1.4e-07	2.1e-07
Tsoi_Undifferenciated	Human and a second seco	2.38	1.0e-10	2.2e-10
Tsoi_NCL	house every set of a	2.33	1.0e-06	1.3e-06
Tsoi_Melanocytic	The second secon	-2.07	2.5e-05	2.9e-05
Tsoi_Transitory	10. 11. 12. 12. 12. 12. 12. 12. 12. 12. 12	-2.10	1.1e-04	1.1e-04
HOEK_PROLIFERATIVE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-2.49	1.0e-10	2.2e-10
Ver_Proliferative	o 10000 20000 30000	-2.90	1.0e-10	2.2e-10

Supplementary Figure 2









D.

















Supplementary Figure 5

Supplementary Figure 6




Discussion and perspectives

My study provides the first comprehensive characterization of ZEB1 target genes in melanoma through a ChIP-seq approach in an *in vitro* phenotype switching model [Figure 32]. Previous work from the lab demonstrated the major oncogenic role of ZEB1 aberrant reactivation in melanoma cells. ZEB1 indeed promotes phenotype switching towards a NCSC/invasive state resistant to BRAFi. We previously pointed the role of ZEB1 in repressing MITF. Herein, we further detailed the mechanisms of action of ZEB1 and demonstrated its capacity to repress ZEB2, MITF, and SOX10 as well as activate NGFR, AXL and SOX9. More ZEB1 direct target genes were identified and represent as many phenotypic markers of interest, as well as potential therapeutic targets. Meanwhile, there are still some questions, which need to be discussed and further investigated.



Figure 32. Proposed model of ZEB1-mediated transcitional regulation of melanoma states markers.

The upper part presents the proposed regulation network of ZEB1 to melanoma state markers. ZEB1 directly represses the expression of ZEB2, MITF and SOX10, while it activated HGFR and AXL. The regulation of SOX9 may through an indirect manner via SOX10. The lower part shows the expression level of melanoma states markers at each intermediate state.

Chapter1. Modeling phenotype switching in patient derived short-term cultures

In order to investigate endogenous ZEB1 function along with phenotype switching, I used two patient derived short-term cultures, C-09.10 and GLO. These models are more physiological than ATCC melanoma cell lines, which may be blocked in one phenotype, and more difficult to switch upon external signals.

In order to induce phenotype switching, I treated the cells with various cytokines, known to promote dedifferentiation or EMT (TNF α , TGF β 1, but also IL6), either alone or in combination [Figure 33]. TNF α +/- TGF β 1 was chosen, since it induced progressive phenotype switching of melanoma cells, towards NCSC and undifferentiated state as assessed at the molecular level, but also at the functional level, including lower proliferative rate, increased cell migration as well as reinforced resistance to BRAF inhibitor.



Figure 33. Western Blot analysis of C-09.10 cell line.

Cells were treated with IL6 (100ng/ml), TNFα (100ng/ml) and TGF6 (20µg/ml) for 14 days. GAPDH was used as loading control.

I also demonstrated that this TNF α +/- TGF β 1 induced phenotype switching is reversible. Indeed, after 14 days of TNF α treatment, TNF α was removed from the culture medium and GLO cells were kept in culture for another 14 days; they were then compared with untreated cells [Figure 34A]. Expression of all markers returned to basal level.

Of note, while TNF α was sufficient in GLO cells, a combination of TNF α and TGF β 1 was the most efficient combination to promote switching in C-09.10 cells, although TNF α -only could also induce switching but needed a longer time. According to the differentiation model of Tsoi et al, SOX10 expression decreases progressively from melanocytic to neural-crest-like state, while SOX9 is activated in undifferentiated state. The SOX10 to SOX9 switch, which was nicely mimicked in GLO cells upon TNF α , was not reproduced in C-09.10.

These differences in timing and efficiency of switching upon treatments may be accounted for the baseline phenotypic differences between these two models [Figure 34B&C]. Indeed C-09.10 is more melanocytic, and displays higher ZEB2 and MITF expression than GLO. GLO is more transitory, with higher expression of ZEB1 and NGFR, thus may be more responsive to extracellular signals. Overall, since C-09.10 did not allow reproducing all the phenotypic differences, it would be interesting to test other short-term cultures, which I already started to do.

Importantly, I highlighted the role of ZEB1 in this *in vitro* induced switching model. Combined RNAseq and ChIP-Seq analyses demonstrated that 30% of TNFα differentially expressed genes are direct targets of ZEB1. ZEB1 knock-out in A375 cells demonstrated the role of ZEB1 in the regulation of some of these genes (including SOX9). In order to reinforce our conclusions and sustain ZEB1 requirement for at least part of TNFα induced phenotype switching, ZEB1 loss-of-function in GLO and C-09.10 cells would be necessary. Indeed, for now we could only provide data with ZEB1 over-expression in C-09.10 cells. This showed that part of TNFα function, more precisely induction of NCSC signature, is reproduced upon ZEB1 over-expression. However, ZEB1 depletion experiments with siRNA or shRNA failed to provide consistent results because of insufficient depletion and

remaining expression of ZEB1. Generation of knocked-out cells in GLO and C-09.10 cells is ongoing, as previously performed in A375 cells.



Figure 34. Reversible phenotype switching in GLO and Phenotypic difference between GLO and C-09.10 cell lines.

A. Western Blot analysis of untreated GLO, GLO TNFα (100ng/ml) for 14 days, and TNFα was removed from cell culture for another 14 days. GAPDH was used as loading control. B. Single Sample Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (ssGSEA) from the RNAseq analysis of each gene related to different melanoma signatures of Hoek et al. and Tsoi et al. (Hoek et al., 2008; Tsoi et al., 2018). ssGSEA scores of GLO and C-09.10 cell lines are presented for each melanoma signature. n=3. C. Normalized expression of genes from RNAseq in GLO and C-09.10 cell lines. RNA expression level is presented for each gene by log2TPM (Transcripts Per Million). n=3.

Chapter2. Cell-type specific transcriptional activity of ZEB1 in melanoma compared to carcinoma models

We herein performed the first ZEB1 ChIP-seq analysis in melanoma cells. As a well-studied EMT-TF in carcinoma, ZEB1 ChIP-seq have already been published, especially in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells, MDA-MB-231 by Feldker et al., as well as by others, as mentioned in my introduction [Figure 24].

It is thus interesting to compare our results with these published datasets, in order to define cell-type specific effects. We started this comparative analysis, by analyzing the Feldker et al. dataset with the same bioinformatics pipeline as our GLO and A375 dataset, and showed that around 47% ZEB1 binding peaks were shared between GLO-TNF D14 and MDA-MB-231 [Figure 35A]. More importantly, around 53% of ZEB1 peaks were specific to melanoma compared to breast carcinoma. However, in order to be strictly comparable, a ChIP-Seq using the same ZEB1 antibody and the same ChIP-Seq protocol would need to be validated in MDAMB231 in our hands to provide a definitive comprehensive view of ZEB1 cell-type specific targets.

More precisely, ZEB1 peaks in SOX10 and NGFR were specifically found in melanoma cells, while ZEB1, MITF, SOX9 or AXL peaks were conserved in the carcinoma model, although not always exactly in the same position [Figure 35B]. SOX10, which is a lineage marker of both primary and metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (Tozbikian and Zynger, 2019), was not shown to be regulated by ZEB1 in MDA-MB-231 cell line. In contrast, SOX9 demonstrates a binding peak of ZEB1

in MDA-MB-231.

Figure 35. Comparison of ZEB1 ChIPseq peaks between melanoma and carcinoma.



A. Number of common and specific ZEB1 peaks of ChIP-seq in GLO TNFα D14, A375 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines. B. ZEB1 peaks visualization using IGV gene viewer.

As regards to ZEB2, the main ZEB1 binding peak in GLO cells is not present in MDA-MB-231 cells, while another one is found in a different location, the two peaks being present in A375 cells. This opens the question of whether these peaks differentially regulate transcription. Indeed ZEB2 is expressed and plays similar roles as ZEB1 in breast cancer, favoring breast cancer progression. In contrast, ZEB2 is progressively lost during melanoma progression. ZEB1 is known to activate ZEB2 expression in carcinoma models while it represses its expression in the melanocyte lineage. One hypothesis would be that this differential regulation may be accounted by the differential binding of co-factors, the recruitment of which may be lineage specific. In this respect, a similar ZEB2/ZEB1 switch has also been described in immune cell populations. Indeed, while ZEB2 leads to differentiation of CD8 T lymphocytes towards effector T cells, ZEB1 induces T memory formation (Guan et al., 2018).

Chapter 3. ZEB1 co-factors in transcriptional regulation

ZEB1 and ZEB2 have initially been described as transcriptional repressors, by inhibiting the expression of epithelial markers such as CDH1. According to ZEB1 structure, in addition to the co-inhibitor CtBP binding domain shared with ZEB2, there is a co-activator p300 binding domain; when associated with p300, ZEB1 enhances transcription. Different recruitment of these co-factors may determine the antagonistic roles of ZEB1 and ZEB2 in melanoma. In 2003, Postigo already showed that ZEB1 and ZEB2 acted differently to TGFβ/BMP signaling; both of them interacted with Smads coming from TGFβ/BMP signaling, when ZEB1 synergized with Smads to activate target genes transcription, ZEB2 showed an opposite effect (Postigo, 2003). They also described precisely that the antagonistic roles were due to the differential recruitment of transcriptional co-activators p300 and co-repressors CtBP (Postigo et al., 2003), in which ZEB1 bound to p300 and promoted the formation of a p300–Smad transcriptional complex, while ZEB2 acted as a repressor by recruiting CtBP.

Therefore, the validation of this co-binding may be an important step to distinct

mechanisms of ZEB1 and ZEB2. ChIP and re-ChIP could be used to study the occupancy of two or more proteins at the same DNA binding region. ChIP-Seq for CBP could be performed, and binding sites compared genome-wide with those of ZEB1.

Next, Feldker et al., showed a co-binding of ZEB1, YAP and AP1 complex in order to induce target genes transcription in TNBC cells (Feldker et al., 2020). Using *de novo* motif analysis, they found that the second top enriched motif within the ZEB1 peaks was the consensus binding site for AP-1 transcription factors, which indicated joint binding of AP-1 factors together with ZEB1 at the same genomic regions. As there was already a published ChIP-seq data set of the AP-1 factor JUN in the same TNBC cell line, MDA-MB-231, they compared these two ChIP-seq and observed overlaps between ZEB1 and JUN binding sites; the same approach was used to investigate YAP binding sites. Together, they showed a genome-wide cooperation of these three transcription factors.

From previous works of our team, AP1 complex (and namely FRA-1) is known to regulate ZEB1 expression in melanoma (Caramel et al., 2013). It would be interesting to decipher whether AP1 factors are also major co-regulator of ZEB1 in melanoma. A ChIP-seq of YAP or AP1 could be performed in the same melanoma cell line, to allow the comparison with ZEB1 peaks location. Motifs analyses have started to be performed in our ChIP-seq data, but for now did not show a preferential enrichment in AP1 binding, rather pointing to other transcription factors such as ZBTB33 [Figure 36]. This could further point to cell-type specificities, which will need to be further analyzed in the future.

: Motif	Name
ŞŞÊTCTCGCGAGAÊ Ş	ZBTB33(Zf)/GM12878-ZBTB33- ChIP-Seq(GSE32465)/Homer
ATCTCGCGAGA	GFX(?)/Promoter/Homer
<u><u>êCAGGTS</u></u>	ZEB1(Zf)/PDAC-ZEB1-ChIP- Seq(GSE64557)/Homer
<u><u>Setgaççtça</u></u>	Atf1(bZIP)/K562-ATF1-ChIP- Seq(GSE31477)/Homer
SECACCTCISE	ZEB2(Zf)/SNU398-ZEB2-ChIP- Seq(GSE103048)/Homer

Figure 36. Top 5 enriched binding motifs discovered by HOMER (Hypergeometric Optimization of Motif EnRichment) analysis in ChIPseq ZEB1 in GLO TNF α D14.

Chapter4. Analyses of ZEB2 direct transcriptional target genes by ChIP

At the difference of carcinoma models, wherein ZEB1 and ZEB2 are believed to display largely similar function and target genes, antagonistic roles of ZEB1 and ZEB2 in melanoma could rely on differential regulation of specific set of genes, which remain important to be investigated. However, unlike ZEB1, there is only one published ChIP-seq of ZEB2 in carcinoma (Balcik-Ercin et al., 2018). This article used a homemade ZEB2 antibody. Given ZEB1/ZEB2 highly similar structures, many ZEB2 antibodies can also cross-react with ZEB1. For this reason, ChIP-seq grade antibodies anti-ZEB2 were not available at the beginning of my Ph.D.

The initial aim was to perform ChIP-seq of both ZEB1 and ZEB2 in the same melanoma cell line upon switching from a ZEB2^{high} to a ZEB1^{high} phenotype. Thanks to Irwin Davidson, we investigated an approach consisting in inserting a tag into ZEB2 sequence through a Crispr Cas9 knock-in approach, so that ZEB2 ChIP-seq could be performed easily with an anti-tag. However, this technique was for now unsuccessful because of poor recombination efficacy in these short-term cultures.

During my PhD project, I thus tested various ZEB2 antibodies which were shown to display specificity for ZEB2, and not ZEB1, in western-blot, but which were not necessarily proven to be ChIP-grade. So I first tried to do ChIP-qPCR in one ATCC cell line, 501Mel, with high level of ZEB2, as well as in GLO and C-09.10. As controls, we used primers specific for CDH4 and CDH1 promoters, which have been described in carcinoma models [Figure 37]. Known as R-cadherin, CDH4, as well as N-cadherin are expressed in mesoderm inversely and proportionally to E-Cadherin (Inuzuka et al., 1991). Even though it has not been well studied in melanoma, in gastrointestinal cancer, CDH4 promoter is often methylated early in tumor progression, indicating a potential tumor suppressive role of CDH4 (Berx and van Roy, 2009). Encouragingly, an enrichment of ZEB2 binding on the promoter of CDH4 could be validated in these 3 melanoma models [Figure 37]. It may thus be used as a positive control for future experiments.

Interestingly, no significant binding of ZEB2 on the promoter of E-cadherin/CDH-1 was found, which is rather coherent. Indeed, contrary to the repression of E-cadherin by ZEB2 in mesenchymal cells, ZEB2 is strikingly co-expressed with E-Cadherin in melanocytes (Caramel et al., 2013), indicating that it is unable to repress E-cadherin expression.

Overall, based on these encouraging results, the specificity of this ZEB2 antibody should be validated through a knock-out of ZEB2, and the compatibility with ChIP-Seq approach will need to be evaluated. Performing ZEB2 ChIP-seq would complete our characterization of ZEB1/ZEB2 specific transcriptional regulation.

153



Figure 37. ChIP-qPCR analysis of ChIP ZEB2 in 501Mel ATCC melanoma cell line, in C-09.10 and GLO patient-derived short-term cultures. Anti-ZEB2 (ZEB2) ($2\mu g$, HPA003456, Sigma) or control IgG were used for the IP. Relative promoter enrichment was normalized to chromatin inputs (%). CDH4 in 501Mel, n=2. Others n=1.

Chapter5. Intra-tumor heterogeneity *in vitro* and in human samples

Melanoma is a very heterogeneous tumor, so we tried to assess the heterogeneity of molecular markers expression by flow cytometry for *in vitro* experiments, and by multi-IF in patient samples.

To prevent potential staining bias of intra-cellular TF, we generated MITF promoter-GFP cell lines. Flow cytometry analyses allowed to quantify the proportion of cells in each phenotype within the population, based on MITF and NGFR expression. Although informative, these two markers are obviously not sufficient to precisely define intermediate states and scRNAseq experiments could be proposed *in vitro*.

For the RNAseq / ChIP-seq analyses, we used signatures of Hoek and Tsoi, but it would be interesting to analyze other recently published signatures including Wouters et al., in which they identified potential master regulators of each melanoma cell state by using single-cell approach (Wouters et al., 2020) (mentioned in introduction Figure 29). Another article published by Belote et al. was also very informative (Belote et al., 2021). Different from Tsoi et al. who analyzed an *in vitro* differentiation model, this scRNA-seq was performed in human samples, in normal melanocytes across different anatomical sites, developmental age, sexes and multiple skin tones. Analysis from sorted human skin melanocytes also classified melanocytes at 4 stages: adult, neonatal, fetal and MSC (mesenchymal stem cells). By using artificial intelligence, they identified 40 to 65 genes to each cluster, in which there was also the expression of EMT-TFs, including ZEB1 in the MSCs. This study was closer to the physiological conditions, so that these signatures will be worth to be considered in the future.

scRNAseq is a powerful technique in order to precisely define molecular signatures of melanoma subpopulations in human samples. Re-analyses of previously published scRNAseq dataset already confirmed the opposite expression pattern of ZEB1 and ZEB2 (Vandamme et al., 2020), although on a limited number of cells [Figure 38A]. Wouters et al also performed scRNAseq in 9 patient-derived melanoma cultures and in A375 cell line; single-cell expression also demonstrated an opposite pattern of ZEB1/ZEB2 and SOX10/SOX9. Co-expression of ZEB1/NGFR and ZEB1/SOX9 could also be observed in several cell lines, showed that ZEB1 was also expressed in NCSC state possessing high level of NGFR, also in stem-like state marked by SOX9 [Figure 38B]. However, the information on the spatial location of the cells is lost, except going towards 10X visium technology for example.



Figure 38. ZEB1 and ZEB2 expression in two published scRNAseq analysis.

A. Anti-correlated expression of ZEB1 and ZEB2 from scRNA-seq data (GSE115978) in 1,951 human malignant melanoma cells presented by Spearman correlation. Expression level was normalized in logTPM (Transcripts Per Million). The histogram next to the axis reflects the number of cells in specific ranges of expression levels for ZEB2 (left) or ZEB1 (bottom) (Vandamme et al., 2020). B. scRNA-seq analysis of 9 patient-derived MM lines and the A375 cell line (Wouters et al., 2020). The cells clustered according to their cell-line origin in a t-SNE analysis. Expression of ZEB1/ZEB2,

SOX10/SOX9, ZEB1/NGFR and ZEB1/SOX9 is presented here. Expression of ZEB1/NGFR and ZEB1/SOX9 shows co-expression, consistent with our multi-IF analyses.

Multi-IF in patient samples is a highly informative technique, since it not only allows to quantify the intensity of each marker (up to 7 in our approach) in each cell, but also to visualize the spatial distribution of the sub-populations. We started with a panel containing the major phenotypic markers, which already provided some nice information regarding co-expression of ZEB1 with NCSC (NGFR) or undifferentiated (SOX9) states markers; these results were in consistent with the observations of scRNAseq in patient-derived melanoma cell lines [Figure 38B]. Additional melanoma samples are being analyzed in order to support the conclusions and quantitative and spatial (distance between cells) analyses will be further detailed. Other relevant markers could also be included in the future.

Chapter6. New candidates with therapeutic perspectives

Our ZEB1 ChIP-seq data, combined with RNA-seq data, allowed highlighting novel ZEB1 direct target genes, those are up-regulated during switching towards stem-like invasive state. Their direct regulation was confirmed by ChIP-qPCR, and their expression in TNFα induced phenotype switching model was also assessed by RT-qPCR. BIRC3, which belongs Hoek invasive signature, has already been shown as a key actor of BRAFi resistance (Gautron et al., 2021); it was also co-expressed with SOX9 in patient derived melanoma cultures and co-expression of SOX10-SOX9/BIRC3 was also present in patient samples (Ennen et al., 2017). ITGA2 is associated with increased melanoma risk and may be a direct target of MITF (negatively) (Laurette et al., 2015; Lenci et al., 2012). EGFR appears to be involved in progression and metastasis of a subset of melanomas; EGFR activation might represent a mechanism of vemurafenib resistance in a subset of melanoma cells (Boone et al., 2011; Gross et al., 2015). Determination of these target genes can help us to optimize therapeutic, since ZEB1 was not easy to be inhibited directly. Because BIRC3 and EGFR were already shown to be associated with BRAFi resistance, their targeted therapies may re-sensitize cells to BRAFi.

Enrichement of ZEB1 peaks at epigenetic regulators loci.

In the introduction part, I already talked about epigenetic regulator and EMT-TFs in carcinoma, in which epigenetic regulators can co-operate with ZEB1/2 to repress CDH1 expression, but also can regulate ZEB1/2 expression (Skrypek et al., 2017). In our ZEB1 ChIP-seq data in GLO cell line, we interestingly found many peaks in the promoters of epigenetic drivers.

We focused on a list of 426 known epigenetic regulators, which are frequently altered across different cancer types (Halaburkova et al., 2020). More than half of them displayed a ZEB1 peak in GLO TNF α D14 [Figure 39A]. This suggests that, in addition to being regulated by, or cooperating with epigenetic regulators, ZEB1 can potentially control their expression, which could further participate in phenotype switching. A few examples of epigenetic regulators presenting a ZEB1 binding site are presented in [Figure 39B].

EZH2 is the H3K27me3-specific histone methyltransferase enhancer of zeste 2 polycomb repressive complex 2 subunit; it can regulate negatively ZEB1/2 expression in ovarian cancer. Several histone-modifying enzymes are also deregulated during melanoma formation, including EZH2. EZH2 is a major factor for melanoma initiation and progression. Knockout of *EZH2* in a genetically engineered *NRAS*^{Q61K} melanoma mouse model reduced the number of melanomas and prevented metastasis formation (Zingg et al., 2015). Moreover, inhibition of EZH2 has been shown to promote dedifferentiation of melanoma cells, restore immunogenicity, and re-sensitize tumors to immunotherapy (Zingg et al., 2017). *EP300* codes for P300, a histone acetyl-transferase, which is also the co-activator of ZEB1. P300 represses ZEB1/2 expression in breast cancer, but can cooperate with ZEB1 to activate TGFβ dependent genes transcription. HDAC1 collaborates with ZEB1 to inhibit *CDH1* transcription, probably through the recruitment of co-repressor CtBP in pancreatic cancer. Overall, up or down-regulation of these epigenetic regulators by ZEB1 will next be confirmed by ChIP-qPCR as well as in our induced phenotype switching models.

The crosstalk of ZEB1 with epigenetic regulators is currently being studied by other members of the lab, in order to decipher their cooperative role in phenotype switching.



Figure 39. Some epigenetic regulators present ZEB1 binding sites in ChIPseq ZEB1 in GLO cell lines.

A. Venn diagram representing the overlap of epigenetic regulators (blue) with all the genes presenting a ZEB1 binding peak for GLO D14 (yellow). List of epigenetic regulators based on the literature (Halaburkova et al., 2020). There is a significant (Fisher's test) enrichment of ZEB1 fixation peaks on epigenetic regulators. B. Peaks visualization of some epigenetic regulators using IGV gene viewer.

Our ChIP-seq of ZEB1 also demonstrated some **immune-related direct target genes**, such as IL4R (not yet proven in ChIP-qPCR), which participate in the Th2 response. IL6 was a ZEB1 target gene in breast cancer cell lines (Katsura et al., 2017); herein I found that IL6R was a potential ZEB1 target in GLO cell line. Moreover, IL17C and IL17D showed also binding sites of ZEB1 in our context. Thus ZEB1 may participate in the regulation of immune response as in breast cancer, but need further confirmation.

By modulating these target genes, further targeted therapies may be used to combine with immune therapies. A submitted work of our lab suggested that ZEB1 participate in the exclusion of T CD8 cells (Plashka et al., 2021 in revision). Indeed, analysis of immune infiltrate from melanoma biopsies has shown that high levels of ZEB1 expression by tumour cells are associated with low levels of infiltration by CD8 T cells. The implementation of gain and loss of function approaches in vivo in syngeneic murine melanoma models demonstrated that ZEB1 regulated tumour growth and modifies the composition of the immune infiltrate, in particular by controlling the recruitment of CD8 T to the center of the tumour. In addition, at the molecular level, a reduced production of CD8 attracting chemokines in the secretome of tumours strongly expressing ZEB1 could explain the lack of recruitment of T CD8. Finally, this remodeling of the immune microenvironment has consequences on the response to anti-PD-1. ZEB1 invalidation synergizes with anti-PD-1 treatment by inducing tumour regression of murine tumours. It will thus be important to further look at cytokines/chemokines as well as IFN responsive genes, in our ChIP-Seq data, that could provide novel mechanistic clues as regards to ZEB1-mediated immune escape.

Chapter7. Strategies to repress ZEB1 expression and re-sensitize cells to treatment

Identifying molecules capable to inhibit ZEB1 expression would be a way to switch phenotype back to a sensitive state. As epigenetic regulators were shown to regulate or co-operate with ZEB1/2, I tested some HDACis. Mocetinostat is a class I HDACi, it can restore cancer cell sensitivity to chemotherapy through ZEB1 expression (Meidhof et al., 2015). TSA (Trichostatin A) is a class I and II HDACi, it was shown to inhibit EMT in human epithelial cells (Nagarajan et al., 2017; Yoshikawa et al., 2007). Another HDACi SAHA (vorinostat), was shown in a clinical trial for BRAFi resistant melanoma that subsequent treatment with BRAFi then vorinostat can kill selectively BRAFi resistant melanoma cells (Wang et al., 2018).

In our lab, we have a pair of BRAFi/MEKi sensitive/resistant patient-derived cells, GLO and GLO-R. GLO-R was established from the same patient, after acquired resistance upon BRAFi/MEKi treatment. At the protein level, GLO-R exhibits higher expression levels of ZEB1 and lower expression of ZEB2, MITF and SOX10 [Figure 40A]. RNAseq analyses demonstrated that invasive, undifferentiated and NCSC signatures were enriched in GLO-R compared to parental GLO cells [Figure 40B]. SAHA survival test showed that GLO-R is a bit more sensitive than GLO [Figure40C]. Combination treatment of PLX4032 BRAFi with SAHA demonstrated higher cell mortality than with BRAFi-only. At the molecular level, three HDACi are capable to inhibit ZEB1 expression [Figure 40D]. These HDACi are thus interesting to be further investigated for reverting resistant phenotypes.



Figure 40. GLO-R is more sensitive to HDACis than GLO cell line.

A. Western blot analysis of GLO and GLO-R cell lines. B. RNA-seq analyses of GLO and GLO-R cells. ssGSEA analyses of melanoma signatures. C. SAHA (vorinostat) survival test for GLO and GLO-R. Normalized cell death was presented in histogram on the right. n=3. D. Western blot analysis of ZEB1 in GLO-R under different HDACi treatment for 5 days. E. HDACi for the treatment of BRAFi-resistant melanoma in chick embryo models. An in vivo paradigm to model human melanoma disease and perform fast and relevant preclinical studies. Jarrosson L, Dalle S, Costechareyre C, Tang Y, Grimont M, Plaschka M, Caramel J*, Castellani V*, Delloye-Bourgeois C*. In prep, confidential.

In the introduction, I mentioned some models of melanoma study, including 2D and 3D cell culture, human skin constructs as well as mouse models. Besides, in collaboration with Oncofactory, I participated during my Ph.D. in a study modelizing melanoma in chick embryos. Initially developed for neuroblastoma, this elegant miniaturized PDX model, requires only few cells, and allows testing large number of therapy combinations in only a few days (Delloye-Bourgeois et al., 2017). In this work, GLO and GLO-R cells were marked with CSFE then injected into the chick embryo. Treatments with Vemurafenib and vorinostat confirmed GLO-R increased sensitivity in an *in vivo* setting [Figure 40E].

Besides HDACis, other EMT drugs aiming to target phenotype switching [Figure 41], such as TGF β inhibitors, were also tested clinically (Morris et al., 2014). TGF β is a strong EMT inducer in carcinoma, as well as one of our *in vitro* phenotype switching inducers. TGF β inhibitors turn to block the early stage of phenotype transition. However, this may become a real problem, since MET, the reverse process of EMT, participate also in tumor metastasis; TGF β may therefore facilitate circulating or metastatic cells to colonize to a secondary site. So this approach of all EMT inhibitors needs to be well considered; it may only be used in patients at a very early disease stage.

Another approach under investigation aims at targeting the invasive/undifferentiated stage, by using antibody anti-AXL combined with BRAFi (Boshuizen et al., 2018) [Figure 41]. This combination can theoretically kill BRAFi resistant invasive cells, as well as BRAFi sensitive melanoma cells. The same idea can be realized for our new identified ZEB1 ChIP-seq targets. These new candidates may be essential to maintain one intermediate phenotype, so the combination of a specific inhibitor, plus traditional BRAFi/MEKi, as well as immune therapies, could be a good strategy to alleviate treatment resistance in melanoma cells.

Altogether, this comprehensive work allowed deciphering the role of ZEB1, the identification of its targets and a better comprehension of the phenotype plasticity in melanoma. However, it also rose new perspectives and questions and could fuel the rationale to target key actors of melanoma

163

plasticity in the clinic.



Β.

Short list of the main therapeutic strategies under evaluation to target EMT-dependent cell plasticity in cancers.

Strategy Referen		Target	Drug/Compound	Clinical Trial	Trial ID	Cancer Type
TGFβ pathway inhibitors	[91]	TGFβ monoclonal antibody	GC1008 (fresolimumab)	Phase I	NCT00356460	Renal Cell Carcinoma and Malignant Melanoma
AXL targeting	[92]	AXL small molecule inhibitor	BGB324	Phase I/II in combination with either dabrafenib/trametinib or pembrolizumab	NCT02872259	Metastatic Melanoma
Epigenetic drugs	[<u>93,94</u>]	HDAC inhibitors	Entinostat	Phase II in combination with erlotinib	NCT00602030	Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer
	[<u>95</u>]		Vorinostat	Phase I	NCT02836548	Resistant BRAFV600 melanoma
Metabolic inhibitors	[<u>96,97]</u>	Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)	L-NMMA	Phase Ib/2 in combination with Taxane	NCT02834403	Triple Negative Breast Cancer
Ferroptosis inductors	[65,98]	GPX4 (through gluthatione depletion)	PRLX 93936 (Erastin analog)	Phase I	NCT00528047	Advanced Solid Tumors

Figure 41. ZEB1/2 regulate melanoma phenotype switching and resistance to treatments. A. EMT-TFs regulate melanoma phenotype plasticity, intra-tumor heterogeneity and resistance to treatment. Up: Schematic model of putative melanoma intra-tumor heterogeneity according to a classification in five cell states, bearing various differentiation capacities, in accordance with their respective expression of MITF. Expected ZEB1 and ZEB2 expressions in the respective phenotypes are indicated. Expression of the main proposed markers of the different cell states is indicated. The invasive and stem-like phenotype actually represents two different states, both expressing high levels of ZEB1. SOX10 expression is present in all but the dedifferentiated state where it would be replaced by SOX9. The intermediate state should co-express ZEB1, ZEB2, and MITF. The intermediate state is believed to be highly metastable and to give rise to the invasive, neural crest stem cell (NCSC) and hyper-differentiated states, especially upon targeted therapy treatment-induced adaptation. Two-way arrows indicate reversible switching between cell states. Dotted arrows indicate putative transitions. The two main therapeutic strategies under investigation are also indicated. Down: Evolution of intra-tumor heterogeneity of melanoma during treatment with BRAF/MEK inhibitors-targeted therapy. The ZEB2/MITF melanocytic population is eliminated upon treatment and the tumor size decreases. Only resistant phenotypes remain with an increased proportion of NCSC-like and undifferentiated states. ZEB1-increased expression contributes to drug-induced NCSC reprogramming. Tumor adaptation ultimately leads to resistance with a regain of tumor growth and increased intra-tumor heterogeneity compared to the therapy-naive tumor. BRAF/MEK resistant tumors may display high ZEB1 expression in both MITFlow and MITFhigh clones. ZEB1 targeting can induce cell death in BRAFi-resistant melanoma cells, independently of MITF expression level. B. Shortlist of the main therapeutic strategies under evaluation to target EMT-dependent cell plasticity in cancers.

Appendix

A. Review



Review



EMT-Inducing Transcription Factors, Drivers of Melanoma Phenotype Switching, and Resistance to Treatment

Yaqi Tang¹, Simon Durand¹, Stéphane Dalle^{1,2} and Julie Caramel^{1,*}

- ¹ Cancer Cell Plasticity in Melanoma Laboratory, Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, INSERM 1052, CNRS 5286, Centre Léon Bérard, Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Lyon, 69008 Lyon, France; yaqi.tang@lyon.unicancer.fr (Y.T.); simon.durand@lyon.unicancer.fr (S.D.); stephane.dalle@chu-lyon.fr (S.D.)
- ² Dermatology Unit, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Centre Hospitalier Lyon Sud, 69495 Pierre Bénite, France
- * Correspondence: julie.caramel@lyon.unicancer.fr

Received: 20 July 2020; Accepted: 1 August 2020; Published: 4 August 2020



Abstract: Transcription factors, extensively described for their role in epithelial–mesenchymal transition (EMT-TFs) in epithelial cells, also display essential functions in the melanocyte lineage. Recent evidence has shown specific expression patterns and functions of these EMT-TFs in neural crest-derived melanoma compared to carcinoma. Herein, we present an update of the specific roles of EMT-TFs in melanocyte differentiation and melanoma progression. As major regulators of phenotype switching between differentiated/proliferative and neural crest stem cell-like/invasive states, these factors appear as major drivers of intra-tumor heterogeneity and resistance to treatment in melanoma, which opens new avenues in terms of therapeutic targeting.

Keywords: EMT; transcription factors; melanocyte differentiation; melanoma development; phenotype switching; neural-crest stem cells; ZEB2/ZEB1 switch; intra-tumor heterogeneity; resistance to treatment

1. Introduction

The plasticity of tumors is a major source of intra-tumor heterogeneity, which underlies their capacity to adapt to the selective pressures they encounter at every stage of tumor development, from early stages of tumor initiation, through disease progression, and in response to therapy. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is an essential embryonic process, which provides motility properties and drives the reversible reprogramming of polarized epithelial cells into mesenchymal cells [1]. Regulated by microenvironmental signals, this cellular plasticity process is driven by a network of embryonic EMT-inducing transcription factors (EMT-TFs) mainly represented by the SNAIL, TWIST, and ZEB protein families, which interact with epigenetic regulators [2,3]. EMT is not a simple shift from a fully epithelial to a fully mesenchymal state but encompasses a spectrum of multiple states driven by reversible transitions sustaining cell plasticity [4,5]. EMT initiation is a potent source of phenotypic, metabolic, and functional cell plasticity. The expression of EMT-TFs is considered to be transient during embryogenesis, with EMT becoming latent in most adult tissues. However, in addition to fibroblasts, endogenous expression of EMT-TFs has been described in other normal adult differentiated cell types, including melanocytes, that will be the focus of this review, but also endothelial cells [6], neurons [7], and immune cells [8], such as lymphocytes [9], NK cells [10,11], or macrophages [12], suggesting major roles in cell differentiation and normal tissue homeostasis beyond embryonic development.

www.mdpi.com/journal/cancers

Aberrant reactivation of this embryonic process in pathological conditions, such as organ fibrosis and tumorigenesis, has been particularly studied in carcinomas [13]. While aberrant expression of EMT-TFs is known to foster dissemination and metastasis [14,15], it also plays a major role in malignant transformation and tumor initiation [16–18]. The oncogenic potential of EMT-TFs mainly relies on their ability to promote escape from oncogene-induced senescence and apoptosis by interfering with p53 and RB tumor suppressor pathways [19]. These factors also provide cells with stem-like properties [20,21]. Overall, cells committed to EMT may reside in metastable states, increasing their adaptability to the changing microenvironment that they encounter, both at the primary and distant sites [5].

While a large set of data demonstrated that aberrant reactivation of EMT-TFs in epithelial cells is oncogenic [22], the roles of these factors in non-epithelial cells have not been as thoroughly characterized. Although the term EMT stricto sensu cannot be formally used in the context of non-epithelial-derived cancers, a mesenchymal transition process has been observed in glioblastoma [23] or neuroblastoma [24,25], that are, similarly to melanoma, derived from neural crest cells.

Melanomas display a high degree of inter and intra-tumoral heterogeneity, supported by an exacerbated plasticity of tumor cells. Melanoma intra-tumor heterogeneity does not rely on the classical cancer stem cell (CSC) hypothesis but rather on a "phenotype switching" model, reminiscent of EMT, which is largely dependent on the expression level of the Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor MITF, the master regulator of melanocyte development [26]. According to the rheostat model proposed by Goding [27], high MITF expression maintains differentiated status of melanocytes, intermediate MITF expression sustains proliferation, while low MITF levels generate invasive and slow-proliferating cells with tumor-initiating properties. Melanoma cells were shown to shift in a reversible way between a proliferative and an invasive state [28,29]. Over the years, specific molecular signatures and epigenetic marks discriminating the proliferative and invasive states have progressively been deciphered [30,31]. Aside from MITF, other master transcriptional regulators have been identified, including SOX10 for the proliferative phenotype and AP1/TEAD for the invasive phenotype. We herein review the cell-type-specific roles of EMT-TFs in the melanocyte lineage, melanoma development, phenotype switching, and resistance to treatment.

2. Expression and Function of EMT-TFs in the Embryonic Neural Crest and the Melanocyte Lineage

EMT is essential for many crucial steps during embryonic development, including neural crest cell migration and melanocyte lineage formation. Neural crest cells delaminate from the dorsal neural tube through an EMT process (Figure 1A) enabling them to migrate as individual cells. While individual knock-out of EMT-TF genes can result in significant defects at the gastrulation stage, some redundancy may be observed for neural crest formation. Indeed, mice displaying Snail1 and Snail2 mutations still generate neural crests even though they develop multiple craniofacial defects [1]. ZEB2 is also required for neural crest cell development, since its deletion in mice causes embryonic lethality around stage E8.5, with a failure of neural tube closure associated with an early arrest of cranial neural crest cell migration [32]. Tissue-specific knock-out of Zeb2 in early neural crest cell development also results in embryonic lethality, associated with abnormalities in craniofacial, heart, and peripheral nervous system development [33]. In contrast, Zeb1 knock-out in the mouse is not embryonically lethal but induces major defects in skeletal elements and thymic T-cells, leading to perinatal death. Interestingly, expression of ZEB1 and ZEB2 is mainly complementary in mouse embryos, with an overlap in only a limited number of tissues [34]. Indeed, ZEB2 expression around E8.5 is found in the neural plate/crest and the paraxial mesoderm (Figure 1A), while ZEB1 is absent in the neural crest and expressed in the paraxial and limb skeletal elements up to E12, highlighting specific spatiotemporal regulation of the two ZEB family members.

2 of 17



Figure 1. Expression and function of epithelial–mesenchymal transition transcription factors (EMT-TFs) in the embryonic neural crest and the melanocyte lineage. (**A**) Schematic representation of ZEB1 and ZEB2 opposite expression patterns in the mouse embryo at embryonic day E8.5. (**B**) Expression of EMT-TFs during the formation of the melanocyte lineage from the embryonic neural crest. The transcription factor SOX10 is expressed in a bipotent melanoblast/glial progenitor. SNAIL2 and ZEB2 are required for neural crest cell delamination and melanoblast specification and migration through a dorsolateral pathway. SNAIL2 and ZEB2 are also required for the homeostasis of differentiated melanocytes in the epidermis, through the positive regulation of MITF expression. ZEB1 in contrast is expressed in dedifferentiated melanocyte stem cells, which have lost MITF expression. MITF: microphthalmia-associated transcription factor. DCT: dopachrome tautomerase. TYR: tyrosinase.

Neural crest cells from the trunk region generate different cells in the developing embryo, namely, melanocytes, neurons, and glia [35]. In the mouse embryo, melanoblasts are specified from a SOX10-positive bipotent melanoblast/glial progenitor (Figure 1B). Upon subsequent gain of expression of MITF, DCT (dopachrome tautomerase) and KIT in melanoblasts, these cells start their dorsolateral migration from E10.5, move into the epidermis around E11 and populate the developing hair follicle. They next separate into two populations: some melanoblasts differentiate into melanocytes and produce the melanin pigment; others dedifferentiate into non-pigmented melanocyte stem cells associated with the loss of MITF and KIT expression. These melanocytes in the subsequent hair follicle bulge and replenish hair follicles with new pigmented melanocytes in the subsequent hair cycle.

Melanoblast dorsolateral migration through the developing embryo requires the participation of EMT-TFs, especially SNAIL2 (SLUG) and ZEB2 (SIP1) (Figure 1B). Indeed, *Snai2*-deficient mice display defects in melanoblast specification and migration, resulting in pigmentation abnormalities, including a white forehead [36]. Similarly, in humans, SLUG mutations have been found in some patients displaying skin pigmentation abnormalities, piebaldism, or Waardenburg syndrome type 2 [37,38], a syndrome associated with melanocyte migration defects, which has notably been linked to MITF mutations. ZEB2 is also expressed in migrating melanoblasts in the mouse embryo and their precursor, neural crest cells [39]. Melanocyte-specific (Tyr: Cre) *Zeb2* knock-out induces a drastic hair pigmentation loss in mice that is due to a severe impairment of both melanoblast migration and melanocyte differentiation [39].

In addition to melanoblasts, SNAIL2 and ZEB2 expression is maintained in adult differentiated melanocytes in both mouse and human skin. Indeed, EMT-TF expression analyses in normal human skin samples unexpectedly showed SNAIL2 and ZEB2 expression in differentiated melanocytes, while TWIST1 and ZEB1 were not detected [40]. ZEB2 is required for melanocyte differentiation since ZEB2 knock-down in primary melanocytes induces a down-regulation of MITF and differentiation defects [39]. Overall, these data highlight a major role for SNAIL2 and ZEB2 in the regulation of the homeostasis of the melanocyte lineage, from the developing embryo to the adult life.

Interestingly, while ZEB1 is not expressed in differentiated melanocytes, it may still be involved in the homeostasis of the melanocyte lineage, since it was shown to be expressed in melanocyte stem

cells in mouse skin, and could thus be required for the renewal of mature melanocytes from the stem cell pool [39] (Figure 1B). Consistently, in contrast with ZEB2 which activates MITF transcription, ZEB1 was shown to repress MITF expression and alter pigmentation in retinal pigment epithelial cells [41]. More importantly, ZEB2 knock-down in melanocytes not only impairs MITF expression and differentiation, but also results in ZEB1 induction [39]. A switch from ZEB2 to ZEB1 is thus associated with dedifferentiation of melanocytes. Intriguingly, a similar ZEB2/ZEB1 switch has also been described in some immune cell populations. Indeed, while ZEB2 leads to a differentiation of T CD8 lymphocytes towards T effector cells, ZEB1 induces T memory formation [9]. Overall, despite their high degree of similarity at the structure level, the ZEB1 and ZEB2 zinc-finger homeodomain transcription factors display antagonistic expression patterns and functions in the melanocyte lineage.

3. EMT-TF Expression Switch during Melanoma Development

While EMT-TFs are essential for the development and homeostasis of the melanocyte lineage, they also play major roles during melanoma development. Cutaneous melanomagenesis is a multi-step process initiated by the transformation of a normal melanocyte following an oncogenic insult, leading to primary and metastatic melanoma, passing or not passing through a benign nevus stage (Figure 2). A few years ago, we performed a comprehensive analysis of the expression of the entire EMT-TF network by immunohistochemical staining in human samples representative of melanoma progression [40]. We unveiled a completely different scenario compared to carcinoma. Indeed, we showed that a reversible switch in the expression pattern of EMT-TFs occurs during melanomagenesis. A progressive loss of ZEB2/SNAIL2 and a gain in TWIST1/ZEB1 expression were observed along the transition from melanocytes to malignant melanoma (Figure 2). Moreover, this switch from ZEB2/SNAIL2 to TWIST1/ZEB1 was a significant factor of poor prognosis for melanoma patients. These data are consistent with other independent melanoma series showing loss of ZEB2 [39,42] or SNAIL2 [43]. This ZEB2/ZEB1 switch was also associated with reduced patient survival in an independent cohort [44].



Figure 2. EMT-TF switch during melanoma development. ZEB2 and SNAIL2 are expressed in differentiated melanocytes within the epidermis of normal adult skin. Their expression is maintained in senescent benign nevi. During the conversion to primary melanoma, SNAIL2 and ZEB2 expression is progressively lost in favor of TWIST1 and ZEB1. Moreover, intra-tumoral heterogeneity of EMT-TFs is observed within melanoma lesions, the EMT-TF switch being generally observed as a gradient from upper part to deeper part of invasive melanoma. Gain of invasive capacity upon ZEB1 reactivation promotes melanoma cell entry into the bloodstream, with clusters of circulating melanoma cells, which may display different differentiation expression patterns. The differentiated pattern of EMT-TFs is reproduced in the secondary site following extravasation, allowing metastatic growth.

4 of 17

The EMT-TF switch is partly regulated by the BRAF/MEK signaling pathway in normal melanocytes. Inhibition of the MAPK pathway with BRAF/MEK inhibitors induces the opposite reprogramming in human melanoma cells. A double-negative feedback loop involving miR-200 family members and ZEB transcription factors is known to regulate carcinoma cell plasticity [45]. However, miR-200 expression levels are low in melanoma and regulation of ZEB1/2 was shown to be largely miR-200 independent. This reversible switch in EMT-TF expression is rather controlled downstream of ERK by a member of the AP-1 complex, FRA1 (FOS related 1), a master transcription factor of the gene regulatory network of the invasive phenotype in melanoma cells [30]. More importantly, alteration of the switch (through inhibition of ZEB1/TWIST1/FRA1 or ectopic expression of ZEB2/SNAIL2) was sufficient to impair BRAF-dependent melanocyte transformation of melan-a cells both in vitro and in vivo in xenograft experiments.

These results reinforce the notion that ZEB1 and/or TWIST1 not only promote invasive features but also display intrinsic oncogenic functions. Indeed, ZEB1/TWIST1 are expressed in the bulk of primary melanoma and ZEB1 ectopic expression promotes tumorigenic features in melanoma cell lines, while its knock-down drastically decreases the tumorigenic growth of melanoma cells in vivo upon xenograft in nude mice [40,46]. In contrast, ectopic expression of ZEB2 and SNAIL2 in melanoma cells decreases tumor formation in nude mice. Therefore, while ZEB1 and TWIST1 harbor oncogenic activities in melanoma, ZEB2 and SNAIL2, which are expressed in normal melanocytes and are required for their proper differentiation, they may act as oncosuppressive proteins in this specific neural crest-derived lineage. A tumor-suppressive role for SNAIL2 and ZEB2 in melanoma was unexpected, although such an activity was suggested for Zeb2 mRNA through the activation of PTEN expression [42]. Recent data in transgenic mouse models indicated that Zeb2 knock-out is not sufficient to promote melanoma initiation in the mouse and even impairs NRASQ61-dependent melanoma formation [44], thus precluding a bona fide tumor-suppressor role. ZEB2-enforced expression in this mouse model also promotes growth of primary and metastatic tumors by favoring melanoma cell proliferation. ZEB2 silencing in mouse NRASQ61 melanoma cells decreases MITF, increases ZEB1, and induces proliferation defects. One can hypothesize that ZEB2 expression follows a model mirroring the MITF rheostat: ectopic expression of ZEB2/MITF in melanoma cells would result in differentiation and cell cycle arrest, while ZEB2/MITF silencing would also result in proliferation defects, an intermediate level of ZEB2/MITF would sustain proliferation of melanoma cells. Accordingly, aberrant expression of ZEB2 in melanoma cells may promote terminal differentiation and decreased tumorigenic capacity upon xenograft in nude mice, while intermediate levels of ZEB2 in transgenic mice would be compatible with proliferation. However, the link between EMT-TFs and proliferation remains unclear since we did not observe any defect in proliferation upon modulation of ZEB1 expression in melanoma cells [40,46].

A reversible switch to a proliferative phenotype may be required for metastasis to develop. Accordingly, the ZEB2/SNAIL2 "differentiation pattern" of EMT-TF expression is replicated in cortical areas of lymph node metastases (Figure 2) similarly to that described in primary tumors, suggesting that melanoma cells may re-differentiate at the metastatic site, reminiscent of the mesenchymal-to-epithelial (MET) process in carcinoma [47,48]. Indeed, reversible EMT-MET cycles are required for metastatic colonization in carcinoma. ZEB2/SNAIL2 might, in this model, equally contribute to the high metastatic propensity of melanomas as previously suggested for SNAIL2 [49] and recently demonstrated for ZEB2 in a mouse model in which ectopic ZEB2 expression facilitates the outgrowth of dormant disseminated melanoma cells and promotes the formation of successful metastases [44].

Alternatively, collective migration of clusters of proliferative and invasive cells may underlie metastatic colonization. Of importance, heterogeneous MITF expression has been detected in circulating melanoma cell clusters [50,51] (Figure 2), consistently with the phenotypic heterogeneity described in breast cancer CTCs (circulating tumor cells), where a partial EMT state sustains their migratory capacity [52]. Monitoring the number and phenotype of CTCs may thus prove highly promising for diagnosis and management of melanoma patients.

Hence, while ZEB1 and ZEB2 are largely co-expressed in mesenchymal tumor cells and display similar oncogenic roles in epithelial cell-derived carcinomas, they display opposite expression patterns and functions in melanocytes and melanoma cells, which partly rely on the antagonistic regulation of the master gene MITF.

4. EMT-TFs Drive Phenotype Switching of Melanoma Cells and Intra-Tumor Heterogeneity

The model based on MITF-mediated phenotype switching describes the reversible transitions of melanoma cells [27]. Gene expression analyses of melanoma short-term cultures enabled their classification into two states, proliferative or invasive [53]. Xenograft of either proliferative or invasive cells resulted in tumors displaying a similar level of intra-tumor heterogeneity with MITFhigh and MITFlow cells [28], thus demonstrating that melanoma cells are able to shift in a reversible way between these two states [29]. With regards to EMT-TF expression, cell lines with a MITF^{high} differentiated pattern display a higher level of ZEB2, while invasive/undifferentiated cells present an elevated ZEB1 expression. ZEB1 is one of the top-ranking genes whose expression is inversely correlated with MITF in tumors from the TCGA [30,46]. Moreover, intra-tumor heterogeneity was observed within human primary melanoma lesions by immunohistochemical analyses: opposite gradients in the expression of ZEB2/SNAIL2 and TWIST1/ZEB1 were observed from superficial to deep sites (Figure 2) [40,44]. Intra-tumor heterogeneity in the expression of ZEB2/ZEB1 was also documented in the NRASQ61 melanoma mouse model [44]. Interestingly, analyses of EMT-TF expression in the Jerby-Arnon single-cell data set [54] confirmed that ZEB2 and ZEB1 expressions are anti-correlated. More importantly, a mutually exclusive expression pattern of ZEB1 and MITF was documented in human samples with the presence of MITF^{high}/ZEB1^{low} and MITF^{low}/ZEB1^{high} subclones [46].

While different studies used ZEB2 and ZEB1 as additional markers to define the proliferative (MITF^{high}/AXL^{low}) or invasive (MITF^{low}/AXL^{high}) phenotypes, respectively [55,56], our data further demonstrated that EMT-TFs are major regulators of melanoma cell plasticity that fuel intra-tumor heterogeneity. Indeed, in vitro and in vivo experiments demonstrated that antagonistic functions of EMT-TFs in melanoma at least partly rely on their differing transcriptional regulation of MITF expression. Gene expression profiles of BRAF-activated melanocytes (melan-a cells) revealed that ZEB2/SNAIL2 activate MITF and cause a melanocyte differentiation gene signature, while ZEB1/TWIST1 repress MITF and generate an invasion-associated gene signature [40]. The converse regulation of MITF expression by ZEB1/ZEB2 may rely on differential recruitment of co-activators (p300) or co-repressors (CtBP), similarly to that described for the regulation of TGF β /BMP target genes [57], though further mechanistic characterizations are needed to confirm this. Gain- or loss-of-function experiments of ZEB1 in human melanoma cells demonstrated that ZEB1 regulates reversible switching between the proliferative and the invasive phenotype [46]. Overexpression of ZEB1 in melanoma short-term cultures is sufficient to drive switching towards a MITFlow undifferentiated phenotype bearing stem cell properties, characterized by increased expression of the neural crest stem cell (NCSC) marker NGFR, a major regulator of phenotype switching [46,58]. In contrast, ZEB1 knock-down induces a switch towards a differentiated MITF^{high} phenotype with reduced expression of NGFR. The ectopic expression of ZEB2/SNAIL2 promotes differentiation of melanoma cells, while ZEB2 knock-down results in a reduction of MITF expression and a switch from a differentiated to an undifferentiated melanoma cell phenotype [39]. Accordingly, the switch from ZEB2 to ZEB1 in the NRAS melanoma mouse model is associated with the gain of an invasive phenotype [44]. Similarly, in the BRAF; PTEN melanoma mouse model, when tumors are induced on the tail, which better mimics the melanoma transition from a radial to a vertical growth phase [59], the loss of differentiation markers (such as MITF) in a subset of epidermal melanoma cells, before the dermal invasion, was shown to be associated with ZEB1 activation, reinforcing the role of ZEB1 in this transition. Overall, by regulating MITF-dependent phenotype switching, dysregulation of the EMT-TF network contributes to malignant progression of melanoma.

In addition to FRA-1-driven oncogenic signaling, TGF β was shown to promote the ZEB2/ZEB1 switch in melanoma cells [44]. The transcription factor GLI2, activated by the TGF β signaling pathway, was shown to cooperate with ZEB1 to promote *CDH1* repression, thus participating in the mesenchymal transition [60]. Overall, phenotype switching is dictated by both cell-autonomous and non-cell-autonomous mechanisms. The extensive characterization of both intrinsic and extrinsic factors interdependently contributing to EMT processes will be necessary to fully comprehend melanoma phenotype plasticity.

With the recent generation of gene expression analyses of tumors at the single-cell level, the phenotype switching model has been refined [54,61,62]. Single-cell RNAseq data of melanoma tumors from Irwin Davidson's lab [61] described, in addition to the extreme MITF^{high}/AXL^{low} and MITF^{low}/AXL^{high} states, the existence of a novel intermediate state, with the coexistence of proliferative and invasive features. This intermediate phenotype was shown to co-express both MITF and ZEB1 (Figure 3A). While cell lines preferentially adopt either a proliferative or an invasive phenotype, with a clear-mirrored expression of ZEB1 and MITF, tumors in vivo display a higher level of intra-tumor heterogeneity with a significant proportion of cells in the mixed/intermediate state. This is in accordance with our immunohistochemical staining showing co-expression of ZEB1 and MITF in some clones, especially after development of BRAFi resistance (see below and Figure 3B). Accordingly, in a *SMAD4*/7 knock-out mouse model, SMAD4 was required for tumor formation, and a low level of SMAD7 expression promoted an invasive phenotype and metastatic spread associated with ZEB2/ZEB1 switching [63]. Interestingly, in this model, the presence of MITF/ZEB1 double-positive cells was highlighted, with both proliferative and invasive features.



Figure 3. EMT-TFs regulate melanoma phenotype plasticity, intra-tumor heterogeneity and resistance to treatment. (**A**) Schematic model of putative melanoma intra-tumor heterogeneity according to a classification in five cell states, bearing various differentiation capacities, in accordance with their respective expression of MITF. Expected ZEB1 and ZEB2 expressions in the respective phenotypes are indicated. Expression of the main proposed markers of the different cell states is indicated. The invasive and stem-like phenotype actually represents two different states, both expressing high levels of ZEB1. SOX10 expression is present in all but the dedifferentiated state where it would be replaced by SOX9. The intermediate state should co-express ZEB1, ZEB2, and MITF. The intermediate state is believed to be highly metastable and to give rise to the invasive, neural crest stem cell (NCSC) and hyper-differentiated states, especially upon targeted therapy treatment-induced adaptation. Two-way

arrows indicate reversible switching between cell states. Dotted arrows indicate putative transitions. The two main therapeutic strategies under investigation are also indicated. **(B)** Evolution of intra-tumor heterogeneity of melanoma during treatment with BRAF/MEK inhibitors-targeted therapy. The ZEB2/MITF melanocytic population is eliminated upon treatment and the tumor size decreases. Only resistant phenotypes remain with an increased proportion of NCSC-like and undifferentiated states. ZEB1-increased expression contributes to drug-induced NCSC reprogramming. Tumor adaptation ultimately leads to resistance with a regain of tumor growth and increased intra-tumor heterogeneity compared to the therapy naive tumor. BRAF/MEK resistant tumors may display high ZEB1 expression in both MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} clones. ZEB1 targeting can induce cell death in BRAFi-resistant melanoma cells, independently of MITF expression level.

Recent single-cell RNAseq analyses demonstrated that melanoma cells can acquire several intermediate phenotypes. A study performed on mouse patient-derived xenografts (PDXs) by the lab of JC Marine [64], identified four cell states as drug-tolerant when exposed to MAPK inhibitors. These states exhibited transcriptional signatures enriched for neural crest differentiation, response to nutrient starvation, EMT, or pigmentation. This elegant work corroborates the four-state differentiation model proposed by Graeber's lab [65]. Despite different nomenclatures, these studies pointed to a more complex model of intra-tumor heterogeneity and cell state reprogramming (Figure 3) [66]. Interestingly, ZEB2 expression progressively decreases as the cell state progresses from a differentiated to a more invasive and dedifferentiated phenotype, while a gain in ZEB1 expression is evidenced in the NCSC-like and invasive phenotype.

High levels of ZEB1/TWIST1 expression undoubtedly promote an invasive phenotype in melanoma, including decreased *E-Cadherin*, MITF, and increased expression of *Vimentin*, *SPARC*, and *MMPs* [30,40]. However, ZEB1 also activates NCSC markers (such as NGFR). We thus believe that ZEB1 is able to increase the expression of both NCSC and invasive markers, possibly not in the same cells, or at least not at the same time. This is consistent with models proposed in carcinoma, where ZEB1 may promote stemness features (partial EMT state associated with tumor initiation) but not necessarily invasive/EMT features, these two features being uncoupled [67]. Overall, ZEB2/ZEB1 may not be associated with the acquisition of a given cell state but may regulate reversible transitions of melanoma cell state in a dynamic manner.

5. EMT-Like Cell Plasticity as a Driver of Resistance to Treatment in Melanoma

In recent years, melanoma has served as proof-of-concept for the development of both targetedand immunotherapies and is the archetypal model of tumor resistance [68]. The mechanisms of resistance to BRAF and MEK inhibitors (BRAFi and MEKi) have been extensively described over the years [69]. Concomitantly to the acquisition of genetic mutations, leading to the reactivation of the MAPK pathway, increasing evidence now suggests that non-genetic mechanisms also play a major role in the acquisition of drug resistance. Indeed, approximately 40% of BRAFi/MEKi resistant melanoma cases do not present a known genetic alteration [70]. Resistance has been attributed to drug-induced phenotypic adaptations, including the emergence of invasive or NCSC features, relying on epigenetic, transcriptional, or translational reprogramming [31,71–73].

The aberrant activation of an epithelial–mesenchymal transition and the subsequent generation of a cancer stem cell (CSC) phenotype has been largely associated with resistance to therapy in carcinoma, including chemotherapy and targeted therapy such as EGFR inhibitors [74,75]. In melanoma, we provided the first demonstration that ZEB1-mediated phenotype switching is associated with resistance to MAPK inhibitors [46]. Indeed, an elevated level of ZEB1 expression, combined with a low expression of MITF, in melanoma cell lines and patient tumors is associated with an innate resistance to MAPKi. TWIST1 is frequently co-expressed with ZEB1 but is also found in some ZEB1-negative tumors, suggesting that ZEB1 is the main driver of BRAFi resistance, but that TWIST1 may complement ZEB1 when this factor is not activated. ZEB1 and/or TWIST1 expression levels may thus serve as predictive

markers of resistance, at least in a proportion of patients (about 30–50%). Furthermore, increased expression of ZEB1 was observed in patient-derived cell lines with an acquired MAPKi resistance and in biopsies from patients experiencing relapse while under treatment (Figure 3B). Gain- or loss-of-function experiments further showed that ZEB1 is sufficient to promote drug-induced reprogramming towards a NCSC state. In accordance with these results, single-cell RNAseq data highlighted the heterogeneous expression of EMT-TFs and also identified an enrichment of cells in a mesenchymal-like phenotype during the treatment of PDXs with BRAF and MEK inhibitors [64,71]. Finally, recent data suggest that both MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} phenotypes may be associated with resistance to targeted therapies [31,66]. Accordingly, we observed that high ZEB1 expression in BRAFi-resistant tumors could be found in both MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} clones [46], and that *ZEB1* knock-down decreased the viability of resistant melanoma cells in both MITF^{low} and MITF^{high} contexts, suggesting that ZEB1 partly functions through MITF-independent mechanisms.

Overall, ZEB1, acting as a transcriptional repressor or activator, owing to its binding to specific co-factors, can down-regulate melanocyte differentiation markers and upregulate melanoma initiating cell markers that cooperate in mediating resistance to MAPKi. Altogether, these studies demonstrate that EMT-TFs are not only markers of specific cell phenotype but define EMT-TFs as part of the central actors controlling melanoma phenotype plasticity and intra-tumor heterogeneity which in turn drive tumor evolution and resistance to current therapies.

In addition to MAPK-targeted therapies, another major breakthrough in the treatment of metastatic melanoma was achieved through immunotherapies targeting negative regulatory checkpoints in immune cells, CTLA4 and PD1 [76]. Nearly 40% of sustained responses were observed with anti-PD1 (Nivolumab, Pembrolizumab), and a combination with anti-CTLA4 may further increase this efficacy [77]. However, despite impressive clinical responses, around 60% of patients still present primary or acquired resistance to these therapies. Mechanisms of resistance to immunotherapy remain unclear. They may rely on tumor microenvironmental properties, including the poor infiltration by immune cells, notably CD8+ T-cells [78]. They likely also involve tumor intrinsic mechanisms, relying on transcriptomic/phenotypic alterations of tumor cells [79]. Indeed, TNF α -induced dedifferentiation of melanoma cells promotes escape from T-cell lysis and resistance to adoptive cell transfer [80]. Activation of the WNT/ β -catenin pathway [81,82] or loss of PTEN expression [83] were also shown to promote T-cell exclusion and resistance to immunotherapy in melanoma. Similarly to what was observed with resistance to targeted therapy, preliminary results in a few melanoma patients suggest that immunotherapy may also induce transcriptomic remodeling [84].

The mechanisms by which EMT-dependent cell plasticity mediates immune evasion have been well characterized in carcinoma models, including the regulation of antigen presentation, expression of MHC (major histocompatibility complex), or immune checkpoint ligands such as PD-L1 [85-87]. In melanoma, evidence also suggests that EMT-TFs may contribute to immune escape, as illustrated by the role of SNAIL in the recruitment of Treg lymphocytes [88]. Data obtained in transplanted mouse models of carcinomas also suggested that mesenchymal tumors may display increased resistance to immunotherapy compared to epithelial tumors [87]. However, the role of EMT in the resistance to immunotherapy needs to be further investigated in human tumors. Indeed, the "IPRES" (innate PD1 resistance) signature described by the team of Ribas [89] in melanoma, revealed an enrichment in a "MAPK inhibitor-induced EMT" mesenchymal signature, which includes AXL, WNT5A, or TWIST2, for example, but neither the ZEB nor the SNAIL family members. However, bulk RNAseq analyses have limitations and may be biased since EMT-TFs are expressed in many cell types in the tumor microenvironment, including cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), endothelial cells, but also immune cells (T cells, macrophages, and NK cells). In this respect, inactivation of endothelial ZEB1 expression was recently shown to sensitize tumors to anti-PD1 [6]. Overall, changes in EMT-TF expression levels in tumor cells may be hidden by modulations within the tumor microenvironment, thus emphasizing the requirement for scRNAseq analyses and/or the development of in situ analyses of tumors to better tackle the issue of intra-tumor heterogeneity.

6. Perspectives: Targeting of Cell Plasticity to Prevent Resistance to Treatment

Despite recent progress in the treatment of metastatic melanoma, the emergence of resistance and/or toxicities to both targeted- and immunotherapies remains a major barrier to complete remission. A better understanding of cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying phenotypic adaptations, and thus the exceptional capacity of melanoma cells to develop resistance to current therapeutic strategies, may help to define biomarkers of response and new combination therapies.

We have already obtained proof-of-concept that ZEB1-knock-down re-sensitizes resistant cells to BRAF/MEK therapy [46], consistent with data in carcinoma [90]. Therefore, targeting the EMT-TF network represents an attractive treatment strategy for metastatic melanomas. However, the targeting of EMT as a highly reversible plasticity process is a challenging issue, given that EMT and MET cycles are required at different stages of tumor progression. Indeed, reverting EMT could result in the outgrowth of tumor cells already seeded in a metastatic niche. Strategies aiming at preventing the mesenchymal transition at an early stage, thus preventing dissemination, or at targeting the dedifferentiated states are still under investigation, including targeting of the TGF β pathway [91] (Table 1 and Figure 3).

Table 1. Short list of the main therapeutic strategies under evaluation to target EMT-dependent cell plasticity in cancers.

Strategy	References	Target	Drug/Compound	Clinical Trial	Trial ID	Cancer Type
TGFβ pathway inhibitors	[91]	TGFβ monoclonal antibody	GC1008 (fresolimumab)	Phase I	NCT00356460	Renal Cell Carcinoma and Malignant Melanoma
AXL targeting	[92]	AXL small molecule inhibitor	BGB324	Phase I/II in combination with either dabrafenib/trametinib or pembrolizumab	NCT02872259	Metastatic Melanoma
Epigenetic drugs	[93,94]	HDAC inhibitors	Entinostat	Phase II in combination with erlotinib	NCT00602030	Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer
	[95]		Vorinostat	Phase I	NCT02836548	Resistant BRAFV600 melanoma
Metabolic inhibitors	[96,97]	Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)	L-NMMA	Phase Ib/2 in combination with Taxane	NCT02834403	Triple Negative Breast Cancer
Ferroptosis inductors	[65,98]	GPX4 (through gluthatione depletion)	PRLX 93936 (Erastin analog)	Phase I	NCT00528047	Advanced Solid Tumors

Accordingly, a promising approach was based on methotrexate-mediated upregulation of MITF, which results in the differentiation of melanoma cells, an abrogation of their migratory capacities, and sensitization to the cytotoxic agent TMECG [99]. Other therapeutic strategies aim at combining conventional therapies with drugs specifically targeting undifferentiated/invasive melanoma cells. Targeting of AXL in the invasive state, thanks to an AXL antibody linked to a microtubule-disrupting agent, cooperates with MAPK inhibitors in inhibiting tumor growth [92]. Similarly, inhibition of the retinoic receptor RXR, a key driver of the NCSC identity, synergizes with MAPK inhibitors in vitro and increases the tumor latency following xenograft [64]. Interestingly, undifferentiated melanoma cells were also shown to display an altered metabolic activity with a reduced glutathione level compared to differentiated cells [65]. The diminished glutathione quantity is correlated with an increased sensitivity to ferroptosis induced by Erastin treatment. Erastin effectively synergizes with BRAF inhibitors and decreases the number of persistent dedifferentiated melanoma cells in vitro. Accordingly, drugs affecting cell metabolism and more specifically inducing ferroptosis have also shown promising results

in other cancer models with a mesenchymal phenotype [98]. Since metabolic reprogramming is intimately linked to EMT, promising pharmacological inhibitors of metabolic pathways are currently investigated for their capacity to target EMT [96,97].

Finally, epigenetic plasticity has been proposed to account for the rapid adaptation of melanoma cells to treatment. Multiple epigenetic modifiers have been shown to regulate EMT-TF expression or to directly interact with EMT-TFs [100]. It would be of utmost interest to define the network of epigenetic regulators that cooperate with EMT-TFs in melanoma to drive epigenome remodeling and rapid phenotype switching of melanoma cells in order to identify relevant epidrugs. Notably, inhibition of the histone methyltransferase EZH2 has been shown to promote dedifferentiation of melanoma cells, restore immunogenicity, and re-sensitize tumors to immunotherapy [101]. HDAC inhibition has also been reported to increase response to immunotherapy [93,94]. Several clinical trials investigating the combination of epigenetic drugs with MAPK inhibitors or immunotherapy are ongoing and the results will reveal the feasibility of such therapeutic approaches in melanoma [95,102].

7. Conclusions

In conclusion, recent evidence has started to unveil the specific expression patterns and functions of EMT-TFs in the melanocyte lineage and melanoma, compared to epithelial-derived cancers. Overall, EMT-TFs appear as major regulators of phenotype switching in melanoma, between differentiated/proliferative and neural crest stem cell-like/invasive states, contributing to the emergence of resistance to current therapeutic strategies in melanoma. Further research is still needed to characterize the precise molecular mechanisms by which EMT-TFs mediate these reversible transitions, taking into account the plastic intermediate states. Single-cell approaches and in situ analyses of melanoma patient samples, upon treatment, will be of major interest in order to more precisely address EMT-TFs intra-tumor heterogeneity and their crosstalk with the immune microenvironment. Finally, future investigations will decipher the molecular crosstalk of EMT-TFs with epigenetic and metabolic regulators. This should lead to the development of novel therapeutic strategies aiming at targeting cell plasticity, which may be tested in combination with targeted- or immunotherapies.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank Brigitte Manship for critical reading, and all members of the team for the helpful discussions. Our team is funded by the Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer (Comité de l'Ain), the Société Française de Dermatologie, grants from Institut National du Cancer (INCA), Association pour la Recherche contre le Cancer (ARC), and Fondation de France, "Melarnaud" and "Vaincre le Cancer" associations. Y.T. and S.D (Simon Durand) are recipients of fellowships from the Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, and the Association pour la Recherche contre le Cancer (ARC), respectively.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Thiery, J.P.; Acloque, H.; Huang, R.Y.J.; Nieto, M.A. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transitions in Development and Disease. *Cell* 2009, 139, 871–890. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- De Craene, B.; Berx, G. Regulatory networks defining EMT during cancer initiation and progression. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2013, *13*, 97–110. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tam, W.L.; Weinberg, R.A. The epigenetics of epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in cancer. *Nat. Med.* 2013, 11, 1438–1449. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Nieto, M.A.; Huang, R.Y.; Jackson, R.A.; Thiery, J.P. Emt: 2016. Cell 2016, 166, 21-45. [CrossRef]
- Pastushenko, I.; Brisebarre, A.; Sifrim, A.; Fioramonti, M.; Revenco, T.; Boumahdi, S.; Van Keymeulen, A.; Brown, D.; Moers, V.; Lemaire, S.; et al. Identification of the tumour transition states occurring during EMT. *Nature* 2018, 556, 463–468. [CrossRef]
- Fu, R.; Lu, T.; Wu, Z.; Fu, R.; Li, Y.; Jiang, N.; Ren, B.; Zang, C.; Liu, L.; Lv, W.; et al. Inactivation of endothelial ZEB1 impedes tumor progression and sensitizes tumors to conventional therapies. J. Clin. Investig. 2020, 130, 1252–1270. [CrossRef]

- Mckinsey, G.L.; Lindtner, S.; Trzcinski, B.; Visel, A.; Pennacchio, L.A.; Huylebroeck, D.; Higashi, Y.; Rubenstein, J.L.R. Dlx1&2-Dependent Expression of Zfhx1b (Sip1, Zeb2) Regulates the Fate Switch between Cortical and Striatal Interneurons. *Neuron* 2013, *77*, 83–98.
- Scott, C.L.; Omilusik, K.D. ZEBs: Novel Players in Immune Cell Development and Function. *Trends Immunol.* 2019, 40, 431–446. [CrossRef]
- Guan, T.; Dominguez, C.X.; Amezquita, R.A.; Laidlaw, B.J.; Cheng, J.; Henao-Mejia, J.; Williams, A.; Flavell, R.A.; Lu, J.; Kaech, S.M. ZEB1, ZEB2, and the miR-200 family form a counterregulatory network to regulate CD8+ T cell fates. J. Exp. Med. 2018, 215, 1153–1168. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, J.; Wencker, M.; Marliac, Q.; Berton, A.; Hasan, U.; Schneider, R.; Laubreton, D.; Cherrier, D.E.; Mathieu, A.; Rey, A.; et al. Zeb1 represses TCR signaling, promotes the proliferation of T cell progenitors and is essential for NK1.1 + T cell development. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 2020, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- Van Helden, M.J.; Goossens, S.; Daussy, C.; Mathieu, A.L.; Faure, F.; Marçais, A.; Vandamme, N.; Farla, N.; Mayol, K.; Viel, S.; et al. Terminal NK cell maturation is controlled by concerted actions of T-bet and Zeb2 and is essential for melanoma rejection. *J. Exp. Med.* 2015, *212*, 2015–2025. [CrossRef]
- Scott, C.L.; T'Jonck, W.; Martens, L.; Todorov, H.; Sichien, D.; Soen, B.; Bonnardel, J.; De Prijck, S.; Vandamme, N.; Cannoodt, R.; et al. The Transcription Factor ZEB2 Is Required to Maintain the Tissue-Specific Identities of Macrophages. *Immunity* 2018, 49, 312–325.e5. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Peinado, H.; Olmeda, D.; Cano, A. Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: An alliance against the epithelial phenotype? *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2007, *7*, 415–428. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Brabletz, T. To differentiate or not-routes towards metastasis. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2012, 12, 425–436. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ye, X.; Brabletz, T.; Kang, Y.; Longmore, G.D.; Nieto, M.A.; Stanger, B.Z.; Yang, J.; Weinberg, R.A. Upholding a role for EMT in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 2017, 547, E1–E3. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Krebs, A.M.; Mitschke, J.; Losada, M.L.; Schmalhofer, O.; Boerries, M.; Busch, H.; Boettcher, M.; Mougiakakos, D.; Reichardt, W.; Bronsert, P.; et al. The EMT-activator Zeb1 is a key factor for cell plasticity and promotes metastasis in pancreatic cancer. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2017, *19*, 518–529. [CrossRef]
- 17. Beck, B.; Lapouge, G.; Rorive, S.; Drogat, B.; Desaedelaere, K.; Delafaille, S.; Dubois, C.; Salmon, I.; Willekens, K.; Marine, J.C.; et al. Different levels of Twist1 regulate skin tumor initiation, stemness, and progression. *Cell Stem Cell* **2015**, *16*, 67–79. [CrossRef]
- Morel, A.-P.; Hinkal, G.W.; Thomas, C.; Fauvet, F.; Courtois-Cox, S.; Wierinckx, A.; Devouassoux-Shisheboran, M.; Treilleux, I.; Tissier, A.; Gras, B.; et al. EMT inducers catalyze malignant transformation of mammary epithelial cells and drive tumorigenesis towards claudin-low tumors in transgenic mice. *PLoS Genet.* 2012, *8*, e1002723. [CrossRef]
- Ansieau, S.; Bastid, J.; Doreau, A.; Morel, A.P.; Bouchet, B.P.; Thomas, C.; Fauvet, F.; Puisieux, I.; Doglioni, C.; Piccinin, S.; et al. Induction of EMT by Twist Proteins as a Collateral Effect of Tumor-Promoting Inactivation of Premature Senescence. *Cancer Cell* 2008, 14, 79–89. [CrossRef]
- 20. Morel, A.-P.; Lièvre, M.; Thomas, C.; Hinkal, G.; Ansieau, S.; Puisieux, A. Generation of breast cancer stem cells through epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *PLoS ONE* **2008**, *3*, e2888. [CrossRef]
- Mani, S.A.; Guo, W.; Liao, M.J.; Eaton, E.N.; Ayyanan, A.; Zhou, A.Y.; Brooks, M.; Reinhard, F.; Zhang, C.C.; Shipitsin, M.; et al. The Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Generates Cells with Properties of Stem Cells. *Cell* 2008, 133, 704–715. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Puisieux, A.; Brabletz, T.; Caramel, J. Oncogenic roles of EMT-inducing transcription factors. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2014, 16, 488–494. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Siebzehnrubl, F.A.; Silver, D.J.; Tugertimur, B.; Deleyrolle, L.P.; Siebzehnrubl, D.; Sarkisian, M.R.; Devers, K.G.; Yachnis, A.T.; Kupper, M.D.; Neal, D.; et al. The ZEB1 pathway links glioblastoma initiation, invasion and chemoresistance. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 2013, *5*, 1196–1212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Boeva, V.; Louis-Brennetot, C.; Peltier, A.; Durand, S.; Pierre-Eugène, C.; Raynal, V.; Etchevers, H.C.; Thomas, S.; Lermine, A.; Daudigeos-Dubus, E.; et al. Heterogeneity of neuroblastoma cell identity defined by transcriptional circuitries. *Nat. Genet.* 2017, *49*, 1408–1413. [CrossRef]
- Van Groningen, T.; Koster, J.; Valentijn, L.J.; Zwijnenburg, D.A.; Akogul, N.; Hasselt, N.E.; Broekmans, M.; Haneveld, F.; Nowakowska, N.E.; Bras, J.; et al. Neuroblastoma is composed of two super-enhancer-associated differentiation states. *Nat. Genet.* 2017, 49, 1261–1266. [CrossRef]
- 26. Goding, C.R.; Arnheiter, H. MITF-The first 25 years. Genes Dev. 2019, 33, 983-1007. [CrossRef]

- Hoek, K.S.; Goding, C.R. Cancer stem cells versus phenotype-switching in melanoma. *Pigment. Cell Melanoma Res.* 2010, 23, 746–759. [CrossRef]
- Hoek, K.S.; Eichhoff, O.M.; Schlegel, N.C.; Döbbeling, U.; Kobert, N.; Schaerer, L.; Hemmi, S.; Dummer, R. In vivo switching of human melanoma cells between proliferative and invasive states. *Cancer Res.* 2008, 68, 650–656. [CrossRef]
- Cheli, Y.; Guiliano, S.; Botton, T.; Rocchi, S.; Hofman, V.; Hofman, P.; Bahadoran, P.; Bertolotto, C.; Ballotti, R. Mitf is the key molecular switch between mouse or human melanoma initiating cells and their differentiated progeny. *Oncogene* 2011, 30, 2307–2318. [CrossRef]
- Verfaillie, A.; Imrichova, H.; Atak, Z.K.; Dewaele, M.; Rambow, F.; Hulselmans, G.; Christiaens, V.; Svetlichnyy, D.; Luciani, F.; Van den Mooter, L.; et al. Decoding the regulatory landscape of melanoma reveals TEADS as regulators of the invasive cell state. *Nat. Commun.* 2015, *6*, 6683. [CrossRef]
- Arozarena, I.; Wellbrock, C. Phenotype plasticity as enabler of melanoma progression and therapy resistance. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2019, 19, 377–391. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van De Putte, T.; Maruhashi, M.; Francis, A.; Nelles, L.; Kondoh, H.; Huylebroeck, D.; Higashi, Y. Mice lacking Zfhx1b, the gene that codes for Smad-interacting protein-1, reveal a role for multiple neural crest cell defects in the etiology of hirschsprung disease-mental retardation syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 2003, 72, 465–470. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van de Putte, T.; Francis, A.; Nelles, L.; van Grunsven, L.A.; Huylebroeck, D. Neural crest-specific removal of Zfhx1b in mouse leads to a wide range of neurocristopathies reminiscent of Mowat-Wilson syndrome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2007, *16*, 1423–1436. [CrossRef]
- Miyoshi, T.; Maruhashi, M.; Van De Putte, T.; Kondoh, H.; Huylebroeck, D.; Higashi, Y. Complementary expression pattern of Zfhx1 genes Sip1 and δEF1 in the mouse embryo and their genetic interaction revealed by compound mutants. *Dev. Dyn.* 2006, 235, 1941–1952. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mort, R.L.; Jackson, I.J.; Elizabeth Patton, E. The melanocyte lineage in development and disease. *Development* 2015, 142, 620–632. [CrossRef]
- Pérez-Losada, J.; Sánchez-Martin, M.; Rodríguez-García, A.; Sánchez, M.L.; Orfao, A.; Flores, T.; Sánchez-García, I. Zinc-finger transcription factor slug contributes to the function of the stem cell factor c-kit signaling pathway. *Blood* 2002, 100, 1274–1286. [CrossRef]
- Sanchez-Martin, M.; Rodriguez-Garcia, A.; Perez-Losada, J.; Sagrera, A.; Read, A.P.; Sanchez-Garcia, I. SLUG (SNAI2) deletions in patients with Waardenburg disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2002, *11*, 3231–3236. [CrossRef]
- Sánchez-Martín, M.; Pérez-Losada, J.; Rodríguez-García, A.; González-Sánchez, B.; Korf, B.R.; Kuster, W.; Moss, C.; Spritz, R.A.; Sánchez-García, I. Deletion of the SLUG (SNAI2) gene results in human piebaldism. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* 2003, 122A, 125–132. [CrossRef]
- Denecker, G.; Vandamme, N.; Akay, Ö.; Koludrovic, D.; Taminau, J.; Lemeire, K.; Gheldof, A.; De Craene, B.; Van Gele, M.; Brochez, L.; et al. Identification of a ZEB2-MITF-ZEB1 transcriptional network that controls melanogenesis and melanoma progression. *Cell Death Differ.* 2014, 21, 1250–1261. [CrossRef]
- Caramel, J.; Papadogeorgakis, E.; Hill, L.; Browne, G.J.; Richard, G.; Wierinckx, A.; Saldanha, G.; Sborne, J.; Hutchinson, P.; Tse, G.; et al. A Switch in the Expression of Embryonic EMT-Inducers Drives the Development of Malignant Melanoma. *Cancer Cell* 2013, 24, 466–480. [CrossRef]
- Liu, Y.; Ye, F.; Li, Q.; Tamiya, S.; Darling, D.S.; Kaplan, H.J.; Dean, D.C. Zeb1 represses Mitf and regulates pigment synthesis, cell proliferation, and epithelial morphology. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 2009, 50, 5080–5088. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Karreth, F.A.; Tay, Y.; Perna, D.; Ala, U.; Tan, S.M.; Rust, A.G.; Denicola, G.; Webster, K.A.; Weiss, D.; Perez-Mancera, P.A.; et al. In vivo identification of tumor- suppressive PTEN ceRNAs in an oncogenic BRAF-induced mouse model of melanoma. *Cell* 2011, 147, 382–395. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shirley, S.H.; Greene, V.R.; Duncan, L.M.; Cabala, C.A.T.; Grimm, E.A.; Kusewitt, D.F. Slug Expression during Melanoma Progression. *Am. J. Pathol.* 2012, *180*, 2479–2489. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vandamme, N.; Denecker, G.; Bruneel, K.; Blancke, G.; Akay, Ö.; Taminau, J.; De Coninck, J.; De Smedt, E.; Skrypek, N.; Van Loocke, W.; et al. The EMT transcription factor ZEB2 promotes proliferation of primary and metastatic melanoma while suppressing an invasive, mesenchymal-like phenotype. *Cancer Res.* 2020, *80*, 2983–2995. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Brabletz, S.; Brabletz, T. The ZEB/miR-200 feedback loop—A motor of cellular plasticity in development and cancer? *EMBO Rep.* **2010**, *11*, 670–677. [CrossRef]
- Richard, G.; Dalle, S.; Monet, M.-A.; Ligier, M.; Boespflug, A.; Pommier, R.M.; de la Fouchardière, A.; Perier-Muzet, M.; Depaepe, L.; Barnault, R.; et al. ZEB1-mediated melanoma cell plasticity enhances resistance to MAPK inhibitors. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 2016, *8*, 1143–1161. [CrossRef]
- Tsai, J.H.; Donaher, J.L.; Murphy, D.A.; Chau, S.; Yang, J. Spatiotemporal Regulation of Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Is Essential for Squamous Cell Carcinoma Metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 2012, 22, 725–736. [CrossRef]
- Ocaña, O.H.; Córcoles, R.; Fabra, Á.; Moreno-Bueno, G.; Acloque, H.; Vega, S.; Barrallo-Gimeno, A.; Cano, A.; Nieto, M.A. Metastatic Colonization Requires the Repression of the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Inducer Prrx1. *Cancer Cell* 2012, *22*, 709–724. [CrossRef]
- Gupta, P.B.; Kuperwasser, C.; Brunet, J.P.; Ramaswamy, S.; Kuo, W.L.; Gray, J.W.; Naber, S.P.; Weinberg, R.A. The melanocyte differentiation program predisposes to metastasis after neoplastic transformation. *Nat. Genet.* 2005, *37*, 1047–1054. [CrossRef]
- Khoja, L.; Shenjere, P.; Hodgson, C.; Hodgetts, J.; Clack, G.; Hughes, A.; Lorigan, P.; Dive, C. Prevalence and Heterogeneity of Circulating Tumour Cells in Metastatic Cutaneous Melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* 2014, 1, 40–46. [CrossRef]
- Hong, X.; Sullivan, R.J.; Kalinich, M.; Kwan, T.T.; Giobbie-Hurder, A.; Pan, S.; LiCausi, J.A.; Milner, J.D.; Nieman, L.T.; Wittner, B.S.; et al. Molecular signatures of circulating melanoma cells for monitoring early response to immune checkpoint therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2018, *115*, 2467–2472. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Yu, M.; Bardia, A.; Wittner, B.S.; Stott, S.L.; Smas, M.E.; Ting, D.T.; Isakoff, S.J.; Ciciliano, J.C.; Wells, M.N.; Shah, A.M.; et al. Circulating Breast Tumor Cells Exhibit Dynamic Changes in Epithelial and Mesenchymal Composition. *Science* 2013, 339, 580–584. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hoek, K.S.; Schlegel, N.C.; Sucker, A.; Ugurel, S.; Weber, B.L.; Katherine, L.; Phillips, D.J.; Schadendorf, D. Metastatic potential of melanomas defined by specific gene expression profiles with no BRAF signature. *Pigment. Cell Melanoma Res.* 2006, 19, 290–302. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jerby-arnon, L.; Shah, P.; Cuoco, M.S.; Rodman, C.; Su, M.; Melms, J.C.; Leeson, R.; Kanodia, A.; Mei, S.; Lin, J.; et al. A Cancer Cell Program Promotes T Cell Exclusion and Resistance to Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* 2018, 175, 984–997. [CrossRef]
- Müller, J.; Krijgsman, O.; Tsoi, J.; Robert, L.; Hugo, W.; Song, C.; Kong, X.; Possik, P.A.; Cornelissen-Steijger, P.D.M.; Foppen, M.H.G.; et al. Low MITF/AXL ratio predicts early resistance to multiple targeted drugs in melanoma. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, 5, 5712. [CrossRef]
- Konieczkowski, D.J.; Johannessen, C.M.; Abudayyeh, O.; Kim, J.W.; Cooper, Z.A.; Piris, A.; Frederick, D.T.; Barzily-Rokni, M.; Straussman, R.; Haq, R.; et al. A melanoma cell state distinction influences sensitivity to MAPK pathway inhibitors. *Cancer Discov.* 2014, *4*, 816–827. [CrossRef]
- 57. Postigo, A.A. Opposing functions of ZEB proteins in the regulation of the TGF beta/BMP signaling pathway. *Embo J.* **2003**, *22*, 2443–2452. [CrossRef]
- Restivo, G.; Diener, J.; Cheng, P.F.; Kiowski, G.; Bonalli, M.; Biedermann, T.; Reichmann, E.; Levesque, M.P.; Dummer, R.; Sommer, L. Low Neurotrophin receptor CD271 regulates phenotype switching in Melanoma. *Nat. Commun.* 2017, *8*, 1988. [CrossRef]
- Köhler, C.; Nittner, D.; Rambow, F.; Radaelli, E.; Stanchi, F.; Vandamme, N.; Baggiolini, A.; Sommer, L.; Berx, G.; van den Oord, J.J.; et al. Mouse Cutaneous Melanoma Induced by Mutant BRaf Arises from Expansion and Dedifferentiation of Mature Pigmented Melanocytes. *Cell Stem Cell* 2017, 21, 679–693.e6. [CrossRef]
- Perrot, C.Y.; Gilbert, C.; Marsaud, V.; Postigo, A.; Javelaud, D.; Mauviel, A. GLI2 Cooperates With ZEB1 for Transcriptional Repression of CDH1 Expression in Human Melanoma Cells. *Pigment. Cell Melanoma Res.* 2013, 26, 861–873. [CrossRef]
- 61. Ennen, M.; Keime, C.; Gambi, G.; Kieny, A.; Coassolo, S.; Thibault-carpentier, C.; Margerin-schaller, F.; Davidson, G.; Lipsker, D.; Davidson, I. MITF-high and MITF-low cells and a novel subpopulation expressing genes of both cell states contribute to intra and inter-tumoral heterogeneity of primary melanoma. *Clin. cancer Res.* **2017**, *23*, 7097–7107. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 62. Tirosh, I.; Izar, B.; Prakadan, S.M.; Wadsworth, M.H.; Treacy, D.; Trombetta, J.J.; Rotem, A.; Rodman, C.; Lian, C.; Murphy, G.; et al. Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. *Science* **2016**, *352*, 189–196. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Cancers 2020, 12, 2154

- Tuncer, E.; Calçada, R.R.; Zingg, D.; Varum, S.; Cheng, P.; Freiberger, S.N.; Deng, C.X.; Kleiter, I.; Levesque, M.P.; Dummer, R.; et al. SMAD signaling promotes melanoma metastasis independently of phenotype switching. *J. Clin. Investig.* 2019, 129, 2702–2716. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rambow, F.; Rogiers, A.; Marin-bejar, O.; Aibar, S.; Femel, J.; Dewaele, M. Toward Minimal Residual Disease-Directed Therapy in Melanoma Toward Minimal Residual Disease-Directed Therapy in Melanoma. *Cell* 2018, 174, 843–855.e19. [CrossRef]
- Tsoi, J.; Robert, L.; Paraiso, K.; Galvan, C.; Sheu, K.M.; Lay, J.; Wong, D.J.L.; Atefi, M.; Shirazi, R.; Wang, X.; et al. Multi-stage Differentiation Defines Melanoma Subtypes with Differential Vulnerability to Drug-Induced Iron-Dependent Oxidative Stress. *Cancer Cell* 2018, 33, 890–904.e5. [CrossRef]
- Rambow, F.; Marine, J.C.; Goding, C.R. Melanoma plasticity and phenotypic diversity: Therapeutic barriers and opportunities. *Genes Dev.* 2019, 33, 1295–1318. [CrossRef]
- Brabletz, T.; Jung, A.; Spaderna, S.; Hlubek, F.; Kirchner, T. Opinion—Migrating cancer stem cells—An integrated concept of malignant tumour progression. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2005, *5*, 744–749. [CrossRef]
- Luke, J.J.; Flaherty, K.T.; Ribas, A.; Long, G.V. Targeted agents and immunotherapies: Optimizing outcomes in melanoma. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2017, 14, 463–482. [CrossRef]
- 69. Lito, P.; Rosen, N.; Solit, D.B. Tumor adaptation and resistance to RAF inhibitors. *Nat. Med.* 2013, 19, 1401–1409. [CrossRef]
- Hugo, W.; Shi, H.; Sun, L.; Piva, M.; Song, C.; Kong, X.; Moriceau, G.; Hong, A.; Dahlman, K.B.; Johnson, D.B.; et al. Non-genomic and Immune Evolution of Melanoma Acquiring MAPKi Resistance. *Cell* 2015, 162, 1271–1285. [CrossRef]
- Shaffer, S.M.; Dunagin, M.C.; Torborg, S.R.; Torre, E.A.; Emert, B.; Krepler, C.; Beqiri, M.; Sproesser, K.; Brafford, P.A.; Xiao, M.; et al. Rare cell variability and drug-induced reprogramming as a mode of cancer drug resistance. *Nature* 2017, *546*, 431–435. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Boussemart, L.; Malka-Mahieu, H.; Girault, I.; Allard, D.; Hemmingsson, O.; Tomasic, G.; Thomas, M.; Basmadjian, C.; Ribeiro, N.; Thuaud, F.; et al. eIF4F is a nexus of resistance to anti-BRAF and anti-MEK cancer therapies. *Nature* 2014, *513*, 105–109. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ohanna, M.; Cerezo, M.; Nottet, N.; Bille, K.; Didier, R.; Nottet, N.; Beranger, G.; Mograbi, B.; Rocchi, S.; Yvan-charvet, L.; et al. Pivotal role of NAMPT in the switch of melanoma cells toward an invasive and drug-resistant phenotype. *Genes Dev.* 2018, 32, 448–461. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shibue, T.; Weinberg, R.A. EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: The mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 2017, 14, 611–629. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 75. Singh, A.; Greninger, P.; Rhodes, D.; Koopman, L.; Violette, S.; Bardeesy, N.; Settleman, J. A Gene Expression Signature Associated with "K-Ras Addiction" Reveals Regulators of EMT and Tumor Cell Survival. *Cancer Cell* 2009, 15, 489–500. [CrossRef]
- 76. Queirolo, P.; Boutros, A.; Tanda, E.; Spagnolo, F.; Quaglino, P. Immune-checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of metastatic melanoma: A model of cancer immunotherapy. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* **2019**, *59*, 290–297. [CrossRef]
- Larkin, J.; Chiarion-Sileni, V.; Gonzalez, R.; Grob, J.J.; Rutkowski, P.; Lao, C.D.; Cowey, C.L.; Schadendorf, D.; Wagstaff, J.; Dummer, R.; et al. Five-year survival with combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2019**, *381*, 1535–1546. [CrossRef]
- Sharma, P.; Hu-Lieskovan, S.; Wargo, J.A.; Ribas, A. Primary, Adaptive, and Acquired Resistance to Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cell* 2017, 168, 707–723. [CrossRef]
- 79. Kalbasi, A.; Ribas, A. Tumour-intrinsic resistance to immune checkpoint blockade. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2020, 20, 25–39. [CrossRef]
- Landsberg, J.; Kohlmeyer, J.; Renn, M.; Bald, T.; Rogava, M.; Cron, M.; Fatho, M.; Lennerz, V.; Wölfel, T.; Hölzel, M.; et al. Melanomas resist T-cell therapy through inflammation-induced reversible dedifferentiation. *Nature* 2012, 490, 412–416. [CrossRef]
- Spranger, S.; Bao, R.; Gajewski, T.F. Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature* 2015, 523, 231–235. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abril-Rodriguez, G.; Torrejon, D.Y.; Liu, W.; Zaretsky, J.M.; Nowicki, T.S.; Tsoi, J.; Puig-Saus, C.; Baselga-Carretero, I.; Medina, E.; Quist, M.J.; et al. PAK4 inhibition improves PD-1 blockade immunotherapy. *Nat. Cancer* 2020, *1*, 46–58. [CrossRef]

Cancers 2020, 12, 2154

- Peng, W.; Chen, J.Q.; Liu, C.; Malu, S.; Creasy, C.; Tetzlaff, M.T.; Xu, C.; McKenzie, J.A.; Zhang, C.; Liang, X.; et al. Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell–mediated immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov.* 2016, 6, 202–216. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mehta, A.; Kim, Y.J.; Robert, L.; Tsoi, J.; Comin-Anduix, B.; Berent-Maoz, B.; Cochran, A.J.; Economou, J.S.; Tumeh, P.C.; Puig-Saus, C.; et al. Immunotherapy resistance by inflammation-induced dedifferentiation. *Cancer Discov.* 2018, *8*, 935–943. [CrossRef]
- Chen, L.; Gibbons, D.L.; Goswami, S.; Cortez, M.A.; Ahn, Y.-H.; Byers, L.A.; Zhang, X.; Yi, X.; Dwyer, D.; Lin, W.; et al. Metastasis is regulated via microRNA-200/ZEB1 axis control of tumour cell PD-L1 expression and intratumoral immunosuppression. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, *5*, 5241. [CrossRef]
- Terry, S.; Savagner, P.; Ortiz-Cuaran, S.; Mahjoubi, L.; Saintigny, P.; Thiery, J.P.; Chouaib, S. New insights into the role of EMT in tumor immune escape. *Mol. Oncol.* 2017, *11*, 824–846. [CrossRef]
- Dongre, A.; Rashidian, M.; Reinhardt, F.; Bagnato, A.; Keckesova, Z.; Ploegh, H.L.; Weinberg, R.A. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition contributes to immunosuppression in breast carcinomas. *Cancer Res.* 2017, 77, 3982–3989. [CrossRef]
- Kudo-Saito, C.; Shirako, H.; Takeuchi, T.; Kawakami, Y. Cancer Metastasis Is Accelerated through Immunosuppression during Snail-Induced EMT of Cancer Cells. *Cancer Cell* 2009, 15, 195–206. [CrossRef]
- Hugo, W.; Zaretsky, J.M.; Sun, L.; Song, C.; Moreno, B.H.; Hu-Lieskovan, S.; Berent-Maoz, B.; Pang, J.; Chmielowski, B.; Cherry, G.; et al. Genomic and Transcriptomic Features of Response to Anti-PD-1 Therapy in Metastatic Melanoma. *Cell* 2016, *165*, 35–44. [CrossRef]
- Meidhof, S.; Brabletz, S.; Lehmann, W.; Preca, B.-T.; Mock, K.; Ruh, M.; Schüler, J.; Berthold, M.; Weber, A.; Burk, U.; et al. ZEB1-associated drug resistance in cancer cells is reversed by the class I HDAC inhibitor mocetinostat. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 2015, 7, 831–847. [CrossRef]
- Morris, J.C.; Tan, A.R.; Olencki, T.E.; Shapiro, G.I.; Dezube, B.J.; Reiss, M.; Hsu, F.J.; Berzofsky, J.A.; Lawrence, D.P. Phase I study of GC1008 (Fresolimumab): A human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e90353. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Boshuizen, J.; Koopman, L.A.; Krijgsman, O.; Shahrabi, A.; Van Den Heuvel, E.G.; Ligtenberg, M.A.; Vredevoogd, D.W.; Kemper, K.; Kuilman, T.; Song, J.; et al. Cooperative targeting of melanoma heterogeneity with an AXL antibody-drug conjugate and BRAF / MEK inhibitors. *Nat. Med.* 2018, 24, 203–212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Woods, D.M.; Sodré, A.L.; Villagra, A.; Sarnaik, A.; Sotomayor, E.M.; Weber, J. HDAC inhibition upregulates PD-1 ligands in melanoma and augments immunotherapy with PD-1 blockade. *Cancer Immunol. Res.* 2015, *3*, 1375–1385. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sharma, S.V.; Lee, D.Y.; Li, B.; Quinlan, M.P.; Maheswaran, S.; Mcdermott, U.; Azizian, N.; Zou, L.; Fischbach, M.A.; Wong, K.; et al. A chromatin-mediated reversible drug tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. *Cell* 2011, 141, 69–80. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, L.; De Oliveira, R.L.; Huijberts, S.; Beijnen, J.H.; Schellens, J.H.M.; Bernards, R. An Acquired Vulnerability of Drug-Resistant Melanoma with Therapeutic Potential. *Cell* 2018, 173, 1413–1425. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 96. Ramesh, V.; Brabletz, T.; Ceppi, P. Targeting EMT in Cancer with Repurposed Metabolic Inhibitors. *Trends Cancer* **2020**. [CrossRef]
- Davila-Gonz alez, D.; Choi, D.S.; Rosato, R.R.; Granados-Principal, S.M.; Kuhn, J.G.; Li, W.F.; Qian, W.; Chen, W.; Kozielski, A.J.; Wong, H.; et al. Pharmacological inhibition of NOS activates ASK1/JNK pathway augmenting docetaxel-mediated apoptosis in triple-negative breast cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2018, 24, 1152–1162. [CrossRef]
- Viswanathan, V.S.; Ryan, M.J.; Dhruv, H.D.; Gill, S.; Eichhoff, O.M.; Seashore-Ludlow, B.; Kaffenberger, S.D.; Eaton, J.K.; Shimada, K.; Aguirre, A.J.; et al. Dependency of a therapy-resistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway. *Nature* 2017, 547, 453–457. [CrossRef]
- Saez-Ayala, M.; Montenegro, M.F.; Sanchez-del-Campo, L.; Fernandez-Perez, M.P.; Chazarra, S.; Freter, R.; Middleton, M.; Pinero-Madrona, A.; Cabezas-Herrera, J.; Goding, C.R.; et al. Directed Phenotype Switching as an Effective Antimelanoma Strategy. *Cancer Cell* 2013, 24, 105–119. [CrossRef]
- Skrypek, N.; Goossens, S.; De Smedt, E.; Vandamme, N.; Berx, G. Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition: Epigenetic Reprogramming Driving Cellular Plasticity. *Trends Genet.* 2017, 33, 943–959. [CrossRef]

Cancers 2020, 12, 2154

- 101. Zingg, D.; Arenas-ramirez, N.; Sahin, D.; Haeusel, J.; Sommer, L.; Boyman, O.; Zingg, D.; Arenas-ramirez, N.; Sahin, D.; Rosalia, R.A.; et al. The Histone Methyltransferase Ezh2 Controls Mechanisms of Adaptive Resistance to Tumor Article The Histone Methyltransferase Ezh2 Controls Mechanisms of Adaptive Resistance to Tumor Immunotherapy. *Cell Rep.* 2017, 20, 854–867. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 102. Morel, D.; Jeffery, D.; Aspeslagh, S.; Almouzni, G.; Postel-Vinay, S. Combining epigenetic drugs with other therapies for solid tumours—Past lessons and future promise. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2020, 17, 91–107. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

B. Reference

Acloque, H., Adams, M.S., Fishwick, K., Bronner-Fraser, M., and Nieto, M.A. (2009). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions: the importance of changing cell state in development and disease. J. Clin. Invest. *119*, 1438–1449.

Acun, T., Oztas, E., Yagci, T., and Yakicier, M.C. (2011). SIP1 is downregulated in hepatocellular carcinoma by promoter hypermethylation. BMC Cancer *11*, 223.

Aguissa-Touré, A.-H., and Li, G. (2012). Genetic alterations of PTEN in human melanoma. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. CMLS *69*, 1475–1491.

Ahmed, N., Maines-Bandiera, S., Quinn, M.A., Unger, W.G., Dedhar, S., and Auersperg, N. (2006). Molecular pathways regulating EGF-induced epithelio-mesenchymal transition in human ovarian surface epithelium. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. *290*, C1532-1542.

Akalay, I., Janji, B., Hasmim, M., Noman, M.Z., André, F., De Cremoux, P., Bertheau, P., Badoual, C., Vielh, P., Larsen, A.K., et al. (2013). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and autophagy induction in breast carcinoma promote escape from T-cell-mediated lysis. Cancer Res. *73*, 2418–2427.

Al-Hajj, M., and Clarke, M.F. (2004). Self-renewal and solid tumor stem cells. Oncogene 23, 7274–7282.

Alonso, S.R., Tracey, L., Ortiz, P., Pérez-Gómez, B., Palacios, J., Pollán, M., Linares, J., Serrano, S., Sáez-Castillo, A.I., Sánchez, L., et al. (2007). A high-throughput study in melanoma identifies epithelial-mesenchymal transition as a major determinant of metastasis. Cancer Res. *67*, 3450–3460.

Amiel, J., Watkin, P.M., Tassabehji, M., Read, A.P., and Winter, R.M. (1998). Mutation of the MITF gene in albinism-deafness syndrome (Tietz syndrome). Clin. Dysmorphol. *7*, 17–20.

Amin, M.B., Greene, F.L., Edge, S.B., Compton, C.C., Gershenwald, J.E., Brookland, R.K., Meyer, L., Gress, D.M., Byrd, D.R., and Winchester, D.P. (2017). The Eighth Edition AJCC Cancer Staging Manual: Continuing to build a bridge from a population-based to a more "personalized" approach to cancer staging. CA. Cancer J. Clin. *67*, 93–99.

Anastas, J.N., and Moon, R.T. (2013). WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 13, 11–26.

Ansieau, S., Bastid, J., Doreau, A., Morel, A.-P., Bouchet, B.P., Thomas, C., Fauvet, F., Puisieux, I., Doglioni, C., Piccinin, S., et al. (2008). Induction of EMT by Twist Proteins as a Collateral Effect of Tumor-Promoting Inactivation of Premature Senescence. Cancer Cell *14*, 79–89.

Arnoux, V., Nassour, M., L'Helgoualc'h, A., Hipskind, R.A., and Savagner, P. (2008). Erk5 controls Slug expression and keratinocyte activation during wound healing. Mol. Biol. Cell *19*, 4738–4749.

Arozarena, I., and Wellbrock, C. (2019). Phenotype plasticity as enabler of melanoma progression and

therapy resistance. Nat. Rev. Cancer 19, 377–391.

Arozarena, I., Sanchez-Laorden, B., Packer, L., Hidalgo-Carcedo, C., Hayward, R., Viros, A., Sahai, E., and Marais, R. (2011). Oncogenic BRAF induces melanoma cell invasion by downregulating the cGMP-specific phosphodiesterase PDE5A. Cancer Cell *19*, 45–57.

Aubert, C., Rouge, F., Reillaudou, M., and Metge, P. (1993). Establishment and characterization of human ocular melanoma cell lines. Int. J. Cancer *54*, 784–792.

Ayers, M., Lunceford, J., Nebozhyn, M., Murphy, E., Loboda, A., Kaufman, D.R., Albright, A., Cheng, J.D., Kang, S.P., Shankaran, V., et al. (2017). IFN-γ-related mRNA profile predicts clinical response to PD-1 blockade. J. Clin. Invest. *127*, 2930–2940.

Badve, S., and Nakshatri, H. (2012). Breast-cancer stem cells-beyond semantics. Lancet Oncol. 13, e43-48.

Baker, C.V., Bronner-Fraser, M., Le Douarin, N.M., and Teillet, M.A. (1997). Early- and late-migrating cranial neural crest cell populations have equivalent developmental potential in vivo. Dev. Camb. Engl. *124*, 3077–3087.

Balch, C.M., Gershenwald, J.E., Soong, S.-J., Thompson, J.F., Atkins, M.B., Byrd, D.R., Buzaid, A.C., Cochran, A.J., Coit, D.G., Ding, S., et al. (2009). Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. *27*, 6199–6206.

Balcik-Ercin, P., Cetin, M., Yalim-Camci, I., Odabas, G., Tokay, N., Sayan, A.E., and Yagci, T. (2018). Genome-wide analysis of endogenously expressed ZEB2 binding sites reveals inverse correlations between ZEB2 and GalNAc-transferase GALNT3 in human tumors. Cell Oncol Dordr 37.

Barnes, J.L., and Gorin, Y. (2011). Myofibroblast differentiation during fibrosis: role of NAD(P)H oxidases. Kidney Int. *79*, 944–956.

Barrallo-Gimeno, A., and Nieto, M.A. (2005). The Snail genes as inducers of cell movement and survival: implications in development and cancer. Dev. Camb. Engl. *132*, 3151–3161.

Barrientos, S., Stojadinovic, O., Golinko, M.S., Brem, H., and Tomic-Canic, M. (2008). Growth factors and cytokines in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. Off. Publ. Wound Heal. Soc. Eur. Tissue Repair Soc. *16*, 585–601.

Batlle, E., Sancho, E., Francí, C., Domínguez, D., Monfar, M., Baulida, J., and García De Herreros, A. (2000). The transcription factor snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 2, 84–89.

Bauer, J., Büttner, P., Murali, R., Okamoto, I., Kolaitis, N.A., Landi, M.T., Scolyer, R.A., and Bastian, B.C. (2011). BRAF mutations in cutaneous melanoma are independently associated with age, anatomic site of the primary tumor, and the degree of solar elastosis at the primary tumor site. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 345–351.

Baum, C.L., and Arpey, C.J. (2005). Normal cutaneous wound healing: clinical correlation with cellular and molecular events. Dermatol. Surg. Off. Publ. Am. Soc. Dermatol. Surg. Al *31*, 674–686; discussion 686.

Beck, B., Lapouge, G., Rorive, S., Drogat, B., Desaedelaere, K., Delafaille, S., Dubois, C., Salmon, I., Willekens, K., Marine, J.-C., et al. (2015). Different levels of Twist1 regulate skin tumor initiation, stemness, and progression. Cell Stem Cell *16*, 67–79.

Bell, R.E., and Levy, C. (2011). The three M's: melanoma, microphthalmia-associated transcription factor and microRNA: The three M's: melanoma, MITF and microRNA. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 24, 1088–1106.

Bellei, B., Pitisci, A., Catricalà, C., Larue, L., and Picardo, M. (2011). Wnt/ β -catenin signaling is stimulated by α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone in melanoma and melanocyte cells: implication in cell differentiation: β -catenin plays a key role in melanogenesis. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 309–325.

Belote, R.L., Le, D., Maynard, A., Lang, U.E., Sinclair, A., Lohman, B.K., Planells-Palop, V., Baskin, L., Tward, A.D., Darmanis, S., et al. (2021). Human melanocyte development and melanoma dedifferentiation at single-cell resolution. Nat. Cell Biol. *23*, 1035–1047.

Bennett, D.C. (2003). Human melanocyte senescence and melanoma susceptibility genes. Oncogene 22, 3063–3069.

Bennett, D.C. (2007). REVIEW ARTICLE: How to make a melanoma: what do we know of the primary clonal events?: Clonal events in melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *21*, 27–38.

Bertolotto, C., Abbe, P., Hemesath, T.J., Bille, K., Fisher, D.E., Ortonne, J.-P., and Ballotti, R. (1998). Microphthalmia Gene Product as a Signal Transducer in cAMP-Induced Differentiation of Melanocytes. J. Cell Biol. *142*, 827–835.

Bertolotto, C., Lesueur, F., Giuliano, S., Strub, T., de Lichy, M., Bille, K., Dessen, P., d'Hayer, B., Mohamdi, H., Remenieras, A., et al. (2011). A SUMOylation-defective MITF germline mutation predisposes to melanoma and renal carcinoma. Nature *480*, 94–98.

Berx, G., and van Roy, F. (2009). Involvement of members of the cadherin superfamily in cancer. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 1, a003129.

Bissig, C., Rochin, L., and van Niel, G. (2016). PMEL Amyloid Fibril Formation: The Bright Steps of Pigmentation. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17, 1438.

Bobek, V., Kolostova, K., Pinterova, D., Kacprzak, G., Adamiak, J., Kolodziej, J., Boubelik, M., Kubecova, M., and Hoffman, R.M. (2010). A clinically relevant, syngeneic model of spontaneous, highly metastatic B16 mouse melanoma. Anticancer Res. *30*, 4799–4803.

Bollag, G., Tsai, J., Zhang, J., Zhang, C., Ibrahim, P., Nolop, K., and Hirth, P. (2012). Vemurafenib: the first drug approved for BRAF-mutant cancer. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. *11*, 873–886.

Boone, B., Jacobs, K., Ferdinande, L., Taildeman, J., Lambert, J., Peeters, M., Bracke, M., Pauwels, P., and

Brochez, L. (2011). EGFR in melanoma: clinical significance and potential therapeutic target. J. Cutan. Pathol. *38*, 492–502.

Boshuizen, J., Koopman, L.A., Krijgsman, O., Shahrabi, A., van den Heuvel, E.G., Ligtenberg, M.A., Vredevoogd, D.W., Kemper, K., Kuilman, T., Song, J.-Y., et al. (2018). Cooperative targeting of melanoma heterogeneity with an AXL antibody-drug conjugate and BRAF/MEK inhibitors. Nat. Med. *24*, 203–212.

Bowles, J., Schepers, G., and Koopman, P. (2000). Phylogeny of the SOX Family of Developmental Transcription Factors Based on Sequence and Structural Indicators. Dev. Biol. *227*, 239–255.

Brabletz, S., and Brabletz, T. (2010). The ZEB/miR-200 feedback loop--a motor of cellular plasticity in development and cancer? EMBO Rep. *11*, 670–677.

Brabletz, T., Jung, A., Reu, S., Porzner, M., Hlubek, F., Kunz-Schughart, L.A., Knuechel, R., and Kirchner, T. (2001). Variable -catenin expression in colorectal cancers indicates tumor progression driven by the tumor environment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *98*, 10356–10361.

Braeuer, R.R., Zigler, M., Villares, G.J., Dobroff, A.S., and Bar-Eli, M. (2011). Transcriptional control of melanoma metastasis: the importance of the tumor microenvironment. Semin. Cancer Biol. *21*, 83–88.

Brito, F.C., and Kos, L. (2008). Timeline and distribution of melanocyte precursors in the mouse heart. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *21*, 464–470.

Burstyn-Cohen, T., Stanleigh, J., Sela-Donenfeld, D., and Kalcheim, C. (2004). Canonical Wnt activity regulates trunk neural crest delamination linking BMP/noggin signaling with G1/S transition. Dev. Camb. Engl. *131*, 5327–5339.

Bush, W.D., and Simon, J.D. (2007). Quantification of Ca²⁺ binding to melanin supports the hypothesis that melanosomes serve a functional role in regulating calcium homeostasis. Pigment Cell Res. *20*, 134–139.

Byers, L.A., Diao, L., Wang, J., Saintigny, P., Girard, L., Peyton, M., Shen, L., Fan, Y., Giri, U., Tumula, P.K., et al. (2013). An epithelial-mesenchymal transition gene signature predicts resistance to EGFR and PI3K inhibitors and identifies AxI as a therapeutic target for overcoming EGFR inhibitor resistance. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. *19*, 279–290.

Callahan, M.K., Kluger, H., Postow, M.A., Segal, N.H., Lesokhin, A., Atkins, M.B., Kirkwood, J.M., Krishnan, S., Bhore, R., Horak, C., et al. (2018). Nivolumab Plus Ipilimumab in Patients With Advanced Melanoma: Updated Survival, Response, and Safety Data in a Phase I Dose-Escalation Study. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. *36*, 391–398.

del Campo, A.B., Kyte, J.A., Carretero, J., Zinchencko, S., Méndez, R., González-Aseguinolaza, G., Ruiz-Cabello, F., Aamdal, S., Gaudernack, G., Garrido, F., et al. (2014). Immune escape of cancer cells with beta2-microglobulin loss over the course of metastatic melanoma. Int. J. Cancer *134*, 102–113.

Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015). Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma. Cell *161*, 1681–1696.

Cano, A., Pérez-Moreno, M.A., Rodrigo, I., Locascio, A., Blanco, M.J., del Barrio, M.G., Portillo, F., and Nieto, M.A. (2000). The transcription factor Snail controls epithelial–mesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression. Nat. Cell Biol. *2*, 76–83.

Cantwell-Dorris, E.R., O'Leary, J.J., and Sheils, O.M. (2011). BRAFV600E: implications for carcinogenesis and molecular therapy. Mol. Cancer Ther. *10*, 385–394.

Caramel, J., Papadogeorgakis, E., Hill, L., Browne, G.J., Richard, G., Wierinckx, A., Saldanha, G., Osborne, J., Hutchinson, P., Tse, G., et al. (2013). A Switch in the Expression of Embryonic EMT-Inducers Drives the Development of Malignant Melanoma. Cancer Cell *24*, 466–480.

Caramel, J., Ligier, M., and Puisieux, A. (2018). Pleiotropic Roles for ZEB1 in Cancer. Cancer Res. 78, 30– 35.

Carlino, M.S., Todd, J.R., Gowrishankar, K., Mijatov, B., Pupo, G.M., Fung, C., Snoyman, S., Hersey, P., Long, G.V., Kefford, R.F., et al. (2014). Differential activity of MEK and ERK inhibitors in BRAF inhibitor resistant melanoma. Mol. Oncol. *8*, 544–554.

Carmona-Fontaine, C., Matthews, H.K., Kuriyama, S., Moreno, M., Dunn, G.A., Parsons, M., Stern, C.D., and Mayor, R. (2008). Contact inhibition of locomotion in vivo controls neural crest directional migration. Nature *456*, 957–961.

Carreira, S., Goodall, J., Denat, L., Rodriguez, M., Nuciforo, P., Hoek, K.S., Testori, A., Larue, L., and Goding, C.R. (2006). Mitf regulation of Dia1 controls melanoma proliferation and invasiveness. Genes Dev. *20*, 3426–3439.

Castanon, I., Von Stetina, S., Kass, J., and Baylies, M.K. (2001). Dimerization partners determine the activity of the Twist bHLH protein during Drosophila mesoderm development. Dev. Camb. Engl. *128*, 3145–3159.

Chaffer, C.L., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). A perspective on cancer cell metastasis. Science 331, 1559–1564.

Chea, H.K., Wright, C.V., and Swalla, B.J. (2005). Nodal signaling and the evolution of deuterostome gastrulation. Dev. Dyn. Off. Publ. Am. Assoc. Anat. *234*, 269–278.

Chen, L., Gibbons, D.L., Goswami, S., Cortez, M.A., Ahn, Y.-H., Byers, L.A., Zhang, X., Yi, X., Dwyer, D., Lin, W., et al. (2014). Metastasis is regulated via microRNA-200/ZEB1 axis control of tumour cell PD-L1 expression and intratumoral immunosuppression. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5241.

Cheung, M., and Briscoe, J. (2003). Neural crest development is regulated by the transcription factor Sox9. Dev. Camb. Engl. *130*, 5681–5693.

Cheung, M., Chaboissier, M.-C., Mynett, A., Hirst, E., Schedl, A., and Briscoe, J. (2005). The transcriptional control of trunk neural crest induction, survival, and delamination. Dev. Cell *8*, 179–192.

Chopra, N., and Nathan, P.D. (2015). Trametinib in metastatic melanoma. Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther. 15, 749–760.

Coit, D.G., Andtbacka, R., Anker, C.J., Bichakjian, C.K., Carson, W.E., Daud, A., Dimaio, D., Fleming, M.D., Guild, V., Halpern, A.C., et al. (2013). Melanoma, version 2.2013: featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J. Natl. Compr. Cancer Netw. JNCCN *11*, 395–407.

Coleman, D.J., Garcia, G., Hyter, S., Jang, H.S., Chagani, S., Liang, X., Larue, L., Ganguli-Indra, G., and Indra, A.K. (2014). Retinoid-X-receptors (α/β) in melanocytes modulate innate immune responses and differentially regulate cell survival following UV irradiation. PLoS Genet. *10*, e1004321.

Combest, A.J., Roberts, P.J., Dillon, P.M., Sandison, K., Hanna, S.K., Ross, C., Habibi, S., Zamboni, B., Müller, M., Brunner, M., et al. (2012). Genetically engineered cancer models, but not xenografts, faithfully predict anticancer drug exposure in melanoma tumors. The Oncologist *17*, 1303–1316.

Commo, S., and Bernard, B.A. (2000). Melanocyte Subpopulation Turnover During the Human Hair Cycle: An Immunohistochemical Study. Pigment Cell Res. *13*, 253–259.

Conde-Perez, A., and Larue, L. (2012). PTEN and melanomagenesis. Future Oncol. Lond. Engl. 8, 1109–1120.

Cooper, C.D., Linbo, T.H., and Raible, D.W. (2009). Kit and foxd3 genetically interact to regulate melanophore survival in zebrafish. Dev. Dyn. *238*, 875–886.

Cornell, R.A., and Eisen, J.S. (2005). Notch in the pathway: The roles of Notch signaling in neural crest development. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *16*, 663–672.

Costin, G.-E., and Hearing, V.J. (2007). Human skin pigmentation: melanocytes modulate skin color in response to stress. FASEB J. *21*, 976–994.

Coulombe, P.A. (2003). Wound epithelialization: accelerating the pace of discovery. J. Invest. Dermatol. *121*, 219–230.

Crowson, A.N., Magro, C.M., and Mihm, M.C. (2006). Prognosticators of melanoma, the melanoma report, and the sentinel lymph node. Mod. Pathol. Off. J. U. S. Can. Acad. Pathol. Inc *19 Suppl 2*, S71-87.

Dahl, C., and Guldberg, P. (2007). The genome and epigenome of malignant melanoma. APMIS Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand. *115*, 1161–1176.

Dalle, S., Poulalhon, N., and Thomas, L. (2011). Vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N. Engl. J. Med. *365*, 1448–1449; author reply 1450.

Dankort, D., Curley, D.P., Cartlidge, R.A., Nelson, B., Karnezis, A.N., Damsky, W.E., You, M.J., DePinho, R.A., McMahon, M., and Bosenberg, M. (2009). Braf(V600E) cooperates with Pten loss to induce metastatic melanoma. Nat. Genet. *41*, 544–552.

De Calisto, J., Araya, C., Marchant, L., Riaz, C.F., and Mayor, R. (2005). Essential role of non-canonical Wnt signalling in neural crest migration. Dev. Camb. Engl. *132*, 2587–2597.

De Craene, B., Denecker, G., Vermassen, P., Taminau, J., Mauch, C., Derore, A., Jonkers, J., Fuchs, E., and Berx, G. (2014). Epidermal Snail expression drives skin cancer initiation and progression through enhanced cytoprotection, epidermal stem/progenitor cell expansion and enhanced metastatic potential. Cell Death Differ. *21*, 310–320.

Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Bertin, L., Thoinet, K., Jarrosson, L., Kindbeiter, K., Buffet, T., Tauszig-Delamasure, S., Bozon, M., Marabelle, A., Combaret, V., et al. (2017). Microenvironment-Driven Shift of Cohesion/Detachment Balance within Tumors Induces a Switch toward Metastasis in Neuroblastoma. Cancer Cell *32*, 427-443.e8.

Denecker, G., Vandamme, N., Akay, ö, Koludrovic, D., Taminau, J., Lemeire, K., Gheldof, A., De Craene, B., Van Gele, M., Brochez, L., et al. (2014). Identification of a ZEB2-MITF-ZEB1 transcriptional network that controls melanogenesis and melanoma progression. Cell Death Differ. *21*, 1250–1261.

Devitt, B., Liu, W., Salemi, R., Wolfe, R., Kelly, J., Tzen, C.-Y., Dobrovic, A., and McArthur, G. (2011). Clinical outcome and pathological features associated with NRAS mutation in cutaneous melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 666–672.

Di Vita, G., Patti, R., D'Agostino, P., Caruso, G., Arcara, M., Buscemi, S., Bonventre, S., Ferlazzo, V., Arcoleo, F., and Cillari, E. (2006). Cytokines and growth factors in wound drainage fluid from patients undergoing incisional hernia repair. Wound Repair Regen. Off. Publ. Wound Heal. Soc. Eur. Tissue Repair Soc. *14*, 259–264.

Diem, S., Kasenda, B., Spain, L., Martin-Liberal, J., Marconcini, R., Gore, M., and Larkin, J. (2016). Serum lactate dehydrogenase as an early marker for outcome in patients treated with anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Br. J. Cancer *114*, 256–261.

Dillman, R.O., Cornforth, A.N., Depriest, C., McClay, E.F., Amatruda, T.T., de Leon, C., Ellis, R.E., Mayorga, C., Carbonell, D., and Cubellis, J.M. (2012). Tumor stem cell antigens as consolidative active specific immunotherapy: a randomized phase II trial of dendritic cells versus tumor cells in patients with metastatic melanoma. J. Immunother. Hagerstown Md 1997 *35*, 641–649.

Dongre, A., Rashidian, M., Reinhardt, F., Bagnato, A., Keckesova, Z., Ploegh, H.L., and Weinberg, R.A. (2017). Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition Contributes to Immunosuppression in Breast Carcinomas. Cancer Res. *77*, 3982–3989.

Donia, M., Kjeldsen, J.W., and Svane, I.M. (2016). The controversial role of TNF in melanoma. Oncoimmunology *5*, e1107699.

Du, J., Miller, A.J., Widlund, H.R., Horstmann, M.A., Ramaswamy, S., and Fisher, D.E. (2003). MLANA/MART1 and SILV/PMEL17/GP100 Are Transcriptionally Regulated by MITF in Melanocytes and Melanoma. Am. J. Pathol. *163*, 333–343.

Du, J., Widlund, H.R., Horstmann, M.A., Ramaswamy, S., Ross, K., Huber, W.E., Nishimura, E.K., Golub, T.R., and Fisher, D.E. (2004). Critical role of CDK2 for melanoma growth linked to its melanocyte-specific transcriptional regulation by MITF. Cancer Cell *6*, 565–576.

Eagles, J.R., and Jimeno, A. (2016). Cobimetinib: inhibiting MEK1/2 in BRAF V600-mutant melanoma. Drugs Today Barc. Spain 1998 *52*, 593–605.

Eckert, M.A., Lwin, T.M., Chang, A.T., Kim, J., Danis, E., Ohno-Machado, L., and Yang, J. (2011). Twist1-induced invadopodia formation promotes tumor metastasis. Cancer Cell *19*, 372–386.

Eichhoff, O.M., Weeraratna, A., Zipser, M.C., Denat, L., Widmer, D.S., Xu, M., Kriegl, L., Kirchner, T., Larue, L., Dummer, R., et al. (2011). Differential LEF1 and TCF4 expression is involved in melanoma cell phenotype switching: LEF1/TCF4 switching in melanoma progression. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 631–642.

Eming, S.A., Martin, P., and Tomic-Canic, M. (2014). Wound repair and regeneration: mechanisms, signaling, and translation. Sci. Transl. Med. *6*, 265sr6.

Ennen, M., Keime, C., Kobi, D., Mengus, G., Lipsker, D., Thibault-Carpentier, C., and Davidson, I. (2015). Single-cell gene expression signatures reveal melanoma cell heterogeneity. Oncogene *34*, 3251–3263.

Ennen, M., Keime, C., Gambi, G., Kieny, A., Coassolo, S., Thibault-Carpentier, C., Margerin-Schaller, F., Davidson, G., Vagne, C., Lipsker, D., et al. (2017). MITF-High and MITF-Low Cells and a Novel Subpopulation Expressing Genes of Both Cell States Contribute to Intra- and Intertumoral Heterogeneity of Primary Melanoma. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. *23*, 7097–7107.

Erickson, C.A., and Goins, T.L. (1995). Avian neural crest cells can migrate in the dorsolateral path only if they are specified as melanocytes. Development *121*, 915–924.

Fane, M.E., Chhabra, Y., Hollingsworth, D.E.J., Simmons, J.L., Spoerri, L., Oh, T.G., Chauhan, J., Chin, T., Harris, L., Harvey, T.J., et al. (2017). NFIB Mediates BRN2 Driven Melanoma Cell Migration and Invasion Through Regulation of EZH2 and MITF. EBioMedicine *16*, 63–75.

Fedorenko, I.V., Paraiso, K.H.T., and Smalley, K.S.M. (2011). Acquired and intrinsic BRAF inhibitor resistance in BRAF V600E mutant melanoma. Biochem. Pharmacol. *82*, 201–209.

Feige, E., Yokoyama, S., Levy, C., Khaled, M., Igras, V., Lin, R.J., Lee, S., Widlund, H.R., Granter, S.R., Kung, A.L., et al. (2011). Hypoxia-induced transcriptional repression of the melanoma-associated oncogene MITF. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *108*, E924–E933.

Feldker, N., Ferrazzi, F., Schuhwerk, H., Widholz, S.A., Guenther, K., Frisch, I., Jakob, K., Kleemann, J., Riegel, D., Bönisch, U., et al. (2020). Genome-wide cooperation of EMT transcription factor ZEB1 with YAP and AP-1 in breast cancer. EMBO J. *39*, e103209.

Fennema, E., Rivron, N., Rouwkema, J., van Blitterswijk, C., and de Boer, J. (2013). Spheroid culture as a tool for creating 3D complex tissues. Trends Biotechnol. *31*, 108–115.

Finn, L., Markovic, S.N., and Joseph, R.W. (2012). Therapy for metastatic melanoma: the past, present, and future. BMC Med. *10*, 23.

Flaherty, K.T., Puzanov, I., Kim, K.B., Ribas, A., McArthur, G.A., Sosman, J.A., O'Dwyer, P.J., Lee, R.J., Grippo, J.F., Nolop, K., et al. (2010). Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *363*, 809–819.

Galván, J.A., Helbling, M., Koelzer, V.H., Tschan, M.P., Berger, M.D., Hädrich, M., Schnüriger, B., Karamitopoulou, E., Dawson, H., Inderbitzin, D., et al. (2015). TWIST1 and TWIST2 promoter methylation and protein expression in tumor stroma influence the epithelial-mesenchymal transition-like tumor budding phenotype in colorectal cancer. Oncotarget *6*, 874–885.

Garnett, M.J., and Marais, R. (2004). Guilty as charged: B-RAF is a human oncogene. Cancer Cell *6*, 313–319.

Garraway, L.A., Widlund, H.R., Rubin, M.A., Getz, G., Berger, A.J., Ramaswamy, S., Beroukhim, R., Milner, D.A., Granter, S.R., Du, J., et al. (2005). Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature *436*, 117–122.

Gautron, A., Bachelot, L., Aubry, M., Leclerc, D., Quéméner, A.M., Corre, S., Rambow, F., Paris, A., Tardif, N., Leclair, H.M., et al. (2021). CRISPR screens identify tumor-promoting genes conferring melanoma cell plasticity and resistance. EMBO Mol. Med. *13*, e13466.

Gembarska, A., Luciani, F., Fedele, C., Russell, E.A., Dewaele, M., Villar, S., Zwolinska, A., Haupt, S., de Lange, J., Yip, D., et al. (2012). MDM4 is a key therapeutic target in cutaneous melanoma. Nat. Med. *18*, 1239–1247.

Gerber, T., Willscher, E., Loeffler-Wirth, H., Hopp, L., Schadendorf, D., Schartl, M., Anderegg, U., Camp, G., Treutlein, B., Binder, H., et al. (2017). Mapping heterogeneity in patient-derived melanoma cultures by single-cell RNA-seq. Oncotarget *8*, 846–862.

Gibbons, D.L., Lin, W., Creighton, C.J., Rizvi, Z.H., Gregory, P.A., Goodall, G.J., Thilaganathan, N., Du, L., Zhang, Y., Pertsemlidis, A., et al. (2009). Contextual extracellular cues promote tumor cell EMT and metastasis by regulating miR-200 family expression. Genes Dev. *23*, 2140–2151.

Gilles, C., Polette, M., Zahm, J.M., Tournier, J.M., Volders, L., Foidart, J.M., and Birembaut, P. (1999). Vimentin contributes to human mammary epithelial cell migration. J. Cell Sci. *112 (Pt 24)*, 4615–4625.

Glover, J.D., Knolle, S., Wells, K.L., Liu, D., Jackson, I.J., Mort, R.L., and Headon, D.J. (2015). Maintenance of distinct melanocyte populations in the interfollicular epidermis. 6.

Goding, C.R. (2000). Mitf from neural crest to melanoma: signal transduction and transcription in the melanocyte lineage. 17.

Goding, C.R. (2011). Commentary. A picture of Mitf in melanoma immortality. Oncogene 30, 2304–2306.

Goding, C.R., and Arnheiter, H. (2019). MITF-the first 25 years. Genes Dev. 33, 983-1007.

Goossens, S., Radaelli, E., Blanchet, O., Durinck, K., Van der Meulen, J., Peirs, S., Taghon, T., Tremblay, C.S., Costa, M., Farhang Ghahremani, M., et al. (2015). ZEB2 drives immature T-cell lymphoblastic leukaemia development via enhanced tumour-initiating potential and IL-7 receptor signalling. Nat. Commun. *6*, 5794.

Grau, Y., Carteret, C., and Simpson, P. (1984). Mutations and Chromosomal Rearrangements Affecting the Expression of Snail, a Gene Involved in Embryonic Patterning in DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER. Genetics *108*, 347–360.

Greenburg, G., and Hay, E.D. (1982). Epithelia suspended in collagen gels can lose polarity and express characteristics of migrating mesenchymal cells. J. Cell Biol. *95*, 333–339.

Gross, A., Niemetz-Rahn, A., Nonnenmacher, A., Tucholski, J., Keilholz, U., and Fusi, A. (2015). Expression and activity of EGFR in human cutaneous melanoma cell lines and influence of vemurafenib on the EGFR pathway. Target. Oncol. *10*, 77–84.

Grzywa, T.M., Paskal, W., and Włodarski, P.K. (2017). Intratumor and Intertumor Heterogeneity in Melanoma. Transl. Oncol. *10*, 956–975.

Guan, T., Dominguez, C.X., Amezquita, R.A., Laidlaw, B.J., Cheng, J., Henao-Mejia, J., Williams, A., Flavell, R.A., Lu, J., and Kaech, S.M. (2018). ZEB1, ZEB2, and the miR-200 family form a counterregulatory network to regulate CD8+ T cell fates. J. Exp. Med. *215*, 1153–1168.

Guo, J., Zhang, J.-F., Wang, W.-M., Cheung, F.W., Lu, Y., Ng, C., Kung, H., and Liu, W. (2014). MicroRNA-218 inhibits melanogenesis by directly suppressing microphthalmia-associated transcription factor expression. RNA Biol. *11*, 732–741.

Guo, W., Keckesova, Z., Donaher, J.L., Shibue, T., Tischler, V., Reinhardt, F., Itzkovitz, S., Noske, A., Zürrer-Härdi, U., Bell, G., et al. (2012). Slug and Sox9 cooperatively determine the mammary stem cell state. Cell *148*, 1015–1028.

Gupta, P.B., Kuperwasser, C., Brunet, J.-P., Ramaswamy, S., Kuo, W.-L., Gray, J.W., Naber, S.P., and Weinberg, R.A. (2005). The melanocyte differentiation program predisposes to metastasis after neoplastic transformation. Nat. Genet. *37*, 1047–1054.

Haass, N.K., Smalley, K.S.M., Li, L., and Herlyn, M. (2005). Adhesion, migration and communication in melanocytes and melanoma. Pigment Cell Res. *18*, 150–159.

Haflidadóttir, B.S., Bergsteinsdóttir, K., Praetorius, C., and Steingrímsson, E. (2010). miR-148 Regulates Mitf in Melanoma Cells. PLoS ONE *5*, e11574.

Halaburkova, A., Cahais, V., Novoloaca, A., Araujo, M.G. da S., Khoueiry, R., Ghantous, A., and Herceg, Z. (2020). Pan-cancer multi-omics analysis and orthogonal experimental assessment of epigenetic driver genes. Genome Res. *30*, 1517–1532.

Haq, R., Shoag, J., Andreu-Perez, P., Yokoyama, S., Edelman, H., Rowe, G.C., Frederick, D.T., Hurley, A.D., Nellore, A., Kung, A.L., et al. (2013). Oncogenic BRAF Regulates Oxidative Metabolism via PGC1α and MITF. Cancer Cell *23*, 302–315.

Hari, L., Miescher, I., Shakhova, O., Suter, U., Chin, L., Taketo, M., Richardson, W.D., Kessaris, N., and Sommer, L. (2012). Temporal control of neural crest lineage generation by Wnt/ -catenin signaling. Development *139*, 2107–2117.

Hartman, M.L., and Czyz, M. (2015). MITF in melanoma: mechanisms behind its expression and activity. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 72, 1249–1260.

Haslehurst, A.M., Koti, M., Dharsee, M., Nuin, P., Evans, K., Geraci, J., Childs, T., Chen, J., Li, J., Weberpals, J., et al. (2012). EMT transcription factors snail and slug directly contribute to cisplatin resistance in ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer *12*, 91.

Hay, E.D., and Zuk, A. (1995). Transformations between epithelium and mesenchyme: normal, pathological, and experimentally induced. Am. J. Kidney Dis. Off. J. Natl. Kidney Found. *26*, 678–690.

Hearing, V.J. (2005). Biogenesis of pigment granules: a sensitive way to regulate melanocyte function. J. Dermatol. Sci. *37*, 3–14.

Hearing, V.J. (2011). Determination of Melanin Synthetic Pathways. J. Invest. Dermatol. 131, E8–E11.

Hearing, V.J., and Tsukamoto, K. (1991). Enzymatic control of pigmentation in mammals. FASEB J. 5, 2902–2909.

van Helden, M.J., Goossens, S., Daussy, C., Mathieu, A.-L., Faure, F., Marçais, A., Vandamme, N., Farla, N., Mayol, K., Viel, S., et al. (2015). Terminal NK cell maturation is controlled by concerted actions of T-bet and Zeb2 and is essential for melanoma rejection. J. Exp. Med. *212*, 2015–2025.

Hemesath, T.J., Steingrimsson, E., McGill, G., Hansen, M.J., Vaught, J., Hodgkinson, C.A., Arnheiter, H., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A., and Fisher, D.E. (1994). microphthalmia, a critical factor in melanocyte development, defines a discrete transcription factor family. Genes Dev. *8*, 2770–2780.

Hemmings, B.A., and Restuccia, D.F. (2012). PI3K-PKB/Akt pathway. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4, a011189.

Hirobe, T. (2011). How are proliferation and differentiation of melanocytes regulated?: Melanocyte proliferation and differentiation. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 462–478.

Hirschhaeuser, F., Menne, H., Dittfeld, C., West, J., Mueller-Klieser, W., and Kunz-Schughart, L.A. (2010). Multicellular tumor spheroids: an underestimated tool is catching up again. J. Biotechnol. *148*, 3–15.

Hoashi, T., Watabe, H., Muller, J., Yamaguchi, Y., Vieira, W.D., and Hearing, V.J. (2005). MART-1 Is Required for the Function of the Melanosomal Matrix Protein PMEL17/GP100 and the Maturation of Melanosomes. J. Biol. Chem. *280*, 14006–14016. Hodi, F.S., O'Day, S.J., McDermott, D.F., Weber, R.W., Sosman, J.A., Haanen, J.B., Gonzalez, R., Robert, C., Schadendorf, D., Hassel, J.C., et al. (2010). Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *363*, 711–723.

Hoek, K.S., and Goding, C.R. (2010). Cancer stem cells versus phenotype-switching in melanoma: Phenotype-switching in melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *23*, 746–759.

Hoek, K.S., Schlegel, N.C., Brafford, P., Sucker, A., Ugurel, S., Kumar, R., Weber, B.L., Nathanson, K.L., Phillips, D.J., Herlyn, M., et al. (2006). Metastatic potential of melanomas defined by specific gene expression profiles with no BRAF signature. Pigment Cell Res. *19*, 290–302.

Hoek, K.S., Eichhoff, O.M., Schlegel, N.C., Döbbeling, U., Kobert, N., Schaerer, L., Hemmi, S., and Dummer, R. (2008). In vivo switching of human melanoma cells between proliferative and invasive states. Cancer Res. *68*, 650–656.

Holbrook, K., Lutzky, J., Davies, M.A., Davis, J.M., Glitza, I.C., Amaria, R.N., Diab, A., Patel, S.P., Amin, A., and Tawbi, H. (2020). Intracranial antitumor activity with encorafenib plus binimetinib in patients with melanoma brain metastases: A case series. Cancer *126*, 523–530.

Hong, J., Zhou, J., Fu, J., He, T., Qin, J., Wang, L., Liao, L., and Xu, J. (2011). Phosphorylation of Serine 68 of Twist1 by MAPKs Stabilizes Twist1 Protein and Promotes Breast Cancer Cell Invasiveness. Cancer Res. *71*, 3980–3990.

Hong, K.M., Belperio, J.A., Keane, M.P., Burdick, M.D., and Strieter, R.M. (2007). Differentiation of human circulating fibrocytes as mediated by transforming growth factor-beta and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma. J. Biol. Chem. *282*, 22910–22920.

Huang, R., and Zong, X. (2017). Aberrant cancer metabolism in epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer metastasis: Mechanisms in cancer progression. Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. *115*, 13–22.

Huber, W.E., Price, E.R., Widlund, H.R., Du, J., Davis, I.J., Wegner, M., and Fisher, D.E. (2003). A Tissue-restricted cAMP Transcriptional Response: SOX10 MODULATES α-MELANOCYTE-STIMULATING HORMONE-TRIGGERED EXPRESSION OF MICROPHTHALMIA-ASSOCIATED TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR IN MELANOCYTES. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 45224–45230.

Hugo, W., Shi, H., Sun, L., Piva, M., Song, C., Kong, X., Moriceau, G., Hong, A., Dahlman, K.B., Johnson, D.B., et al. (2015). Non-genomic and Immune Evolution of Melanoma Acquiring MAPKi Resistance. Cell *162*, 1271–1285.

Hüsemann, Y., and Klein, C.A. (2009). The analysis of metastasis in transgenic mouse models. Transgenic Res. 18, 1–5.

Inuzuka, H., Redies, C., and Takeichi, M. (1991). Differential expression of R- and N-cadherin in neural and mesodermal tissues during early chicken development. Dev. Camb. Engl. *113*, 959–967.

Işeri, O.D., Kars, M.D., Arpaci, F., Atalay, C., Pak, I., and Gündüz, U. (2011). Drug resistant MCF-7 cells

exhibit epithelial-mesenchymal transition gene expression pattern. Biomed. Pharmacother. Biomedecine Pharmacother. *65*, 40–45.

Javelaud, D., Alexaki, V.I., Dennler, S., Mohammad, K.S., Guise, T.A., and Mauviel, A. (2011). TGF-/SMAD/GLI2 Signaling Axis in Cancer Progression and Metastasis. Cancer Res. *71*, 5606–5610.

Jiang, R., Lan, Y., Norton, C.R., Sundberg, J.P., and Gridley, T. (1998). The Slug gene is not essential for mesoderm or neural crest development in mice. Dev. Biol. *198*, 277–285.

Jilaveanu, L.B., Aziz, S.A., and Kluger, H.M. (2009). Chemotherapy and biologic therapies for melanoma: do they work? Clin. Dermatol. *27*, 614–625.

Johannessen, C.M., Boehm, J.S., Kim, S.Y., Thomas, S.R., Wardwell, L., Johnson, L.A., Emery, C.M., Stransky, N., Cogdill, A.P., Barretina, J., et al. (2010). COT drives resistance to RAF inhibition through MAP kinase pathway reactivation. Nature *468*, 968–972.

Jönsson, G., Busch, C., Knappskog, S., Geisler, J., Miletic, H., Ringnér, M., Lillehaug, J.R., Borg, A., and Lønning, P.E. (2010). Gene expression profiling-based identification of molecular subtypes in stage IV melanomas with different clinical outcome. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. *16*, 3356–3367.

Kakadia, S., Yarlagadda, N., Awad, R., Kundranda, M., Niu, J., Naraev, B., Mina, L., Dragovich, T., Gimbel, M., and Mahmoud, F. (2018). Mechanisms of resistance to BRAF and MEK inhibitors and clinical update of US Food and Drug Administration-approved targeted therapy in advanced melanoma. OncoTargets Ther. *Volume 11*, 7095–7107.

Kalluri, R., and Weinberg, R.A. (2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J. Clin. Invest. *119*, 1420–1428.

Karafiat, V., Dvorakova, M., Krejci, E., Kralova, J., Pajer, P., Snajdr, P., Mandikova, S., Bartunek, P., Grim, M., and Dvorak, M. (2005). Transcription factor c-Myb is involved in the regulation of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the avian neural crest. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. CMLS *62*, 2516–2525.

Karreth, F.A., Tay, Y., Perna, D., Ala, U., Tan, S.M., Rust, A.G., DeNicola, G., Webster, K.A., Weiss, D., Perez-Mancera, P.A., et al. (2011). In vivo identification of tumor- suppressive PTEN ceRNAs in an oncogenic BRAF-induced mouse model of melanoma. Cell *147*, 382–395.

Katsura, A., Tamura, Y., Hokari, S., Harada, M., Morikawa, M., Sakurai, T., Takahashi, K., Mizutani, A., Nishida, J., Yokoyama, Y., et al. (2017). ZEB1-regulated inflammatory phenotype in breast cancer cells. Mol. Oncol. *11*, 1241–1262.

Kauffmann, R.M., and Chen, S.L. (2014). Workup and staging of malignant melanoma. Surg. Clin. North Am. *94*, 963–972, vii.

Keating, G.M. (2016). Cobimetinib Plus Vemurafenib: A Review in BRAF (V600) Mutation-Positive Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma. Drugs *76*, 605–615.

Kim, M.H., Kim, J., Hong, H., Lee, S.-H., Lee, J.-K., Jung, E., and Kim, J. (2016a). Actin remodeling confers BRAF inhibitor resistance to melanoma cells through YAP/TAZ activation. EMBO J. *35*, 462–478.

Kim, P., Cheng, F., Zhao, J., and Zhao, Z. (2016b). ccmGDB: a database for cancer cell metabolism genes. Nucleic Acids Res. *44*, D959-968.

King, D., Yeomanson, D., and Bryant, H.E. (2015). PI3King the lock: targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway as a novel therapeutic strategy in neuroblastoma. J. Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol. *37*, 245–251.

Klarquist, J.S., and Janssen, E.M. (2012). Melanoma-infiltrating dendritic cells: Limitations and opportunities of mouse models. Oncoimmunology *1*, 1584–1593.

Knox, T., Sahakian, E., Banik, D., Hadley, M., Palmer, E., Noonepalle, S., Kim, J., Powers, J., Gracia-Hernandez, M., Oliveira, V., et al. (2019). Selective HDAC6 inhibitors improve anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint blockade therapy by decreasing the anti-inflammatory phenotype of macrophages and down-regulation of immunosuppressive proteins in tumor cells. Sci. Rep. *9*, 6136.

Koelblinger, P., Thuerigen, O., and Dummer, R. (2018). Development of encorafenib for BRAF-mutated advanced melanoma. Curr. Opin. Oncol. *30*, 125–133.

Krebs, A.M., Mitschke, J., Losada, M.L., Schmalhofer, O., Boerries, M., Busch, H., Boettcher, M., Mougiakakos, D., Reichardt, W., Bronsert, P., et al. (2017). The EMT-activator Zeb1 is a key factor for cell plasticity and promotes metastasis in pancreatic cancer. Nat. Cell Biol. *19*, 518–529.

Kusewitt, D.F., Choi, C., Newkirk, K.M., Leroy, P., Li, Y., Chavez, M.G., and Hudson, L.G. (2009). Slug/Snai2 is a downstream mediator of epidermal growth factor receptor-stimulated reepithelialization. J. Invest. Dermatol. *129*, 491–495.

Landreville, S., Agapova, O.A., Matatall, K.A., Kneass, Z.T., Onken, M.D., Lee, R.S., Bowcock, A.M., and Harbour, J.W. (2012). Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors Induce Growth Arrest and Differentiation in Uveal Melanoma. Clin. Cancer Res. *18*, 408–416.

Larkin, J., Chiarion-Sileni, V., Gonzalez, R., Grob, J.J., Cowey, C.L., Lao, C.D., Schadendorf, D., Dummer, R., Smylie, M., Rutkowski, P., et al. (2015a). Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Monotherapy in Untreated Melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *373*, 23–34.

Larkin, J., Chiarion-Sileni, V., Gonzalez, R., Grob, J.J., Cowey, C.L., Lao, C.D., Schadendorf, D., Dummer, R., Smylie, M., Rutkowski, P., et al. (2015b). Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Monotherapy in Untreated Melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *373*, 23–34.

Larkin, J., Chiarion-Sileni, V., Gonzalez, R., Grob, J.-J., Rutkowski, P., Lao, C.D., Cowey, C.L., Schadendorf, D., Wagstaff, J., Dummer, R., et al. (2019). Five-Year Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *381*, 1535–1546.

Larue, L., and Beermann, F. (2007). Cutaneous melanoma in genetically modified animals. Pigment Cell Res. 20, 485–497.

Laurette, P., Strub, T., Koludrovic, D., Keime, C., Le Gras, S., Seberg, H., Van Otterloo, E., Imrichova, H., Siddaway, R., Aerts, S., et al. (2015). Transcription factor MITF and remodeller BRG1 define chromatin organisation at regulatory elements in melanoma cells. ELife *4*.

Lebbé, C., Weber, J.S., Maio, M., Neyns, B., Harmankaya, K., Hamid, O., O'Day, S.J., Konto, C., Cykowski, L., McHenry, M.B., et al. (2014). Survival follow-up and ipilimumab retreatment of patients with advanced melanoma who received ipilimumab in prior phase II studies. Ann. Oncol. Off. J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol. *25*, 2277–2284.

Lee, E., Han, J., Kim, K., Choi, H., Cho, E.-G., and Lee, T.R. (2013). CXCR7 mediates SDF1-induced melanocyte migration. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *26*, 58–66.

Lehmann, W., Mossmann, D., Kleemann, J., Mock, K., Meisinger, C., Brummer, T., Herr, R., Brabletz, S., Stemmler, M.P., and Brabletz, T. (2016). ZEB1 turns into a transcriptional activator by interacting with YAP1 in aggressive cancer types. Nat. Commun. *7*, 10498.

Leiter, U., Meier, F., Schittek, B., and Garbe, C. (2004). The natural course of cutaneous melanoma. J. Surg. Oncol. *86*, 172–178.

Lenci, R.E., Rachakonda, P.S., Kubarenko, A.V., Weber, A.N.R., Brandt, A., Gast, A., Sucker, A., Hemminki, K., Schadendorf, D., and Kumar, R. (2012). Integrin genes and susceptibility to human melanoma. Mutagenesis *27*, 367–373.

Levy, C., Khaled, M., and Fisher, D.E. (2006). MITF: master regulator of melanocyte development and melanoma oncogene. Trends Mol. Med. *12*, 406–414.

Lim, J., and Thiery, J.P. (2012). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions: insights from development. Dev. Camb. Engl. 139, 3471–3486.

Lin, J.Y., and Fisher, D.E. (2007). Melanocyte biology and skin pigmentation. Nature 445, 843–850.

Lito, P., Rosen, N., and Solit, D.B. (2013). Tumor adaptation and resistance to RAF inhibitors. Nat. Med. *19*, 1401–1409.

Liu, Y., El-Naggar, S., Darling, D.S., Higashi, Y., and Dean, D.C. (2008). Zeb1 links epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cellular senescence. Dev. Camb. Engl. *135*, 579–588.

Liu, Y., Ye, F., Li, Q., Tamiya, S., Darling, D.S., Kaplan, H.J., and Dean, D.C. (2009). Zeb1 Represses *Mitf* and Regulates Pigment Synthesis, Cell Proliferation, and Epithelial Morphology. Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. *50*, 5080.

Liu, Y., Lu, X., Huang, L., Wang, W., Jiang, G., Dean, K.C., Clem, B., Telang, S., Jenson, A.B., Cuatrecasas, M., et al. (2014). Different thresholds of ZEB1 are required for Ras-mediated tumour initiation and metastasis. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5660.

Lo, H.-W., Hsu, S.-C., Xia, W., Cao, X., Shih, J.-Y., Wei, Y., Abbruzzese, J.L., Hortobagyi, G.N., and Hung,

M.-C. (2007). Epidermal growth factor receptor cooperates with signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 to induce epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer cells via up-regulation of TWIST gene expression. Cancer Res. *67*, 9066–9076.

Long, G.V., Menzies, A.M., Nagrial, A.M., Haydu, L.E., Hamilton, A.L., Mann, G.J., Hughes, T.M., Thompson, J.F., Scolyer, R.A., and Kefford, R.F. (2011). Prognostic and clinicopathologic associations of oncogenic BRAF in metastatic melanoma. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 29, 1239–1246.

López-Novoa, J.M., and Nieto, M.A. (2009). Inflammation and EMT: an alliance towards organ fibrosis and cancer progression. EMBO Mol. Med. 1, 303–314.

Lu, J., Li, X.-P., Dong, Q., Kung, H.-F., and He, M.-L. (2010). TBX2 and TBX3: the special value for anticancer drug targets. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1806*, 268–274.

Luo, C., Tetteh, P.W., Merz, P.R., Dickes, E., Abukiwan, A., Hotz-Wagenblatt, A., Holland-Cunz, S., Sinnberg, T., Schittek, B., Schadendorf, D., et al. (2013a). miR-137 Inhibits the Invasion of Melanoma Cells through Downregulation of Multiple Oncogenic Target Genes. J. Invest. Dermatol. *133*, 768–775.

Luo, C., Merz, P.R., Chen, Y., Dickes, E., Pscherer, A., Schadendorf, D., and Eichmüller, S.B. (2013b). MiR-101 inhibits melanoma cell invasion and proliferation by targeting MITF and EZH2. Cancer Lett. *341*, 240–247.

Manzanares, M., Locascio, A., and Nieto, M.A. (2001). The increasing complexity of the Snail gene superfamily in metazoan evolution. Trends Genet. TIG *17*, 178–181.

Markovic, S.N., Erickson, L.A., Rao, R.D., Weenig, R.H., Pockaj, B.A., Bardia, A., Vachon, C.M., Schild, S.E., McWilliams, R.R., Hand, J.L., et al. (2007). Malignant melanoma in the 21st century, part 2: staging, prognosis, and treatment. Mayo Clin. Proc. *82*, 490–513.

Mathieu, J., Griffin, K., Herbomel, P., Dickmeis, T., Strähle, U., Kimelman, D., Rosa, F.M., and Peyriéras, N. (2004). Nodal and Fgf pathways interact through a positive regulatory loop and synergize to maintain mesodermal cell populations. Dev. Camb. Engl. *131*, 629–641.

Maturi, V., Enroth, S., Heldin, C.-H., and Moustakas, A. (2018). Genome-wide binding of transcription factor ZEB1 in triple-negative breast cancer cells. J. Cell. Physiol. *233*, 7113–7127.

Mayor, R., and Theveneau, E. (2013). The neural crest. Development 140, 2247–2251.

McGill, G.G., Horstmann, M., Widlund, H.R., Du, J., Motyckova, G., Nishimura, E.K., Lin, Y.-L., Ramaswamy, S., Avery, W., Ding, H.-F., et al. (2002). Bcl2 Regulation by the Melanocyte Master Regulator Mitf Modulates Lineage Survival and Melanoma Cell Viability. Cell *109*, 707–718.

Medina, T., Amaria, M.N., and Jimeno, A. (2013). Dabrafenib in the treatment of advanced melanoma. Drugs Today Barc. Spain 1998 *49*, 377–385.

Meidhof, S., Brabletz, S., Lehmann, W., Preca, B.-T., Mock, K., Ruh, M., Schuler, J., Berthold, M., Weber,

A., Burk, U., et al. (2015). ZEB1-associated drug resistance in cancer cells is reversed by the class I HDAC inhibitor mocetinostat. EMBO Mol. Med. 7, 831–847.

Meier, F., Nesbit, M., Hsu, M.Y., Martin, B., Van Belle, P., Elder, D.E., Schaumburg-Lever, G., Garbe, C., Walz, T.M., Donatien, P., et al. (2000). Human melanoma progression in skin reconstructs : biological significance of bFGF. Am. J. Pathol. *156*, 193–200.

Meyle, K.D., and Guldberg, P. (2009). Genetic risk factors for melanoma. Hum. Genet. 126, 499–510.

Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L.C.W., Soengas, M.S., Denoyelle, C., Kuilman, T., van der Horst, C.M.A.M., Majoor, D.M., Shay, J.W., Mooi, W.J., and Peeper, D.S. (2005). BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature *436*, 720–724.

Miow, Q.H., Tan, T.Z., Ye, J., Lau, J.A., Yokomizo, T., Thiery, J.-P., and Mori, S. (2015). Epithelial-mesenchymal status renders differential responses to cisplatin in ovarian cancer. Oncogene *34*, 1899–1907.

Miyoshi, T., Maruhashi, M., Van De Putte, T., Kondoh, H., Huylebroeck, D., and Higashi, Y. (2006). Complementary expression pattern of Zfhx1 genes Sip1 and deltaEF1 in the mouse embryo and their genetic interaction revealed by compound mutants. Dev. Dyn. Off. Publ. Am. Assoc. Anat. *235*, 1941–1952.

Mobley, A.K., Braeuer, R.R., Kamiya, T., Shoshan, E., and Bar-Eli, M. (2012). Driving transcriptional regulators in melanoma metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev. *31*, 621–632.

Molina-Ortiz, P., Villarejo, A., MacPherson, M., Santos, V., Montes, A., Souchelnytskyi, S., Portillo, F., and Cano, A. (2012). Characterization of the SNAG and SLUG domains of Snail2 in the repression of E-cadherin and EMT induction: modulation by serine 4 phosphorylation. PloS One *7*, e36132.

Morel, A.-P., Hinkal, G.W., Thomas, C., Fauvet, F., Courtois-Cox, S., Wierinckx, A., Devouassoux-Shisheboran, M., Treilleux, I., Tissier, A., Gras, B., et al. (2012). EMT inducers catalyze malignant transformation of mammary epithelial cells and drive tumorigenesis towards claudin-low tumors in transgenic mice. PLoS Genet. *8*, e1002723.

Morel, A.-P., Ginestier, C., Pommier, R.M., Cabaud, O., Ruiz, E., Wicinski, J., Devouassoux-Shisheboran, M., Combaret, V., Finetti, P., Chassot, C., et al. (2017). A stemness-related ZEB1–MSRB3 axis governs cellular pliancy and breast cancer genome stability. Nat. Med. *23*, 568–578.

Moriyama, M., Osawa, M., Mak, S.-S., Ohtsuka, T., Yamamoto, N., Han, H., Delmas, V., Kageyama, R., Beermann, F., Larue, L., et al. (2006). Notch signaling via Hes1 transcription factor maintains survival of melanoblasts and melanocyte stem cells. J. Cell Biol. *173*, 333–339.

Morris, J.C., Tan, A.R., Olencki, T.E., Shapiro, G.I., Dezube, B.J., Reiss, M., Hsu, F.J., Berzofsky, J.A., and Lawrence, D.P. (2014). Phase I study of GC1008 (fresolimumab): a human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGFβ) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. PloS One *9*, e90353.

Mull, A., Zolekar, A., and Wang, Y.-C. (2015). Understanding Melanocyte Stem Cells for Disease Modeling and Regenerative Medicine Applications. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *16*, 30458–30469.

Müller, I., and Kulms, D. (2018). A 3D Organotypic Melanoma Spheroid Skin Model. J. Vis. Exp. JoVE.

Müller, J., Krijgsman, O., Tsoi, J., Robert, L., Hugo, W., Song, C., Kong, X., Possik, P.A., Cornelissen-Steijger, P.D.M., Geukes Foppen, M.H., et al. (2014). Low MITF/AXL ratio predicts early resistance to multiple targeted drugs in melanoma. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5712.

Murakami, H., and Arnheiter, H. (2005). Sumoylation modulates transcriptional activity of MITF in a promoter-specific manner: Sumoylation modulates transcriptional activity of MITF. Pigment Cell Res. *18*, 265–277.

Nagarajan, D., Wang, L., Zhao, W., and Han, X. (2017). Trichostatin A inhibits radiation-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in the alveolar epithelial cells. Oncotarget *8*, 101745–101759.

Nardone, B., Hammel, J.A., Raisch, D.W., Weaver, L.L., Schneider, D., and West, D.P. (2014). Melanoma associated with tumour necrosis factor- α inhibitors: a Research on Adverse Drug events And Reports (RADAR) project. Br. J. Dermatol. *170*, 1170–1172.

Nazarian, R., Shi, H., Wang, Q., Kong, X., Koya, R.C., Lee, H., Chen, Z., Lee, M.-K., Attar, N., Sazegar, H., et al. (2010). Melanomas acquire resistance to B-RAF(V600E) inhibition by RTK or N-RAS upregulation. Nature *468*, 973–977.

Nieto, M.A., Sargent, M.G., Wilkinson, D.G., and Cooke, J. (1994). Control of cell behavior during vertebrate development by Slug, a zinc finger gene. Science *264*, 835–839.

Nieto, M.A., Huang, R.Y.-J., Jackson, R.A., and Thiery, J.P. (2016). EMT: 2016. Cell 166, 21-45.

Nikolaev, S.I., Rimoldi, D., Iseli, C., Valsesia, A., Robyr, D., Gehrig, C., Harshman, K., Guipponi, M., Bukach, O., Zoete, V., et al. (2011). Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic MAP2K1 and MAP2K2 mutations in melanoma. Nat. Genet. *44*, 133–139.

Nishimura, E.K. (2011). Melanocyte stem cells: a melanocyte reservoir in hair follicles for hair and skin pigmentation: Melanocyte stem cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 401–410.

Nishino, M., Giobbie-Hurder, A., Manos, M.P., Bailey, N., Buchbinder, E.I., Ott, P.A., Ramaiya, N.H., and Hodi, F.S. (2017). Immune-Related Tumor Response Dynamics in Melanoma Patients Treated with Pembrolizumab: Identifying Markers for Clinical Outcome and Treatment Decisions. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. *23*, 4671–4679.

Nowell, P. (1976). The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science 194, 23–28.

Ocaña, O.H., Córcoles, R., Fabra, A., Moreno-Bueno, G., Acloque, H., Vega, S., Barrallo-Gimeno, A., Cano, A., and Nieto, M.A. (2012). Metastatic colonization requires the repression of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition inducer Prrx1. Cancer Cell *22*, 709–724.

Ohashi, S., Natsuizaka, M., Wong, G.S., Michaylira, C.Z., Grugan, K.D., Stairs, D.B., Kalabis, J., Vega, M.E., Kalman, R.A., Nakagawa, M., et al. (2010). Epidermal growth factor receptor and mutant p53 expand an esophageal cellular subpopulation capable of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition through ZEB transcription factors. Cancer Res. *70*, 4174–4184.

Okada, H., Ban, S., Nagao, S., Takahashi, H., Suzuki, H., and Neilson, E.G. (2000). Progressive renal fibrosis in murine polycystic kidney disease: an immunohistochemical observation. Kidney Int. *58*, 587–597.

Omenetti, A., Porrello, A., Jung, Y., Yang, L., Popov, Y., Choi, S.S., Witek, R.P., Alpini, G., Venter, J., Vandongen, H.M., et al. (2008). Hedgehog signaling regulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition during biliary fibrosis in rodents and humans. J. Clin. Invest. *118*, 3331–3342.

Ozturk, N., Erdal, E., Mumcuoglu, M., Akcali, K.C., Yalcin, O., Senturk, S., Arslan-Ergul, A., Gur, B., Yulug, I., and Cetin-Atalay, R. (2006). Reprogramming of replicative senescence in hepatocellular carcinoma-derived cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *103*, 2178–2183.

Paraiso, K.H.T., Xiang, Y., Rebecca, V.W., Abel, E.V., Chen, Y.A., Munko, A.C., Wood, E., Fedorenko, I.V., Sondak, V.K., Anderson, A.R.A., et al. (2011). PTEN loss confers BRAF inhibitor resistance to melanoma cells through the suppression of BIM expression. Cancer Res. *71*, 2750–2760.

Pardoll, D.M. (2012). The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat. Rev. Cancer *12*, 252–264.

Pardono, E., van Bever, Y., van den Ende, J., Havrenne, P.C., lughetti, P., Maestrelli, S.R.P., Costa F, O., Richieri-Costa, A., Frota-Pessoa, O., and Otto, P.A. (2003). Waardenburg syndrome: Clinical differentiation between types I and II. Am. J. Med. Genet. *117A*, 223–235.

Park, H.Y., Kosmadaki, M., Yaar, M., and Gilchrest, B.A. (2009). Cellular mechanisms regulating human melanogenesis. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. *66*, 1493–1506.

Pastushenko, I., Brisebarre, A., Sifrim, A., Fioramonti, M., Revenco, T., Boumahdi, S., Van Keymeulen, A., Brown, D., Moers, V., Lemaire, S., et al. (2018). Identification of the tumour transition states occurring during EMT. Nature *556*, 463–468.

Pathak, M.A., Riley, F.C., and Fitzpatrick, T.B. (1962). Melanogenesis in Human Skin Following Exposure to Long-Wave Ultraviolet and Visible Light**From The Research Laboratories of the Department of Dermatology of the Harvard Medical School at the Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston 14, Massachusetts. J. Invest. Dermatol. *39*, 435–443.

Peinado, H., Ballestar, E., Esteller, M., and Cano, A. (2004). Snail mediates E-cadherin repression by the recruitment of the Sin3A/histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1)/HDAC2 complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. *24*, 306–319.

Peinado, H., Olmeda, D., and Cano, A. (2007). Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat. Rev. Cancer *7*, 415–428.

Pérez-Guijarro, E., Day, C.-P., Merlino, G., and Zaidi, M.R. (2017). Genetically engineered mouse models

of melanoma: Mouse Models of Melanoma. Cancer 123, 2089–2103.

Pérez-Losada, J., Sánchez-Martín, M., Rodríguez-García, A., Sánchez, M.L., Orfao, A., Flores, T., and Sánchez-García, I. (2002). Zinc-finger transcription factor Slug contributes to the function of the stem cell factor c-kit signaling pathway. Blood *100*, 1274–1286.

Perrot, C.Y., Gilbert, C., Marsaud, V., Postigo, A., Javelaud, D., and Mauviel, A. (2013). GLI2 cooperates with ZEB1 for transcriptional repression of CDH1 expression in human melanoma cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *26*, 861–873.

Piccinin, S., Tonin, E., Sessa, S., Demontis, S., Rossi, S., Pecciarini, L., Zanatta, L., Pivetta, F., Grizzo, A., Sonego, M., et al. (2012). A "twist box" code of p53 inactivation: twist box: p53 interaction promotes p53 degradation. Cancer Cell *22*, 404–415.

Pinon, P., and Wehrle-Haller, B. (2011). Integrins: versatile receptors controlling melanocyte adhesion, migration and proliferation: Integrin function in melanocytes. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 24, 282–294.

Plonka, P.M., Passeron, T., Brenner, M., Tobin, D.J., Shibahara, S., Thomas, A., Slominski, A., Kadekaro, A.L., Hershkovitz, D., Peters, E., et al. (2009). What are melanocytes *really* doing all day long...? Exp. Dermatol. *18*, 799–819.

Ploper, D., Taelman, V.F., Robert, L., Perez, B.S., Titz, B., Chen, H.-W., Graeber, T.G., von Euw, E., Ribas, A., and De Robertis, E.M. (2015). MITF drives endolysosomal biogenesis and potentiates Wnt signaling in melanoma cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *112*, E420–E429.

Pogenberg, V., Ogmundsdottir, M.H., Bergsteinsdottir, K., Schepsky, A., Phung, B., Deineko, V., Milewski, M., Steingrimsson, E., and Wilmanns, M. (2012). Restricted leucine zipper dimerization and specificity of DNA recognition of the melanocyte master regulator MITF. Genes Dev. *26*, 2647–2658.

Polyak, K., and Weinberg, R.A. (2009). Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. Nat. Rev. Cancer *9*, 265–273.

Postigo, A.A. (2003). Opposing functions of ZEB proteins in the regulation of the TGFβ/BMP signaling pathway. EMBO J. *22*, 2443.

Postigo, A.A., Depp, J.L., Taylor, J.J., and Kroll, K.L. (2003). Regulation of Smad signaling through a differential recruitment of coactivators and corepressors by ZEB proteins. EMBO J. *22*, 2453–2462.

Postow, M.A., Chesney, J., Pavlick, A.C., Robert, C., Grossmann, K., McDermott, D., Linette, G.P., Meyer, N., Giguere, J.K., Agarwala, S.S., et al. (2015). Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *372*, 2006–2017.

Potenta, S., Zeisberg, E., and Kalluri, R. (2008). The role of endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer progression. Br. J. Cancer *99*, 1375–1379.

Poulikakos, P.I., Zhang, C., Bollag, G., Shokat, K.M., and Rosen, N. (2010). RAF inhibitors transactivate

RAF dimers and ERK signalling in cells with wild-type BRAF. Nature 464, 427–430.

Poynter, J.N., Elder, J.T., Fullen, D.R., Nair, R.P., Soengas, M.S., Johnson, T.M., Redman, B., Thomas, N.E., and Gruber, S.B. (2006). BRAF and NRAS mutations in melanoma and melanocytic nevi. Melanoma Res. *16*, 267–273.

Puisieux, A., Brabletz, T., and Caramel, J. (2014). Oncogenic roles of EMT-inducing transcription factors. Nat. Cell Biol. *16*, 488–494.

Quintana, E., Shackleton, M., Sabel, M.S., Fullen, D.R., Johnson, T.M., and Morrison, S.J. (2008). Efficient tumour formation by single human melanoma cells. Nature *456*, 593–598.

Raible, D.W., and Ragland, J.W. (2005). Reiterated Wnt and BMP signals in neural crest development. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *16*, 673–682.

Rambow, F., Rogiers, A., Marin-Bejar, O., Aibar, S., Femel, J., Dewaele, M., Karras, P., Brown, D., Chang, Y.H., Debiec-Rychter, M., et al. (2018). Toward Minimal Residual Disease-Directed Therapy in Melanoma. Cell *174*, 843-855.e19.

Rambow, F., Marine, J.-C., and Goding, C.R. (2019). Melanoma plasticity and phenotypic diversity: therapeutic barriers and opportunities. Genes Dev. *33*, 1295–1318.

Ramirez, H., Patel, S.B., and Pastar, I. (2014). The Role of TGFβ Signaling in Wound Epithelialization. Adv. Wound Care *3*, 482–491.

Reinhardt, J., Landsberg, J., Schmid-Burgk, J.L., Ramis, B.B., Bald, T., Glodde, N., Lopez-Ramos, D., Young, A., Ngiow, S.F., Nettersheim, D., et al. (2017). MAPK Signaling and Inflammation Link Melanoma Phenotype Switching to Induction of CD73 during Immunotherapy. Cancer Res. *77*, 4697–4709.

Restifo, N.P., Smyth, M.J., and Snyder, A. (2016). Acquired resistance to immunotherapy and future challenges. Nat. Rev. Cancer *16*, 121–126.

Rhim, A.D., Mirek, E.T., Aiello, N.M., Maitra, A., Bailey, J.M., McAllister, F., Reichert, M., Beatty, G.L., Rustgi, A.K., Vonderheide, R.H., et al. (2012). EMT and Dissemination Precede Pancreatic Tumor Formation. Cell *148*, 349–361.

Richard, G., Dalle, S., Monet, M., Ligier, M., Boespflug, A., Pommier, R.M., de la Fouchardière, A., Perier-Muzet, M., Depaepe, L., Barnault, R., et al. (2016a). ZEB1-mediated melanoma cell plasticity enhances resistance to MAPK inhibitors. EMBO Mol. Med. *8*, 1143–1161.

Richard, G., Dalle, S., Monet, M.-A., Ligier, M., Boespflug, A., Pommier, R.M., de la Fouchardière, A., Perier-Muzet, M., Depaepe, L., Barnault, R., et al. (2016b). ZEB1-mediated melanoma cell plasticity enhances resistance to MAPK inhibitors. EMBO Mol. Med. *8*, 1143–1161.

Rizos, H., Menzies, A.M., Pupo, G.M., Carlino, M.S., Fung, C., Hyman, J., Haydu, L.E., Mijatov, B., Becker, T.M., Boyd, S.C., et al. (2014). BRAF inhibitor resistance mechanisms in metastatic melanoma: spectrum and

clinical impact. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 20, 1965–1977.

Robert, C., Thomas, L., Bondarenko, I., O'Day, S., Weber, J., Garbe, C., Lebbe, C., Baurain, J.-F., Testori, A., Grob, J.-J., et al. (2011). Ipilimumab plus Dacarbazine for Previously Untreated Metastatic Melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *364*, 2517–2526.

Robert, C., Grob, J.J., Stroyakovskiy, D., Karaszewska, B., Hauschild, A., Levchenko, E., Chiarion Sileni, V., Schachter, J., Garbe, C., Bondarenko, I., et al. (2019). Five-Year Outcomes with Dabrafenib plus Trametinib in Metastatic Melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *381*, 626–636.

Robey, R.W., Pluchino, K.M., Hall, M.D., Fojo, A.T., Bates, S.E., and Gottesman, M.M. (2018). Revisiting the role of ABC transporters in multidrug-resistant cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer *18*, 452–464.

Rothstein, M., Bhattacharya, D., and Simoes-Costa, M. (2018). The molecular basis of neural crest axial identity. Dev. Biol. *444 Suppl 1*, S170–S180.

Saito, H., Yasumoto, K., Takeda, K., Takahashi, K., Fukuzaki, A., Orikasa, S., and Shibahara, S. (2002). Melanocyte-specific Microphthalmia-associated Transcription Factor Isoform Activates Its Own Gene Promoter through Physical Interaction with Lymphoid-enhancing Factor 1. J. Biol. Chem. *277*, 28787–28794.

Saldana-Caboverde, A., and Kos, L. (2010). Roles of endothelin signaling in melanocyte development and melanoma: Endothelins in melanocyte development and melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *23*, 160–170.

Sanlorenzo, M., Wehner, M.R., Linos, E., Kornak, J., Kainz, W., Posch, C., Vujic, I., Johnston, K., Gho, D., Monico, G., et al. (2015). The risk of melanoma in airline pilots and cabin crew: a meta-analysis. JAMA Dermatol. *151*, 51–58.

Santoro, M.M., and Gaudino, G. (2005). Cellular and molecular facets of keratinocyte reepithelization during wound healing. Exp. Cell Res. *304*, 274–286.

Savagner, P. (2001). Leaving the neighborhood: molecular mechanisms involved during epithelial-mesenchymal transition. BioEssays News Rev. Mol. Cell. Dev. Biol. *23*, 912–923.

Savagner, P., Kusewitt, D.F., Carver, E.A., Magnino, F., Choi, C., Gridley, T., and Hudson, L.G. (2005). Developmental transcription factor slug is required for effective re-epithelialization by adult keratinocytes. J. Cell. Physiol. *202*, 858–866.

Saxena, M., Stephens, M.A., Pathak, H., and Rangarajan, A. (2011). Transcription factors that mediate epithelial-mesenchymal transition lead to multidrug resistance by upregulating ABC transporters. Cell Death Dis. 2, e179.

Scatolini, M., Grand, M.M., Grosso, E., Venesio, T., Pisacane, A., Balsamo, A., Sirovich, R., Risio, M., and Chiorino, G. (2010). Altered molecular pathways in melanocytic lesions. Int. J. Cancer *126*, 1869–1881.

Scholtens, A., Geukes Foppen, M.H., Blank, C.U., van Thienen, J.V., van Tinteren, H., and Haanen, J.B.

(2015). Vemurafenib for BRAF V600 mutated advanced melanoma: results of treatment beyond progression. Eur. J. Cancer Oxf. Engl. 1990 *51*, 642–652.

Sciacovelli, M., and Frezza, C. (2017). Metabolic reprogramming and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer. FEBS J. *284*, 3132–3144.

Seberg, H.E., Van Otterloo, E., and Cornell, R.A. (2017). Beyond MITF: Multiple transcription factors directly regulate the cellular phenotype in melanocytes and melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *30*, 454–466.

Serrano, M., Lin, A.W., McCurrach, M.E., Beach, D., and Lowe, S.W. (1997). Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. Cell *88*, 593–602.

Shaffer, S.M., Dunagin, M.C., Torborg, S.R., Torre, E.A., Emert, B., Krepler, C., Beqiri, M., Sproesser, K., Brafford, P.A., Xiao, M., et al. (2017). Rare cell variability and drug-induced reprogramming as a mode of cancer drug resistance. Nature *546*, 431–435.

Shain, A.H., and Bastian, B.C. (2016). From melanocytes to melanomas. Nat. Rev. Cancer 16, 345–358.

Shain, A.H., Joseph, N.M., Yu, R., Benhamida, J., Liu, S., Prow, T., Ruben, B., North, J., Pincus, L., Yeh, I., et al. (2018). Genomic and Transcriptomic Analysis Reveals Incremental Disruption of Key Signaling Pathways during Melanoma Evolution. Cancer Cell *34*, 45-55.e4.

Shi, H., Moriceau, G., Kong, X., Koya, R.C., Nazarian, R., Pupo, G.M., Bacchiocchi, A., Dahlman, K.B., Chmielowski, B., Sosman, J.A., et al. (2012). Preexisting MEK1 exon 3 mutations in V600E/KBRAF melanomas do not confer resistance to BRAF inhibitors. Cancer Discov. *2*, 414–424.

Shibue, T., and Weinberg, R.A. (2017). EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. *14*, 611–629.

Shook, D., and Keller, R. (2003). Mechanisms, mechanics and function of epithelial–mesenchymal transitions in early development. Mech. Dev. *120*, 1351–1383.

Simon, J.D., Peles, D., Wakamatsu, K., and Ito, S. (2009). Current challenges in understanding melanogenesis: bridging chemistry, biological control, morphology, and function. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *22*, 563–579.

Skromne, I., and Stern, C.D. (2001). Interactions between Wnt and Vg1 signalling pathways initiate primitive streak formation in the chick embryo. Dev. Camb. Engl. *128*, 2915–2927.

Skrypek, N., Goossens, S., De Smedt, E., Vandamme, N., and Berx, G. (2017). Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition: Epigenetic Reprogramming Driving Cellular Plasticity. Trends Genet. *33*, 943–959.

Slominski, A., Tobin, D.J., Shibahara, S., and Wortsman, J. (2004). Melanin Pigmentation in Mammalian Skin and Its Hormonal Regulation. Physiol. Rev. *84*, 1155–1228.

Slominski, A., Wortsman, J., Plonka, P.M., Schallreuter, K.U., Paus, R., and Tobin, D.J. (2005). Hair Follicle Pigmentation. J. Invest. Dermatol. *124*, 13–21.

de Snoo, F.A., and Hayward, N.K. (2005). Cutaneous melanoma susceptibility and progression genes. Cancer Lett. 230, 153–186.

Snyder, A., Makarov, V., Merghoub, T., Yuan, J., Zaretsky, J.M., Desrichard, A., Walsh, L.A., Postow, M.A., Wong, P., Ho, T.S., et al. (2014). Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N. Engl. J. Med. *371*, 2189–2199.

Sommer, L. (2011). Generation of melanocytes from neural crest cells: Generation of melanocytes from neural crest cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. *24*, 411–421.

Specenier, P. (2020). An overview of binimetinib for the treatment of melanoma. Expert Opin. Pharmacother. 1–8.

Stahl, J.M., Sharma, A., Cheung, M., Zimmerman, M., Cheng, J.Q., Bosenberg, M.W., Kester, M., Sandirasegarane, L., and Robertson, G.P. (2004). Deregulated Akt3 activity promotes development of malignant melanoma. Cancer Res. *64*, 7002–7010.

Stemmler, M.P., Eccles, R.L., Brabletz, S., and Brabletz, T. (2019). Non-redundant functions of EMT transcription factors. Nat. Cell Biol. *21*, 102–112.

Strub, T., Giuliano, S., Ye, T., Bonet, C., Keime, C., Kobi, D., Le Gras, S., Cormont, M., Ballotti, R., Bertolotto, C., et al. (2011). Essential role of microphthalmia transcription factor for DNA replication, mitosis and genomic stability in melanoma. Oncogene *30*, 2319–2332.

Sullivan, R.J., and Flaherty, K.T. (2013). Resistance to BRAF-targeted therapy in melanoma. Eur. J. Cancer Oxf. Engl. 1990 *49*, 1297–1304.

Sun, T., Zhao, N., Zhao, X.-L., Gu, Q., Zhang, S.-W., Che, N., Wang, X.-H., Du, J., Liu, Y.-X., and Sun, B.-C. (2010). Expression and functional significance of Twist1 in hepatocellular carcinoma: its role in vasculogenic mimicry. Hepatol. Baltim. Md *51*, 545–556.

Tabone-Eglinger, S., Wehrle-Haller, M., Aebischer, N., Jacquier, M., and Wehrle-Haller, B. (2012). Membrane-bound Kit ligand regulates melanocyte adhesion and survival, providing physical interaction with an intraepithelial niche. FASEB J. *26*, 3738–3753.

Tachibana, M. (1999). Sound needs sound melanocytes to be heard. Pigment Cell Res. 12, 344–354.

Tam, W.L., and Weinberg, R.A. (2013). The epigenetics of epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in cancer. Nat. Med. *19*, 1438–1449.

Tarhini, A.A., Gogas, H., and Kirkwood, J.M. (2012). IFN- α in the Treatment of Melanoma. J. Immunol. *189*, 3789–3793.

Tassabehjil, M., Newton, V.E., and Read, A.P. (1994). Waarclenburg syndrome type 2 caused by mutations in the human microphthalmia (MITf) gene. *8*, 5.

Taube, J.M., Klein, A., Brahmer, J.R., Xu, H., Pan, X., Kim, J.H., Chen, L., Pardoll, D.M., Topalian, S.L., and Anders, R.A. (2014). Association of PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. *20*, 5064–5074.

Taylor, K.L., Lister, J.A., Zeng, Z., Ishizaki, H., Anderson, C., Kelsh, R.N., Jackson, I.J., and Patton, E.E. (2011). Differentiated melanocyte cell division occurs in vivo and is promoted by mutations in Mitf. Development *138*, 3579–3589.

Thiery, J.P. (2002). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2, 442–454.

Thiery, J.P., Acloque, H., Huang, R.Y.J., and Nieto, M.A. (2009). Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transitions in Development and Disease. Cell *139*, 871–890.

Thurber, A.E., Douglas, G., Sturm, E.C., Zabierowski, S.E., Smit, D.J., Ramakrishnan, S.N., Hacker, E., Leonard, J.H., Herlyn, M., and Sturm, R.A. (2011). Inverse expression states of the BRN2 and MITF transcription factors in melanoma spheres and tumour xenografts regulate the NOTCH pathway. Oncogene *30*, 3036–3048.

Tirosh, I., Izar, B., Prakadan, S.M., Wadsworth, M.H., Treacy, D., Trombetta, J.J., Rotem, A., Rodman, C., Lian, C., Murphy, G., et al. (2016). Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. Science *352*, 189–196.

Toyoda, M., Takayama, H., Horiguchi, N., Otsuka, T., Fukusato, T., Merlino, G., Takagi, H., and Mori, M. (2001). Overexpression of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor promotes vascularization and granulation tissue formation in vivo. FEBS Lett. *509*, 95–100.

Tozbikian, G.H., and Zynger, D.L. (2019). A combination of GATA3 and SOX10 is useful for the diagnosis of metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. Hum. Pathol. *85*, 221–227.

Trimboli, A.J., Fukino, K., de Bruin, A., Wei, G., Shen, L., Tanner, S.M., Creasap, N., Rosol, T.J., Robinson, M.L., Eng, C., et al. (2008). Direct Evidence for Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transitions in Breast Cancer. Cancer Res. *68*, 937–945.

Tsai, J.H., and Yang, J. (2013). Epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in carcinoma metastasis. Genes Dev. 27, 2192–2206.

Tsai, J.H., Donaher, J.L., Murphy, D.A., Chau, S., and Yang, J. (2012). Spatiotemporal regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition is essential for squamous cell carcinoma metastasis. Cancer Cell *22*, 725–736.

Tsoi, J., Robert, L., Paraiso, K., Galvan, C., Sheu, K.M., Lay, J., Wong, D.J.L., Atefi, M., Shirazi, R., Wang, X.,

et al. (2018). Multi-stage Differentiation Defines Melanoma Subtypes with Differential Vulnerability to Drug-Induced Iron-Dependent Oxidative Stress. Cancer Cell *33*, 890-904.e5.

Tumeh, P.C., Harview, C.L., Yearley, J.H., Shintaku, I.P., Taylor, E.J.M., Robert, L., Chmielowski, B., Spasic, M., Henry, G., Ciobanu, V., et al. (2014). PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature *515*, 568–571.

Vachtenheim, J., Ondrušová, L., and Borovanský, J. (2010). SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex is critical for the expression of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor in melanoma cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *392*, 454–459.

Valastyan, S., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell *147*, 275–292.

Van de Putte, T., Maruhashi, M., Francis, A., Nelles, L., Kondoh, H., Huylebroeck, D., and Higashi, Y. (2003). Mice lacking ZFHX1B, the gene that codes for Smad-interacting protein-1, reveal a role for multiple neural crest cell defects in the etiology of Hirschsprung disease-mental retardation syndrome. Am. J. Hum. Genet. *72*, 465–470.

Van de Putte, T., Francis, A., Nelles, L., van Grunsven, L.A., and Huylebroeck, D. (2007). Neural crest-specific removal of Zfhx1b in mouse leads to a wide range of neurocristopathies reminiscent of Mowat-Wilson syndrome. Hum. Mol. Genet. *16*, 1423–1436.

Vandamme, N., Denecker, G., Bruneel, K., Blancke, G., Akay, Ö., Taminau, J., De Coninck, J., De Smedt, E., Skrypek, N., Van Loocke, W., et al. (2020). The EMT Transcription Factor ZEB2 Promotes Proliferation of Primary and Metastatic Melanoma While Suppressing an Invasive, Mesenchymal-Like Phenotype. Cancer Res. *80*, 2983–2995.

Vandewalle, C., Van Roy, F., and Berx, G. (2009). The role of the ZEB family of transcription factors in development and disease. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. *66*, 773–787.

Vasquez, M., Tenesaca, S., and Berraondo, P. (2017). New trends in antitumor vaccines in melanoma. Ann. Transl. Med. *5*, 384.

Verastegui, C., Bille, K., Ortonne, J.-P., and Ballotti, R. (2000). Regulation of the Microphthalmia-associated Transcription Factor Gene by the Waardenburg Syndrome Type 4 Gene, *SOX10*. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 30757–30760.

Verfaillie, A., Imrichova, H., Atak, Z.K., Dewaele, M., Rambow, F., Hulselmans, G., Christiaens, V., Svetlichnyy, D., Luciani, F., Van den Mooter, L., et al. (2015). Decoding the regulatory landscape of melanoma reveals TEADS as regulators of the invasive cell state. Nat. Commun. *6*, 6683.

Vilain, R.E., Menzies, A.M., Wilmott, J.S., Kakavand, H., Madore, J., Guminski, A., Liniker, E., Kong, B.Y., Cooper, A.J., Howle, J.R., et al. (2017). Dynamic Changes in PD-L1 Expression and Immune Infiltrates Early During Treatment Predict Response to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 23, 5024–5033.

Villanueva, J., Vultur, A., Lee, J.T., Somasundaram, R., Fukunaga-Kalabis, M., Cipolla, A.K., Wubbenhorst, B., Xu, X., Gimotty, P.A., Kee, D., et al. (2010). Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by cotargeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K. Cancer Cell *18*, 683–695.

Vincent, T., Neve, E.P.A., Johnson, J.R., Kukalev, A., Rojo, F., Albanell, J., Pietras, K., Virtanen, I., Philipson, L., Leopold, P.L., et al. (2009). A SNAIL1-SMAD3/4 transcriptional repressor complex promotes TGF-beta mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat. Cell Biol. *11*, 943–950.

Vinci, M., Gowan, S., Boxall, F., Patterson, L., Zimmermann, M., Court, W., Lomas, C., Mendiola, M., Hardisson, D., and Eccles, S.A. (2012). Advances in establishment and analysis of three-dimensional tumor spheroid-based functional assays for target validation and drug evaluation. BMC Biol. *10*, 29.

Wang, L., Leite de Oliveira, R., Huijberts, S., Bosdriesz, E., Pencheva, N., Brunen, D., Bosma, A., Song, J.-Y., Zevenhoven, J., Los-de Vries, G.T., et al. (2018). An Acquired Vulnerability of Drug-Resistant Melanoma with Therapeutic Potential. Cell.

Watabe, H., Valencia, J.C., Le Pape, E., Yamaguchi, Y., Nakamura, M., Rouzaud, F., Hoashi, T., Kawa, Y., Mizoguchi, M., and Hearing, V.J. (2008). Involvement of Dynein and Spectrin with Early Melanosome Transport and Melanosomal Protein Trafficking. J. Invest. Dermatol. *128*, 162–174.

Wellbrock, C., and Marais, R. (2005). Elevated expression of MITF counteracts B-RAF-stimulated melanocyte and melanoma cell proliferation. J. Cell Biol. *170*, 703–708.

Wellbrock, C., Ogilvie, L., Hedley, D., Karasarides, M., Martin, J., Niculescu-Duvaz, D., Springer, C.J., and Marais, R. (2004). V599EB-RAF is an oncogene in melanocytes. Cancer Res. *64*, 2338–2342.

Wellner, U., Schubert, J., Burk, U.C., Schmalhofer, O., Zhu, F., Sonntag, A., Waldvogel, B., Vannier, C., Darling, D., zur Hausen, A., et al. (2009). The EMT-activator ZEB1 promotes tumorigenicity by repressing stemness-inhibiting microRNAs. Nat. Cell Biol. *11*, 1487–1495.

Wouters, J., Kalender-Atak, Z., Minnoye, L., Spanier, K.I., De Waegeneer, M., Bravo González-Blas, C., Mauduit, D., Davie, K., Hulselmans, G., Najem, A., et al. (2020). Robust gene expression programs underlie recurrent cell states and phenotype switching in melanoma. Nat. Cell Biol. *22*, 986–998.

Wu, M., Hemesath, T.J., Takemoto, C.M., Horstmann, M.A., Wells, A.G., Price, E.R., Fisher, D.Z., and Fisher, D.E. (2000). c-Kit triggers dual phosphorylations, which couple activation and degradation of the essential melanocyte factor Mi. 13.

Wynn, T.A. (2008). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J. Pathol. 214, 199–210.

Wynn, T.A., and Ramalingam, T.R. (2012). Mechanisms of fibrosis: therapeutic translation for fibrotic disease. Nat. Med. *18*, 1028–1040.

Xiao, W., Chen, X., Liu, X., Luo, L., Ye, S., and Liu, Y. (2014). Trichostatin A, a histone deacetylase inhibitor,

suppresses proliferation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in retinal pigment epithelium cells. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 18, 646–655.

Xu, W., Gong, L., Haddad, M.M., Bischof, O., Campisi, J., Yeh, E.T.H., and Medrano, E.E. (2000). Regulation of Microphthalmia-Associated Transcription Factor MITF Protein Levels by Association with the Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme hUBC9. Exp. Cell Res. *255*, 135–143.

Yamaguchi, Y., Brenner, M., and Hearing, V.J. (2007). The Regulation of Skin Pigmentation. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27557–27561.

Yang, J., and Weinberg, R.A. (2008). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition: at the crossroads of development and tumor metastasis. Dev. Cell *14*, 818–829.

Yang, G., Li, Y., Nishimura, E.K., Xin, H., Zhou, A., Guo, Y., Dong, L., Denning, M.F., Nickoloff, B.J., and Cui, R. (2008). Inhibition of PAX3 by TGF-β Modulates Melanocyte Viability. Mol. Cell *32*, 554–563.

Yang, J., Mani, S.A., Donaher, J.L., Ramaswamy, S., Itzykson, R.A., Come, C., Savagner, P., Gitelman, I., Richardson, A., and Weinberg, R.A. (2004). Twist, a Master Regulator of Morphogenesis, Plays an Essential Role in Tumor Metastasis. Cell *117*, 927–939.

Yasumoto, K.-I., Yokoyama, K., and Shibaharai, S. (1994). Microphthalmia-Associated Transcription Factor as a Regulator for Melanocyte-Specific Transcription of the Human Tyrosinase Gene. MOL CELL BIOL *14*, 13.

Ye, L.-Y., Chen, W., Bai, X.-L., Xu, X.-Y., Zhang, Q., Xia, X.-F., Sun, X., Li, G.-G., Hu, Q.-D., Fu, Q.-H., et al. (2016). Hypoxia-Induced Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Induces an Immunosuppressive Tumor Microenvironment to Promote Metastasis. Cancer Res. *76*, 818–830.

Ye, X., Tam, W.L., Shibue, T., Kaygusuz, Y., Reinhardt, F., Ng Eaton, E., and Weinberg, R.A. (2015). Distinct EMT programs control normal mammary stem cells and tumour-initiating cells. Nature *525*, 256–260.

Yoshikawa, M., Hishikawa, K., Marumo, T., and Fujita, T. (2007). Inhibition of Histone Deacetylase Activity Suppresses Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition Induced by TGF-β1 in Human Renal Epithelial Cells. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. *18*, 58–65.

Zaidi, M.R., Day, C.-P., and Merlino, G. (2008). From UVs to Metastases: Modeling Melanoma Initiation and Progression in the Mouse. J. Invest. Dermatol. *128*, 2381–2391.

Zeisberg, M., Hanai, J., Sugimoto, H., Mammoto, T., Charytan, D., Strutz, F., and Kalluri, R. (2003). BMP-7 counteracts TGF-beta1-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and reverses chronic renal injury. Nat. Med. *9*, 964–968.

Zhang, G., and Herlyn, M. (2012). Human nevi: no longer precursors of melanomas? J. Invest. Dermatol. *132*, 2133–2134.

Zhang, P., Wei, Y., Wang, L., Debeb, B.G., Yuan, Y., Zhang, J., Yuan, J., Wang, M., Chen, D., Sun, Y., et al. (2014). ATM-mediated stabilization of ZEB1 promotes DNA damage response and radioresistance through

CHK1. Nat. Cell Biol. 16, 864–875.

Zhang, Z., Lee, J.C., Lin, L., Olivas, V., Au, V., LaFramboise, T., Abdel-Rahman, M., Wang, X., Levine, A.D., Rho, J.K., et al. (2012). Activation of the AXL kinase causes resistance to EGFR-targeted therapy in lung cancer. Nat. Genet. *44*, 852–860.

Zhao, F., He, X., Wang, Y., Shi, F., Wu, D., Pan, M., Li, M., Wu, S., Wang, X., and Dou, J. (2015). Decrease of ZEB1 expression inhibits the B16F10 cancer stem-like properties. Biosci. Trends *9*, 325–334.

Zheng, X., Carstens, J.L., Kim, J., Scheible, M., Kaye, J., Sugimoto, H., Wu, C.-C., LeBleu, V.S., and Kalluri, R. (2015). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is dispensable for metastasis but induces chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. Nature *527*, 525–530.

Zhu, S., Wurdak, H., Wang, Y., Galkin, A., Tao, H., Li, J., Lyssiotis, C.A., Yan, F., Tu, B.P., Miraglia, L., et al. (2009). A genomic screen identifies TYRO3 as a MITF regulator in melanoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *106*, 17025–17030.

Zimmer, L., Hillen, U., Livingstone, E., Lacouture, M.E., Busam, K., Carvajal, R.D., Egberts, F., Hauschild, A., Kashani-Sabet, M., Goldinger, S.M., et al. (2012). Atypical melanocytic proliferations and new primary melanomas in patients with advanced melanoma undergoing selective BRAF inhibition. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. *30*, 2375–2383.

Zingg, D., Debbache, J., Schaefer, S.M., Tuncer, E., Frommel, S.C., Cheng, P., Arenas-Ramirez, N., Haeusel, J., Zhang, Y., Bonalli, M., et al. (2015). The epigenetic modifier EZH2 controls melanoma growth and metastasis through silencing of distinct tumour suppressors. Nat. Commun. *6*, 6051.

Zingg, D., Arenas-Ramirez, N., Sahin, D., Rosalia, R.A., Antunes, A.T., Haeusel, J., Sommer, L., and Boyman, O. (2017). The Histone Methyltransferase Ezh2 Controls Mechanisms of Adaptive Resistance to Tumor Immunotherapy. Cell Rep. *20*, 854–867.

Zou, J., Liu, L., Wang, Q., Yin, F., Yang, Z., Zhang, W., and Li, L. (2017). Downregulation of miR-429 contributes to the development of drug resistance in epithelial ovarian cancer by targeting ZEB1. Am. J. Transl. Res. *9*, 1357–1368.

Characterization of the mechanisms of action of the transcription factor ZEB1 in melanoma

Melanoma intra-tumor heterogeneity depends on reversible phenotypic transitions between proliferative and invasive states. This phenotype switching relies on transcriptomic and epigenetic mechanisms, which need to be better defined. Aberrant reactivation of the epithelial to mesenchymal transition inducing transcription factor (EMT-TF) ZEB1 was known to play pleotropic roles in carcinoma development. In melanoma, a non-epithelial tumor, previous work from our demonstrated ZEB1 reactivation favors phenotype team that switching from а proliferative/differentiated towards an invasive/stem-like state, along with acquired resistance to target therapies. Herein, in order to precisely characterize ZEB1 function and get a comprehensive view of its direct target genes, we performed a ChIP-Sequencing combined with RNA-seq, upon phenotype switching in melanoma cells. Many melanoma cell identity genes were identified and validated to be directly regulated by ZEB1. Down-regulation of proliferative/differentiated genes and up-regulation of invasive/stem-like genes were confirmed through gain or loss of function of ZEB1. Intra-tumor heterogeneity was also accessed in human samples via multi-immunofluorescence approach. Spatial distribution of melanoma states markers were analyzed relying on ZEB1 expression and we found that ZEB1 was not only expressed in invasive but also in stem-like state. In summary, our results provide a better understanding of ZEB1 mechanisms of action governing melanoma cell plasticity and intra-tumor heterogeneity.

Keywords: melanoma, ZEB, ChIP-Seq, mechanistic, phenotype switching.

Caractérisation des mécanismes d'action du facteur de transcription ZEB1 dans le mélanome

L'hétérogénéité intra-tumorale des mélanomes repose sur des transitions phénotypiques réversibles entre un état prolifératif et un état invasif. Ce changement phénotypique est contrôlé par des mécanismes transcriptionnels et épigénétiques qui demeurent à mieux caractériser. L'activation aberrante du facteur de transcription de la transition épithéliale mésenchymateuse (EMT-TF) ZEB1 était connue pour jouer des rôles pléotropiques dans le développement des carcinomes. Dans le mélanome, d'origine non épithéliale, des travaux antérieurs de notre équipe ont démontré que la réactivation de ZEB1 favorise la transition d'un état prolifératif/différencié vers un état invasif/stem-like, ainsi que la résistance acquise aux thérapies ciblées. Afin de caractériser précisément la fonction de ZEB1, et obtenir une vision globale de ses gènes cibles directs, un ChIP-Seq combiné avec du RNA-seq a été réalisé, au cours des transitions phénotypiques dans des cellules de mélanome. De nombreux gènes contrôlant l'identité des cellules de mélanome ont été identifiés et validés comme étant directement régulés par ZEB1. La répression de gènes associés à la prolifération ou la différenciation et l'activation de gènes impliqués dans l'invasion et la « stemness » ont été confirmées par des approches de gain ou perte de fonction de ZEB1. L'hétérogénéité intra-tumorale de ces marqueurs a également été étudiée dans des échantillons humains par une approche de multi-immunofluorescence. La distribution spatiale de marqueurs du phénotype des cellules de mélanomes a été analysée en lien avec l'expression de ZEB1 et nous avons constaté que ZEB1 est non seulement exprimé dans les états invasifs mais aussi dans les états stem-like. En résumé, nos résultats ont permis de mieux décrypter les mécanismes d'action de ZEB1, gouvernant la plasticité de cellules de mélanome ainsi que l'hétérogénéité intra-tumorale.

Mots clés : mélanome, ZEB, ChIP-Seq, mécanistique, phenotype switching.